
Please ask for Rachel Appleyard
Direct Line: 01246 34 5277
Email  committee.services@chesterfield.gov.uk

The Chair and Members of Cabinet

17 February 2020

Dear Councillor,

Please attend a meeting of the CABINET to be held on TUESDAY, 25 
FEBRUARY 2020 at 10.30 am in Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Rose Hill, 
Chesterfield, the agenda for which is set out below.

AGENDA

Part 1(Public Information)

1.   Declarations of Members' and Officers' Interests relating to items on the 
Agenda 

2.   Apologies for Absence 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
4 February, 2020.

4.   Forward Plan 

Please follow the link below to view the latest Forward Plan.

Forward Plan

5.   Minutes of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
(Pages 11 - 20)

Public Document Pack

http://chesterfield.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=134&RD=0&bcr=1


To note the Minutes of the meeting of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral 
Combined Authority Board held 27 January, 2020.

Items Recommended to Cabinet via Cabinet Members

Leader

6.   Improving collaborative working across Derbyshire authorities (Pages 21 
- 30)

Deputy Leader

7.   Approval of the Council Plan 2019 - 2023 Delivery Plan for 2020/21 
(Pages 31 - 38)

8.   2020/21 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan (Pages 39 - 70)

9.   General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21 (Pages 71 - 84)

Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and Customers

10.   Senior Pay Policy (Pages 85 - 110)

Cabinet Member for Economic Growth

11.   Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications 
(Pages 111 - 382)

Cabinet Member for Governance

12.   Elected Members Parental Leave Policy (Pages 383 - 398)

13.   Civic Arrangements 2020/21 (Pages 399 - 404)

Cabinet Member for Housing

14.   Housing Revenue Account (HRA) - Budget 2020/21 to 2024/25 (Pages 
405 - 422)

15.   Housing Capital Programme: 2020/21 to 2024/25 (Pages 423 - 446)



16.   Exclusion of the Public 

To move “That under Regulation 21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2000, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972.”

Part 2 (Non Public Information)

Leader

17.   Land Acquisition - Station Masterplan area (Pages 447 - 538)

Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and Customers

18.   Request to write off Business Rates account (Pages 539 - 542)

Yours sincerely,

Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager and Monitoring Officer



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 04.02.20
1

CABINET

Tuesday, 4th February, 2020

Present:-

Councillor P Gilby (Chair)

Councillors Serjeant
Blank
T Gilby
Holmes

Councillors J Innes
Mannion-Brunt
Sarvent

*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme

93   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

Councillor P Gilby declared an interest in Minute No. 99 (Acquisition of 
commercial office at Chesterfield Waterside) as she was a Board Director 
for Chesterfield Waterside Limited and she left the meeting during the 
consideration of this item.  

94   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ludlow.

95   MINUTES 

RESOLVED –

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 14 January, 2020 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

96   FORWARD PLAN 

The Forward Plan for the four month period 1 March to 30 June, 2020 
was reported for information.

*RESOLVED –

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



CABINET 04.02.20
2

That the Forward Plan be noted.

97   AMENDED TENANTS INCENTIVE SCHEME POLICY 

The Assistant Director – Housing submitted a report recommending for 
approval a revised Tenants Incentive Scheme and accompanying policy 
documentation.

The current Tenants Incentive Scheme was approved in 2012, however 
significant legislative and social policy changes had since come into effect 
which had impacted on the ability of some tenants to maintain rental 
payments on their homes. Furthermore, the current scheme was not 
providing sufficient incentives to encourage tenants to consider moving to 
homes that were more affordable and suitable for their needs.

The revised Scheme was intended to support tenants to create stable 
tenancies through moving into homes where they were at less risk of 
accumulating rent arrears. Benchmarking had been undertaken with other 
Local Authority Schemes and a communications and marketing plan had 
been developed to actively promote the revised scheme and maximise its 
take up.

*RESOLVED – 

1. That the revised Tenants Incentive Scheme be approved and 
implemented from 1 March, 2020. 

2. That the revised Tenants Incentive Scheme Policy, attached at 
Appendix A of the officer’s report, be approved and implemented, 
superseding all previous arrangements. 

3. That the Communications and Marketing Plan, attached at 
Appendix B of the officer’s report, be approved. 

4. That the Tenants Incentive Scheme be reviewed every two years or 
as required, subject to significant legislative change. 

REASONS FOR DECISIONS 

1. To encourage mobility within our housing stock and ensure tenants 
occupy properties that meet their housing need and are affordable 
to them. 

Page 6



CABINET 04.02.20
3

2. To reduce rent arrears and maximise rental income. 

3. To prevent homelessness and increase tenancy sustainment.

98   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED – 

That under Regulation 21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – as they contained information relating to 
information relating to financial and business affairs.

Councillor P Gilby had declared an interest in the next item and left the 
meeting at this point. 

Councillor Serjeant took the Chair. 

99   ACQUISITION OF COMMERCIAL OFFICE AT CHESTERFIELD 
WATERSIDE 

The Assistant Director – Economic Growth submitted a report seeking 
approval for the Council to purchase land at Chesterfield Waterside and 
enter into a development agreement to fund the construction of a 
commercial office building and associated public realm works.

The Council’s Growth Strategy (2019-2023) had identified Chesterfield 
Waterside as a key regeneration project for the town and borough. The 
Council had helped Chesterfield Waterside Limited to secure funding from 
the Sheffield City Region Infrastructure Fund (SCRIF), which had enabled 
the delivery of site infrastructure ahead of the planned development of 
Phase 1 which would include a Grade A office building. The SCRIF 
funding agreement mandated that the office building must be completed 
by no later than 31 March, 2021, making progression of the office 
development a high priority in order to avoid Sheffield City Region Local 
Enterprise Partnership seeking to claw-back the funding.

Page 7



CABINET 04.02.20
4

Chesterfield Waterside Limited had actively marketed the office building 
to end users and had received strong interest with two pre-lets already 
agreed. The Council had appointed a consultant to provide advice on 
options for the delivery of the office building with a particular emphasis on 
providing an investment opportunity for the Council to support its revenue 
position in future years. The consultants had identified that the best option 
for the Council was to forward purchase the land and enter into a 
development agreement with Chesterfield Waterside for the construction 
of the office building and associated public realm works; this would 
generate income for the Council with the added control of the Council 
being the freehold owner.

The report outlined the financial considerations and recommended an 
additional allocation of £7.76m to the Council’s capital programme. A cost 
appraisal was included in the report which projected that the office 
building would generate a revenue surplus from year two even allowing 
for the office building remaining only 50% let.

Details of legal, governance and information assurance considerations 
were included in the report along with details of measures proposed to 
ensure the office development supports the Council’s emerging climate 
change action plan.

*RESOLVED – 

1. That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Economic Growth, be granted delegated authority to purchase 
the relevant land at Chesterfield Waterside and to simultaneously 
enter into a development agreement with Chesterfield Waterside 
Ltd. to fund the construction of a commercial office building to an 
agreed programme and specification, and to deliver the public realm 
works. 

2. That the purchase be subject to the completion of satisfactory due 
diligence and in line with the proposed Heads of Terms, as attached 
at Appendix 1 of the officer’s report. 

3. That £7.76m of capital spend, to be funded from borrowing, be 
included in the Council’s capital programme for 2020/21. 

REASON FOR DECISIONS 

Page 8



CABINET 04.02.20
5

To ensure that this element of the Chesterfield Waterside scheme can 
progress to a timescale that mitigates the risk of Sheffield City Region 
Infrastructure Investment Fund claw-back of grant. The Council forward 
purchasing the office building also delivers on one of the Council’s key 
objectives to promote and enable Chesterfield Waterside. In addition, the 
proposals represent a positive commercial opportunity for the Council.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SCR - MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BOARD 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON: 
 
MONDAY, 27 JANUARY 2020 AT 11.00 AM 
 
SHEFFIELD CITY REGION, 11 BROAD STREET WEST, 
SHEFFIELD S1 2BQ 
 

 

 
Present: 
 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MBE (Chair) SCR Mayoral Combined Authority 
Councillor Chris Read (Vice-Chair) Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Garry Purdy Derbyshire Dales DC 
Councillor Julie Dore Sheffield City Council 
Mayor Ros Jones CBE Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 
Councillor Tricia Gilby Chesterfield BC 
Nigel Brewster  Vice-Chair of LEP Board 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
  
Sarah Norman Chief Executive Barnsley MBC 
Damian Allen Interim Chief Executive, 

Doncaster MBC 
Doncaster BMC 

Huw Bowen Chief Executive of Chesterfield 
Borough Council 

Chesterfield BC 

Dan Swaine Chief Executive of Bolsover 
District Council/NE Derbyshire 
District Council 

Bolsover DC/NE Derbyshire 
DC 

Neil Taylor Chief Executive of Bassetlaw 
District Council 

Bassetlaw DC 

Sharon Kemp Chief Executive of Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council 

Rotherham MBC 

Dr Dave Smith Chief Executive SCR Executive Team 
Dr Ruth Adams Deputy Chief Executive SCR Executive Team 
Mike Thomas Senior Finance Manager/ 

Deputy S73 Officer 
SCR Executive Team 

Noel O'Neill Chief Finance Officer/S73 
Officer 

Sheffield City Region 

Fiona Boden Policy Adviser - Mayor SCR Executive Team 
Mark Lynam Director of Programme 

Commissioning 
SCR Executive Team 

Stephen Batey Head of Mayor's Office SCR Mayor's Office 
Eugene Walker Chief Finance Officer Sheffield City Council 
Tim Taylor Director of Customer Services SYPTE 
  
In Attendance 
  
Councillor Chris Furness Peak District National Park Authority 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 

Craig Tyler (Minute Taker)   
 
Apologies: 
 
Councillor Steve Fritchley Bolsover DC 
James Muir Chair of LEP Board 
Charlie Adan Sheffield City Council 
Paul Wilson Derbyshire Dales DC 
Steve Davenport SCR Executive Team 
Stephen Edwards SYPTE 
 
1 Welcome and Apologies 

 
 Members’ apologies were noted as above. 

 
2 Announcements 

 
 Welcoming the Members and public present, the Mayor commented on the 

significance of the meeting noting this is the first MCA meeting post the 
General Election and the final MCA meeting before the UK officially leaves the 
EU.  
 
The Mayor informed the meeting he continues to impress upon the 
Government the importance of getting the flood response right, citing the 
amazing work undertaken by the Local Authorities and partner agencies to help 
those communities affected by flooding. It was asserted that whilst the attention 
of the media may have gone, these communities will not be forgotten and we 
will be doing all in our power to make sure we have the resources and 
partnerships in place to mitigate and adapt to climate change.  
 
The Mayor commented on the good progress made recently to get the 
Devolution Deal process moving progress that unlocks opportunities for us now 
and in the future and ensure we can be even better placed to deliver on 
priorities that are important to the SCR. 
 

3 Urgent Items 
 

 None. 
 

4 Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public and Press 
 

 None. 
 

5 Voting Rights for Non-constituent Members 
 

 It was agreed that voting rights may not be conferred on non-Constituent 
Members for item 11: Devolution, item 15: South Yorkshire Transport Revenue 
Budget 20/21 and item 16: South Yorkshire Transport Capital Programme 
20/21 as the matters concern the Constituent area only. 
 
It was agreed there were no further agenda items for which voting right could 
not be conferred on the non-Constituent Members. 

Page 12



 

 
6 Declarations of Interest by individual Members in relation to any item of 

business on the agenda 
 

 Mayor Jones declared interest in the matters to be considered at agenda item 
18 (LGF Capital Programme Approvals) by virtue of being Leader of the 
respective sponsoring Authority for the A630 Westmoor Link scheme.  
 
Cllr Houghton declared interest in the matters to be considered at agenda item 
18 (LGF Capital Programme Approvals) by virtue of being Leader of their 
respective sponsoring Authority for the Barnsley College scheme and noting 
the Council is a partner organisation of the College.  
 
Mayor Jarvis declared an interest in the matters to be considered at item 18 
(LGF Capital Programme Approvals) by virtue of being the Constituency MP for 
the geography the college sits in. 
 
Cllr Dore declared an interest in the matters to be considered at item 17 (LGF 
Programme Monitoring Update) by virtue of being the Leader of the respective 
sponsoring authority for the Little Kelham scheme. 
 

7 Reports from and Questions by Members 
 

 None. 
 

8 Receipt of Petitions 
 

 None received. 
 

9 Public Questions 
 

 It was confirmed no new questions had been received. 
 
Members were reminded there were 2 questions received at the previous 
meeting, the answers for which were held in abeyance due to purdah. 
 
The meeting was reminded the question from Mr Nigel Slack was received as 
follows: 
 
“With the calling of a General Election for December 12th, many issues around 
the SCR seem to have been further compromised. From funding bids to 
scrutiny boards, LEP membership to climate change and not least the 
finalisation of the devolution deal first struck in 2015, we will presumably see 
continued delay and disruption. What is the Mayor's perception of the path for 
the SCRMCA going forward?” 
 
In response, the Mayor commented on the significant progress that has been 
made in recent weeks to unlock the Devolution Deal.  It was noted consensus 
has been reached with the Government and Local Authorities in South 
Yorkshire on a proposed way forward, the details of which are outlined in the 
paper for discussion today under Agenda item 11.    
 

Page 13



 

The Mayor confirmed his priority is to secure additional powers and long-term 
funding from Government to deliver our vision and ambitions for the inclusive 
and sustainable growth that South Yorkshire needs and at a scale not seen 
before. This will be key in tackling the climate emergency that we are facing 
and which requires urgent action by all of us, working together to rise to the 
challenge posed, and as we will discuss at item 12.   
 
It was noted further updates would be provided in the coming weeks as we 
continue apace to secure devolution. 
  
The meeting was reminded the public question from Mr Geoff Cox representing 
Extinction Rebellion was received as follows: 
 
“People across Sheffield City Region are still bailing flood water out of their 
homes and salvaging what's left of their belongings. Annie Hall was killed not 
far away in the river Derwent. The climate crisis is lapping at our doorsteps. Will 
the SCR MCA radically accelerate and expand the proposals in the paper at 
item 15 on your agenda today? Will they commit to telling the truth about the 
climate emergency with a public information campaign, cutting Sheffield City 
Region's emissions to net-zero by 2025, and involve the public in writing a fair 
and just plan through a citizens' assembly?” 
 
In response, the Mayor reminded the meeting that in November we declared a 
climate emergency and noted that today, we will consider a framework for 
responding to the climate emergency and achieving net zero emissions across 
South Yorkshire.   
 
It was suggested that engaging with the public is key to addressing the climate 
challenges we face and the Mayor noted he wants to hear the views and ideas 
of residents, businesses and partner organisations on how we can work 
together to reduce and off-set emissions to achieve net zero. 
 

10 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

 RESOLVED, that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 18th November 
are agreed to be an accurate record. 
 

11 Devolution 
 

 A report was received to set out the next steps to progress devolution in South 
Yorkshire.  
 
It was noted this specifically recommends launching a public consultation on 
the draft Governance Review and Scheme to unlock the powers, resources and 
functions set out in its Devolution Deal with Government. 
 
Cllr Read led Members in recording their thanks to everyone involved in 
bringing this matter forward in a manner that facilitates and recognises the 
interests of all parties. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

Page 14



 

1. Approves the Governance Review that has been prepared in 
accordance with section 111 of the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009, as amended, which concludes 
that the exercise of the power to make an order devolving the proposed 
functions would be likely to improve the exercise of statutory functions in 
relation to the area of the MCA. 

 
2. Agrees to launch a six-week, public consultation on the proposals in the 

Scheme, commencing on the 3rd February. 
 

3. Delegates to the Head of Paid Service the management of the public 
consultation process and the subsequent preparation of a summary of 
the responses received, for consideration by the MCA. 

 
12 Climate Emergency Response Framework 

 
 A report was received to outline the proposed response framework to the 

climate emergency, following its declaration at the 18th November 2019 
Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) meeting. 
 
The Mayor thanked the officers for the work undertaking in bringing together 
the proposed response framework and reiterated intentions to move at apace 
on this matter. 
 
Members were advised of the key points of the Framework and how this will 
reflect the acknowledgment that climate change must be our number one 
priority for the SCR going forward, suggesting our ambition to be carbon neutral 
by 2040 is achievable (whilst considered not challenging enough by some 
parties) if actions commence now, noting this precedes the government’s target 
by 10 years. 
 
Comment was made on the need for a just transition to ensure measures 
introduced to remediate climate change do not lead to greater social and 
economic inequalities. 
 
It was noted the MCA would be asked to accelerate proposals wherever it is 
considered achievable and beneficial to do so. 
 
It was recognised the SCR can only achieve its climate ambitions through 
working in partnership with the local universities, businesses, the Local 
Authorities and through the input and engagement of the SCR’s citizens. 
 
Cllr Dore noted all the districts share good ideas and best practice on climate 
change and considered what added value the SCR is best placed to contribute 
to that conversation, suggesting this may be in the guise of the SCR LEP and 
the ability to directly engage the private sector, expanding actions beyond what 
matters the councils can directly affect. 
 
Cllr Purdy commented on the requirement for the Government to drive matters 
at a national and international level and provide a wider framework for SCR to 
engage with. It was noted the Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire districts have 
identified there is a lack of officer resources needed to deliver the climate 

Page 15



 

change actions and asserted this needs to be appropriately considered by the 
SCR as actions are developed as part of the outline framework. 
 
Mayor Jones commented on the devastation of the recent floods and what 
initiatives are in place to continue to support residents and businesses. 
 
Mayor Jarvis reiterated his intentions to press the government on delivering the 
actions they need to deliver on in support of our region and ensure the right 
amount of investment is received locally over the forthcoming months and 
years. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Notes the proposed response framework to the climate emergency and 
note the further work that will take place over the coming months to put 
in place specific interventions to deliver upon the policies set out. 

 
2. Agrees to receive the Energy Strategy; the first component of the 

framework, at the March MCA meeting. 
 

13 Statement of Common Ground 
 

 A report was received to present a Statement of Common Ground for 
endorsement by the MCA, following agreement of the Statement by local 
districts.  
 
It was noted this is part of a wider work programme being pursued 
collaboratively by local planning authorities in the City Region. 
 
Referring back to the previous agenda item, Cllr Dore commented on the 
relationship between planning policy and wider ambitions around climate 
change and the needs to fully understand how actions in one area can have 
various consequences. 
 
Cllr Houghton referenced the need to be clear about planning related 
governance and decision-making structures and the need to fully understand 
and agree to the role and responsibility of the SCR. 
 
RESOLVED, the MCA notes the draft Statement of Common Ground pending 
additional work to be completed prior to future approval. 
 

14 Period 8 Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report 
 

 A report was received to provide the position as at the end of November 2019 
(Period 8) for the revenue and capital programme of the Sheffield City Region 
(SCR) Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) for the financial year 2019/20. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Notes the 2019/20 Period 8 position for the Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s and LEPs revenue budget and capital programme 

 

Page 16



 

2. Approves the proposed variations to the South Yorkshire Transport 
capital programme. 

 
3. Approves the acceptance of Sustainable Transport Access Fund grant 

extension. 
 

15 South Yorkshire Transport Revenue Budget 20/21 
 

 A report was received to seek approval from the MCA for the proposed 2020/21 
South Yorkshire Transport Revenue Budget. 
 
Mayor Jones commented on the unacceptable amount of social isolation in the 
SCR, especially in rural areas and the need to try and address the effects of 
people not having sufficient access to public transport, acknowledging the need 
to balance budgets and other funding priorities. 
 
Cllr Dore referenced the other factors that can lead to social isolation, including 
austerity, cuts to public services and a consequent lack of destinations, 
suggesting people will only use public transport if there is somewhere to go, 
which in terms impacts on the viability of the transport network. 
 
The Mayor reminded members the draft findings of the Bus Review were due to 
be received in the next couple of months. 
 
It was noted the proposal to keep the Levy at the 2019/20 level will generate 
£1.1m of funding not considered in the budget presented in the report. 
Members were asked to consider the options available for how this might be 
utilised and expressed a preference for investment in tendered services noting 
this area of service is currently under increasing pressure due to inflation and 
bus operator costs. It was suggested the additional funding could be earmarked 
to specifically support this area of activity in 2020/21 and the future and that 
implementing this option would enable protection of the current essential 
services from potential cessation. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Notes the contents of the draft 2020/21 South Yorkshire Transport 
Revenue Budget report 

 
2. Approves the proposal to retain the PTE Levy at 2019/20 levels 

 
3. Approves the option presented at paragraph 3.1.2 for utilising the 

additional funding generated by keeping the Levy at the 2019/20 level 
 

16 South Yorkshire Transport Capital Programme 20/21 
 

 A report was received to seek approval of the proposed 2020/21 South 
Yorkshire Transport Capital Programme. 
 
It was noted the South Yorkshire Transport Capital Programme is limited 
geographically to the area covered by the four constituent member authorities 
and also funds programme activity undertaken by SYPTE. The programme 

Page 17



 

largely comprises: Transforming Cities Fund, SYPTE’s capital programme 
(covering both small and large scale projects), Highways Capital Maintenance 
(HCM) (mainly carriageway resurfacing projects carried out by 3 of the 4 
constituent member authorities), Integrated Transport Block (ITB) (a range of 
schemes designed to meet local transport needs and priorities) and ongoing 
work to develop the Mass Transit scheme beyond outline business case (OBC) 
stage. 
 
Cllr Dore welcomed the inclusion of the Transforming Cities Fund in the 
programme and invited the government’s confirmation the full amount proposed 
will be forthcoming. The Mayor noted representations he had made to that 
effect in parliament and to Ministers. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA approves the proposed 2020/21 South Yorkshire 
Transport Capital Programme report. 
 

17 Local Growth Fund (LGF) Monitoring 
 

 A report was received to provide an update on the 2019/20 LGF current 
forecast outturn position and an update of the current LGF programme 
commitments over the life of the LGF programme.  
 
The report asked the MCA to approve one scheme (Little Kelham) to be 
returned to the pipeline due to significant delays in confirming other sources of 
funding, and for two further schemes (360 Degrees Media and Foxhill 
Crescent) approve that they will not be counted towards the over programming 
position. 
 
The report showed there had been significant fluctuations in year from the 
predicted spend at the start of the year, and noted action is required to 
accelerate spending to mitigate the current position where we are currently 
forecasting a potential underspend. 
 
It was noted the totality of the position for the LGF programme is a significant 
reduction in the over programming position due to the withdrawal of a number 
of schemes. Members were informed that further movement on the programme 
is likely to reduce this and may create additional headroom for schemes to 
progress. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Notes the predicted 2019/20 LGF outturn position and any remedial 
action it would wish to see to mitigate negative impact on the LGF spend 
in 19/20. 

 
2. Approves the movement of the Little Kelham scheme from approval 

back into the pipeline, until it can satisfy the conditions of approval. 
 
3. Agrees to discount two schemes 360 Degrees Media and Foxhill 

Crescent from the over programming position, whilst retaining them in 
the pipeline for future funding, due to a high probability of not completing 
business planning and delivery within the life of the LGF window. 

Page 18



 

 
18 Local Growth Fund (LGF) Approvals 

 
 A report was received seeking approval of three schemes with a total value 

over all years of £12.61m Local Growth Fund (LGF) and seeking delegated 
authority to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the S73 and 
Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements for the schemes. 
 
Regarding the Doncaster Sheffield Airport Passenger Capacity Extension 
scheme, Members were advised of discussions regarding the airport’s 
sustainable development goals, which include being carbon neutral by 2030, 
and informed the project would be monitored to ensure that ambition is met. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Approves the progression of Doncaster Sheffield Airport Passenger 
Capacity Expansion to full approval and award of £5.02m loan to 
Doncaster Sheffield Airport Limited subject to the conditions set out in 
the Appraisal Panel Summary Table 

 
2. Approves the progression of A630: Westmoor Link Road to full approval 

and award of up to £5m grant to Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary 
Table  

 
3. Approves the progression of Digital Innovation Hub to full approval and 

award of up to £2.59m grant to Barnsley College subject to the 
conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table  

 
4. Agrees delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in 

consultation with the s73 and Monitoring Officer to enter into legal 
agreements for the schemes above. 

 
19 Arts & Culture 

 
 A report was received to seek the MCA’s support for the development of a 

programme of work to further evolve the arts and cultural sectors in South 
Yorkshire. 
 
The meeting expressed surprise and concern at the Mayor’s report that there 
had been no South Yorkshire sites of artistic and cultural interest contained 
within the latest edition of the Lonely Planet list of 500 places to visit in the UK. 
 
Members were presented with proposals for how perceived weaknesses with 
the county’s cultural and artistic offer might be addressed. 
 
Cllr Dore acknowledged the need to differentiate between visitor attractions 
(attracting visitors from outside the region) and local attractions (which serve 
the cultural and artistic appetite of local residents) and requested more be done 
to understand why participation rates are surprisingly low and ensure people 
are fully enabled to access everything that the county offers. 
 

Page 19



 

Members noted support for the general intentions of the strategy as presented 
and the need to enhance the economic and social opportunities afforded by the 
local and ‘inward destination’ arts and cultural offer. 
 
The importance of community level arts, as well as ‘big shiny things’ was 
acknowledged, as was the need for all local residents having the ability to 
access all arts and cultural offers. 
 
RESOLVED, that the MCA: 
 

1. Agrees to support the development of a programme of work to further 
evolve the arts and cultural sectors in South Yorkshire. 

 
2. Notes the Mayor’s intention to explore additional initiatives to consider 

how the SCR can add value to the work of the Local Authorities. 
 

20 Contract Award - BSW Provision of Cleaning Services 
 

 A report was received to seek approval to appoint a provider of cleaning 
services for the Sheffield City Region offices at Broad Street West, Sheffield. 
 
It was confirmed the real living wage will be paid to all employees. 
 
RESOLVED, that delegated authority is given to the Head of Paid Service to 
approve the award of an up to 4 year contract (3 years plus 1 year extension) in 
excess of £100,000 for the Provision of Cleaning Services at Sheffield City 
Region Offices. 
 

21 Delegated Authority Report 
 

 Provided for information. 
 

 
I, the undersigned, confirm that this is a true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Signed  

 
Name 

 

 
Position 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 20



For Publication

Improving collaborative working across Derbyshire (LC000)

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To provide an update on work taking place with Derbyshire 
Councils on non-structural reform and to approve the 
Council’s participation in the development and 
implementation of a new model of local government 
collaboration for Derbyshire.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 To note progress on the development of a new vision and new 
model of local government collaboration in Derbyshire.
 

2.2 To note the agreed principles for collaboration and areas of 
potential focus for future working, as set out in the report. 

2.3 To consider Price Waterhouse Coopers’ (PwC’s) proposals for 
Phase 2 and Derbyshire County Council’s (DCC’s) suggested 

Meeting: Cabinet 

Date: 25 February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Leader of the Council

Report by: Chief Executive  

For publication

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2

approach for sharing the costs of commissioning PwC to 
support Derbyshire Councils’ to progress development of a 
new model of local government collaboration for Derbyshire. 

2.4 To approve the Council’s active participation in Phase 2 and 
the associated costs of supporting PwC to implement its 
proposals. 

3.0 Background and Phase 1

3.1 In June 2019, Price Waterhouse Coopers (PwC) were 
commissioned, by all Derbyshire Councils, to undertake a 
programme of work to explore the appetite for future 
collaborative working in Derbyshire. It was agreed that the 
new approach should look beyond traditional partnerships, 
towards a new collective and ambitious vision and model of 
collaboration, integration and shared leadership focused on 
achieving the greatest public value for local people and 
communities.

3.2 The key aims of PwC’s Phase 1 activity were to:

 Identify and explore the existing level of ambition and 
appetite of stakeholders to progress non-structural reform 
in Derbyshire 

 Establish the purpose and potential value of progressing 
the approach in Derbyshire and the conditions which would 
need to be in place to support future collaboration 

 Identify and develop short-, medium- and long-term 
options for collaboration

 Scope and establish the parameters for a Phase 2 work 
programme.

3.3 The Derbyshire Chief Executive Officers’ Group, supported by 
a sub-group of officers drawn from a smaller number of 
Derbyshire Councils (which has included Chesterfield Borough 
Council’s Chief Executive and Assistant Director for Policy and 

Page 22



3

Communications), have guided and led the work with PwC; 
commencing with a series of semi-structured interviews with 
Leaders and Chief Executives, in August 2019.  

Key interview topics included: 

 Derby/Derbyshire as a place
 Existing level of alignment
 Collaborative successes and challenges
 Ambitions for future collaboration
 Potential outcomes and themes for collaboration
 Ways of working, culture and behaviours, enablers and 

barriers

3.4 A series of Leader / Chief Executive workshops, held in 
September and October 2019, built on the learning that PwC 
had gained from the interviews; and explored opinions on the 
vision for place, the “why” (why should councils work together) 
and the “what” (what should councils work together on).  

3.5 A number of guiding principles emerged through this Phase 1 
activity; the need to / for:

 Improve outcomes – collaboration must enable us to 
improve outcomes for people and place

 Speak with one voice – collaboration must support us to 
speak to our residents, businesses, regional and national 
stakeholders with one voice

 Better coordination – collaboration must enable better 
coordination and use of resources, allowing us to make 
strategic choices according to the needs of our place

 Provide a viable alternative to unitarisation – collaboration 
needs to represent a viable alternative to unitarisation, with 
greater flexibility to deal with strategic challenges whilst 
maintaining appropriate local control

Page 23



4

 Deliver to be sustainable – collaboration should be 
delivered within the means, both resources and financial, of 
all Councils, to be sustainable

3.6 In addition, several areas for future collaboration emerged. 
These, whilst not exclusive, provide a potential focus for future 
working and include:

 Climate change
 Tourism
 Skills and employment
 Social mobility
 Economic prosperity

3.7 The Leaders’ and Chief Executives’ also identified several 
success factors which they viewed as critical. These indicate a 
step change in approach to ways of working that have the 
potential to drive a truly different model of local government in 
Derbyshire, and include: 

 Working at pace, building on the momentum achieved 
through the Phase 1 activity

 Working as a collective in a different physical and mental 
space from business as usual

 Continuing to strengthen and role model collaborative, 
collective leadership behaviours

3.8 Following further discussions at the D2 Joint Committee for 
Economic Prosperity in November, PwC were asked to develop 
and submit proposals for a second phase of activity.

4.0 Phase 2 – Proposed Approach

4.1 PwC’s aim, in presenting their proposals, is to support 
Derbyshire Councils to progress a new model of local 
government collaboration for Derbyshire with a view to:

Page 24



5

 Maintaining the momentum successfully built up during the 
Phase 1 activity and extending engagement to a broader 
range of Members, employees and partner organisations

 Developing a case for change and a proposition to 
Government

 Designing and mobilising a dedicated team and delivery 
programme in order to accelerate implementation of 
activity on one or more of the areas identified for early 
collaboration (see paragraph 3.6 above); with climate 
change being the potential first area to take forward.

4.2 To support Derbyshire Councils’ to deliver against the identified 
outcomes, PwC have proposed the adoption of two 
workstreams, with a number of identified deliverables:

Workstream Activity
1. Development of case for 

change and proposition 
to government

 Confirm scope and structure of case 
for change with Steering Group

 Collect and analyse baseline data
 Interview and engage with Leaders 

and Chief Executives
 Engagement events
 Develop a functional model for 

collaborative working in Derbyshire
 Develop the strategic narrative that 

will underpin collaborative working 
in Derbyshire

 Assess potential financial and non-
financial benefits

 Write up the case for change
 Produce a formal proposition for 

government
 Support Councils’ in their 

discussions with government
2. Delivery programme 

mobilisation and 
acceleration

 Mobilise and provide both 1:1 and 
group coaching for the cross-council 
delivery team

 Support the design of the delivery 
programme for the new model of 
collaboration

 Provide embedded support for a 
period of three months, including 

Page 25



6

running workshops to begin delivery 
of tangible results through the 
programme

4.3 An indicative project plan setting out in more detail the 
activities and deliverables for each workstream has also been 
developed. The plan seeks to both focus and direct the work of 
both PwC and participating councils during the implementation 
period, which is anticipated to last six months. Completion of 
the programme will be dependent upon an agreed start date; 
however, participating councils are keen to maintain 
momentum and build on the impetus gathered through the 
Phase 1 activity, commencing Phase 2 as soon as practicable.

4.4 PwC’s Phase 2 proposal was discussed by the Leaders of all 
Derbyshire Councils at a meeting of the D2 Joint Committee for 
Economic Prosperity on 10 January 2020. The Leader of 
Derbyshire County Council and likewise the Leaders of all eight 
District and Borough Councils expressed an interest in 
participating in Phase 2 subject to them gaining the support of 
their respective Councils to do so. Derby City Council, whilst 
supportive of future collaborative working, reserved their 
position and sought more time to consider whether to 
participate in Phase 2 at this time.

5.0 Resource considerations 

5.1 The total cost of taking forward PwC’s Phase 2 activity is 
expected to be in the region of £350,000. Derbyshire County 
Council have proposed that the costs be shared amongst 
Derbyshire Councils using the following split:

Derbyshire County Council - 62.5%
District and borough councils - 37.5% (shared between 8 
councils)

Page 26



7

5.2 The cost for Chesterfield Borough Council is therefore 
estimated to be £17,000, which it is recommended be met from 
reserves.  

5.3 Involvement in the proposed Phase 2 activity presents a unique 
opportunity for the council to participate in the development of 
an innovative and collaborative approach for Derbyshire. It is 
therefore recommended that Cabinet approves the Council’s 
active participation in Phase 2 and the associated costs. 

6.0 Equalities considerations

6.1 Equality, diversity and social inclusion have been key 
considerations during the development of the project to date. 
As the Phase 2 activity develops appropriate equality impact 
assessments will be undertaken and reported. 

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1 To note progress on the development of a new vision and new 
model of local government collaboration in Derbyshire.
 

7.2 To note the agreed principles for collaboration and areas of 
potential focus for future working, as set out in the report. 

7.3 To consider Price Waterhouse Coopers’ (PwC’s) proposals for 
Phase 2 and Derbyshire County Council’s (DCC’s) suggested 
approach for sharing the costs of commissioning PwC to 
support Derbyshire Councils’ to progress development of a new 
model of local government collaboration for Derbyshire.

7.4 To approve the Council’s active participation in Phase 2 and the 
associated costs of supporting PwC to implement its proposals. 

8.0 Reason for recommendations

Page 27



8

8.1 To enable Chesterfield Borough Council to fully participate in 
the proposed development of a new model of local 
government collaborative working for Derbyshire; with a 
particular focus on improving outcomes for Chesterfield 
Borough and Derbyshire County residents. 

Page 28



9

Decision information

Key decision number 941
Wards affected ALL 

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Huw Bowen 
Chief Executive 

01246 345308
huw.bowen@chesterfield.gov.uk

Page 29

mailto:huw.bowen@chesterfield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



For publication 

Approval of the Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2020/21 (J040)

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To present for approval the Council Plan Delivery Plan for 
2020/21. 

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2020/21 is approved.  

2.2 That the Deputy Leader is delegated to approve any minor 
drafting changes and design that may be required in order to 
improve the readability and accessibility of the plan.

3.0 Background

3.1 The Council Plan for 2019 – 2023 was approved by Council in 
February 2019. The Council Plan defines the Council’s key 
priorities, objectives and commitments over the four year 

Meeting: Council 
Cabinet  

Date: 26.02.20
25.02.20

Cabinet portfolio: Deputy Leader 

Report by: Assistant Director – Policy and Communications 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



2

period. The plan is aimed at providing focus, setting out 
priorities that will require collected corporate effort during the 
period.  It is not an attempt to describe every service that the 
Council will provide; this will be covered by service plans on an 
annual basis.

3.2 Alongside the four year Council Plan there was also a 
commitment to develop annual delivery plans, the first one for 
2019/20 also being approved at Council in February 2019. This 
plan set out the key milestones and measures progress 
required to keep the Council Plan on target for delivery. 

3.3 A new performance management framework was also 
developed to accompany the Council Plan and Delivery Plans. 
This framework underpins the Council Plan, measures and 
demonstrates our success in terms of milestones, outputs, 
outcomes and measures and effectively reviews and 
challenges performance.  

4.0 Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2020/21

4.1 The Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2020/21 (attached at 
Appendix 1).  This document sets out the key milestones, 
inputs, outputs and measures we will need to deliver during 
the second year of the four year Council Plan. The Delivery Plan 
has been produced through a series of discussions and 
workshops with portfolio holders, scrutiny chairs and officers. 
Our evidence base includes performance information, 
demographics trends and forecasts and intelligence from our 
community engagement programme. Horizon scanning 
techniques were also used to consider key emerging issues. 

4.2 Further minor drafting and design work may be required for 
the plan to maximise readability and accessibility so delegated 

Page 32



3

authority is being requested for the Deputy Leader to oversee 
this activity. 

5.0 Equalities

5.1 Equality, diversity and social inclusion have been key 
considerations during the development of the plan and our 
values. As programmes and projects are developed to deliver 
our vision and priorities the appropriate level of equality 
analysis and community engagement will be undertaken. 
Overall the plan is considered to have a positive equality impact 
contributing to increasing the proceeds of economic growth, 
improving quality of life including health and wellbeing. 

6.0 Risk management 

Risks Impact Likelihood Mitigating 
Action

Residual 
Impact

Residual 
Likelihood

Failure to 
make 
sufficient 
progress on 
plan delivery

H M Priorities, aims 
and projects are 
challenging but 
realistic. They 
provide a focus 
for the use of 
resources 
during the 
period

M L

Failure to 
complete 
projects on 
time/budget/to 
quality 
standards.

H M Performance 
management 
framework 
developed to 
challenge 
projects and 
activities and 
develop 
mitigation 
where 
necessary. 

M L

Page 33



4

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1 That the Council Plan 2020/21 delivery plan is approved. 

Core services 
unable to 
identify 
contribution to 
the corporate 
priorities

M M Performance 
management 
framework 
cleary identifies 
the role of 
members, 
managers and 
staff. Service 
plans and 
Personal 
Development 
Plans are used 
to make the link 
between the 
contribution of 
teams and 
individual 
members of 
staff, and the 
Council Plan. 

L L

Failure to 
resource 
priorities in 
the plan

M M The Council 
Plan 2023 
commitments 
and year 1 
delivery plan 
have been 
developed 
alongside the 
budget and 
medium term 
financial 
forecast to 
minimise this 
risk. 

M L

Page 34



5

7.2 That the Deputy Leader is delegated to approve any minor 
drafting changes and design that may be required in order to 
improve the readability and accessibility of the plan.

8.0 Reason for recommendations

8.1 To provide the Council with a clear statement of its strategic 
priorities for 2019 – 2023, to approve the year 1 delivery plan 
and establish a new performance management framework to 
support plan delivery. 

Decision information

Key decision number 920
Wards affected ALL 

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Donna Reddish – 
Assistant Director – 
Policy and 
Communications.  

Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.u
k 

Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Council Plan 2020/21 delivery plan

Page 35

mailto:Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT - Council Plan 2019 – 2023 – Year 2 delivery 

Our vision: Putting our communities first 
Our Values:
• Customer focused – delivering great customer service, meeting customer needs
• Can do – striving to make a difference by adopting a positive attitude
• One council, one team –proud of what we do, working together for the greater good
• Honesty and respect – embracing diversity and treating everyone fairly

Our 
priorities 

Making Chesterfield a thriving borough Improving the quality of life for local 
people 

Providing value for money services

Our 
objectives 
for 2019 - 
2023

 Chesterfield Borough – A great place to live, work and visit
 Vibrant town centres
 Build a stronger business base
 Develop an inclusive and environmentally sustainable approach to growth

 Provide quality housing and improve housing 
conditions across the borough  

 Improve our environment and enhance 
community safety for our communities and 
future generations

 Help our communities to improve their 
health and wellbeing

 Reduce inequality and provide support to 
vulnerable people

 Become and stay financially self sufficient 
 Make our services easier to access, deliver savings and 

reduce our environmental impact through the use of 
technology

 Improve services and customer interaction by investing 
in our staff

Our key 
milestone
s for 
2020/21

 Complete and open the Northern Gateway Enterprise Centre 
 Progress the land assembly plan for the next phase of the Northern Gateway 
 Continue to support the delivery of the Elder Way development
 Waterside – commence construction of commercial development at Basin Square 
 Complete consultation, develop and adopt the HS2 station masterplan
 Progress key site acquisition strategy to maximise HS2 benefit 
 Progress year 2 of the HS2 and you programme 
 Deliver year 1 of the Visitor Economy Action Plan 
 Deliver a programme of Borough wide events 
 Re-launch the Town Centre Forum to increase engagement and activity to 

promote and support the Chesterfield Town Centre economy 
 Support the development of Peak Resort and Adrenaline World, maximising the 

benefit for Chesterfield’s economy 
 Consider the options for the refurbishment of the George Stevenson Memorial 

Hall and progress to design phase if viable 
 Develop schemes and initiatives including the town investment plan to maximise 

the Staveley Town Centre Deal potential 
 Further develop the visitor offer at the Pomegranate and Winding Wheel Theatres
 Conduct research and develop options for alternative usage of retail space in the 

town centres 
 Progressing the Heart of Chesterfield programme including commencement of 

the Market reconfiguration project 
 Develop and adopt a long-term parking strategy including electric vehicle 

charging 
 Deliver new business units at Calow Lane 
 Refreshing the skills action plan to include harder to reach young people 

including care leavers, apprentice town and annual skills conference support 

 Develop, agree and implement the Rough 
Sleepers Strategy

 Assess private sector stock condition survey 
and develop a costed action plan for 
improvement

 Deliver year 2 of the five-year housing 
environmental schemes programme

 Deliver year 1 of the climate change plan
 Develop plans to focus housing service 

investment to improve affordable warmth 
and contribute to reducing climate change 
impact 

 Develop and deliver schemes and trials to 
increase recycling rates 

 Deliver year 1 of the Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy 

 Plan and deliver the 2020/21 local democracy 
programme with a climate change theme

 Plan and deliver with the Equality and 
Diversity Forum four equality and diversity 
events 

 Implement the Derbyshire Care Leaver Offer 
 Deliver year 1 of the Armed Forces Covenant 

action plan 

 Deliver the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan and 
actions for 2020/21 including the business plans for 
leisure and venues

 Develop the Council’s Organisational Development 
approach further to ensure alignment of key strategies, 
plans, programmes and functions 

 Review the Council’s commercial approach, services and 
investment portfolios and deliver actions resulting from 
the review

 Successfully return Arvato and Kier services by October 
2020

 Deliver the activities identified in the Council’s Asset 
Management Strategy and Plan for 2020/2021

 Complete the second year of the ICT improvement 
programme.

 Develop our future ICT Strategy for 2022/2023 onwards
 Further develop the performance management 

framework to include key organisational health check 
measures to support service improvement

 Achieve customer services excellence accreditation
 Deliver the 2020/2021 activities identified in the People 

Plan 2019 – 2023
 Complete the Investor in People Assessment improving 

silver scores in key areas 

P
age 37



Performance measures 

Making Chesterfield a thriving 
borough 

Improving the quality of life for local 
people 

Providing value for money services

Our key measures for 
2019/20

 Number of new homes in the borough 
 Number of new homes in the town centre
 Planning applications processed within 

approved timescales 
 Amount of external funding accessed for 

HS2 programme
 Number of children reached via HS2 and 

you project  programme
 Tourism contribution to the economy
 Visitor numbers 
 Visitor overnight stays
 Town centre occupancy rates 
 Number of businesses
 Number of business start-ups in the 

borough 
 Number of businesses supported to find 

accommodation 
 % local labour clauses
 % jobs secured by local people on 

developments with local labour clauses
 Number of young people not in education, 

employment or training 
 Number of businesses, learners engaged in 

skills programmes and external funding 
levied

 Visitor numbers at theatres 

 Number of new Council homes developed
 Decent homes standard
 Average SAP rating for CBC properties 
 Activity rates measured by active lives survey 
 Number of children in our learn to swim 

programme 
 Number of green flag rated parks and open 

spaces 
 Number of people supported via Careline and 

Neighbourhoods  
 Number of homeless preventions per annum
 Additional amount of benefits claimed due to 

Council support 
 Number and amount spent on disabled 

facilities grants
 Number of children engaged in local 

democracy campaigns
 Number engaged in theatres health and 

wellbeing programme 

 Satisfactory opinion from external auditor re VFM 
conclusion

 Void levels on commercial properties 
 Employee Survey key measures 
 Number of CBC apprentices 
 Council tax, rent and NNDR collection rates
 Increase in self-service transactions 
 Website hits
 Twitter and facebook numbers 
 Net promoter score – Winding Wheel
 Net promoter score – Pomegranate Theatre
 Participation in parks and open spaces events and 

activities (Number of people engaged in events and 
activities at CBC parks and open spaces)

 Average call response times

P
age 38



For publication

2020/21 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan

For publication 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To consider the General Fund budget report and to make 
recommendations to the full Council on the budget allocations 
and council tax level for 2020/21.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet recommends to Council that it: 

2.1.1 Approves the revised budget for 2019/20 (Section 5).

2.1.2 Approves the request for funding at paragraphs 5.3 to 5.6 
from the Budget Risk Reserve.

Meeting: Cabinet
Council

Date: 25th February 2020
26th February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Deputy Leader

Report by: Acting Chief Finance Officer

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



2.1.3 Approves the overall revenue budget summary for 2020/21 
(Section 7 and Appendix A).

2.1.4 Notes the Collection Fund and the Tax Base forecasts (Section 
8).

2.1.5 Approves the use of the capital receipts flexibility to fund the 
revenue costs of the ICT programme which will lead to budget 
savings (Section 9). 

2.1.6 Notes the budget forecasts for 2021/22 and the medium term 
and the action plan for addressing the projected deficits 
(Section 10).

2.1.7 Approves the estimates of reserves including maintaining the 
General Working Balance at £1.5m (Section 11 and Appendix 
D).

2.1.8 Notes the budget risks and sensitivity analysis (Appendix E).

2.1.9 Increases the Council’s share of Council Tax by £5 for a Band 
‘D’ property in 2020/21.

2.1.10 Approves the 2020/21 Council Tax Requirement and financing 
(Appendix F).

2.1.11 Notes the Acting Chief Finance Officer’s assurances (Section 
16).

3.0 Background

3.1 This report covers the General Fund revenue budget and is one 
part of a suite of budget reports which together make up the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  The other budget related reports 
include the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget, HRA Rent 
Setting, HRA Capital Programme, General Fund Capital 
Programme and Treasury Management reports.  

Page 40



 
3.2 The Council’s Budget Strategy (Appendix B) is to set a 

sustainable and affordable budget over the medium term. This 
report looks ahead over the coming five financial years to 
determine the resources available, what are the spending 
pressures/priorities and how a balanced budget can be 
achieved.   

3.3 The major funding sources for the General Fund are 
Government grant (RSG), business rates growth, fees & charges 
(car parking, leisure income etc.), rental income from the 
Council’s extensive industrial & commercial property portfolio 
and the council tax. The Government is, therefore, able to 
regulate a large proportion of the resources available to the 
Council through the grants it provides and by placing 
restrictions on Council Tax increases.  

3.4 The Local Government Finance Settlement on 6th February 2020 
confirmed:

 The RSG settlement funding will be £441k in 2020/21.

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding allocations for 2020/21 
will be granted for one year. In addition, the 0.4% base 
line means that NHB funding will only be available for net 
additional homes (new build properties and/or bringing 
back into use empty properties less demolitions) above 
the expected baseline number.

 The Council Tax referendum principles for shire districts 
will allow an increase to Band D council tax of up to 2% or 
£5 whichever is greater.

3.5 The Council Tax must be set at the Council meeting on 26th 
February, which means that the Cabinet must now finalise its 
proposals for achieving a balanced budget.

4.0 Policy & Financial Planning Framework

Page 41



4.1 A copy of the Council’s Financial Strategy is attached at 
Appendix C. Its overall aim is to establish a framework for 
aligning the revenue and capital spending proposals with the 
Council’s strategic priorities.  This report covers the application 
of the strategy for the next five years.  The Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) itself is supported by other financial 
strategies including the Capital Strategy, the Treasury 
Management Strategy and the Asset Management Plan.

4.2 The MTFP is just one of a number of plans and strategies that 
link into the overall Council Plan; others include the Workforce 
Plan, the HRA Business Plan, the Local Development 
Framework, etc.  These are designed to help ensure that the 
Council provides efficient and effective services, delivers value 
for money and achieves continuous improvement. 

4.3 The Council Plan should guide the Council’s resource allocation 
and performance management arrangements. The Council 
Plan has been developed in tandem with the preparation of the 
MTFP.     

5.0 Revised Budget 2019/20

5.1 The Council approved the original budget for 2019/20 on 27th 
February 2019.  It was also agreed that the Council Tax be 
increased by £5 to £164.89 for a Band ‘D’ property.  After 
allowing for planned savings a deficit of £202k was forecast.

5.2 Budget monitoring reports were presented to the Cabinet and 
full Council on a quarterly basis. The table below provides a 
summary of the net forecasts at each reporting stage:

Table – 2019/20 Surplus / (Deficit) Forecasts Through the Year

Date
Net surplus / 

(deficit)
£000

Change on 
previous

£000
Feb 19 – approved budget (202) -
Jul 19 – end of quarter 1 (203) (1)

Page 42



Oct 19 – end of quarter 2  52 255
Dec 19 – draft revised budget 75 23
Feb 20 – this final budget report 148 123

The revised portfolio budgets for 2019/20 were reported to the 
Cabinet on the 17th December 2019 as part of the first draft 
General Fund budget report.    

Since then further work has been undertaken through budget 
challenge and budget monitoring to identify other possible 
variances for inclusion in this final budget report.  The updated 
revised budget forecast for 2019/20 shows an estimated 
surplus of £148k. (Appendix A). 

5.3 The budget challenge process identified areas of historical 
underspends where budgets were set to deal with worst case 
scenarios. These amounts have been removed from budgets 
but it is suggested that a contingency sum of £30,000 is 
earmarked from the Budget Risk Reserve for any subsequent 
unavoidable spend which would have been met from these 
areas.

5.4 A report on the Climate Change Action Plan will be considered 
by Council in February. The action plan identifies that up to 
£300,000 is required to deliver the plan over the life of the 
current Council Plan. There is a provision of £100,000 currently 
earmarked from the Budget Risk Reserve. A further 
contribution of up to £200,000 is requested from the Budget 
Risk Reserve to enable the action plan to be fully funded.

5.5 In September 2019, an amount of £50,000 was earmarked from 
the Budget Risk Reserve to fund a feasibility study into the 
refurbishment of Stephenson Memorial Hall. Tenders for this 
work have identified that the original estimate was not 
sufficient and a further £10,000 is requested from the Budget 
Risk Reserve to fully fund this study.

Page 43



5.6 The Council has an opportunity to be an active participant in 
the development and implementation of a model of Local 
Government collaboration for Derbyshire. This would require a 
contribution of £17,000 and it is suggested that this 
contribution be funded from the Budget Risk Reserve.

5.7 Strict budgetary control will continue to the end of the financial 
year with the final surplus transferred to the Budget Risk 
Reserve at the end of the year.

6.0 Business Rates

6.1 The estimate of business rates income for 2020/21 was 
approved by the Employment & General Committee on 27th 
January 2020. The estimated level of business rate income is 
£37.8m giving the Council’s 40% share as £15.124m. This is then 
reduced by a tariff payment to central government giving a final 
budget figure of £4.753m for 2020/21.

6.2 Since 2013/14, local authorities have been able to retain a 
proportion of the growth in business rates over and above the 
baseline set in 2013/14. Central government is expected to 
reset the business rates baseline in 2021/22 which will mean 
that any growth gained since 2013/14 will be built into a new 
baseline, effectively wiping it out. This will have a negative 
impact on the level of business rates we can expect.

6.3 To help mitigate against these losses we have assumed no 
further growth in business rates income from 2021/22 and 
have transferred the business rates collection fund surplus of 
£440k in 2020/21 into the Business Rate Reserve to help meet 
possible further loss of business rates income in future years.

7.0 2020/21 Net Expenditure Estimate

7.1 The Medium Term forecast approved a year ago, by Council on 
27th February 2019, showed a deficit, before savings targets, of 
£803k in 2020/21.

Page 44



7.2 The table below provides a summary of the budget forecasts 
which have been reported to the Cabinet during the current 
financial year 2019/20:

(Deficit) / Surplus Forecasts 

Stage Cabinet 
2019/20

£’000
2020/21

£’000
Start of the year 26th Feb (202) (803)

Q1 Budget Monitoring 16th Jul (203) (847)

Q2 Budget Monitoring 22nd Oct 52 (141)

1st draft budget report 17th Dec 75 (242)

Latest Forecast 25th Feb 148 16

7.3 The budget forecast for 2020/21 in Appendix A assumes a £5 
Council Tax increase.  The forecast shows a surplus of £16k but 
this assumes that ICT Digital Innovation savings of £17k will be 
achieved.  

8.0 Council Tax & Collection Fund

8.1 Income raised locally through the council tax represents the 
major financing source for the General Fund revenue budget.

8.2 Collection Fund Balance – before calculating the council tax 
for the coming year the estimated balance on the current year’s 
Council Tax elements of the Collection Fund must be 
established.  The balance on the Collection Fund was reported 
to the Cabinet on 14th January 2020.  There is an estimated 
surplus balance of £940,939 at the end of March 2020.  The 
surplus is shared amongst the major precepting authorities; 
the Borough’s share is £94,470 (10.04%).

8.3 Tax Base - the Tax Base provides an estimate of how much 
each £1 of Council Tax would raise.  The Tax Base is expressed 
as the equivalent number of Band ‘D’ dwellings in the borough.  
The Employment and General Committee approved the Tax 
Base on 27th January 2020 as:

Page 45



Tax Base – Band ‘D’ Properties
Area 2019/20 2020/21 Increase / (Decrease)

No. %

Brimington 
Parish

2,330.59 2,322.81 (7.78) (0.3)

Staveley Town 4,136.40 4,215.27 78.87 1.9
Chesterfield Area 22,533.64 22,643.00 109.36 0.5
Total 29,000.63 29,181.08 180.45 0.6

8.4 Referendum Limit – the capping regime was replaced some 
years ago with a requirement to hold a referendum if the 
proposed council tax increase exceeds a limit set by the 
Secretary of State. The limit for 2020/21has been set at 2% but 
with a concession for district councils which allows them to 
increase their council tax by a maximum of £5 or 2%.  The £5 
increase is equivalent to an increase of 3.03%. 

8.5 Council Tax Increase – the budget has been prepared 
assuming a council tax increase of £5 for a Band ‘D’ property. 

For local tax payers the impact of a £5 per annum increase on 
the Band ‘D’ tax, compared to the current council tax, is 3.03% 
in percentage terms, but low in monetary terms, for a; 

 Band ‘A’ property (more than half the properties in the 
Borough) equivalent to £3.33 per annum or 6.4 pence per 
week; 

 Band ‘D’ equivalent to £5.00 per annum or 9.6 pence per 
week.  

The Council’s share of the overall tax bill is approximately 10% 
so the increase will only have a relatively small impact on the 
total shown on the bill.   

 
9.0 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy

Page 46



9.1 As part of the November 2015 Spending Review, the 
Government announced that it would introduce flexibility for 
local authorities to use capital receipts from the sale of non-
housing assets to fund the revenue costs of service reform and 
transformation which are forecast to generate ongoing savings 
to an authority’s net service expenditure.  Guidance on the use 
of this flexibility was issued in March 2016 which applied to the 
financial years 2016/17 to 2018/19. In December 2017 the 
Government confirmed that this flexibility would be extended 
for a further three years to 31st March 2022.

9.2 Government has provided a definition of expenditure which 
qualifies to be funded from capital receipts. This is:
“Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is 
designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of 
public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs 
and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or 
demand for services in future years for any of the public sector 
delivery partners. Within this definition, it is for individual local 
authorities to decide whether or not a project qualifies for the 
flexibility.”

9.3 The Council intends to use the capital receipts flexibility to part 
fund the ICT Improvement Programme, which was approved by 
Council in April 2018. The original programme included capital 
expenditure that will now be delivered using cloud-based 
technology and as such has been reclassified as revenue 
expenditure. There has been no change to the overall cost of 
the project.

9.4 The estimated use of capital receipts and annual savings 
generated by this project are set out in the table below:

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

Estimated 
Expenditure

412 480 0 0 0

Page 47



Estimated 
Savings

(227) (232) (592) (825) (1,023)

 
It is forecast that the ICT Improvement programme will achieve 
total net revenue savings of around £4.5m during the 8 years to 
2026/27.

9.5 The Guidance requires that the impact on the Council’s 
prudential indicators should be considered when preparing a 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy. There will be no 
impact on the Council’s prudential indicators as a result of the 
implementation of this strategy, as the expenditure to be 
funded from capital receipts had previously been included 
within the capital programme. Therefore there has been no 
change in the overall use of capital receipts.

10.0 Medium Term Forecast - 2021/22 through to 2024/25

10.1 It is good financial practice for authorities to consider their 
budgets over the medium term and not just for the year ahead.  
The forecasts are based on current levels of service provision 
with no allowance for future growth. They assume that the 
current business rate retention model continues. The 
government is consulting on changes to the current model.

10.2 The table below provides a summary of the deficits/savings 
targets over the medium term: 

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

2023/24
£’000

2024/25
£’000

Surplus / 
(Deficit) 
forecast after 
planned 
savings

16 (723) (767) (827) (742)

ICT Digital 
Innovation 
Savings

(231) (592) (825) (1,023) (1,216)

Page 48



ICT Digital 
Innovation 
Savings 
Achieved

214 218 220 228 234

Total Savings 
target

(1) (1,097) (1,372) (1,622) (1,724)

Change on 
previous year – 
deficit 
(increase)/ 
decrease

(1,096) (275) (250) (102)

The scale of the future forecast deficits and the need for 
significant IT investment means that work must continue in 
2020 to deliver on the planned efficiency and income 
proposals, and to identify new savings proposals in order to be 
able to produce balanced and sustainable budgets for future 
years.   

10.3 An action plan has been developed identifying a programme of 
initiatives designed to eliminate the forecast deficits over the 
life of the Medium Term Financial Plan. These will be 
developed during 2020/21 in order that savings are realised 
for the start of 2021/22.

Action Plan Budget
2021/22

£000

Budget
2022/23

£000

Budget
2023/24

£000

Budget
2024/25

£000

Shared Services (see para 
10.4)

tbc tbc tbc tbc

Voluntary Redundancies 100 200 300 400
VAT 0 100 103 106
Strategic Review of HRA/GF 
contribution

100 100 100 100

Asset Consolidation 44 89 90 90
Procurement 25 50 75 100
Commercial Activity 100 100 100 100
Capital Investment to 
Generate Income

0 149 207 207

£5 Council Tax Increase 48 49 50 51
Total Savings 417 837 1,025 1,154

Page 49



10.4 A meeting of the Joint Cabinet & Employment & General 
Committee on 14th January agreed to the return of services 
from Arvato and Kier in October 2020. It is expected that 
significant savings will be achieved as a result of this and there 
is also a possibility of a new partnership arrangement for 
Chesterfield to continue to provide some services for 
Derbyshire Dales from October 2020. However, it is too early 
to be able to provide a definitive figure at this stage.

10.5 The level of savings anticipated from this plan is higher than 
the current level of deficits forecast. A number of budget risks 
have been identified that may create further pressure within 
the Medium Term Financial Plan which are not quantifiable at 
this stage. It is hoped that the additional savings achieved will 
help to mitigate these budget pressures.

10.6 The most significant budget risks include:
 10 year property maintenance programme
 Non achievement of ICT savings
 Pay award above 2.5%
 Escalating energy prices and general cost inflation.

 Achieving income targets for rents, fees, charges and 
interest

 Borrowing to fund capital programme
 Funding climate change agenda
 Flood Resilience grant funding
 Fair Funding review
 Business Rates growth reset
 Business Rate appeals/valuation changes

10.7 Every effort will be made to avoid having to use reserves to 
support the budget as the reserves would be more effectively 
used on proposals that will produce ongoing revenue budget 
savings or income growth.

Page 50



10.8 The budget estimates are based on the best available 
information but inevitably there is a degree of risk and 
uncertainty in some of the assumptions made. Details of the 
most significant risks and issues are provided in Appendix E.

11.0 Reserves & Balances 

11.1 The Council maintains a General Working Balance plus a 
number of other earmarked reserves.  A review of all the 
reserves and provisions has been undertaken as part of the 
budget process.

11.2 General Working Balance – the working balance provides a 
cushion for cash flow shortages and a contingency for 
unforeseen events.  The minimum prudent level for the 
working balance is a matter of professional judgement based 
on past experience, the level of other earmarked reserves and 
an assessment of future risks.  The working balance is being 
maintained at £1.5m to recognise the range of risks the Council 
is currently exposed to. An updated financial risks assessment 
is provided in Appendix E, which indicates that a balance of 
£1.5m should be adequate.  A balance of £1.5m is equivalent to 
14% of the Council’s budget requirement.  

11.3 Earmarked reserves are held to meet known or anticipated 
liabilities.  Details of the earmarked reserves held by the 
Council, including their purpose and predicted movements over 
the next five years are included in Appendix D.

11.4 The level of reserves is considered to be adequate.

12.0 Consultation

12.1 The consultation meeting with the business ratepayers' 
representatives took place on 13th February 2020. Issues 
discussed included the changes to the business rates system 

Page 51



and retail relief schemes, the Council’s budget forecasts and 
the council tax increase options. 

12.2 Consultation with Council Taxpayers took place at a Community 
Assembly meeting on 7th January 2020 which was attended by 
approximately 60 members of the public.  The Council Plan and 
budget were discussed and council tax increase options. 

13.0 Other Local Council Taxes

13.1 The special items to be added to the tax in parished areas are:

 Staveley Town Council - Band ‘D’ tax increased by 1.7% to 
£97.59 (£95.96 in 2019/20); &

 Brimington Parish Council – Band ‘D’ tax increased by 
3.36% to £22.43 (£21.70 in 2019/20).

13.2 Derbyshire County Council has agreed on 5th February 2020 
to increase its council tax by 2.00% to £1,349.34 (£1,322.88 in 
2019/20).

13.3 Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner set the 
Constabulary’s precept and council tax on 23rd January 2020- 
the Band D tax will be £226.60, an increase of £10 (4.62%) 
(£216.60 in 2019/20).

13.4 The Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority set its precept and 
council tax on 13th February 2020 – the Band D tax will be 
£77.73 an increase of 1.98% (£76.22 in 2019/20).

13.5 Details of the council taxes for each major preceptor and by 
each tax band are shown in Appendix G.

14.0 Calculation of Expenditure

14.1 The calculation of expenditure required under Section 32 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 is shown at Appendix F.  

Page 52



15.0 Legal Implications

15.1 It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for the Council to produce a 
balanced budget. Before setting the level of the council tax the 
Council must have agreed a balanced budget, differentiated by 
services, which is sufficient to meet estimated revenue 
expenditure, levies, contingencies, any deficit estimate to be 
brought forward from previous years, and any amounts 
required to be transferred between funds. The council tax itself 
must be sufficient to cover the difference between the agreed 
budget less government grants credited to the income and 
expenditure account, and any other expenditure which must be 
met from the Collection Fund, less any surplus (or plus any 
deficit) brought forward from previous years.

16.0 Chief Financial Officers Assurances

16.1 The Local Government Act 2003 (section 25) requires the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of estimates 
and the adequacy of financial reserves when the statutory 
calculations to determine the Council Tax are reported.  The 
CFO is the officer responsible for the administration of the 
Council's financial affairs for purposes of Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

Robustness of estimates – subject to the risks highlighted 
elsewhere in this report, the Chief Finance Officer is satisfied 
that the estimates are based on the best available information 
and that procedures are in place to ensure the estimates are 
accurate and reliable.  Budget responsibility is devolved to 
service managers who are best placed to complete the budget 
working papers.  The central Accountancy Team co-ordinate the 
budget process and check through all budget working papers.  
The Council’s procedures, allied to experienced staff and a 

Page 53



robust approach to risk management should minimise the 
inherent risks and uncertainties in the forecasting process.  

Budgets will continue to be monitored on a monthly basis 
throughout the year so that any required corrective action can 
be taken at the earliest opportunity and the medium term 
forecasts will be continually updated as part of that process. 
 

16.2 Level of reserves - details of the Council's reserves are 
provided in Section 10 above and in Appendix D. The General 
Fund working balance is being maintained at £1.5m to 
recognise the financial risks the Council currently faces 
particularly in relation to Business Rates income.  The updated 
Budget Risk and Sensitivity Analysis in Appendix E also 
supports the minimum working balance being maintained at 
this level.    

The policy on the use of reserves will continue to be to use 
earmarked reserves for their intended purpose with surplus 
reserves being used for investment in the Council’s priorities 
and/or for transformation schemes which are designed to 
produce on-going revenue budget savings 

The reserves have declined from 2019/20 but are still 
considered adequate for 2020/21. The position in future years 
will depend on the Council's success in delivering the required 
budget savings and surpluses.

The Council also maintains a number of earmarked reserves 
for financing capital expenditure and equalising expenditure 
between years. The balances in these other reserves are 
considered adequate for the medium term. 

17.0 Alternative Recommendations

17.1 It is within the gift of the Council to propose alternative budget 
allocations and/or council tax level.

18.0 Recommendations

Page 54



18.1 Cabinet recommends to Council that it: 

18.1.1 Approves the revised budget for 2019/20 (Section 5).

18.1.2 Approves the request for funding at paragraphs 5.3 to 5.6 
from the Budget Risk Reserve.

18.1.3 Approves the overall revenue budget summary for 2020/21 
(Section 7 and Appendix A).

18.1.4Notes the Collection Fund and the Tax Base forecasts (Section 
8).

18.1.5 Approves the use of the capital receipts flexibility to fund the 
revenue costs of the ICT programme which will lead to budget 
savings (Section 9). 

18.1.6 Notes the budget forecasts for 2020/21 and the medium term 
and the action plan for addressing the projected deficits 
(Section 10).

18.1.7 Approves the estimates of reserves including maintaining the 
General Working Balance at £1.5m (Section 11 and Appendix 
D).

18.1.8 Notes the budget risks and sensitivity analysis (Appendix E).

18.1.9 Increases the Council’s share of Council Tax by £5 for a Band 
‘D’ property in 2020/21.

18.1.10 Approves the 2020/21 Council Tax Requirement and 
financing (Appendix F).

18.1.11Notes the Acting Chief Finance Officer’s assurances (Section 
16).

Page 55



19.0 Reasons for Recommendations

19.1 In order to meet the statutory requirements relating to setting 
a budget and the council tax.

Decision information

Key decision number 927
Wards affected All words
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

Underpins the whole council 
plan

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Helen Fox Helen.fox@chesterfield.gov.uk

Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.

This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years.

Appendices to the report
Appendix A General Fund Revenue Budget Summary
Appendix B Budget Strategy
Appendix C Financial Strategy
Appendix D Reserves & Balances
Appendix E Budget Risks & Sensitivity Analysis
Appendix F Section 32 Statement
Appendix G Council Taxes

Page 56



APPENDIX A 

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Original Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Leader of the Council 47,190 31,850 33,640 35,380 36,950 38,410 39,240

Deputy Leader of the Council 1,209,290 1,231,340 1,191,120 1,195,890 1,197,030 1,202,170 1,213,300

Cabinet Member for Economic Growth (481,920) (458,780) (620,810) (497,750) (519,690) (570,970) (535,180)

Cabinet Member for Town Centre and Visitor Economy 60,600 396,670 453,890 469,290 375,830 415,980 347,340

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing 7,535,980 7,444,400 7,753,690 8,020,630 8,282,360 8,499,610 8,711,850

Cabinet Member for Housing (GF) 1,168,170 844,010 1,054,190 1,002,700 1,189,730 1,219,740 1,234,880

Cabinet Member for Governance 2,894,860 2,639,710 2,748,330 2,815,170 2,889,790 3,115,610 3,038,770

Cabinet Member for Business Transformation 2,513,590 2,935,250 3,043,670 2,649,330 2,761,240 2,865,930 2,968,950

Portfolios Total 14,947,760 15,064,450 15,657,720 15,690,640 16,213,240 16,786,480 17,019,150 

Spirepride surplus (581,670) (675,630) (640,050) (663,160) (694,570) (740,330) (740,330)

OSD surplus (255,240) (492,785) (331,000) (368,000) (362,000) (342,000) (342,000)

Commercial Income 2018/19 0 (223,215) 0 

Building Cleaning Surplus 0 (20,000) 0 0 0 0 0 

Holiday pay 25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Crematorium surplus (250,000) (350,000) (275,000) (275,000) (275,000) (275,000) (275,000)

ICT Digital Innovation Savings Target (227,000) (227,000) (231,537) (592,423) (825,023) (1,022,997) (1,216,071)

ICT Digital Innovation Savings Achieved 0 207,483 214,160 218,290 220,040 227,910 233,590 

Pension Costs - 2020 Revaluation 0 0 145,000 145,000 145,000 145,000 145,000 

Electricity Inflation 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Historical Leisure VAT Claim (56,270) (56,646) 0 0 0 0 0

Staff vacancy / attendance allowance (100,000) (50,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)

Total Service Expenditure 13,552,580 13,176,658 14,339,293 13,955,347 14,221,687 14,579,063 14,624,339 

Interest & capital charges (2,949,111) (2,620,170) (3,319,778) (2,885,752) (2,899,720) (2,975,293) (2,878,640)

Contrb to/(from) Digital Innovation Reserve (444,317) (400,000) (294,317) (10,000) 0 0 0

Contrib to/(from) Service Improve't Reserve (33,530) (49,500) (8,500) 0 0 0 0

Contrib to/(from) Revenue Risk Reserve (35,620) (144,620) (42,710) 0 0 0 0

Contrib to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (107,000) (257,000) (150,000) (150,000) (150,000) (150,000) (150,000)

Contribution to Vehicle & Plant Fund 106,000 106,000 106,000 106,000 106,000 106,000 106,000 

Bad debt provision 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

New burden grants/other income (66,520) (49,000) (49,000) (49,000) (49,000) (49,000)

Surplus/(deficit) - savings target (202,325) 147,938 16,022 (722,539) (766,748) (826,593) (742,330)

NET EXPENDITURE 9,911,677 9,917,786 10,622,010 10,269,056 10,487,219 10,709,177 10,935,369 

Total Savings Target (429,325) 128,421 (1,355) (1,096,672) (1,371,731) (1,621,680) (1,724,811)

GENERAL FUND REVENUE ESTIMATES SUMMARY                                      

2019/20

1

Page 57



APPENDIX A 

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Original Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

GENERAL FUND REVENUE ESTIMATES SUMMARY                                      

2019/20

Financed By:

RSG 434,451 434,451 441,530 0 0 0 0

Business Rates Baseline 3,319,436 3,319,436 3,373,521 3,457,859 3,544,306 3,632,913 3,723,736

Settlement Funding 3,753,887 3,753,887 3,815,051 3,457,859 3,544,306 3,632,913 3,723,736 

Retained Business Rates Growth 1,217,159 1,172,268 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717 

Business Rates pooling 300,000 328,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 

NNDR Fund Surplus/(Deficit) (975,642) (975,642) 440,085

Contrib (to)/from Business Rate Reserve 550,926 573,926 (440,085)

Council tax support grants to parishes (26,456) (26,456) (19,841) (13,226) (6,611) 0 0 

Council Tax Fund Surplus/(Deficit) (2,770) (2,770) 94,470 54,818 55,909 57,659 59,464

New Homes Bonus 312,659 312,659 95,039 8,400 5,320 0 0

Council Tax (taxbase x tax below) 4,781,914 4,781,914 4,957,574 5,081,488 5,208,578 5,338,887 5,472,452 

TOTAL FINANCING 9,911,677 9,917,786 10,622,010 10,269,056 10,487,219 10,709,177 10,935,369 

Council Tax Income:
Taxbase Growth 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
Taxbase Estimate 29,000.63 29,000.63 29,181.08 29,326.99 29,473.62 29,620.99 29,769.09
Tax increase 0 0 3.03% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%
Band 'D' Tax 164.89 164.89 169.89 173.27 176.72 180.24 183.83
Yield =- taxbase x Band 'D' 4,781,914 4,781,914 4,957,574 5,081,488 5,208,578 5,338,887 5,472,452

BR Growth Retention:
Growth rate
CBC 40% share of income (18/19 50% share of income) 14,590,750 14,590,750 15,123,477 15,501,564 15,889,103 16,286,331 16,693,489
Less tariff (11,281,885) (11,281,885) (11,465,704) (11,752,347) (12,046,155) (12,347,309) (12,655,992)
Add s31 grant re SBRR 2,143,659 1,887,151 1,919,090 1,967,067 2,016,244 2,066,650 2,118,316
Add s31 grant re other refiefs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross income before levy 5,452,524 5,196,016 5,576,863 5,716,285 5,859,192 6,005,671 6,155,813
Less Baseline Funding (3,319,436) (3,319,436) (3,373,521) (3,457,859) (3,544,306) (3,632,913) (3,723,736)
Growth 2,133,088 1,876,580 2,203,342 2,258,426 2,314,886 2,372,758 2,432,077
 Levy (NB 50% on nndr3 not nndr 1) (1,066,544) (936,527) (1,101,671) (1,129,213) (1,157,443) (1,186,379) (1,216,039)
Adjs to Levy & Tariff (344,660) (367,638) (459,547) (471,036) (482,812) (494,882) (507,254)
Retained BR re renewable energy 49,530 49,320 52,395 53,705 55,048 56,424 57,835
Grant re Multiplier Cap 445,746 550,533 685,199 700,405 715,991 731,967 748,343
Business Rates Baseline Reset Adjustment (Growth) 0 0 0 (32,569) (65,953) (100,171) (135,245)
BR Growth Retained above Baseline 1,217,159 1,172,268 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717 1,379,717
Add Baseline Funding 3,319,436 3,319,436 3,373,521 3,457,859 3,544,306 3,632,913 3,723,736
Total BR Income Retained 4,536,595 4,491,704 4,753,238 4,837,576 4,924,023 5,012,630 5,103,453

2

Page 58



Appendix B
BUDGET STRATEGY 

The overall objective is - "to deliver a balanced and sustainable budget in 
the longer term".  To achieve this the Council will:

 Prepare budgets annually covering a five-year period - the objective 
will be to produce a balanced budget in year and set out how to 
balance the medium term budgets.

 Direct or re-allocate resources to priority areas.

 Target low priority and discretionary areas of spend when looking for 
savings, including non-pay, voluntary redundancy, vacancy control, 
restructures and none statutory services.

 Identify and manage budget risks effectively.

 Estimate annual savings targets and seek to achieve these through 
business transformation, joint working, internal re-structuring and 
alternative service delivery methods.

 Rigorously scrutinise all growth requests, both statutory and 
discretionary, particularly in relation to how they contribute to the 
corporate objectives, their affordability and sustainability.

 Maximise income generation opportunities.  Fees and charges to be 
reviewed at least annually applying the Council's approved 'Charges 
Policy'.

 Aim to set increases in the Council Tax at a level to produce a much 
stronger tax base in view of our very low comparative tax.

 Consult stakeholders on spending/saving plans and tax increases.

 Manage reserves prudently to cover future financial risks

 Only approve supplementary budgets where a budget cannot be 
transferred (vired) from elsewhere and only when there is a legal 
requirement, the event was unforeseen and unavoidable, or any other 
case of extreme urgency.

 Adopt sound asset management practices including identifying under-
utilised assets, investing in income generating assets and identifying 
poor performing assets for disposal.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C
FINANCIAL STRATEGY

1. A five year forward plan will be maintained, reviewed and rolled forward 
each year as part of the budget process, encompassing:
 Proposed development of services.
 Efficiency savings.
 A General Fund revenue expenditure forecast.
 A General Fund capital expenditure and resources plan.
 A Housing Revenue Account capital and revenue expenditure 

forecast.
 Proposed use of reserves and balances.

2. Within constraints imposed by either legislation or the economic 
climate, sufficient resources (both capital and revenue) should be 
secured or reserved to enable the Council to:
 Deliver services which help to achieve its priorities and objectives.
 Maintain a capital programme which will not only improve the range 

of facilities provided for the public but will also adequately maintain 
the existing asset base.

3. Every effort will be made to keep revenue spending within a reasonable 
percentage of the previous year's level. Wherever possible, new service 
developments should be funded from savings, grant or additional 
income. 
The Council's revenue budget shall be prepared in accordance with the 
Council's budget strategy.

4. General Fund balances will only be used to reduce the Borough 
Council's call on the Collection Fund in exceptional circumstances, e.g. 
to meet significant non-recurring expenditure, to even out major 
fluctuations or to keep within imposed spending limits.

5. In order to sustain its capital programme, the Council will:     
 Aim to raise capital receipts of an average of £1 to £2 million a year 

(in addition to those from the sale of Council houses). 
 Where appropriate, encourage private sector schemes either on their 

own or jointly with the Council.
 Seek to maximise receipt of capital grant.

Page 61



Appendix C

6. The current policy is to maintain a minimum Working Balance of £1.5m 
for the General Fund and £3.0m for the HRA.  In addition, a prudent 
level of earmarked reserves will be maintained for known liabilities and 
to even-out charges to the revenue account (e.g. property repairs, self-
insurance claims, vehicle & equipment replacement reserves etc.).  The 
level of all reserves and balances will be reviewed at least annually.  

7. At the close of a financial year, unless there are unusual circumstances:
 Any under-spending on General Fund will be transferred to the 

Budget Risk Reserve except to the extent that in exceptional 
circumstances, approval is given to carry forward unspent budgets to 
the subsequent financial year or are required to meet future revenue 
spending, in which case they will remain in the General Working 
Balance;

 Any overspending will be met from the Budget Risk Reserve or 
General Fund balance.                                                                      

 Any OSD/DSO surpluses arising in the year which are not required 
for operational purposes will be transferred to the General Fund.

8. The Council's asset portfolio of land and property is being reviewed 
annually in order to:
 Identify poorly performing or under-used assets for disposal.
 Draw up a longer-term acquisition and disposal plan.
 Minimise void periods on investment property.
 Ensure prompt reviews of rent in accordance with lease terms.
 Review and extend the property repair and renewal plan.

9. Fees and charges are reviewed in accordance with the Council's 
Charging Policy and in all cases shall review them at least annually.

10.The budget risks will be identified and assessed at the start of each 
financial year and monitored throughout the year.

 

11.The financial strategy should be kept under continuous review in the 
light of developing legislation and the perceived needs of the Borough.

Page 62



B/Fwd 2019/20 B/Fwd 2020/21 B/Fwd 2021/22 B/Fwd 2022/23 B/Fwd 2023/24 B/Fwd 2024/25 B/Fwd

Tiltle Purpose 1st Apr 19 In /(out) 1st Apr 20 In /(out) 1st Apr 21 In /(out) 1st Apr 22 In /(out) 1st Apr 23 In /(out) 1st Apr 24 In /(out) 1st Apr 25

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

352 352 363 362 363 363

(336) (858) (272) (210) (425) (249)

84 83 84 84 83 84

(100) (80) (80) (80) (80) (80)

1,193 1,193 1,193 1,193 1,193 1,193

(1,169) (1,169) (1,169) (1,169) (1,169) (1,169)

200 200 200 200 200 200

(418) (200) (200) (200) (200) (200)

- - - - - -

(67) - - - -

- - - - - -

- - - - - -

0 90 90 90 90 90 90

734 226 226

(150) (150) (150) (150) (150) (150)

226 226 226

(468) (226) (226) (226)

MMI  - Insurance Provision To fund liability of claims unpaid due 16 - - - - - -

to MMI insolvency (10) - - - -

MMI - Insurance Reserve To fund liability of claims unpaid due 366 - - - - -

to MMI insolvency (30) - - - - -

Repaid Improvement Grants Private sector grants clawed back 50 147 50 50 50 50 50

from recipients (87) (87) (87) (37) (37) (37)

- 20 20 20 20 20

(100) (67) - - - -

64 63 61 19 18 18

(50) (50) (50) (50) (50) (50)

- - - - - -

(16) - - - - -

313 95 8 5 0 -

(313) (95) (8) (5) 0 -

- - - - - -

(23) (43) - - - -

- 440 - - - -

(551) - - - - -

67 - - - -

(311) (233) (60) (45) - -

34 9 - - -

(50) (8) - - -

- - - - - -

(107) - - - -

- - - - - -

(133) (147) - -

- - - - - -

(60) (21) (3) (3) (2) (1)

550 200 200 200 200 200

- 0 - - - -

10 10 10 - - -

(400) (294) (42) - - -

- - - - - -

- - - -

TOTALS 13,038 (1,208) 11,830 (471) 11,359 384 11,743 274 12,017 104 12,121 282 12,403

Appendix D

MOVEMENTS ON RESERVES & PROVISIONS

Vehicles & Plant Replacement fund 640 656 150 241 393 331 445

Wheeled Bins Replacement 

Fund
Replacement fund 57 41 44 48 52 55 59

Property Repairs Even-out 10 year repairs programme 225 249 273 297 321 345 369

0 0 0

DLO/DSO Reserve Provision for improvements 565 498 498 498 498

ICT Reserve Replacement fund 218 0 0 0

498 498

Museum Exhibits Opportunity purchases fund 25 25 25 25 25 25 25

Theatre Restoration
Improvements to theatre/WW from 

levy on ticket sales
90 180 270 360 450 540

Insurance Provision - current 

claims

Self insurance element of reported 

claims
807 339 339 339 339

Insurance Reserve - caims not 

yet reported

Self insurance element claims not yet 

reported
597 1,181 1,257 1,333

339 339

6 6 6 6 6 6

1,183 1,033 883

184 110 73 86 99 112

336 336 336 336 336 336

80 100 120

Transport Co Pensions
Provsion for the pension cost of 

former employees.
1,025 1,039 1,052 1,063 1,032

Planning LDF Review 

Provision 
Provision for cost of LDF review 187 87 40 60

1,000 968

0 0 0 0

Flood Restoration Flood defence/prevention 53 37 37 37 37 37 37

Budget Risks  Reserve To cover future budget risks 1,240 996

New Home Bonus 0 0 0

763

684 684 684

Business Rate Reserve 2,148 1,597 2,037 2,037 2,037

Service Redesign 750 727 684 684

2,037 2,037

703 658 658 658

300 300

0 0

300

Northern Gateway Reserve 280 147 0 0 0 0 0

GF Deficit Reduction Reserve 107 0 0 0 0

300 300Service Improvement 315 299

S106 Contributions 258 198 177 174 171 169 168

1,919 2,119 2,319

ICT Digital Innovation 706 316 32 0 0 0

Community Infrastructure Levy 769 1,319 1,519 1,719

0

General Fund Working 

Balance

Required to prevent supplementary in 

year council tax increase
1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E

KEY BUDGET RISKS & SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 2020/21

Budget Progress

Risk Probability Impact
Value 

£000'S
Comment What Who When

Achieving income targets - 

leisure, car parks, etc 

Net expenditure falls if 

economy severly dips 

or switch to 

competitors. 5% of 

budgets.

Med High          321 

Key Leisure, 

Business 

Unit, Car 

Park income

Base budgets 

adjusted.Monthly budget 

monitoring + marketing & 

promotional activities.

Service 

Managers
Monthly

Investment returns - not 

achieving budget. 

Each 0.25% = £90k 

gross to Gen Fund.
Low High            90 

Cautious estimate.  Monitor 

Quarterly

Group Financial 

Accountant
Monthly

Benefits - high spend £30m 

with complicated grant 

scheme.

Increase in expd with 

less than 100% 

subsidy. Failure to 

Comply with 

Regulations

Low High          200 

Regular monitoring of 

claims processed.                                     

Staff Training

Benefits 

Manager 

(Arvato)

Quarterly

Ind & Comm. Property 

portfolio - reduced rent 

income during economic 

downturn and due to 

disposals to generate capital 

receipts.

Industrial & 

commercial £50k.          

Vicar Lane £50k 

Pavements £50k

Med High          150 

Monitor voids.Flexible 

Payments for existing.   

Planned Disposal 

Programme

Estates Officer 

(Kier)
Monthly

Any other unforeseen 

significant expenditure
High High          100 

Maintain adequate working 

balance/ insurance fund + 

effective risk mgt.

SLT, CMT, 

budget holders, 

Accty

On-going

Exit strategy for expenditure 

funded by fixed term grants.  
Use of reserves for VR Low Low             -   

Avoid directly employing 

staff, if do ensure on short 

term contracts and 

redundancy provision 

included in budget.

Staff submitting 

grant 

applications.

On-going

VAT - 5% exempt limit 

exceeded

Limit exceeded £250k 

un-recoverable plus 

excess amount.

Low High          375 Monitoring
Deputy Chief 

Acctountant
Monthly

Pension costs increases 

under LGPS revaluations.

1% pa budgeted, 

deficit reductions rising
Med High             -   

Med-term 

issue

Define pensionable 

elements and monitor 

impact.

CFO Mar-19

MMI – risk of insolvent run-

off following recent ruling on 

EL claims.

‘Clawback’ beyond the 

£345k provision 

(£1.4m claims settled).

Low High          100 

Clawback rate currently 

25%.  Provision of £348k 

established and in line with 

Insurance Fund review 

completed in 2019/20.

CFO On-going

ICT Digital Innovation 

Savings

Failure to achieve 

savings
Med Low             -   

Monitor progress against 

targets early in 2020/21

CFO / SLT / 

CMT
On-going

Achieving vacant post saving 

targets
15% of £200k target Low Med            30 

Target rmonotoring required 

monthly on staff turnover
CFO/HR Quarterly

Collection Fund - Council tax 

collection rate below target.

Coll'n Fund deficit to 

following year CBC 

Share 10%

Med Med            25 Monitor the collection rate.
Revs Manager 

(Arvato)
Monthly

Localisation of council tax 

support

Increased take-up by 

pensioners or working 

age and full 

implementation of 

universal credit.

Med Med            25 

Monitoring claims and 

income so remedial action 

taken ASAP.

CFO Monthly

Busines Rates Pool
Delcining business 

rates growth £300k 

exposure 50%

Low High          150 Monitor income CFO Quarterly

Gen Fund Rev Budget Total exposure       1,566 

Allowance % Prob
Total 

£000

Allow 

£000
Impact assessment:

Risk allowance 90% High 100 90 High = £50k or more

50% Med 521 261 Med = £10k-£49k

10% Low 945 95 Low = less than £10k

Risk allowance 1,566 445

Description

   Risk Assessment Containment Actions

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F

CALCULATION OF EXPENDITURE – SECTION 32 LGFA ‘92
2020/21

£

Gross Expenditure – Chesterfield Borough Council
Special Items
- Staveley Town Council Precept - (£396,936 in 19/20)
- Brimington Parish Council Precept - (£50,574 in 19/20)
Total Special Items

110,514,798

411,374
52,095

463,469

Gross Expenditure 31A (2) 110,978,267

Gross Income – Chesterfield Borough Council
Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline Need
Retained Non Domestic Rates Growth

(99,527,901)
(441,530)

(3,373,521)
(1,679,717)

Gross Income Including Use of Reserves 31A (3) (105,022,669)
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit : Council Tax (94,470)
                                                       Non Domestic Rates (440,085)
Council Tax Requirement 31A (4) 5,421,043

Tax base (29,000.63 in 2019/20)

Average Band ‘D’ Tax (incl. Parishes)
Percentage Increase - (2019/20 £180.32, +3.05%)

C.B.C.’s Council Tax
Percentage Increase - (2019/20 £164.89, +3.13%)

29,181.08

£185.77
+3.02%

£169.89
+3.03%

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX G

A        B C D E F G H

6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

CHESTERFIELD BOROUGH:

Staveley Town 178.32 208.04 237.76 267.48 326.92 386.36 445.80 534.96

Brimington Parish 128.21 149.58 170.95 192.32 235.06 277.80 320.53 384.64

All Other Areas 113.26 132.14 151.01 169.89 207.64 245.40 283.15 339.78

MAJOR PRECEPTING 

AUTHORITIES:

Derbyshire CC 899.56 1,049.49 1,199.41 1,349.34 1,649.19 1,949.05 2,248.90 2,698.68

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue 51.82 60.46 69.09 77.73 95.00 112.28 129.55 155.46

Derbyshire Police 151.07 176.24 201.42 226.60 276.96 327.31 377.67 453.20

0.6667 0.7778 0.8889 1.0000 1.2222 1.4444 1.6667 2.0000

A        B C D E F G H

6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Staveley Town 1,280.77 1,494.23 1,707.68 1,921.15 2,348.07 2,775.00 3,201.92 3,842.30

Brimington Parish 1,230.66 1,435.77 1,640.87 1,845.99 2,256.21 2,666.44 3,076.65 3,691.98

All Other Areas 1,215.71 1,418.33 1,620.93 1,823.56 2,228.79 2,634.04 3,039.27 3,647.12

COUNCIL TAXES 2020/21

COUNCIL TAXES 

COUNCIL AREA

COUNCIL AREA

VALUATION BAND/PROPORTION OF BAND 'D' TAX

VALUATION BAND/PROPORTION OF BAND 'D' TAX

TOTAL COUNCIL TAX PAYABLE IN EACH AREA

Appendix G - cnltaxes 17/02/20Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



For publication

General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21

For publication

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To approve the General Fund Capital Programme for the 
financial year 2020/21.

2.0 Recommendations

 That the Cabinet recommends to the full Council that:
 
2.1 The updated General Fund Capital Programme expenditure and 

financing be approved (Appendix A). 

3.0 Background

Meeting: Cabinet
Council

Date: 25th February 2020
26th February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Deputy Leader

Report by: Chief Finance Officer

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



3.1 The Capital Programme for 2019/20 was approved as part of 
the budget setting process in February 2019. Updates to the 
Programme were included in the budget monitoring reports to 
the full Council on 17th July 2019 and 18th December 2019.  

3.2 The Programme is dependent on financing from capital receipts 
but in the current economic climate generating the receipts 
continues to be a challenge.  Kier continue to provide an 
accelerated receipts programme which is incentivised through a 
commission payment on the receipts generated.

3.3 Due to a reduction in available capital receipts the Programme 
is increasingly dependant on financing from borrowing. The 
revenue implications of borrowing are considered before 
schemes are included in the Capital Programme.

4.0 Updated Expenditure Forecasts

4.1 Updated Programme – An updated Capital Programme 
forecast (expenditure and financing) is included at Appendix A.  
The Programme covers the current financial year and three 
years ahead.  A commentary on the most significant schemes in 
the Programme is provided below. 

 
4.2 New Schemes - the updated programme includes the schemes 

that were added to the Programme during the financial year.

4.2.1 The schemes that were approved by the full Council or Cabinet 
and added to the Capital Programme in the year include:

 Revitalising the Heart of Chesterfield Project, £1.4m  
approved 17th July 2019;

 Calow Lane Industrial Units, £367k approved  1st October 
2019; 

 Waste Contract vehicles, £1.6m approved 17th December 
2019;

Page 72



 Purchase of land in Spire Neighbourhood, £223k approved 
19th June 2019.

 Waterside Office Space, £7.8m, approved 4th February 2020; 

4.2.2 Other schemes added to the programme where approval is 
being sought by full Council or Cabinet during March 2020 are:

 HS2 Station Masterplan, £2.4m fully funded by D2N2 grant, 
report due for consideration March 2020.

4.2.3 Other fully funded schemes that have been added to the 
Programme include:

 Spital Play Area, £35k funded by S106 contributions;

 Chester Street Play Area, £50k funded by Derbyshire County 
Council grant and Friends of Monkey Park contribution;

 Whitecotes Playing Field, £19k funded by Viridor grant

4.3 Progress on Current Major Schemes

4.3.1 Northern Gateway – Saltergate Multi-Storey Car Park was 
completed during Summer 2019. Final costs for the project are 
expected to be under budget and this underspend will be 
transferred to the Enterprise Centre element of the Northern 
Gateway scheme as previously agreed. Works to the Enterprise 
Centre have been re-profiled due to the site’s archaeological 
findings, with construction due to commence during the last 
quarter of 2019/20.  

4.3.2 Beetwell Street Car Park – this scheme provided essential 
repair works to the car park. The works are due to be 
completed by 31st March 2020.

4.3.3 Artificial Sports Pitches – Former Queens Park Site – the 
pitches were opened during the Autumn 2019 with final 

Page 73



landscaping works being undertaken during the final quarter of 
2019/20. The final costs of the project are expected to be under 
budget.

4.3.4 IT Transformation Programme – Council approved the IT 
Transformation Programme in April 2018 which is due to be 
delivered over a period of 10 years. A number of new ICT posts 
have been recruited during the year. Schemes to date include 
the implementation of Office 365, upgrades to a number of 
systems and the development of a new digital platform. 

4.4 Recurring Schemes

4.4.1 Disabled Facilities Grants – Derbyshire County Council, who 
holds the Better Care Fund, confirmed an allocation of £1.2m 
for the 2019/20 financial year, of which £100k will be used to 
fund Home Repairs Assistance Grants. It is expected that there 
will be an underspend on the grant which will be carried 
forward into 2020/21. In addition, the 2020/21 capital 
programme includes further DFG expenditure of £1.1m to be 
financed from the Disabled Facilities Grant allocation carried 
forward from 2018/19.  

4.4.2 Vehicle and Plant Reserve – services make regular 
contributions from their revenue budgets into the Reserve to 
ensure that as and when vehicles and plant need replacing the 
resources are in place.  Any Vehicle & Plant expenditure included 
in the Capital Programme is, therefore, fully funded by a transfer 
from the Vehicle and Plant Reserve.
  

5.0 Capital Financing

5.1 Financing Resources – the capital financing resources forecast 
is shown in Appendix A.  The main sources of capital finance 
and how they are being used to fund the current capital 
programme are summarised below:  

Page 74



 Borrowing – capital expenditure can be financed from 
borrowing provided the borrowing is affordable, prudent 
and sustainable.  The current Capital Programme includes 
borrowing that the Council has previously approved of 
£3m for Saltergate Multi-Storey Car Park. In addition a 
further £2.3m of borrowing will be required in 2019/20 and 
£13.6m of borrowing will be required in 2020/21. This is 
due to the ongoing scarcity of capital receipts and the need 
for investment on several schemes. 

 Grants and contributions:
2019/20 - £2.5m in total including £1.1m SCRIF contribution 
for Northern gateway schemes brought forward from 
2018/19, £1.0m DFG’s, and a number of grants and 
contributions towards play area schemes.

2020/21 - £4.3m in total including £1.0m Business Rate 
Growth grant towards the Revitalising the Heart of 
Chesterfield project, £1.1m from D2N2 for the HS2 Station 
Masterplan project and £2.3m DFG’s including underspends 
from previous financial years.

2021/22 - £2.1m in total including £1.3m D2N2 grant for the 
HS2 Station Masterplan project and £0.9m DFG’s.

2022/23 - £0.8m for DFG’s.

 Reserves - contributions from earmarked reserves towards 
ICT, vehicle and plant replacements and match funding 
contributions re other grant funded schemes.

 Capital Receipts – see below.  

5.2 Capital Receipts Flexibility – the general rule is that capital 
receipts can only be used either to repay debt or to finance new 
capital expenditure. However, in the Local Government Grant 
Settlement 2015 the Government included a new flexibility to 
allow the use of capital receipts secured between 1st April 2016 
and 31st March 2019 to fund revenue expenditure, provided that 

Page 75



the expenditure is on transformation projects which are 
designed to deliver on-going savings. In the Local Government 
Grant Settlement announced in December 2017 this flexibility 
was extended for a further three years to 31st March 2022. 

5.3 To take advantage of this flexibility, full Council would need to 
approve a strategy giving details of any projects to be funded in 
this manner, the level of revenue savings expected and show the 
impact of this on our prudential indicators.  All spend would 
have to be incurred by March 2022.

5.4 The Council is currently using capital receipts flexibility to fund 
part of the IT Transformation programme. Further information 
can be found in the 2020/21 Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Plan report.

5.5 Capital receipts - are only included in the programme once 
potential disposals have been identified and the property 
concerned is being actively marketed.  Kier continue to provide 
additional resources to help accelerate the sale of assets in 
return for a commission payment on the sales concluded.  Given 
the experience of recent years where the planned receipts at the 
start of the year were not achieved a more prudent approach 
has now been adopted for forecasting future receipts.  Officers 
will continue to review whether additional resources are 
required to further accelerate disposals.

The capital receipts included in the Programme at Appendix A 
are:

2019-20 – receipts in respect of Chester Street Garages and the 
release of a covenant have been received during the year. The 
2nd instalment of the Poolsbrook land receipt is due on 31st 
March 2020. Total forecast receipts for 2019/20 are £1.5m.

2020-21 – receipts of £2.3m have been assumed.

2021/22 – receipts of £2.5m have been assumed. 

2022/23 – receipts of £2.2m have been assumed.

Page 76



The receipts forecasts are continually changing as delays are 
encountered on some disposals such as assets having to be re-
marketed when sales fall through or when there are opportunities 
to accelerate others.  

6.0 Net Financing Position and Revenue Implications

6.1 The funding surpluses / (deficits) for each of the financial years 
covered by the updated capital programme are summarised in 
the table below:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
In year 
surplus/(deficit)

(756) (500) 2,387 1,946

 2019/20 – an in- year deficit of £0.8m is forecast due to re-
profiling of the capital receipts programme. This deficit will be 
financed from the cumulative surplus carried forward from 
2018/19.

 2020/21 – an in- year deficit of £0.5m is forecast based on a 
prudent level of capital receipts (£2.3m) and prudential 
borrowing of £13.6m. This deficit will be financed from the 
cumulative surplus carried forward from 2019/20. 

 2021/22 – an in- year surplus of £2.4m is forecast based on a 
prudent level of capital receipts (£2.5m).   

 2022/23 – an in-year surplus of £1.9m is forecast based on a 
prudent level of capital receipts (£2.2m). 

6.2 All capital expenditure which has not been financed through 
grants, capital receipts or revenue contributions will need to be 
financed over time by making a Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP). The MRP is a revenue cost to the general fund budget.

Page 77



6.3 The additional MRP required in respect of the new additions to 
the capital programme is shown in the table below:

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

Additional MRP 0 37 329 335

6.4 The revenue implications of the additional MRP are considered 
before schemes are included in the Capital Programme. The 
additional MRP in respect of Waterside will be met from rental 
income. The additional MRP in respect of the Waste Contract 
Vehicles has been taken into consideration when evaluating the 
contract tender documents.

6.5 Further information on the Minimum Revenue Provision can be 
found in the Treasury Management Strategy Report 2020/21.

6.6 Starts on any scheme that is included in the Capital Programme 
will not be made until the Cabinet has approved the detailed 
business case.

7.0 Risk Management

7.1 The risks relating to the capital programme generally are set out 
in the table below.  For individual capital projects the risks are 
considered in detail at the project appraisal stage.

Current Risk Target Risk 
Description of 

the Risk Impact
Likelihoo

d
Mitigating Action

Impact
Likelihoo

d
Overspends on 

schemes
Medium

(3)
Possible

(3)
Effective planning & 

monitoring
Medium

(3)
Unlikely

(2)
Slippage on 

schemes
Medium

(3)
Likely

(4)
Regular and effective 

monitoring
Medium

(3)
Unlikely

(2)

Capital receipts 
– disposals 
delayed or 

Very 
High
(5)

Likely
(4)

Control starts on 
uncommitted 

schemes until finance 
in place.

High
(4)

Possible
(3)

Page 78



unable to 
complete

Include only planned 
disposals in resources 

forecast.
Borrow internally 

from reserves or short 
term prudential 

borrowing.

Reductions in 
Government 

Grants

High
(4)

Possible
(3)

Other external 
funding 

opportunities.
Asset Management 

Plan to generate 
capital receipts.

Medium
(3)

Possible
(3)

Lack of capacity 
to deliver a 
number of 

major schemes 
at the same 

time

High
(4)

Likely
(4)

Carefully manage 
the number of 

projects and hence 
risks in play at any 

one time.

Med
(3)

Unlikely
(2)

Exempt VAT 
recovery – a 
number of 

current 
schemes have 
exempt VAT 
implications.  

The cumulative 
impact could 

cause the 
Council to 
exceed its 

exempt VAT 
recovery 

threshold and 
then be unable 
to recover any 
exempt VAT in 

that year.  

V. High
(5)

Possible
(3)

Starts on schemes 
delayed until VAT 
issues resolved.

In-year monitoring.

VAT planning for a 
number of years 

ahead.

Obtaining expert 
external advice. 

V. High
(5)

Unlikely
(2)

8.0 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 

8.1 The equalities issues relating to particular capital projects are 
considered separately at the project appraisal stage. 

Page 79



9.0 Alternative Options to be Considered

9.1 The proposed Capital Programme is based on the previously 
approved schemes within the current Capital Programme plus 
the addition of new schemes recommended by the Senior 
Leadership Team.  Previous commitments could be reviewed 
and other priorities determined for growth requests.

10.0 Recommendations

That the Cabinet recommends to the full Council that:
 
10.1 The updated General Fund Capital Programme expenditure and 

financing be approved (Appendix A).

11.0 Reasons for recommendations

11.1 To update the Council’s General Fund Capital Programme and 
ensure that it is affordable and deliverable over the medium 
term.

Page 80



Glossary of Terms  
SCRIF Sheffield City Region Investment Fund
MRP Minimum Revenue Provision

Decision information

Key decision number 933
Wards affected All wards
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

Underpins whole council plan

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Karen Ludditt Karen.ludditt@chesterfield.gov.uk

Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.

This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years.

Appendices to the report
Appendix A General Fund Capital Programme

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Code CAPITAL  EXPENDITURE Original 19/20 Revised Feb 20/21 21/22 22/23

2019/20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

8295 Home Repairs Assistance 275 100 275 275 275

8292 Disabled Facilities Grants 650 900 2,000 585 485

8943 Town Hall Alterations (GPGS) - Phase 1 85

Town Hall Alterations Phase 2 Preliminary Works 145

8956 Grant to Chesterfield Waterside Ltd - Basin Square Infrastructure 82

Waterside Office Space 7,761

8959 Northern Gateway - Saltergate MSCP 1,200 2,676

8973 Northern Gateway - Public Realm 860 161 709

8974 Northern Gateway - Enterprise Centre 2,578 1,100 3,956 38

8987 Holland Road Play Area 71

8986 Spital Play Area 35

8989 Chester Street Play Area 47

8978 Whitecotes Playing Field 19

Stand Road Bowls Pavilion 70

Relocation of Bowls Club Car Park Whitebanks Close 40

8972 Artificial Sports Pitches - Former QPSC Site 700 629

8981 Beetwell Street Car Park 600 487

8991 IT Project 1,671 1,729 1,124 26 276

8985 Barrow Hill Railway Bridge 100

8971 Tatpton Terrace Flood Resilience Work 51

Revitilising the Heart of Chesterfield 100 1,300

8980 Winding Wheel Refurbishment - Retention 16

Purchase of land in Spire Neighbourhood 223

Purchase of land at Sheffield Road 521

Industriual Unit Feasibility Study 20

Calow Lane Industrial Units 367

Underpinning Tapton House 50

Waste Contract Vehicles 1,635

HS2 Station Masterplan 1,100 1,300

Kiosk Upgrades 19

Car Parking Machines 240

Total Expenditure 8,534 9,666 20,277 2,224 1,036

Original 19/20 Revised Feb 20/21 21/22 22/23

2019/20

CAPITAL FINANCING £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Borrowing - Saltergate 3,000

Borrowing - general 755 2,278 13,600

Grants & Contributions - see below 952 2,454 4,325 2,160 760

Capital Receipts 4,127 1,492 2,332 2,451 2,222

Flood Reserve 16

S106 Reserve 35

Vehicle and Plant Reserve 47

Home Repairs Reserve (Repaid Improvement Grants) 75

IT Transfer to Revenue : Capital Receipts Flexibility -412 -412 -480

Repay Prudential Borrowing - Town Hall Restack

Total resources available in year 5,497 8,910 19,777 4,611 2,982

Less total expenditure in year 8,534 9,666 20,277 2,224 1,036

Net in-year surplus / (deficit) -3,037 -756 -500 2,387 1,946

Surplus / (deficit) b/f from prev yr 3,537 1,256 500 0 2,387

Cum surplus / (deficit) c/f 500 500 0 2,387 4,333

Original 19/20 Revised Feb 20/21 21/22 22/23

2019/20

CAPITAL GRANTS ETC (Accruals Basis) £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Flood Risk Management Grant - EA 36

Disabled Facilities Grants (BCF / Derbys PCT) 650 990 2,265 850 750

Home Repairs Assistance Grants (FILT / SSE) 10 10 10 10 10

Business Rate Growth Grant - Revitilising the Heart of Chesterfield 100 950

Stand Road Bowls Pavilion - DCC 30

Stand Road Bowls Pavilion - Sport England 40

Whitecotes Playing Field - Viridor 16

Whitecotes Playing Field - Friends of Whitecotes 3

Grant to CWL Basin Square Infrastructure - SCRIF 82

Northern Gateway (Refurb of Saltergate MSCP) - SCRIF 292 1,100

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21

\\CBCFILESERVER\Departments\Directorate of Resources\Typists\Admin\1. Committees\Cabinet\2019-20\13 - 25 February\Capital programme\Appendix A General Fund 

Capital Programme 202021_v1

Page 83

Appleyardr
Rectangle



HS2 Station Masterplan - D2N2 Grant 1,100 1,300

Chester Street Play Area - Viridor 45

Chester Street Play Area - Friends of Monkey Park 2

Grants Total 952 2,454 4,325 2,160 760

\\CBCFILESERVER\Departments\Directorate of Resources\Typists\Admin\1. Committees\Cabinet\2019-20\13 - 25 February\Capital programme\Appendix A General Fund 

Capital Programme 202021_v1

Page 84

Appleyardr_1
Rectangle



For publication

Approval of Senior Pay Policy Statement 2020-21

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To seek approval to a revision of the current Senior Pay Policy 
Statement in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and the 
Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2014. 

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet consider the revised Senior Pay Policy Statement 
and refer it for approval by Full Council. 

3.0 Background

Meeting: 1. Cabinet
2. Full Council

Date: 1. 25 February 2020
2. 26 February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Business Transformation 

Report by: HR & Support Services Manager 

For publication

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



3.1 A first version of this Policy was developed in March 2012 
following the implementation of the Localism Act 2011.  
Section 38 (1) of the Act requires that English and Welsh local 
authorities produce a Senior Pay Policy Statement for 2012/13 
and each financial year after that. In 2014, the Department for 
Communities and Local Government published a revised Local 
Government Transparency Code on 3 October 2014 which sets 
out the requirement to publish data relating to Senior Pay.  

3.2 The objective for publishing this information is to increase 
public transparency and local democratic accountability in 
how senior pay is set in local authorities.  The intention is for 
Councils to be able to demonstrate value for money in the 
remuneration package of the senior managers and also show 
the role that local councillors play in determining senior 
reward. 

3.3 The Policy has to be approved by Full Council each year and 
published on the Council’s website.  A copy of the Senior Pay 
Policy Statement 2020-2021 is attached at Appendix 1.

4.1 Key Issues

4.2 There has been no additional guidance issued for this years Pay 
Policy Statement.

4.3 Should there be any significant changes in pay and conditions 
during the financial year, then the Policy will be updated 
accordingly.  

5.0   Consultation 

5.1 As this Senior Pay Policy Statement is a legislative requirement 
and a revision to the original Policy agreed in 2012, no 
consultation has taken place with Trade Unions.  They have, 
however, been provided with a copy of the draft Policy and 
advised that this will be published on approval by full Council.

Page 86



6.0 Financial implications

6.1 There are no financial implications directly relating to the 
publication of this Policy Statement. 

7.0 Equalities

7.1 A preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment is attached at 
Appendix 2.

8.0 Risk management

Risk Likelihood 
(H/M/L)

Impact 
(H/M/L)

Mitigating action

Failure to 
publish 
Senior Pay 
Policy 
Statement

L H The current policy is 
available on the intranet.  
Approval at Full Council 
in February will ensure 
we meet the statutory 
deadlines for 
publication.
Any further guidance 
provided will be 
incorporated into the 
policy to ensure it meets 
the legislative 
requirements

Failure to 
update and 
publish 
Statement 
on an 
annual 
basis 

L H The policy is to be added 
to the Forward Plan to 
ensure that it is reviewed 
annually. 
HR Manager to keep up 
to date with guidance 
and advice on these 
issues to ensure changes 

Page 87



are incorporated as 
appropriate

9.0 Recommendations

9.1 That Cabinet consider the revised Senior Pay Policy Statement 
and refer it for approval by Full Council.

10.0 Reason for recommendations

10.1 To meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 by 
publishing this policy by 31 March 2020.

Page 88



Decision information

Key decision number 940
Wards affected All wards
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

To deliver value for money 
services.

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Kate Harley 01246 345366

Kate.harley@chesterfield.gov.u
k

Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Senior Pay Policy Statement 
Appendix 2 Structure chart 
Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment 

Page 89

mailto:Kate.harley@chesterfield.gov.uk
mailto:Kate.harley@chesterfield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

Policy 

Guiding Principles  

2020/21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Human Resources 

Date:   February 2020 

For Review:  February 2021

Page 91



 2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

This page is left intentionally blank 

Page 92



 3 
 

CONTENTS 
 

 

  Page 
1. Introduction 4 
1.1  Legislation 4 
1.2 Scope 4 
1.3 Context 5 
1.4 Definitions 5 
   
2. Background to Pay and Grading 6 
2.1  Whole Workforce 6 
2.2 
2.3 

Living Wage 
Corporate Management Team  

6 
7 
 

   
3. Senior Management Salaries 7 
3.1 Senior Leadership Team Benchmarking 7 
3.2 
3.3 

Packages over £100,000 
New Corporate Management Team 

8 
8 

   
4.  Terms and Conditions 9 
   
5. Additional Payments 9 
5.1 Election Duties 9 
5.2 Acting up Payments 9 
5.3 Honoraria 10 
5.4 Telephone Rental 10 
5.5 Car Mileage and Expenses 10 
5.6 Other financial benefits 10 
   
6. Incremental Progression 10 
   
7. Lowest Paid Employees 11 
   
8. Relationship between Salaries 11 
   
9. Pensions 11 
9.1 Contributions 11 
9.2 Discretions 12 
9.3 Re-employment of Employees  12 
   
10. Payments on Termination of Employment 13 
   
11. Publication of Information 13 
   
 Appendices  
1 Corporate Management Team Structure Chart  
2 Local Pay Scales April 2016  
3 LGPS Discretions  

Page 93



 4 
 

 
4 
444 
44 

 

Page 94



 5 
 

Senior Pay Policy Statement 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Legislation 
 
Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011, requires all local authorities in 
England and Wales to produce a Senior Pay Policy Statement which is 
updated on an annual basis. 
 
The Act and supporting statutory guidance provide details of matters that 
should be included in this statutory pay policy, which must be complied with 
when setting the terms and conditions of Chief Officers. The policy must be 
formally approved by full Council each year and published on the Council’s 
website. 
 
In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government published 
a revised Local Government Transparency Code on 3 October 2014. The 
Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2014 
regulates the Code which sets out the information local authorities are 
required to publish.  
 
1.2 Scope 
 
This Senior Pay Policy Statement will cover the following areas: 
 

• The principles underpinning the Council’s pay policy for the whole of 
the workforce 

• The Council’s policy on the level and elements of remuneration for 
each Chief Officer 

• The Council’s policy on the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, 
along with a definition of ‘lowest-paid employees’ 

• The Council’s policy on the relationship between the remuneration of 
its Chief Officers and other officers 

• The Council’s policy on other specific aspects of Chief Officers’ 
remuneration 

• Information about terms and conditions of service for Chief Officers, 
particularly those that represent a cost to the Council 

• The Council’s policy on making discretionary payments on early 
termination of employment 

• The Council’s approach to remuneration at all levels to balance the 
need to secure and retain high-quality employees and avoiding 
excessive cost to the taxpayer 

• The factors that are taken into account in deciding on what point of a 
scale a recruit is appointed, and by whom any decision is made 

• An indication of the percentage rate at which the employer’s pension 
contributions is set 

• Information about re-employment of employees in receipt of a local 
government pension 

Page 95



 6 
 

 
 
1.3 Context 
 
Chesterfield Borough Council recognises that, in the context of managing 
scarce public resources, remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate to 
secure and retain high quality employees dedicated to delivering public 
services, whilst at the same time not being unnecessarily generous and 
excessive. 
 
It is essential that local authorities are able to determine their own pay 
structures in order to address local priorities and to compete in the local 
labour market.  It is recognised that senior management roles in local 
government are complex and diverse with managers working in a highly 
politicised environment where often national and local pressures conflict. 
 
If the council is to maintain its high performance, then it must be able to retain 
and attract high calibre leaders to deliver the complex agenda. 
 
1.4 Definitions  
 
The term Chief Officer covers the following Senior Leadership roles at 
Chesterfield Borough Council  
 
▪ Chief Executive  
▪ Executive Director x 2 
▪ Director of Finance and Resources 

 
At a meeting of the Joint Employment & General and Cabinet Committee on 
15 December 2015, a new Corporate Management structure was approved 
creating the following new roles: 
 

• Director of Finance and Resources 

• Assistant Director Commercial Services  

• Assistant Director Customers, Commissioning and Change 

• Assistant Director Economic Growth Manager 

• Assistant Director Health & Wellbeing  

• Assistant Director Housing  

• Assistant Director Policy & Communications 
 
With the exception of the new Director of Finance and Resources, these new 
posts were employed at the third tier level and were employed on Chief 
Officer terms and conditions. Implementation of the new structure took place 
during 2016 and the final appointment, the Director of Finance and Resources 
was implemented November 2016. 
  
The statutory duties of Head of Paid Service and Section 151 Officer are 
incorporated into the post of Chief Executive. The acting Chief Finance Officer 
is currently covering the responsibilities of the Section 151 officer. The duties 

Page 96



 7 
 

of the Monitoring Officer are incorporated into the post of Regulatory and 
Local Government Law Manager. 
 
The structure of the Corporate Management Team and role of Director of 
Finance and Resources are under review at the time of writing and changes 
will be finalised in due course but not in time for this publication. 
 
 
 
2.  Background to Pay and Grading 
 
2.1 Whole Workforce 
 
In order to secure equal pay within the organisation, the NJC job evaluation 
scheme was applied to all posts covered by the NJC for Local Government 
Employees (excluding Chief Officers).   
 
A new grading structure was implemented in 2003 for the whole workforce 
(excluding Chief Officers and Craft Workers) with negotiations then continuing 
with the relevant Trade Unions to complete the Single Status exercise.  
 
An equal pay audit was undertaken on all evaluated posts to: 
 

• Analyse the pay arrangements for all the Council employees 

• Identify any differences in levels of pay between men and women 

• Review the reasons for, and possible causes of, difference in pay, in 
particular whether these can be attributed to direct or indirect sex 
discrimination, and 

• Identify how to close gaps in pay that cannot be attributed to 
reasons/causes other than sex discrimination. 

The final Pay and Conditions were later agreed in the form of a Local 
Collective Agreement in November 2007. The actual salary at each point is 
determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) Pay Award, the last one being 
awarded as at 1 April 2018 for two years following a national review of the pay 
spine. 
 
The national review resulted in a two year pay award for 2018-2020 which 
saw the bottom 14 scale points increased by up to 9% to make significant 
progress on the government aim of paying the National Living Wage of £9.00 
per hour by 2020. Additionally, the review proposed increased spine points at 
the lower end of the pay scales to ensure that consistent pay progression 
could be achieved. 
 
Following that review, the council successfully negotiated a revision to the 
collective agreement with local Trade Unions to implement the addition of 
extra scale points to the NJC scale matched to local grades. 

Page 97



 8 
 

 
 
 
 
2.2 Living Wage 
 
The new legislative requirement to pay the National Living Wage of £7.20 
came into force from 1 April 2016. However, the council was committed to 
paying the Living Wage determined by the Living Wage Foundation and this 
was implemented from 1 April 2016 at the rate of £8.25 per hour for staff at 
spine points 12 and below and increased in line with the rate set by the Living 
Wage foundation each April until April 2019. From April 2019 the living wage 
element was removed as the NJC award raised the bottom pay to the level of 
the National Living Wage.  
 
Negotiations for the 2020 pay award are still ongoing at a national level and 
unlikely to be concluded by April 2020. The council are considering the impact 
of the increase in the voluntary living wage in November 2019 to £9.30 as this 
again exceeds the lowest pay grade and is likely to exceed this after any 
agreed pay award. It is likely that the council will be re-introducing the 
voluntary living wage with effect from April 2020 should national negotiations 
not achieve this rate at the lowest grade. 
  
2.3 Corporate Management Team  
 
In 2014, a review of the Corporate Management Team (CMT) was carried out 
and a revised structure agreed in June 2014. See Appendix 1. 
 
This restructure resulted in the deletion of the Deputy Chief Executive and 
Head of Service posts and the creation of two new Executive Directors and 
Director of Finance and Resources.   
 

 With the challenges facing the council it was essential for the new Senior 
Leadership Team to have the skills and capabilities to deliver the changes 
required. 
 
Following the implementation of the above new structure, a review 
commenced of the roles at the next tier of management.  In December 2015, 
agreement was reached for seven new roles to be created to ensure that the 
Corporate Management and Senior Leadership Teams, could effectively 
deliver the objectives in the Council Plan in the context of the challenges 
facing the council. The revised structure was fully implemented in November 
2016. 
 
To ensure the senior management structure remains relevant and to 
incorporate the insourcing of circa 160 staff in October 2020 the Corporate 
Management team structure is under review at the time of writing however 
changes are unlikely to be agreed before publication of this policy. 
 

Page 98



 9 
 

 
3. Senior Management Salaries  
 
3.1 Senior Leadership Team - Benchmarking 
 
In deciding on appropriate salaries for the new senior leadership positions in 
2014, a benchmarking exercise was carried out into emerging management 
structures across district/borough councils in England.  The research found 
that there was a move away from annual incremental progression through an 
agreed salary scale, to senior officers now being appointed on spot salaries. 

 
The salaries for the current Senior Leadership posts effective from 1 April 
2020 are shown in the table below (subject to 2% pay rise being 
implemented).  
 
 
 
 

Incremental 
points 
 

Chief 
Executive 

Executive Director Director of 
Finance and 
Resources 

1 £104,073.66 £93,856.32 £85,745.28 

2 £106,903.14   

3 £109,731.60   

4 £110,351.76   

5 £113,123.10   

 
A revised pay agreement was agreed with Chief executives in 2018 covering 
the two-year period 1 April 2018   31 March 2020. This agreement awarded a 
2% cost of living rise and was implemented from 1 April 2018.  
 
At the time of writing the NJC pay award for 2020 is still under consultation 
but a 2% increase has been assumed. 
 
3.2 Package over £100,000 
 
Where the salary package of any post exceeds £100,000, full council will be 
given the opportunity to approve the level of remuneration. The salary 
package is defined as base salary, any routinely paid allowances, bonus fees 
and other benefits in kind which are due under the contract. 
 
3.3 Corporate Management Team 
 
The new Corporate Management Team was implemented from March 2016 
and comprised of 6 manager posts with new job roles.  These all include an 
identical set of corporate responsibilities, together with a set of service 
specific responsibilities.   
 

Page 99



 10 
 

There was also a change to the Senior Leadership Team which saw the Chief 
Finance Officer role being deleted and the new Director of Finance and 
Resources post established.   
 
The new CMT roles and the new Director of Finance and Resources role were 
evaluated by a senior adviser to the Local Government Association, using the 
LGA Chief Officer method of job evaluation.  The recommended salary bands 
took account of comparable roles in other local authority organisations. 

 
To provide consistency with the approach taken to other roles within the 
Senior Leadership Team, the Director of Finance and Resources was 
appointed on a spot salary.  

 
 Salaries at April 1st 2020 (subject to ongoing CMT review see 2.3 
above). 
 

Post Incremental Range 

 1 2 3 4 

     

Assistant Director 
Commercial Services  

£62,245 £64,951 £67,658 £70,364 

Assistant Director 
Customers, 
Commissioning and 
Change  

£62,245 £64,951 £67,658 £70,364 

Assistant Director 
Economic Growth 

£62,245 £64,951 £67,658 £70,364 

Assistant Director – 
Health And Wellbeing 

£62,245 £64,951 £67,658 £70,364 

Assistant Director 
Housing  
 

£62,245 £64,951 £67,658 £70,364 

Assistant Director 
Policy & 
Communications  

£54,127 £56,833 £59,540 £62,245 

 
These pay scales will be uplifted in line with the national pay award on an 
annual basis. 
 
4. Terms and Conditions of Service 
 
The Chief Executive is employed under the terms and conditions of service of 
the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local Authorities, and 
the Executive Directors, Director of Finance and Resources and Corporate 
Management team under the terms and conditions of service of the Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities.   
 

Page 100



 11 
 

There are currently no additional local agreements relating to the employment 
of chief officers that represent a charge on the public purse, with the 
exception of election duties (see following paragraph). 
 
 
5. Additional Payments 
 
5.1 Election Duties 
 
The Chief Executive receives fee payments pursuant to his appointment as 
Returning Officer at elections.  The fees paid in respect of parish, district and 
county council elections vary according to the size of the electorate and 
number of postal voters and are calculated in accordance with a fee structure 
determined by Derbyshire County Council.  Fee payments for national and 
European elections are set by central government and are, in effect, not paid 
by the council, as the fees are reclaimed. 
  
5.2 Acting Up Payments 
 
Acting up payments are made where an employee may undertake the full 
duties and responsibilities of a higher graded post.  For employees at Scale 8 
and above (which includes Chief Officers) a continuous qualifying period of 
four weeks will apply before payment can be made. Further details are set out 
in paragraph 8 of the Local Collective Agreement. 
 
 
 
5.3 Honoraria  
 
An honorarium is payable in circumstances where an employee carries out 
additional duties which are at a higher level than those in their substantive 
post, but there is no entitlement to a higher salary.  Further details are set out 
in Paragraph 9 of the Local Pay Agreement.  
 
5.4 Telephone Rental 
 
A line rental may be paid to any Chief Officer who is expected to be 
contactable at home.  The same payment is made to all eligible employees, 
regardless of grade. 
 
A mobile telephone is provided to employees at the discretion of the Service 
Manager where it is considered appropriate for the delivery of the service. The 
cost of the monthly rental is paid as well as business related calls. 
 
5.5 Car Mileage and Expenses 
 
All employees, including Chief Officers, are able to claim for mileage and 
expenses occurred for business reasons only.  A review of car mileage 
payments was carried out in 2012/13 and a decision made by Cabinet in July 
2013 to implement the HMRC rates for mileage claims.  These revised 

Page 101



 12 
 

payments have been applied to all employees claiming mileage since March 
2014. Essential user allowance is no longer paid.  Expenses are paid in 
accordance with the Council’s Subsistence Policy. 
 
5.6 Other financial benefits 
 
Post holders employed under the terms and conditions relating to Chief 
Executives and Chief Officers are not in receipt of any financial benefits that 
are not also available to other employees.   
 
They are exempt from receiving the following benefits which other employees 
receive: 
 

• Unsocial hours payments 

• Overtime Payments 
 
The Chief Executive and Chief Officers do not receive any additional 
payments relating to performance related pay, bonuses or ex-gratia benefits. 
 
6. Incremental Progression 
 
The policy of the council in respect of incremental progression is the same 
regardless of the level of the post and is set out at paragraph 1 of the Local 
Collective Agreement.  On taking up employment, individuals will normally 
start at the bottom spinal column point of the appropriate grade; however, 
there is discretion to appoint at a higher point depending on skills, experience 
and any market factors which could impact on the ability to otherwise recruit 
to the post.  
 
In the case of a Chief Officer appointment, this decision would be made by the 
Chief Executive. The Appointments Panel would make this decision for any 
Chief Executive appointment (in accordance with the council’s constitution). 
 
7. Lowest Paid Employees 
 
Following the implementation of Single Status and the NJC Job Evaluation 
Scheme, local grades were implemented.  The lowest paid employees are 
determined by those whose job evaluation score was between 250-279, which 
placed them on Scale 1 at SCP 4-6.  From 1 October 2015, the NJC for Local 
government Employees agreed that the bottom Spinal Column Point would be 
removed as this would be lower than the National Minimum Wage.  Following 
negotiations on the pay award for 2019 and realignment of the local pay 
grades, the lowest grade currently starts at the new scale point 1 which is 
£9.00 an hour and subject to a 2% pay award in April 2020 being agreed will 
be £9.18. 
 
8. Relationship between salaries 
 

Page 102



 13 
 

The ratio of the Council’s top earner to that of its median paid employee is 
6.93. This ratio has been based on year to date taxable earnings for the 
financial year 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2019. 
 
9.Pensions 
 
9.1 Contributions 
 
Employees of the Council (including Chief Officers) pay a contribution to the 
Local Government Pension Scheme relative to their annual full-time 
equivalent pensionable pay (including pensionable allowances) (rates below 
as of April 2018):  
    

Band Range (£) Contribution Rate 

1 £0 to £14,400 5.5% 

2 £14,401 to £22,500 5.8% 

3 £22,501 to £36,500 6.5% 

4 £36,501 to £46,200 6.8% 

5 £46,201 to £64,600 8.5% 

6 £64,601 to £91,500 9.9% 

7 £91,501 to £107,700 10.5% 

8 £107,701 to £161,500 11.4% 

9 More than £161,501 12.5% 

 
 
An assessment is undertaken on an annual basis to determine the 
contribution rate.  
 
Following changes under the LGPS regulations in 2014, all employees now 
have an option to pay half contributions and build up half of the normal 
pension. This is known as the 50/50 section of the scheme and is designed to 
be a short-term option for when times are financially difficult.  

 

Following the triennial re-evaluation of the pension scheme the Employer’s 
contribution for Chesterfield will rise to 15.2% of pensionable pay from April 
2020. 
 
9.2 Discretions 
 
There are a number of discretions available under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme applicable to all employees.   The aim of the Chesterfield 
Borough Council Policy on discretions is to ensure:  
 
▪ fairness and equity in funding and contribution levels are adequate to 

meet future demands 

Page 103



 14 
 

▪ elected members are made aware of the financial consequences of 
decisions 

▪ the age, skills and experience profile of the organisation is balanced 
 
The discretions agreed for all employees are set out in the council’s 
discretions policy. 
 
 
9.3 Re-employment of employees in receipt of a pension 
 
The council has a statutory duty to appoint on merit and will always seek to 
appoint the best candidate for a position based on skills, knowledge, 
experience and abilities.   
 
Under the terms of the Local Government Pension scheme, an employee who 
has retired from local government service and is in receipt of a pension may 
reapply for local government employment.  However, where this happens, the 
pension may be subject to abatement, i.e. if the pension added to the new 
salary is higher than the original salary then the amount of pension will be 
reduced accordingly.  
 
There are currently no re-employed pensioners in senior management 
positions and no previously employed Chief Officer has returned under a 
contract for services. 
 
Where a former employee has left on the grounds of redundancy, the Council 
will apply the provisions of the Redundancy Modifications Order regarding 
recovery of the redundancy payment, if relevant. 
 
10. Payments on Termination of Employment 
 
Payments on termination of employment will be made under the LGPS or in 
accordance with the discretions set out above.  Other payments may be made 
where the council has specific legal advice to the effect that a payment may 
be necessary to eliminate risk of claims against the Council. 
 
Any severance payment currently over £100,000 must be agreed by full 
council.  
 
A decision is still expected following the consultation relating to Public Sector 
Exit Payments.  If agreed, this legislation will place a cap of £95,000 on the 
total package for employees leaving public sector employment.  
 
 
11. Publication of Information 
 
Information relating to the salaries of senior management is already published 
on the council’s website.  This policy statement, which has been approved by 
Full Council, will also be made available and placed on the website from 
March 2020  

Page 104



Corporate Management Structure – 2020
(subject to review)

Senior Leadership Team

Chief Executive

Executive Director Executive Director Director of Finance and  
Resources

Corporate Management Team

Assistant Director 
Economic Growth 

Assistant Director Housing

Assistant Director 
Commercial Services

Assistant Director Health and 
Wellbeing 

Assistant Director 
Customers, commissioning 
and Change 

Assistant Director Policy and 
Communications 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Date: January 2019 1

Chesterfield Borough Council

Equality Impact Assessment - Preliminary Assessment Form

The preliminary impact assessment is a quick and easy screening process. It 
should identify those policies, projects, services, functions or strategies which 
require a full EIA by looking at negative, positive or no impact on any of the 
equality groups.  

Service Area: HR 
Section: HR
Lead Officer: Kate Harley

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy the preliminary EIA is 
being produced for: Senior Pay Policy Statement

Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:

Existing 
Changed 

Q1 - What is the aim of your policy or new service?

Q2 - Who is the policy or service going to benefit?

Q3 - Thinking about each group below, does, or could the policy, project, 
service, function or strategy have an impact on protected characteristics 
below? You may also need to think about sub groups within each 
characteristic e.g. older women, younger men, disabled women etc.

Please tick the appropriate columns for each group. 

To set out the Council’s policy in relation to the pay and remuneration for Chief Officers 
in accordance with Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 and the Local Government 
Transparency Code.  The aim of developing and publishing this policy is to provide 
transparency to the remuneration packages for Chief Officers and explain the rationale 
for the pay and grading of Chief Officers.  The term Chief Officers refers to the Chief 
Executive, Executive Directors and Director of Finance and Resources.

The policy is not going to benefit any specific group, however, ensuring transparency to 
the remuneration packages for Chief Officers should benefit employees and the wider 
public. 

Page 107



Date: January 2019 2

Group or Protected Characteristics Potentially 
positive 
impact 

Potentially 
negative 
impact 

No impact 

Age – including older people and 
younger people.   

x

Disabled people – physical, mental 
and sensory including learning 
disabled people and people living 
with HIV/Aids and cancer. 

x

Gender – men, women and 
transgender. 

x

Marital status including civil 
partnership.  

x

Pregnant women and people on 
maternity/paternity. Also consider 
breastfeeding mothers. 

x

Sexual Orientation – Heterosexual, 
Lesbian, gay men and bi-sexual 
people. 

x

Ethnic Groups x
Religions and Beliefs including those 
with no religion and/or beliefs.

x

Other groups e.g. those experiencing 
deprivation and/or health inequalities.   

x

If you have answered that the policy, project, service, function or strategy 
could potentially have a negative impact on any of the above characteristics 
then a full EIA will be required. 

Q4 - Should a full EIA be completed for this policy, project, service, function 
or strategy?

Yes  
No  

Q5 - Reasons for this decision:

Whilst this policy sets out the principles which underpin the council’s pay policy for the 
whole of the workforce, the key purpose is to publicise how the council reaches its 
decision on the pay of Chief Officers and any other benefits.  It is a requirement of the 
Localism Act 2011 that the pay policy statement is approved by full council and 
published by 31 March 2020

Page 108



Date: January 2019 3

Please e-mail this form to the Policy Service before moving this work forward 
so that we can confirm that either a full EIA is not needed or offer you further 
advice and support should a full EIA be necessary. 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



For publication

Chesterfield Borough Local Plan – Consultation on Main 
Modifications (EG000)

For publication 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To brief Members on progress with the emerging Local Plan 
and the main modifications to the Local Plan that have been 
recommended by the Inspectors following the Hearing 
sessions held in October/November 2020.

1.2 To seek approval to undertake public consultation on the 
proposed main modifications as required by the Local Plan 
regulations.

1.3 To seek approval to submit the representations received on 
the public consultation to the Planning Inspectorate and 
request a report with final recommendations for main 
modifications. 

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 25th February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Economic Growth

Report by: Strategic Planning and Key Sites Manager

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That consultation be undertaken on the proposed Main and 
Additional Modifications to the emerging Local Plan (set out in 
appendix A) for a minimum of six weeks, as required by The 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).

2.2 That, following the end of this consultation, the proposed 
modifications and any representations received during the 
consultation period be submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate.

3.0 Report details

3.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
Local Planning Authorities to prepare a development plan for 
their area in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) regulations 2012, and to review that 
plan every five years.

3.2 The council’s current Local Plan consists of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2013 and the ‘saved’ policies of the Replacement 
Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2006.  This plan needs review 
to keep it up to date with the latest planning guidance set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and to 
ensure it contains sufficient development allocations for the 
borough’s growth for at least the next fifteen years.

3.3 The council consulted on a draft Local Plan in early 2017, 
followed by a targeted consultation on Gypsy and Traveller 
sites.  

3.4 Formal consultation on the ‘Submission Local Plan was 
undertaken for six weeks in January/February 2019, following 
unanimous approval of the Local Plan at a meeting of the Full 

Page 112



Council in December 2018.  The submission Local Plan, and all 
the representations received during the consultation period 
were then submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (PINs) for 
independent Examination in Public (EiP).

3.5 The Inspectorate appointed two Planning Inspectors to 
undertake the Examination.  Public hearings were held by the 
Inspectors over three weeks in October/November 2019, 
where officers and those who had submitted representations 
gave evidence on all aspects of the plan. The purpose of the 
Hearing sessions was to test that the plan was legally 
prepared and ‘sound’ (ie. ‘Positively Prepared’, ‘Justified’, 
‘Effective’ and ‘Consistent with National Policy’)

3.6 The Hearing sessions are now closed, but the Plan remains in 
the Examination period until receipt of the Inspectors’ report.  

4.0 Main Modifications

4.1 The Local Plan hearings finished on 6th November 2019. The 
Inspectors have set out a number of changes that they would 
like to see made to the plan (‘main modifications’) in order to 
make the plan sound. Main modifications are those that 
materially affect the functioning of the plan and are required 
to make the plan ‘Sound’.

4.2 The full range of Main Modifications are set out in the 
Appendix A. Text deleted from the submission Local Plan is 
shown with a strikethrough, and additional text bold and 
underlined.  The most significant modifications can be 
summarised as follows:

 Extend the plan period to from 2018-2033 to 2018-2035, 
to accord with NPPF requirements for a minimum 15-
year period from adoption;

Page 113



 Increase employment land minimum requirement from 
44 hectares to 50 hectares to align with extended plan 
period;

 Change the housing requirement to be based on the 
new Local Housing Need (LHN) methodology, resulting 
in a reduced annual minimum need of 240 dwellings 
per annum over the extended plan period (resulting in 
an overall reduction in the minimum requirement from 
4374 to 4080 homes over the plan period 2018-2035);

 Policies LP1 Spatial Strategy & LP2 “Principles for 
Location of Development” – change from emphasis 
from walking distance to centres, to more emphasis on 
walking access to a range of key services (Employment 
centres, Primary schools, Secondary schools, Further 
Education institutions, GPs, Hospitals, Food stores, 
Town Centres) and removal of the proposed 800m 
threshold walking distance to centres;

 Policy LP4 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing – refinement 
of policy wording regarding development on 
unallocated sites outside the built-up area, and 
identifying the extent of the ‘built up area’ on the 
Policies Map;

 Table 4 Housing Allocations – H3 Manor House Farm, 
H22 Lister Car Sales and H24 Barker Lane have been 
removed as they are no longer available for 
development;

 Policy LP5 Range of Housing – change in affordable 
housing requirements from ‘up to 20%’ to a sliding scale 
in line with the already agreed Community 
Infrastructure Ley (CIL) Zones. Additional text to clarify 
the circumstances where 25% the higher ‘adaptable and 
accessible housing technical standard’ will be required. 

Page 114



Additional text clarifying the circumstances where 
housing for older people will be supported;

 Policy LP15 A Healthy Environment – inclusion of 
reference to cumulative impact on air quality;

 Policy LP16 Green Infrastructure – inclusion of 
reference to protecting and enhancing access to multi-
user trails;

 LP21 Design – Percent for Art removed as a 
requirement for development (although the policy will 
still seek to ‘encourage’ provision of public art) to align 
with the new CIL Regulations;

 Policy LP23 Influencing the Demand for Travel – 
additional text regarding cycle parking, and a 
commitment to prepare a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) on planning for walking and cycling 
within new development;

 Policy RP1 Regeneration Priority Areas - Reduction of 
expected housing numbers in Duckmanton from 400 to 
310 due to landscape constraints. Increase of expected 
housing numbers in Mastin Moor from 400 to 670 to 
reflect evidence presented by landowner. Increase in 
housing numbers in Poolsbrook from 100 to 175 to 
reflect the planning permission now being 
implemented;

 Inclusion of a monitoring framework including housing 
and employment land trajectories.

4.3 The council will also put forward a series of ‘additional 
modifications.  These are changes that do not affect the 
functioning of the plan and include grammar and spelling 
corrections, and factual updates that do not affect the 

Page 115



functioning of policies (such as the updated timeline for 
restoration of Chesterfield Canal or the implementation of 
HS2 Phase IIb).  The Inspectors will not consider these 
modifications, but it will be more robust and reduce the risk of 
any challenge if these are consulted upon alongside the Main 
Modifications.

5.0 Main Modifications Process

5.1 The Inspectors have already been provided with a draft of the 
Main Modifications as part of the Examination process, to 
confirm that they address the points they expect them to.  It is 
important to note that the Main Modifications must relate to 
the Actions identified by the Inspectors.  The council cannot 
use the Main Modifications process to introduce additional 
changes, or to re-open matters discussed at the Hearings, 
without going back to an earlier stage in the preparation of the 
Local Plan.

5.2 All the main modifications must be subject to Sustainability 
Appraisal and Equalities Impact Assessment to identify 
whether they raise issues not addressed in the appraisal of 
the Local Plan.  This has been carried out and has not raised 
any additional issues of concern.  On the assumption that the 
Main Modifications are approved by members they must then 
be subject to consultation for a minimum of six weeks.  

5.3 Consultation will only relate to the proposed modifications – it 
does not provide an opportunity to raise objections to aspects 
of the plan already considered through the hearing sessions.  

5.4 The Strategic Planning and Key Sites Manager has also written 
to the Planning Inspectorate formally requesting that they 
consider the modifications as part of their report, as required 
by the Local Plan Regulations.

Page 116



5.5 There is no requirement to report the results of the 
consultation or opportunity to make further changes to the 
plan in response to any comments.  Once the consultation is 
complete, the schedule of Main Modifications and any 
comments received will be sent to the Inspectors who will 
then make final recommendations on modifications in the 
form of a formal report to the Council.  Following the receipt 
of (what is hoped to be) a positive Inspectors’ report, the Local 
Plan will need to be approved for adoption by a meeting of the 
Full Council.

5.6 It is important to re-iterate that at this stage, whilst the council 
is responsible for preparing the specific wording of 
modifications, this can only be in direct response to the issues 
that the Inspectors directed the council to address through 
the Hearing Sessions.

6.0 Communications, Consultation and Community 
Engagement

6.1 Consultation would involve letters/emails to Statutory 
consultees and organisations and members public who have 
asked to be notified of Local Plan progress.  This would set out 
the availability of the material describing the modification and 
the timescales and procedures for commenting. 

6.2 As the consultation is limited in scope and targeted, no 
broader workshops, public meetings or drop-in events are 
currently proposed.  

7.0 Human resources/people management 

7.1 The consultation would be undertaken from within existing 
Strategic Planning Team with agreed support from the Policy 
and Communications Service where appropriate to support 
the develop of equality impact assessments and 
communication and consultation activity.

Page 117



8.0 Financial implications

8.1 The costs of the consultation and Inspectors’ costs will be met 
from the Local Plan reserve budget

9.0 Legal
 
9.1 Consultation on the Local Plan is being undertaken in line with 

the council’s published Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI). The consultation and submission of modifications is 
being carried out in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended).

9.2 The consultation period would overlap with the purdah period 
for the Derbyshire Police and Crime Commissioner Elections.  
Advice has been sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
who has confirmed that, as the consultation is limited and 
targeted, and there is no requirement for public meetings or 
to report the findings of the consultation, it would not conflict 
with the LGA guidance on Purdah.

9.3 The Main Modifications have also been the subject of 
assessment under the Habitats Regulations and undergone 
Sustainability Appraisal as required by the Local Plan 
Regulations.

10.0 Information assurance and data protection 

10.1 The consultation materials and responses will be handled in 
accordance with the council’s Information Assurance Data 
Protection procedures.  An advisory note specific to the Local 
Plan work has been agreed and will accompany consultation 
material.  Responses will be shared with the Planning 
Inspectorate as required by the Town and Country Planning 

Page 118



(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and will be made 
available on the council’s website with redactions.

11.0 Equality, diversity and human rights 

11.1 The Submission Local Plan was subject to Equalities Impact 
Assessment.  An update has been undertaken to assess the 
impact of the proposed Main Modifications.  This has 
identified one potential short term negative impact, but on 
that will be mitigated by the council’s emerging Play Strategy.
 

12.0 Alternative options and reasons for rejection

12.1 It is important to re-iterate that at this stage, whilst the council 
is responsible for preparing the specific wording of 
modifications, this can only be in direct response to the issues 
that the Inspectors directed the council to address through 
the Hearing Sessions.

Description of the 
Risk

Impact Likelihood Mitigating Action Impact Likelihood

Delay in receipt of 
Inspectors’ report

Med Med Undertake 
consultation as 
recommended and 
forward responses 
to PINs as soon as 
complete

Med Low

Proposed 
modifications not 
agree

High Low Modifications have 
been reported and 
discussed by Local 
Plan Steering Group

High Low

Local Plan reserve – 
expenditure on SA, 
viability assessment 
and further housing 
needs work risk of 
delays adding to costs, 
Risk of overspend on 
reserve

Med Low Review payments in 
preparing 2020/21 
budget

Low low

Staffing – annual leave 
and staff sickness

Med Low Fortnightly progress 
meetings to ensure 
allocation of key 
work.  

Low Low

Page 119



12.2 At this stage of plan preparation, the council’s options are 
limited to:

 Produce and consult on modifications as directed by 
the Inspectors;

 Go back to an earlier stage of plan preparation (this 
would likely involve re-opening the hearings as a 
minimum, or abandoning the examination and 
reverting to an earlier stage of consultation);

 Abandon the preparation of the Local Plan and 
effectively start again.

12.3 Options 2 and 3 would entail significant delays and additional 
costs, and the risks of leaving the council without a sound 
planning strategy or five-year housing supply on which to base 
decisions on planning applications.  These options have 
therefore been rejected.

13.0 Recommendations

13.1 That consultation be undertaken on the proposed Main and 
Additional Modifications to the emerging Local Plan (set out in 
appendix A) for a minimum of six weeks, as required by The 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).

13.2 That, following the end of this consultation, the proposed 
modifications and any representations received during the 
consultation period be submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate.

14.0 Reasons for recommendations

14.1 To meet the duty to prepare a development plan as set out in 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and in 

Page 120



accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  

Glossary of Terms  
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
SCI Statement of Community Involvement
PINs Planning Inspectorate
LHN Methodology Local Housing Needs methodology (the 

government’s preferred method for 
determining the minimum number of 
dwellings to be built in the Local 
Planning Authority Area)

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy
LPA Local Planning Authority 
HRA Habitats Regulation Assessment
SA Sustainability Appraisal

Decision information

Key decision number 919
Wards affected All
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

Making Chesterfield a thriving 
borough
Improving quality of life for local 
people

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Alan Morey 01246 345371

Alan.morey@chesterfield.gov.u
k

Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.

This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years.

Page 121



Appendices to the report
Appendix A Schedule of Main Modifications to the 

Chesterfield Borough Local Plan
Appendix B Modifications to the Policies Map
Appendix C Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment
Appendix D Habitats Regulation Assessment
Appendix E Sustainability Appraisal

Page 122



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

1

Chesterfield Borough
Local Plan

Submission Version

Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications

[INSERT MONTH] 2019

Page 123



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

2

Contents

1. Introduction 

2. Proposed Modifications

3. Associated Figures, Tables and Maps

Page 124



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

3

1. Introduction

1.1.The Chesterfield Borough Council Local Plan (the Plan) was submitted for examination 
in public on the 28th June 2019.

1.2.Following receipt of the correspondence ‘Matters, Issues and Questions’ from the 
Planning Inspectors examining the Local Plan, the Council has identified various 
changes to the Plan (known as Proposed Modifications), which it thinks will help make 
the Plan ‘Sound’ and also improve it. These changes are contained in the table within 
this document and are referred to as Main Modifications (to help make the Plan sound). 
The Proposed Modifications are provided without prejudice to the final conclusions of the 
Planning Inspectors.

1.3.As far as possible the Proposed Modifications are set out in order of the parts of the 
Plan which they change. The text that is proposed to be deleted is struck through 
(example) and new text is shown underlined in bold text (example). The column headed 
‘Reason for Change’ indicates the reason for the proposed modification. Main 
modifications are labelled with an MM e.g. MM1, MM2.

1.4.Where options for modifications have been presented at the request of the Inspectors, 
these are clearly marked [OPTION ‘X’].

Page 125



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

4

Modification 
Reference

Policy/
Paragraph/P
age

Proposed Modification Reason for Change Representation/
MIQ

Spatial Strategy

MM1 Contents 
Page

Insert revised contents page.  See Associated Figures, Tables 
and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

To identify Strategic Policies as required by the 
NPPF

AP6

MM2 Pages 14-15 Insert Key Diagram between pages 14 and 15. See Associated 
Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the 
proposed modification.

MIQ 1.3 
AP10

MM3 Paragraph 
1.3 (page 9) 

1.3    There will be 44 50 ha of land provided between 2018 and 
2033 2035 for new high quality employment development 
so that together with existing employment areas, a range 
of jobs and training opportunities are easily accessible to 
those who need them. All this new development will be in 
areas with an established industrial character or areas of 
regeneration specifically designated for mixed use. 
Economic activity and employment opportunities are 
focussed where the regeneration benefits can be 
maximised, particularly in the Staveley and Rother Valley 
Corridor and along the A61 Corridor where there is 
significant need for work and training. High employment 
density uses such as offices are located in the most 
accessible locations near to town and district centres..

To align the employment land requirement 
figure with the plan period of 2018-2035.

AP24

MM4 Paragraph 
1.20 (page 
12)

1.20 Sites are made available for at least 4374 4080 homes 
between 2018 and 2033 2035 to meet the Objectively Assessed 
Need (OAN), the majority of which are located within easy 
walking and cycling reach of the existing district and town 
centres. Some new housing development will be directed to 
areas suffering from deprivation to aid the regeneration of 
these communities. Some of this housing will need to be in 

To align the housing requirement with the LHN 
methodology set out in the NPPF and NPPG and 
the extended plan period of 2018-2035.

AP19

P
age 126



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

5

well-designed, sensitive urban extensions on greenfield sites. 
Local centres and community facilities there will need to be 
improved. In addition, some housing is also concentrated 
around ‘Local Service Centres’.

MM5 Objective 2
(page 14)

S2 Provide sites for at least 4374 4080 homes to be built 
between 2018 and 2033 2035 to meet the housing 
requirement for Chesterfield borough

To align the housing requirement with the LHN 
methodology set out in the NPPF and NPPG and 
the extended plan period of 2018-2035.

AP19

MM6 Objective S6
(page 14)

S6:    Provide 44 at least 50 ha of new employment land 
between 2018 and 2033 2035.

To align the employment land requirement 
figure with the plan period of 2018-2035.

AP24

MM7 Paragraphs 
2.2 to 2.6 
and table 1

2.2. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment Update 2017 
indicates an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) of 265 net 
new dwellings per annum is required to meet the 
borough’s housing needs.  The Local Housing Need (LHN) 
methodology set out in the NPPF indicates a minimum 
housing need of 240 new dwellings per annum.  No 
further adjustments to this figure are required to account 
for unmet need in neighbouring areas or other 
demographic or economic factors.

2.3. Between 2014-2033 2035, this equates to a minimum 
housing requirement of 5035 4,080 new dwellings (240 
dwellings per year).

2.4. 661 net new dwellings were completed between 2014 and 
2018.

2.5. Because there has been an under-delivery of homes since 
2014 (the base date for the SHMA update projections), a 
shortfall of 399 dwellings is added
which will be spread over the plan period.

2.6. This gives a housing target of 292 net new dwellings per 
annum.

Table 1
Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 
OAN over plan period 2014 to 2033 

265 pa
5035 net new dwellings

To align the housing requirement with the LHN 
methodology set out in the NPPF and NPPG and 
the extended plan period of 2018-2035.

AP19P
age 127



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

6

(19 x 265) 
Net completions 2014 to 2018
Outstanding need
Shortfall of dwellings from 2014 to 
2018
Revised OAN including shortfall

661 dwellings
4374 net new dwellings
399 dwellings
292net new dwellings pa

MM8 Paragraph 
2.8 (page 16)

2.8.  This work concludes that 44 hectares of employment land 
are required between 2018-2033, split into B1 5.2 ha, B2 – 
21 ha and B8 – 17.6 ha. This equates to a minimum of 
50ha across the Local Plan period of 2018 to 2035. 
Chesterfield needs to be able to offer an appropriate range 
of employment sites, in terms of quantity, size and 
location. The quality of site provision is key, and the best 
employment sites must be protected.

To align the employment land requirement 
figure with the plan period of 2018-2035.

AP25

MM9 Table 2 
(page 16)

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

To align the employment land requirement 
figure with the plan period of 2018-2035.

AP25

MM10 Policy LP1 LP1 Spatial Strategy

The overall approach to growth will be to concentrate new 
development within walking distance of a range of Key Services 
as set out in policy LP2 centres, and to focus on areas that need 
regenerating, including the ‘place shaping’ areas set out in 
policies SS1 to SS6 and Regeneration Priority Areas.

Regeneration Priority Areas

The council will maximise regeneration benefits to existing 
communities offered by development opportunities in the 
following areas:

 Eastern Villages– Barrow Hill, Duckmanton, Mastin 
Moor, Poolsbrook, 

To align with the approach set out in the NPPF

Additional modification for clarity in response 
to Chatsworth Settlement Trustees 

AP18
AP19
AP24
AP26

P
age 128



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

7

 Holme Hall
 Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor

Housing Growth

The council will make provision for the delivery of a minimum 
Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) of 240 new dwellings per 
year, (4,0804374 dwellings over the period 2018 to 20332035). 
New housing development will be in line with the strategy of 
‘Concentration and Regeneration’.

Economic Growth

To maintain economic growth and quality of provision, the 
council will make provision for 44 50 hectares of new 
employment land (B1, B2 and B8 uses) over the period 2018 to 
2033 2035. The key areas for employment land are at the 
already committed Markham Vale development, and at 
Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor. Policy LP7 and the policies 
map sets out broad locations for employment uses.

Green Belt

The existing Green Belt will be maintained and enhanced.

Strategic Gaps and Green Wedges

Strategic gaps give distinct identity to different areas, prevent
neighbouring settlements from merging into one another, and 
maintain open space. Green Wedges provide access to the 
countryside from urban areas. The open character of Strategic 
Gaps will be protected from development between:

representation.

To use the Local Housing Need figure to be 
consistent with the NPPF and NPPG.

To align the employment land requirement 
figure with the plan period of 2018-2035.

Chatsworth 
Settlement 
Trustees (68) 15 
SLP

P
age 129



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

8

 Brimington and Tapton (SG1)
 Ringwood and Hollingwood (SG2)
 Lowgates / Netherthorpe and Woodthorpe / Mastin 

Moor (SG3)
 Woodthorpe and Markham Vale (SG4)
 Old Whittington and New Whittington (SG5)
 Brimington North (SG6)

Green Wedges provide access to the countryside from urban 
areas. Green Wedges will be protected from development at:

 Walton River Hipper Corridor (GW1)
 Holme Hall and Newbold Green (GW2)
 Dunston and Sheepbridge (GW3)

The boundaries of Strategic Gaps and Green Wedges are 
identified on the
Policies Map.

MM11 Paragraph 
2.15 and 
2.17 

2.15. The Local Plan’s spatial strategy aims to support  and 
encourage walking,  and cycling and the use of public transport 
by locating new development within reasonable walking 
distance of a range of key services in centres. The Local Plan’s 
spatial strategy also recognises the importance of convenient 
access on foot to key services for those on low incomes, 
including the health benefits of walkable neighbourhoods. The 
concept of a walkable neighbourhood is set out in the 
Council’s supplementary planning document: ‘Successful 
Places’.

2.17 What constitutes a reasonable walking distance is set out 

To clarify the approach taken to sustainable 
transport.

AP8

P
age 130



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

9

in various relevant guidance1 including the Council’s adopted 
residential design guide supplementary planning document: 
‘Successful Places’. When seeking to apply the spatial strategy 
and principles for the location of development the Council will 
have regard to the concept of a walkable neighbourhood and 
the walking distances described in its SPD: Successful Places. 
Regard will also be had to However, a “reasonable” walking 
distance is likely to be affected by the likely effect of factors 
such as location, topography, weather, pedestrian facilities, trip 
purpose and cultural factors. There are also qualitative 
considerations which will be taken into account, including (but 
not exclusively):

- topography
- lighting
- quality of surface
- provision of off road pathways
- safety, including isolated pathways, extent of 
overlooking,
lighting, traffic, pedestrian crossings
- accessibility, including dropped curbs

MM12 Policy LP2 LP2 Principles for Location of Development

In allocating new development, or assessing Pplanning 
applications for developments that are not allocated in a 
DPDthe Local Plan, sites will be assessed supported according 
toby the extent to which the proposals meet the following 
requirements which are set out in order of priority:

a) deliver the council’s Spatial Strategy (policy LP1);

To clarify the approach to sustainable transport 
and how planning applications for development 
on unallocated sites will be assessed.

MIQ 2.4 
AP8

1 Table 3.2 on page 49 Guidelines for Journeys on Foot (Institution of Highways and Transportation) and Paragraph 3.30 on page 48 of Guidelines for Journeys on 
Foot (Institution of Highways and
Transportation)

P
age 131



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

10

b) are on previously developed land that is not of high 
environmental value;
c) deliver wider regeneration and sustainability benefits to the 
area;
d) maximise provide opportunities through their location for 
walking and cycling and the use of public transport (policy LP23) 
to access to a range of key services1 via a safe, lit, convenient 
walking routes;
x) maximise opportunities through their location for cycling 
and the use of public transport to access a range of key 
services;
e) utilise existing capacity in social infrastructure (policy LP11) 
or are of sufficient scale to provide additional capacity, either 
on site or through contributions towards off-site 
improvements;
f) Ensure the long term protection of safeguarded Minerals 
Related Infrastructure as identified in the Derbyshire and Derby 
Minerals Local Plan and shown on the Policies Map
g) are not on the best and most versatile agricultural land;
h) meet sequential test requirements set out by other national 
or local policies. 

Exceptions to the council’s Spatial Strategy will be considered 
where development proposals can clearly demonstrate that the 
proposed use:

i. needs to be in a specific location in order to serve a defined 
local catchment or need, to access specific resources or 
facilities (including transport connections) or to make functional 
links to other, existing uses; or 
ii. be addressed or to support existing community facilities that
otherwise would be at risk of closure.

New residential development will be expected to be within 

P
age 132



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

11

walking distance (800m) of an existing or proposed Local, 
District or Town Centre, via a safe, lit, convenient walking route, 
or demonstrate the ability to deliver appropriate provision on 
site.. 

1 DfT Accessibility Indicators:
• Employment centres
• Primary schools
• Secondary schools
• Further Education institutions
• GPs
• Hospitals
• Food stores
• Town Centres

MM13 Policy LP3 Delete all of paragraph 2.18 and Policy LP3 and the associated 
heading.

Paragraph 11 of the revised NPPF contains a 
presumption in favour of sustainable 
development similar to that in Policy LP3, which 
applies to decision-taking on development 
proposals and in effect removes the need for 
policy LP3.

MIQ 2.5 
AP9

Homes and Housing

MM14 Paragraph 
3.1

3.1   To meet the housing needs of a growing population and a 
growing economy, a total of at least 4374 4,080 net new 
dwellings must be built in Chesterfield Borough between 
2018 and 2033 2035. This is derived from the objectively 
assessed need figure Local Housing Need methodology 
derived housing requirement of 265 240 dwellings per 
annum plus the net level of completions since 2014. This 
requires the completion of, on average, 292 dwellings 
each year over the remaining 15 year period. This strategic 
housing requirement is not a ceiling, and may be exceeded 

To use the Local Housing Need figure to be 
consistent with the NPPF and NPPG.

AP18
AP19

P
age 133



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

12

provided that it is sustainable, it can be supported by 
existing or new infrastructure and it meets the objectives 
and policies in the Local Plan.

MM15 Table 3 Replace table 3 and add supporting text as additional 
paragraph.
See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

The Local Plan must demonstrate a deliverable supply of 
housing sites sufficient for five years with a minimum buffer of 
5% (20% in the case of evidence of persistent under-delivery 
via the Housing Delivery Test).  As of 1st April 2019, there was 
an existing shortfall of 28 dwellings, to be resolved within the 
first five years.  Monitoring indicates that the borough is 
currently on target to resolve the entirety of this shortfall by 
1st April 2020.  The council has therefore applied a 20% buffer 
for under-delivery to the five years from 1st April 2019 (the 
first four years of the plan based on an adoption date on April 
2020).  A 10% lapse rate has been applied to commitments.

Year LHN
Actual 

Completion
s

LHN + 
Buffer

Trajectory 
Forecast

2018/
19 240 212 240 212
2019/
20 240 N/A 294 315
2020/
21 240 N/A 294 516
2021/
22 240 N/A 294 515
2022/
23 240 N/A 294 659
2023/ 240 N/A 295 466

To meet the requirement in the NPPF to 
demonstrate that the assessed needs for 
housing will be met across a minimum of 15 
years from adoption and that the plan can 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites from the date of adoption.

AP56

P
age 134



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

13

24
2024/
25 240 N/A 240 338

From 1st April 2020 the council therefore expects to 
demonstrate a supply of 2493 new dwellings against a target 
of 1417 dwellings.

Over the whole plan period the council can demonstrate a 
supply of 6247 dwellings against a minimum housing 
requirement of 4080 between 2018 and 2035.

Delivery, including lapse and windfall rates, will continue to be 
monitored across the plan period and taken into account in 
future reviews.

MM16 Housing Trajectory graph added
See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

AP56

MM17 Policy LP4 LP4 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing

Planning permission will be granted for residential development 
on the sites allocated on the policies map and as set out in table 
4, provided they accord with other relevant policies of the Local 
Plan.

Planning permission for residential development proposals on 
unallocated sites will only be permitted where it accords with 
the strategy of ‘Concentration and Regeneration’ as set out in 
policies LP1 and LP2 and other relevant policies of the Plan, 
and:
Outside of the built-up area (as set out on the policies map), To link the policy to a modification to the 

MIQ 5.2, 5.3
AP33
AP34
AP35

P
age 135



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

14

and subject to other relevant policies of the Local Plan, new 
residential development on sites not allocated in table 4 will 
only normally be permitted where:

a) It is within the built up area: or
a) The development can demonstrate that it would have 
reasonable access to a range of Key Services as set out in policy 
LP2; and
b) It re-uses redundant or disused buildings and enhances their 
immediate setting; or
c) It is for the sub-division of an existing residential dwelling; or
d) It is for the redevelopment of previously developed land in a 
manner that would not harm the intrinsic positive character of 
the countryside; or
e) It represents the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the 
future of the heritage asset; or
f) It meets a specific demonstrable housing need for a rural 
worker that can only be met in that particular location; or
g) It is of exceptional quality of design quality, in that it:

i) is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest
standards in architecture, and would help to raise 
standards of design more generally in rural areas; and

ii) would significantly enhance its immediate setting,and 
be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local 
area.

Where the council cannot, at the time, demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable sites for housing, planning permission for 
new residential development outside the built up area will be 
permitted in exception to the above criteria where it can 
demonstrate that it accords with the strategy of ‘Concentration 
and Regeneration’ as set out in policies LP1 and LP2 and
other relevant policies of the Plan.

policies map to define the extent of the ‘built 
up area’.  To differentiate between the built-up 
area and beyond it in terms of acceptable levels 
of accessibility to services for new housing and 
impact on the intrinsic value of the countryside. 
See corresponding modification to the 
proposals map.

To have greater consistency with paragraph 
79(a) of the NPPF. 

To remove an unnecessary element of the 
policy given the operation of paragraph 11(d) of 
the NPPF in situations where the Council cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply or housing 
completions fall below the thresholds set out in 
the NPPF.  

P
age 136



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

15

MM18 Table 4 See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

MIQ 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, 
5.7, 5.25
AP16
AP36
AP39
AP40
AP41
AP53

MM19 Paragraph 
3.10

3.10. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2017 
estimated what type
and amount of housing is required in the borough. This includes 
the need for
affordable housing.

Recommended Size Mix of Homes
1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed
Market 0-5% 30% 50% 15-20%
Low-cost home
ownership 10-15% 40-45% 35-40% 5-10%

Affordable
housing (rented) 25-30% 45% 20% 5-10%

3.11. This takes account of both local need and the potential for 
delivery of larger aspirational housing which helps to diversify 
the housing mix in the Borough and to support economic 
regeneration and reduce in-commuting of higher earners. If the 
Council wishes to focus more specifically on meeting local 
needs the mix of market housing needed would be focused 
slightly more towards two and three bedroom homes than that 
shown, with lower expected delivery of homes with four or 
more bedrooms.

To remove reference to the mix of homes 
recommended in the SHMA, as it relates to the 
whole HMA area and is evidence that will be 
updated.

AP22P
age 137



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

16

MM20 Table 7 and 
Additional 
paragraphs 
follow 
paragraph 
3.17 to ?

Housing for Older People

3.X As well as providing a stock of adaptable and 
accessible properties, there is an identified need for 
housing for older people. 

3.X Derbyshire County Council2 identified a number of key 
statistics for Chesterfield in relation to housing for 
older people:
3,358 people provide 50 hours of more informal care 
per week.
There are 2,028 current service users aged 65 and 
over in receipt of Adult Care Services.
1,494 people over the age of 65 are living with 
Dementia and this is set to increase to 2,437 by 2035, 
an increase of 63.1%.
13.5% of total households are single persons aged 65 
and over living alone, this is 6,318 households.
468 care home with nursing beds and 498 care beds 
are currently available in 29 settings.

3.X Specialist housing for older people comprises four 
accommodation types3

Housing for older people: social sector sheltered and 
age-exclusive housing and private sector leasehold 
retirement housing. This will include schemes, for rent 
and for sale, with on-site staff support, those with 
locality-based support services and schemes with no 
associated support services. (This includes ‘Age 
Restricted general market housing’ and ‘Retirement 
living or sheltered housing’ as defined in national 

To include new evidence (Housing and 
accommodation for an ageing population: a 
strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 
2019) as part of the reasoned justification for 
policy LP5.

MIQ 3.17
AP20

2 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 2019)
3 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 2019)

P
age 138



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

17

planning guidance4:)

Housing with care: includes extra care schemes, 
often called ‘assisted living’ in the private sector, with 
24/7 care available on-site and housing schemes that 
offer bespoke care services, even if these are not full 
on-site 24/7 care, across both the social and private 
sector. (This is as defined in national planning 
guidance ‘Extra care housing or housing-with-care’)

Residential care: residential accommodation 
together with personal care, i.e. a care home (as 
defined in national planning guidance as ‘Residential 
care homes’).

Nursing care: residential accommodation together 
with nursing care i.e. a care home with nursing (as 
defined in national planning guidance as ‘Nursing 
homes’).

3.X The 2014 SHMA provided an indication of annual need 
for Housing for Older People and Housing with Care as 
50 dwellings per annum. 

Move Table 6 to here

3.X More recently, Derbyshire County Council5 have 
estimated the net additional need for older peoples 
housing up to 2035: 

Estimated net additional need for older people’s housing 2019 

4 Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 63-010-20190626
5 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 2019) Table 11

P
age 139



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

18

to 2035
Local 
Autho
rity

Housing for
older people
(units)

Housing with
Care
(units)

Curr
ent
pro
visi
on

Net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
(ren
t)
203
5

Net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
(sal
e)
203
5

Tot
al 
net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
203
5

Curr
ent
pro
visi
on

Net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
(ren
t)
203
5

Net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
(sal
e)
203
5

Tot
al 
net
addi
tion
al
nee
d
203
5

Chest
erfield 

2,79
8 0 281 281 55 277 59 336

3.X The DCC estimation of need for older peoples housing 
over the period 2019 to 2035 averages at 39 dwellings 
per annum, with a suggested tenure split of 85% rent 
15% sale. 

3.17. As well as the need for older peoples housing, the 
SHMA looked at the needs for registered care 
(Residential Care and Nursing Care) and identified 
potential need of 21 bed spaces per annum for the 
borough. 

3.X The SHMA figure is in line with the 2019 DCC 
estimation (Table 9 Housing and accommodation for 
an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire 
to 2035 (DCC 2019)) which averages at 21 bed spaces 
per annum for Nursing Care but does identify a small 
surplus of Residential Care bed spaces.

Estimated net additional need for Residential and Nursing 

P
age 140



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

19

Care beds to 2035

Local 
Authorit
y 

Residential care
(beds)

Nursing care
(beds)

Current
provision Current provision Net additional need 

2035
Current 
provision

Net 
addition
al need 
2035

Chesterfi
eld 455 -65 437 343

MM21 3.18.   National planning guidance emphasises the need for 
policy to be and viable. Developments should not be 
subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens 
that their ability to be developed viably is threatened. 
The 2018 Viability Study concluded that 25% adaptable 
and accessible housing and up to 20% affordable 
housing could be delivered in the borough. The 
proportion of affordable housing the council will seek to 
negotiate will vary up to a maximum of 20%, and will be 
informed by is based on the Viability Study evidence and 
the CIL zones. The zones will be reviewed alongside CIL 
rates when updated viability evidence is available.

To provide clarity within the pre-amble 
regarding viability and the relationship between 
policy LP5 and CIL requirements.

AP20

MM22 Policy LP5 LP5 Range of Housing

In order to increase local housing choice, respond to emerging 
needs and promote the creation of sustainable communities, in 
new housing developments the council will require seek a range 
of dwelling types and sizes based on the council’s most up to 
date evidence assessment of local housing needs and the 
location and characteristics of the site area.

To make the policy clearer and more effective, 
and to ensure consistency with the definition of 
affordable housing as set out in the NPPF.

To provide flexibility and ensure consistency 
with national planning guidance.

MIQ 3.14, 3.15, 
3.16, 3.17, 3.18
AP20

P
age 141



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

20

Affordable Housing

On sites totalling 10 or more dwellings (including phases of 
those sites) up to 20% of affordable housing and 25% of 
adaptable and accessible housing7, will be sought by 
negotiation informed by required in line with the charging 
zones set in the council’s most recently adopted CIL Charging 
Schedule6.

CIL Zone % Affordable Housing Required Type of affordable housing7

Zero 0 n/a
Low 5
Medium 10
High 20

10% Affordable Home 
Ownership

90% Affordable Rent

Where a development seeks a lower proportion or different 
mix of types/tenures, this will only be done through a viability 
assessment that demonstrates that particular circumstances 
exist including (but not limited to):

 development is proposed on unallocated sites of a 
wholly different type to those used in viability 
assessment that informed the plan;

 where further information on infrastructure or site 
costs is required;

 where particular types of development are proposed 
which may significantly vary from standard models of 

6 https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-permission-and-development-management/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx 
7 NPPF2019 Definition 

P
age 142

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-permission-and-development-management/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx


Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

21

development for sale;
 significant economic changes have occurred since the 

plan was adopted.

Subject to site suitability, all affordable dwellings should be 
built to be adaptable and accessible homes, and within this 10% 
of the affordable dwellings should be built as wheelchair user 
homes.

Any affordable home ownership delivered as part of an 
affordable housing contribution should be in the form of shared 
ownership.

Where it is not possible or appropriate to deliver affordable 
housing on site, a financial contribution will be sought for 
provision off-site (including for adaptations).

Where the provision of affordable housing would adversely 
impact on the viability of development, the developer will be 
required to submit evidence demonstrating this and justifying a 
lower contribution or alternative tenure mix.

Adaptable and Accessible Housing

The following requirements for adaptable and accessible 
housing will apply subject to consideration of site suitability, 
taking account of site specific factors such as vulnerability to 
flooding and site topography. 

 On sites totalling 10 or more dwellings (including 
phases of those sites) 
25% of dwellings should be built to building 
regulations standard M4(2) (where a site includes 
affordable housing this should normally be 

P
age 143



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

22

proportionately split between tenures)

 Where the council has identified evidence of a specific 
need for a wheelchair accessible standard M4(3) 
property (for which the council is responsible for 
allocating or nominating a person to live in that 
dwelling) that is relevant to a site (either as affordable 
or market housing), this will be negotiated with the 
developer and secured by planning obligation, subject 
to consideration of viability and suitability.

Where evidence is submitted to demonstrate that step-free 
access is not viable, there will be no requirement for 
adaptable and accessible housing (building regulations M4(2) 
or M4(3)). 

Housing for Older People
Proposals for new registered care facilities for housing for older 
people will be supported permitted on the housing sites on 
Table 4 where they:  

 contribute to meeting needs identified in the councils 
most up to date evidence8; and

 have good access to public transport, and 
 have good access to health services and facilities.

Registered care facilities will not be expected to provide 
affordable housing on site or as an off-site contribution.

MM23 Paragraphs  
3.20, to 3.24 
and table 8

3.20. The Derbyshire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment 2014 (GTAA) concluded that Chesterfield 
Borough has a pitch requirement of 4 over the period 
2014 to 2019, with no requirement for the remainder of 

To update the reasoned justification in terms of 
committed authorised traveller sites. To 
remove reference to cancelled (albeit not 
replaced) guidance 

MIQ 3.20, 3.22, 
3.24

AP21

1 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 2019)

P
age 144



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

23

the plan period. Half All of this need has been met 
through planning permissions, resulting in a surplus of 
one pitch.

3.21.   The latest government published updated guidance on 
Planning Policy for Travellers in 2015. This policy takes 
‘travellers’ to mean gypsies and travellers and travelling 
showpeople. This guidance requires local planning 
authorities to make a robust assessment of need for sites 
for travellers and to identify and update annually a 
supply of sites to meet pitch targets set to meet the need 
identified. Sites to address a five year supply are 
allocated in the Local Plan.

3.22   The council undertook an exercise to identify potential 
sites for Gypsy and Traveller sites in late 2017 and early 
2018. This considered 46 sites and included public 
consultation on six. At the end of this process it was 
concluded that none of the sites met the criteria of being 
available and suitable.

            Table 8

            There is an outstanding need for 2 pitches within the 
plan period. Based on historic delivery, it is anticipated 
that this will be delivered via a windfall.

3.23.   In the absence of suitable sites, and in the event of an 
unanticipated need for a site arising, the Local Plan sets 
out a criteria-based approach by which planning 
applications for Gypsy and Traveller sites can be 
assessed. When considering proposals, the council will 
take account of the most recent national planning policy 
for traveller sites including: Government guidance within 

P
age 145



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

24

‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites’

 The existing level of local provision and need for 
sites.

 The availability (or lack of) alternative 
accommodation for the applicants.

 Other personal circumstances of the applicant.

3.24    The Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice 
Guide 2008 should also be considered in relation to 
detailed design.

MM24 Policy LP6 LP6 Sites for Travellers

Planning permission will be permitted for Traveller pitches on 
the sites allocated on the Policies Map and as set out in table 8, 
and also on unallocated land where:

a) the site is not located in the Green Belt;or adopted 
Local Green Spaces;

b) there is no unacceptable impact on the function and 
purpose of Strategic Gaps, Green Wedges or on wildlife 
sites or other protected green spaces;

c) the site is reasonably accessible to community services 
and facilities;

d) the site provides adequate levels of amenity for users;
e) the site can be adequately serviced with drinking water 

and sewerage disposal facilities;
f) the site is of sufficient size to accommodate the 

proposed number of caravans, vehicles and ancillary 
work areas as appropriate;

g) there is satisfactory boundary treatment to ensure 
privacy and to maintain visual amenities.

To ensure consistency with the national 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. Deletion of 
reference to flood risk as this would 
unnecessarily duplicate other policies in the 
Plan and national planning policy which will be 
applied in any case. Deletion of reference to 
Local Green Spaces as none are allocated in the 
Local Plan

MIQ 3.20, 3.22, 
3.24

AP21

P
age 146



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

25

h) the site is located outside of Flood Zone 3
i) It meets other relevant policies of the Local Plan

Jobs, Centres and Facilities

MM25 paragraphs 
4.8, page 31

4.8.     The 2018 Employment Land study recommended that 
Chesterfield Borough should provide approximately 44 
ha of new land for Business and Industrial use between 
2018 and 2033 in order to provide sufficient jobs for the 
borough’s population and wider catchment. This 
requirement figure has been extended to align with the 
plan period end date of 2035, which results in a total 
employment land requirement of 50 ha between 2018 
and 2035.

To update the employment land requirement in 
line with the plan period end date of 2035.

MM26 Paragraph 
4.9, page 31

4.9.     As of April 1st 2018, Unimplemented planning 
permissions for employment land provided a potential 
supply of 24.3ha.

4.9.  In the 2018/2019 monitoring year 3.38 hectares of 
employment land was developed, reducing the 
remaining target (to be developed between 2019-2035) 
to  46.62 ha. As of April 1st 2019, unimplemented 
planning permissions for employment land provided a 
potential supply of 19.2 hectares. 

To update the supporting text in line with the 
most recent monitoring data. 

MIQ 4.20

MM27 Paragraph 
4.10, 
page 31

3.10. Other undeveloped land within established employment 
areas allocated on the policies map will provide an 
additional 24.3 ha 23.4 ha.

To update the supporting text in line with the 
update to the Employment Land Supply Table 
(Table 9). 

MM28 Table 9 (page 
32)

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

To update the Table of employment land supply 
in line with recent monitoring data.

AP25

MM29 Both Tables 
labelled 12, 

Replace both tables. See Associated Figures, Tables and 
Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

Replacement of Table 12. Changes made to 
enhance the clarity and understanding of the 

MIQ 4.26

P
age 147



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

26

pages 40-41 modification. borough’s Comparison Retail Supply.

MM30 Policy LP9 LP9 Vitality and Viability of Centres

Role of centres

The council will support the role of the town, district, local 
service centres and local centres in providing shops and local 
services in safe, accessible and sustainable locations. New retail 
development within centres shown on the proposals map 
should make a positive contribution to the centre’s viability and 
vitality, and be of an appropriate scale 

To ensure the vibrancy, inclusiveness and economic activity of 
the borough’s centres, main town centre uses including health, 
leisure, entertainment, community facilities, sports, offices, art, 
food and drink, cultural and tourism facilities will be 
encouraged supported.

Within centres and Chesterfield Town Centre Primary Shopping 
Area (PSA) planning permission will normally be granted for A1 
retail uses. For main Main town centre uses other than A1 
retail, consideration will be given to the extent to which 
proposals accord with criteria a) to f) below: will normally be 
permitted where they will:

a) not overwhelm the retail function of the centre, street or 
frontage where it is located by having have a detrimental 
positive impact on vitality and/or viability;
b) provide active ground floor uses;
c) contribute to an active, well-used and safe environment in 
the evening with acceptable impacts on residential amenities;
d) cater for a wide public through diversity of leisure and 
cultural attractions and events;

To ensure that the policy is clear and 
reasonable, and is consistent with the NPPF.

MIQ 4.28, 4.29, 
4.30, 4.31
AP30

P
age 148



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

27

e) contribute to an appropriate mix of licensed premises; and
f) contribute to efforts to tackle vacant, under-used and derelict 
buildings within centres, particularly in historic buildings.

Within Secondary shopping areas of Chesterfield Town Centre 
planning permission will normally be granted for any main town 
centre uses.

Residential uses (C3) will normally only be permitted at first 
floor level and above (with the exception of suitable provision 
for access)

The Council will support the temporary occupation of empty 
buildings and cleared sites by creative industries and cultural 
and community organisations where they contribute to 
regeneration and enhance the character of the area'.

Proposals for comprehensive redevelopment of a centre or part 
of a centre will be considered where the proposals can 
demonstrate the community benefits of redevelopment and 
justify any loss of retail facilities. The provision of new local 
centres may be considered where a need arises.

MM31 LP10 LP10 Retail

Across the borough, a sequential approach will be used to 
assess sites for retail and other town centre uses, to focus such 
development on town, district, local service centres and local 
centres to meet the requirements of national planning policy.

Retail Impact assessments will be required to accompany 
planning applications for new retail and leisure proposals 
within that fall outside of Chesterfield Town Centre, Staveley 
Town Centre and District Centres, and Local Service Centres, in 

Changes made to ensure the policy accords 
with the NPPF. The wording has changed to 
remove the necessity for proposals within 
centres to submit an impact assessment 
(inconsistent with NPPF). Instead all retail and 
leisure proposals outside of a centre will 
require an impact assessment. Changes made 
to enhance the clarity of when an Impact 
Assessment is needed. Reference is now also 
made to ‘all other locations’ to enhance clarity.

MIQ 4.33, 4.34
AP31

P
age 149



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

28

accordance with the NPPF:  with the locally set thresholds 
below:

 Within 500m of Chesterfield Town Centre, for all retail 
proposals with a floorspace of more than 500 sqm 
(gross internal floorspace) 

 Within 500m of Staveley Town Centre and District 
Centres, for all retail proposals with a floorspace of 
more than 280 sqm (gross internal floorspace) 

 Within 500m of Local and Local Service Centres, for all 
retail proposals with a floorspace of more than 200 sqm 
(gross internal floorspace)

Uses Location Threshold
Within 500m of Chesterfield 
Town Centre

500 sq. m or above (gross 
internal floorspace)

Within 500m of Staveley Town 
Centre and District Centres

280 sq. m or above (gross 
internal floorspace)

Within 500m of Local and Local 
Service Centres

200 sq. m or above (gross 
internal floorspace)

Retail and Leisure

All other locations (not within 
Town, District or Local Centres)

500 sq. m or above (gross 
internal floorspace)

Specific forms of retail use outside Use Class A1 that require 
large premises such as showrooms, trade counters and 
wholesale premises, will normally be permitted in the identified 
retail Parks and may be permitted in other edge or out of 
centre locations if, due to reasons such as scale and servicing, 
the use would be unsuitable within a centre. In such cases, 
conditions will be applied where appropriate to define 
permissible changes of use and the range and type of goods or 
services sold. 

Individual small shops designed to serve local day to day needs 

P
age 150



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

29

will normally be permitted outside defined centres (as shown 
on the proposals map) subject to consideration of the impact 
test thresholds set out above.

Applications for development that would result in the loss of 
isolated local shops will be considered under LP11 Social 
Infrastructure.

MM32 Policy LP11 LP11 Social Infrastructure

Location of new development

Social infrastructure facilities will be permitted in and on the 
edge of the town, district and local service centres where they 
are accessible by public transport, walking and cycling, unless 
they are meeting a specific local need. Opportunities to deliver 
new or enhanced provision as part of new developments will be 
maximised, depending on the capacity and suitability of
existing services.

Co-location of facilities

The co-location and multi-use of facilities will be encouraged. 
Where proposals involve the provision of new or expanded 
social infrastructure facilities, they should be well related to 
existing centres and settlements and public transport 
infrastructure, and should provide high standards of
accessibility for all sectors of the community.

Improvement of existing facilities

The quality, functionality and accessibility of existing social 
infrastructure facilities will be improved at sites including 
Chesterfield Royal Hospital, Walton Hospital and Chesterfield 

To accord with national guidance Paragraph: 
001 Reference ID: 66-001-20190722.

MIQ 8.1
AP78

P
age 151



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

30

College, so as to allow for their future expansion. Masterplans 
will be required to accompany proposals to ensure the 
sustainable and co-ordinated development of the hospital and 
college sites.

The amalgamation and loss of facilities

Development will not be acceptable where it includes the 
change of use, amalgamation of uses or redevelopment of 
existing local community or recreational facilities, if it would 
result in the loss of a facility which is required to meet a local 
need or contributes to the network of facilities throughout the
borough unless:

a) There is an equivalent facility available in the locality or an 
equally accessible one is made available prior to the 
commencement of redevelopment to serve the same need; and

b) It can be demonstrated through a viability assessment that 
the current use is economically unviable and all reasonable 
efforts have been made to let or sell the unit for the current use 
over a continuous 12 month period that includes 
advertisement for let or sale at a realistic price.

MM33 Paragraph 
5.2

5.2   The appropriate mechanism for delivering infrastructure 
will vary between developments, but on-site infrastructure 
that primarily meets the need of the occupants of new 
development (e.g. landscaping, amenity open space, road 
access) will normally be dealt with via planning conditions 
or a Section 106 agreement. Other more strategic 
infrastructure requirements which are included on the 
Regulation 123 Infrastructure List will be met via the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The Council’s 
Infrastructure Study & Delivery Plan sets out the Borough’s 

To reflect CIL Regulations amendments 2019 AP79

P
age 152



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

31

strategic infrastructure requirements over the Local Plan 
period. The updated Delivery Plan is shown in Appendix A. 
The CIL charging schedule took effect in Chesterfield on 1st 
April 2016.  It sets out the types of eligible development 
and the rates which will be applied in each charging zone9. 

MM34 Paragraph 
5.4

5.4    As Infrastructure requirements are likely to change over 
time, the Infrastructure Study & Delivery Plan will be 
updated and reviewed regularly.  It provideds the starting 
point for Council to identify its priorities for the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (known as the CIL 
Regulation123 list). Whilst over time the Community 
Infrastructure Levy may provide significant contributions 
to infrastructure delivery, the Levy is intended to fill the 
funding gaps that remain once existing sources of funding 
have been taken into account. Core public funding will 
continue to bear the main burden of infrastructure 
funding. The Levy is intended to fill the funding gaps that 
remain once existing sources of funding have been taken 
into account. To ensure efficient and effective negotiation, 
applicants are advised to engage with the Council and its 
partners in pre-application discussions to ensure provide 
clarity over assessments of infrastructure requirements in 
advance of applications being submitted

To reflect CIL Regulations amendments 2019; 

And to remove duplication

AP79

MM35 LP12 LP12 Infrastructure Delivery 

Developer contributions will be used to mitigate the impact of 
new development and ensure that appropriate infrastructure is 
in place to support growth. The Borough Council will normally 
require that on-site infrastructure requirements are met via 
planning conditions or a Section 106 agreement. Developers 

To reflect CIL Regulations amendments 2019 AP79

9 Whilst the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) do not allow CIL Charging Authorities to exert discretion on whether payments should be made, the 
council has made provision for 'exceptional circumstances relief' and 'payment in kind' under specific circumstances allowed for in the Regulations.

P
age 153



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

32

will be required to demonstrate that the necessary 
infrastructure (green, social and physical) will be in place in 
advance of, or can be provided in tandem with, new 
development, and where appropriate arrangements are in 
place for its subsequent maintenance. 

Where the provision of infrastructure is considered to be a 
strategic need and is included in the Council’s CIL Regulation 
123 list then development, if liable, will be required to 
contribute via the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

Section 106 contributions will not be sought for infrastructure 
projects that are included in the Council’s CIL Regulation 123 
list.

All infrastructure requirements will be co-ordinated and 
delivered in partnership with other authorities and agencies.

Where new development would result in the loss of existing 
essential infrastructure, appropriate replacement provision 
should be provided as part of the new development proposals.

A Changing Climate

MM36 LP13 LP13 Renewable Energy

The Council will support proposals for renewable energy 
generation particularly where they have wider social, economic 
and environmental benefits, provided that the direct and 
cumulative adverse impacts of the proposals on the following 
assets are acceptable, or can be made so:

a) the historic environment including heritage assets and their 
setting;
b) natural landscape and townscape character;
c) nature conservation;

To accord with national guidance (Paragraph: 
005 Reference ID: 5-005-20150618)

MIQ 7.35

AP71

P
age 154



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

33

d) amenity – in particular through noise, dust, odour, and traffic 
generation.

Proposals will be expected to

I. reduce impact in on the character and appearance of 
the open countryside by locating distribution lines 
below ground where possible

II. include provision to reinstate the site if the equipment 
is no longer in use or has been decommissioned

III. incorporate measures to enhance biodiversity

Wind Energy

Proposals for wind energy development will be supported 
where they:

1) can be demonstrated to be community-led or and set out 
within an area defined as being suitable for wind energy 
development within an adopted Neighbourhood Plan; and
2) are able to demonstrate, following public consultation, that 
all material planning impacts identified by affected local 
communities have been adequately addressed; and
3) meet criteria a) to d) above.

In addition to meeting criteria 1. to 3. above, where wind 
energy development located within the Green Belt will would 
constitute inappropriate development, and planning permission 
will not only be granted where unless very special 
circumstances (as set out in the NPPF) can be demonstrated.

Renewable Heat

New developments will connect to or be designed for future 

P
age 155



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

34

connection to community heating networks where appropriate. 
Where no district heating scheme exists or is proposed in the 
proximity of a major new development, the potential for 
developing a new scheme on the site should be explored and 
pursued where feasible. Priority sites for district heating include 
Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor, Town Centre Northern 
Gateway, and South of Chatsworth Road.

Hydro Power
Developments along the river and canal corridors 
(watercourses) will be expected to investigate the feasibility of 
using small scale hydro power. Preapplication advice from the 
Environment Agency is advised.

MM37 Policy LP14 LP14 Managing the Water Cycle 

Flood Risk

The council will require flood risk to be managed for all 
development commensurate with the scale and impact of the 
proposed development., so that developments are made safe 
for their lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

Development proposals and site allocations will:

a) be directed to locations with the lowest probability of 
flooding or water resources as required by the flood risk 
sequential test’; 

b) be directed to locations with the lowest impact on 
water resources;

c) be assessed for their contribution to reducing overall 
flood risk, taking into account climate change.

Within areas of functional floodplain, development is expected 

To bring the policy into line with NPPF and PPG 
guidance

To bring into line with Environment Agency 
Advice.

AP69

P
age 156



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

35

to preserve or enhance the contribution of the area to water 
management / reducing flood risk.

Outside flood zone 1, the redevelopment of previously 
developed land for uses not allocated in this Local Plan land will 
be permitted where proposals can demonstrate that:

i. the development will deliver the economic, social and 
environmental regeneration of the borough that 
outweighs the risk of flooding and reduces flood risk 
overall;

ii. the safety of the development and users from flooding 
can be achieved and, as a minimum, there will be no 
increase in on- or off-site flood risk demonstrated 
through a site-specific flood risk assessment;

iii. the proposed uses are compatible with the level of flood 
risk, and;

iv. a sequential approach to the location of uses has been 
taken within the site itself, including matching the 
vulnerability of uses to the risk of flooding.

Improving the drainage network 

The council will seek opportunities to increase the capacity of 
the floodplain safely, make space for water across the whole 
borough, and to remove problems from the drainage network, 
particularly in connection with new development.

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) and clear arrangements 
for their on-going maintenance over the lifetime of the 
development should be incorporated into all relevant major 
development, unless it can be demonstrated that this is not 
appropriate in a specific location. The council will seek the 
maximum possible reduction in surface water run-off rates 

To clarify the application of the policy to 
determining planning applications.

P
age 157



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

36

based on the SFRA or most recent national guidance. 

Protecting the Water Environment

Development proposals will be expected to be encouraged to 
demonstrate that water is available to support the 
development proposed. and that they will meet the optional 
Building Regulation water efficiency standard of 110 litres per 
occupier per day. 

In response to Inspectors questions around 
justification for applying the higher standard 
(see further evidence on this issue).

Environmental Quality

MM38 Paragraph 
7.3

7.4   When sites containing ‘best and most versatile" 
agricultural land are developed, current accepted best 
practice should be followed to better protect the soil 
resource. The Construction Code of Practice for the 
Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites (DEFRA 
2009) currently provides best practice guidance.

After paragraph 7.3 add a new paragraph 7.4, 
as an additional modification to improve the 
clarity of the Plan.

MIQ 7.9

MM39 Policy LP15 LP15 A Healthy Environment

The quality of the environment will be recognised at all levels of 
the planning and development process with the aim of 
protecting and enhancing environmental quality.

All developments will be required to have an acceptable impact 
on the amenity of users or and adjoining occupiers, taking into 
account noise and tranquillity disturbance, dust, odour, air 
quality, traffic, appearance outlook, overlooking, shading 
(daylight and sunlight) and glare and other environmental 
impacts.

Air Quality

To make the policy clearer and more effective 
in respect of the considerations of impact on 
amenity.

AP70

MIQ 7.7

P
age 158



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

37

Where appropriate, development proposals will include an 
assessment of impact on air quality and incorporate measures 
to avoid or mitigate increases in air pollution and minimise the 
exposure of people to poor air quality. Development that would 
make the air quality in a declared Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) materially worse either in isolation or 
cumulatively when considered in combination with other 
planned development, will not normally be permitted.

New development will have regard to the measures set out in 
any Air Quality Action Plan.

Water Contamination

Development proposals will be expected to contribute 
positively to the water environment and its ecology, and should 
not adversely affect surface or ground water quality, in line with 
the requirements of the Water Framework Directive 

Where any such risk exists, developments must include 
measures to reduce or avoid water contamination and 
safeguard groundwater supply.

Soil and Agricultural Land Quality

Development of "best and most versatile" agricultural land will 
only be permitted supported where it can be demonstrated 
that:

a) The need for the development clearly outweighs the 
need to protect such land in the long term; and or,

To ensure a clear and effective policy and 
consistency with paragraph 181 of the NPPF.

To make the policy clearer and more effective 
and also to ensure that the policy is consistent 
with paragraph 170 and footnote 53 of the 
NPPF.

MIQ 7.8

MIQ 7.10

P
age 159



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

38

b) Other sustainability considerations suggest that the 
use of the higher quality agricultural land is preferable 
to the use of poorer quality agricultural land; or

c) In the case of temporary/potentially reversible 
development (for example, minerals), that the land 
would be reinstated to its pre-working quality. ; and,

d) There are no suitable alternative sites on previously 
developed or lower quality land 

The Council will require all applications for major development 
on such land to include realistic proposals to demonstrate that 
soil resources were will be protected and used sustainably, in 
line with accepted best practice.

Unstable and Contaminated Land

Proposals for development on land that is, or is suspected as of 
being, contaminated or unstable will only be permitted if the 
mitigation and/or remediation are feasible to make the land is 
capable of remediation and fit for the proposed use and shall 
include:

a)     a phase I land contamination report, including where 
necessary a land stability risk assessment desk top 
survey with the planning application; and

b)     a phase II study and strategy for land contamination 
report where the phase I report (a) indicates it is 
necessary, and

c)     and a strategy for any necessary mitigation and/or 
remediation and final validation where the desk top 
survey (a) indicates remediation may be necessary. , on 
any full or reserved matters planning applications

To clarify and improve the effectiveness of the 
policy by explicitly requiring all aspects of a 
phase I report (including site reconnaissance 
and a conceptual model)’. Explicitly requiring 
land stability risk assessment to cover the 
requirement for Coal Mining Risk Assessments. 
Also, seeking a mitigation and/or remediation 
strategy where necessary, as for some sites 
mitigation might be appropriate and 
remediation not required.

The reference to full or reserved matters has 
been removed as some outline schemes will 
require the depth of a phase II assessment to 
demonstrate that the land is capable of 
development for the use proposed.

MIQ 7.11

P
age 160



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

39

A programme of mitigation, remediation and validation must 
be agreed before the implementation of any planning 
permission on contaminated and/or unstable land. The 
requirement to undertake this programme will be secured using 
planning conditions.

MM40 Policy LP16 LP16 Green Infrastructure

Chesterfield borough’s green infrastructure network will be 
recognised at all levels of the planning and development 
process with the aim of protecting enhancing, linking and 
managing the network, and creating new green infrastructure 
where necessary. Development proposals should demonstrate 
that they will not adversely affect, or result in the loss of, green
infrastructure, unless suitable mitigation measures or 
compensatory provision are provided.

Development proposals should, where appropriate:

a) Not conflict with the aim and purposes of the Green Belt 
(as set out in the NPPF); and

b) Not harm the character and function of the Green 
Wedges and Strategic Gaps; and

a) not harm the character or function of the Green Belt, 
Green Wedges and Strategic Gaps, and Local Green Spaces 
shown on the adopted Proposals Map

c) b) e Enhance connectivity between, and public access to, 
green infrastructure; and

d) c) (i) Protect and enhance access to the multi-user trails 
network as shown on the Policies Map; and (ii) Protect 
and increase the opportunities for cycling, walking and 
horse riding; and

e) ) Enhance the multi-functionality of the Borough’s formal 

To ensure consistency and cross referencing 
with the NPPF in terms of Green Belt. 
There are no existing or proposed Local Green 
Spaces and so the reference to them in the 
policy is removed.

To clarify that mutli-user trails including 
strategic cross-boundary ones are protected by 
the policy.

AP80

MIQ 8.2, 8.4

MIQ 8.23

P
age 161



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

40

and informal parks and open spaces; and
f) e) Protect or enhance Landscape Character; and
g) f) i Increase tree cover in suitable locations in the borough 

to enhance landscape character, amenity and air quality; 
and

h) g) Where new green infrastructure is proposed, there must 
be clear funding and delivery mechanisms in place for its 
long term management and maintenance, prior to the 
development commencing.

Where necessary and appropriate D development will be 
expected to make a contribution through planning obligations 
or CIL towards the establishment, enhancement and on-going 
management of green infrastructure by contributing to the 
development of a strategic green infrastructure network within 
Chesterfield Borough,.

The council will require with planning applications the 
submission of ecological surveys and assessments of the 
biodiversity and geological value of sites proportionate to the 
nature and scale of the development.

To clarify a proportionate and reasonable 
approach will be taken to planning obligations 
and CIL.

The requirement in the last paragraph of Policy 
LP16 duplicates a requirement in Policy LP18 
and is not necessary.

MIQ 8.6

MM41 Policy LP17 LP17 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network

The Council will expect development proposals to: -

 protect, enhance and contribute to the management of 
the borough’s ecological network of habitats, protected 
and priority species and sites of international, national 
and local importance (statutory and non-statutory), 
including sites that meet the criteria for selection as a 
local wildlife site or priority habitat; and

 avoid and/or minimise adverse impacts on biodiversity 

To ensure clarity on the nature of the 
protection afforded to sites and species.
To ensure consistency with the current NPPF 
and National Planning Practice Guidance 
Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 8-018-20190721.

MIQ 7.12
DWT (45) 1to7
AP72

P
age 162



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

41

and geodiversity; and
 provide a net measurable gain in biodiversity.

This should be secured using planning conditions and 
obligations by:

i) The provision of new, restored and enhanced habitats 
and links between habitats that make a positive 
contribution to the coherence of ecological networks; 
and

ii) promoting the recovery of protected species and 
species identified as a priority in the Local Biodiversity 
Action Plan (or subsequent equivalent evidence).; and

iii) the retention of existing features of ecological value.

If significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided, or through conditions or planning 
contributions adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for (including off-setting), then planning 
permission will be refused.

Sites of International and National Importance

Where a site of designated international importance would be 
adversely affected (either individually or cumulatively) by a 
development within the Borough, permission will be refused 
unless it has been demonstrated that there are no other 
alternatives;, or there are imperative reasons of overriding 
public interest;, and that compensatory measures will be 
provided to ensure the overall coherence of the network of 
sites is protected. Where the impact of a development (either 
individually or cumulatively) within the Borough, on a site of 
designated national importance (such as SSSIs)
would be adverse, permission will be refused unless the public 

P
age 163



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

42

benefits of the development would demonstrably outweigh 
both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the 
site that make it of national importance and any broader 
impacts;, and a suitable compensation/off-setting strategy has 
been secured with planning conditions or obligations.

Sites of Local Importance

Development proposals resulting in the loss or deterioration 
(including fragmentation) of; sites of local importance (such as 
Local Wildlife Sites and priority habitats) will not normally be 
permitted, unless the need for, and public benefits of, the 
development in that location demonstrably outweigh the loss 
or harm and a suitable compensation/off-setting strategy has 
been secured with planning conditions or obligations

Irreplaceable Habitats

Development proposals resulting in the loss or deterioration 
(including fragmentation) of; irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees); will be refused, 
unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and the need for, 
and public benefits of, the development in that location 
demonstrably outweigh the loss or harm, and a suitable 
compensation/offsetting strategy has been secured with 
planning conditions or obligations.

The council will require the submission with planning 
applications of ecological surveys and assessments of the 
biodiversity and geological value of sites as set out in a list of 
local requirements.

The Council will require the submission with planning 
applications of ecological surveys and assessments of the 

P
age 164



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

43

biodiversity, ecological and geological value of sites, where 
this is clearly justified, including as set out in a local list of 
validation requirements. This includes where development 
could have a significant impact on biodiversity, geodiversity 
and the ecological network. The surveys and assessments 
should be proportionate to the nature and scale of proposed 
development and its likely impact on biodiversity, geodiversity 
and the ecological network. 

MM42 Paragraph 
7.16

7.16    Open space, play provision and sports facilities are 
important elements of both green infrastructure and 
social infrastructure, enabling healthy lifestyles and 
positive community relationships. Open Space for the 
purposes of the Plan is taken to mean all open space of 
public value, including not just land, but also areas of 
water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) 
which offer important opportunities for sport and 
recreation and can act as a visual amenity.

To clarify what is meant by ‘open space’ whilst 
maintaining consistency with the current NPPF.

AP73

MM43 Policy LP18 LP18  Open Space, Play Provision, Sports Facilities and 
Allotments

Where proposed development would result in a need for new 
open space and outdoor sports facilities and/or exacerbate 
existing deficiencies in provision a need is identified, 
development must contribute to public open space, sports 
facilities and play provision in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted standards as set out in Appendix B of the Local Plan 
and in line with the following requirements:

a) On-site in a suitable location taking account of accessibility 
wherever possible; or

b) Where on site provision is not feasible or suitable, as a 

To clarify the policy in terms of it not seeking 
contributions from new development towards 
existing deficits of open space provision.
A modification to clarify that criterion c) is 
relevant to public open space and not to private 
or indoor sports facilities.

To ensure consistency with paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF.

MIQ 7.27 and 7.2

AP68 and AP73

P
age 165



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

44

financial contribution to the creation of a new facility off-
site or the upgrading and improvement of an existing 
facility, secured by planning obligation or CIL; and or

c) Where new public open space is to be provided on site, A 
as multifunctional, fit for purpose space that supports 
local communities health and wellbeing and activity levels 
and the ecological network.; and

Contributions to off-site provision will be secured through CIL 
and /or S106 agreements as appropriate.

On site provision will be incorporated into development 
proposals with suitable management and maintenance 
arrangements secured through S106 agreements. 

Planning permission will not be granted for development which 
would have a negative impact on, or result in the loss of, open 
space, play provision and sports facilities unless:
 

i. The site is clearly surplus to requirements and the 
land is not needed or is not suitable to meet a 
deficiency in a different type of open space provision; 
or

ii. Equivalent or better alternative open space provision 
in terms of quantity, quality and accessibility can will 
be provided on a replacement site; or

Iii     The loss of the open space will enable the 
enhancement of the existing open space network 
serving the locality affected, in a manner that will 
result in material planning benefits in terms of 
increased public health and well-being or other 
ecosystem services that demonstrably outweigh the 

P
age 166



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

45

loss of open space;
Iv     The site is unallocated and its loss or development 

would not detract from visual amenity and local 
character, and it is not a community facility

iii. the development is for alternative sports and/or 
recreational provision, the benefits of which clearly 
outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

MM44 Policy LP19 LP19 Chesterfield Canal

The council will safeguard the route of Chesterfield Canal as 
shown on the policies map. Development which prejudices the 
existing character of and/or the future potential for the 
improvement and enhancement of the Chesterfield Canal, 
including public access, environment and recreation, will not be
permitted.

Proposals for development associated with the recreation and 
leisure potential of the canal will be permitted close to its route 
provided that they do not have an adverse impact on habitats, 
the environment or public health and accord with other 
relevant policies of the plan.

Where new development, including infrastructure, is proposed 
adjacent to the canal, it will be required to conserve and 
enhance the route of the canal, including restoring the canal 
along its original route wherever possible. New developments 
should include provision for safe and convenient walking and
cycling access to the canal.

On land at Staveley Basin, as shown on the policies map, and 
subject to an approved masterplan for the whole site, the 
council will support planning permission will be granted 

To provide clear cross reference to housing 
allocations and the site’s contribution to 
housing supply.

AP76

P
age 167



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

46

applications that assist in the delivery of for development that 
delivers:

• An events area adjacent to the canal; and
• Moorings and facilities for visiting boats; and
• A mix of uses including residential (C3) (as set out in policy 
LP4, site H21), food and drink uses (A3 and A5), and/or business 
and light industrial use (B1(a) and B1(b))

MM45 Policy LP20 LP20 River Corridors

Development which prejudices the existing biodiversity, 
ecological value and character of and/or the future potential 
for the improvement and enhancement of the environment and 
character of the rivers corridors as shown on the policies map, 
including biodiversity, habitat connectivity, public access and 
recreation as shown on the proposals map, will not be 
permitted.

New development proposals on or adjacent to a river corridor 
should investigate the creation, and management, of 
ecological buffer strips and corridors to preserve and enhance 
the biodiversity of the area.

New development proposals on or adjacent to a river corridor 
should also include provision for safe and convenient walking 
and cycling access wherever possible. 

Planning applicationspermission will be granted supported for 
proposals that result Proposals for in the removal or 
enhancement of existing weirs to allow for improved fish 
passage, and for hydroelectric power schemes will be 
supported subject to the provisions above and other relevant 
policies of the plan.

To recognise the importance of the existing 
river corridors to wildlife and the ecological 
network and their potential for enhancements 
and provide appropriate safeguarding, 
consistent with paragraph 174 of the NPPF.

MIQ 7.15

P
age 168



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

47

Design and the Built Environment

MM46 Policy LP21 LP21 Design

All development should identify and , respond positively to and 
integrate with the character of the site and surroundings and 
respect the local distinctiveness of its context. The Council will 
support outstanding or innovative designs which promote 
high levels of sustainability, or help raise the standard of 
design more generally in an area, provided that they 
complement the character and appearance of their 
surroundings.

All development will be expected to:

a) promote innovative forms and good building designs that 
positively contributes to the distinctive character of the 
borough, enriches the quality of existing places and 
enhances the quality of new places;

b) respect the character, form and setting of the site and 
surrounding area by virtue of its function, appearance and 
architectural style, landscaping, scale, massing, detailing, 
height and materials;

c) be at a density appropriate to the character of the area 
whilst not excluding higher densities in and close to 
designated local, district and town centres;

d) contribute to the vitality of its setting through the 
arrangement of active frontages, accesses, and functions, 
including servicing;

e) ensure that the interface between building plots and 

To ensure consistency with paragraph 131 of 
the NPPF and also more generally to seek good 
quality building design in the borough. 

To avoid restricting diversity in building and site 
design e.g. static caravans, where such diversity 
would not detract from visual amenity or local 
character.

To increase both clarity and flexibility in terms 
of the requirements for proposed major 
development to demonstrate climate change 
mitigation and adaptation measures. 

MIQ 7.31, 7.32
AP60
AP62

P
age 169



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

48

streets and also the boundaries of development sites 
development boundaries and their surroundings are 
attractive and take account of the relationship between 
public and private spaces;

f) provide appropriate connections both on and off site, 
including footpath and cycle links to adjoining areas to 
integrate the development with its surroundings;

g) provide adequate and safe vehicle access and parking;

h) provide safe, convenient and attractive environment for 
pedestrians and cyclists;

i) preserve or enhance the landscape character and 
biodiversity assets of the borough;

j) be designed to be adaptable and accessible for all;

k) have an acceptable impact on the amenity of users and 
neighbours;

l) be designed to be safe and secure and to create 
environments which reduce the potential for crime;

m) minimise the impact of light pollution

n) be able to withstand any long-term impacts of climate 
change

Reducing Emissions

All Major development should, as far as is feasible and 
financially viable possible, contribute towards the reduction of 
minimise CO2 emissions during construction and occupation, 
and also maximise both the use of and the generation of 

P
age 170



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

49

renewable energy. 

Planning applications for major new development should be 
accompanied by a statement (as part of or in addition to a 
design and access statement) which sets out how the 
development would do this in terms of:

i. following the steps in the energy hierarchy by 
seeking to use less energy, source energy 
efficiently, and make use of renewable energy 
before efficiently using fossil fuels from clean 
technologies:

ii. optimising the efficient use of natural resources;
iii. reducing emissions through orientation and 

design.

i. makes effective use of resources and materials through 
sustainable design and construction

ii. minimises water use and provide for waste reduction and 
recycling

iii. uses an energy hierarchy that seeks to use less energy, 
source energy efficiently, and make use of renewable energy

iv. is sited and designed to withstand the long-term impacts of 
climate change

When considering the feasibility and viability of reducing 
emissions and also use of renewable energy in any major 
development, the Council will take into account matters such 
as the development’s scale and nature, its operational 
requirements, any site-specific constraints and also the need 
to meet other planning policy requirements. 

The Council will consider the extent to which sustainability has 

P
age 171



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

50

informed the design of proposals, taking account of:

• Impact on viability
• Scale and nature of development
• Operational requirements of the proposed use
• Site specific constraints
• The need to meet other planning policy requirements

Percent for Art
[OPTION 1] For major developments with a value in excess of 
£1 million,the council will seek to negotiate a scheme of public 
artwork, subject to consideration of the impact on the viability 
of the development, secured by planning obligations and/or 
conditions where necessary.

[OPTION 2] On major developments, the council will 
encourage developers to incorporate public art on site into 
structures and public spaces where reasonable.

MM47 Policy LP22, 
p. 71

LP22 Historic Environment

The council will give great weight to the conservation of 
designated heritage assets and their setting protect the 
historic environment and heritage assets throughout the 
borough and seek to enhance them wherever possible. 

In order to ensure that All new development must conserves or 
enhances designated and non-designated heritage assets and 
their settings the local character and distinctiveness of the area 
in which it would be situated, the council will:

The council will do this through:

To ensure Criterion g) of Policy LP22 can be 
applied proportionately depending on the 
significance of the asset and the extent of the 
anticipated harm.

MIQs 7.17, 7.18, 
7.19
AP63

P
age 172



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

51

a) Apply a presumption against development that would 
unacceptably detract from views of St Mary’s Church 
(The Crooked Spire) by virtue of its height, location, 
bulk or design;

b) the protection of Designated Heritage Assets and their 
settings including Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, 
Scheduled Monuments and Registered Parks and 
Gardens;

c) the use of Conservation Area Appraisals and associated 
Management Plans to ensure the conservation or 
enhancement of the individual character of each of the 
borough’s conservation areas;

d) the identification identify and, where appropriate, 
protection of important archaeological sites and 
historic environment features;

e) the identification identify and, where appropriate, 
protection of non-designated heritage assets of local 
significance, set out in and referred to as The Local List;

f) Eenhancing enhance the character and setting of 
Queens Park, Chesterfield Market Place, the Hipper 
River Valley, Chesterfield Canal and locally important 
Historic Parks and Gardens.

g) Requiring development proposals within the Town 
Centre Historic Core to be accompanied by appropriate 
levels of archaeological assessment within the Town 
Centre Core and other areas of archaeological 
significance, require relevant development proposals 
to demonstrate careful consideration of archaeological 
impact.

Where a development is likely to result in harm to, or a degree 
of loss of the significance of designated heritage assets and/or 
their setting, planning applications should be accompanied by 
an assessment evidence that sets out:

To ensure that policy LP22 is effective and 
consistent with national policy.  Reference to 
the need for a balanced judgement is consistent 
with the NPPF’s treatment of non-designated 
assets. 

P
age 173



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

52

1.  details of the assets to be affected and degree and 
nature of the likely impact on asset significance; an 
evaluation of how harm could be avoided, minimised or 
mitigated;

2. a justification for the development which enables the 
level of harm to be considered against the public 
benefits; 

3. evidence that all reasonable efforts have been made to 
sustain the existing use, find a new use or mitigate the 
harm to the asset’s significance. 

1. a description of the significance of the affected assets 
and their setting and an assessment of the nature and 
degree of impact on this;

2. an evaluation of how harm or loss would be avoided, 
minimised or mitigated; and

3. a clear and convincing justification for the 
development and the resulting harm or loss.

Development that would result in substantial harm to or total 
loss of significance to a designated heritage asset will not be 
permitted unless:

Either:

i) it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or 
total
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits 
that outweigh that harm or loss; 

or all of the following apply:

To ensure that the last paragraph within Policy 
LP22 regarding the justified loss of heritage 
assets is consistent with national policy.

P
age 174



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

53

ii) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all 
reasonable uses of the site; and

iii) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found 
in the medium term through appropriate marketing 
that will enable its conservation; and

iv) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for 
profit, charitable or public ownership is demonstrably 
not possible; and

v) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of 
bringing the site back into use.

The council will consider the use of measures including Article 4 
directions
and Local Development Orders where they are appropriate to 
ensure the
conservation and enhancement of heritage assets.

The council has a presumption in favour of retaining non- 
designated heritage assets on The Local List. Development that 
involves substantial harm or loss of a non-designated heritage 
asset will not be acceptable unless it can be demonstrated
that be assessed as part of a balanced judgment which 
considers whether:

i 
ii 
iii
iv 

Whether or not the asset is structurally unsound and poses a safety risk;
it is unviable to repair the viability of repairing or maintaining the asset;
whether or not alternative uses have been fully explored;
whether or not the proposal it would have wider social, economic or environmental 
benefits as part of a masterplanned regeneration scheme

Where a proposal that involves unavoidable harm or loss of a 
non-designated heritage asset on The Local List meets the 

P
age 175



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

54

criteria above, the council will seek a replacement development 
which is of an equivalent standard of design to the non-
designated heritage asset of a similar quality, and where 
possible retaining retains the features of the non-designated 
heritage asset.

In the exceptional circumstances where harm, loss or partial 
loss of designated or non-designated heritage asset Where the 
council is satisfied that the loss of heritage assets (both 
designated and non-designated) is considered to be justified, 
the council will require the developer to have the asset 
surveyed and recorded by a suitably qualified professional prior 
to the development commencing, and the records made 
publically available. in advance of any alterations, demolition 
or groundwork. The surveying and recording will be required 
to be carried out in a manner proportionate to the importance 
of the asset and the impact of the development. A report 
detailing the investigation should be made publicly available 
and deposited through Derbyshire’s Historic Environment 
Record. 

Travel and Transport

MM48 LP23 LP23 Influencing the Demand for Travel

To reduce congestion, improve environmental quality and 
encourage more active and healthy lifestyles, the Council will 
seek to maximise walking, cycling and the use of public 
transport through the location and design of development and 
parking provision. Priority will be given to measures to 
encourage more sustainable travel choices.

To secure this aim, the council will expect development 

To clarify application of the policy when 
determining planning applications

MIQ 7.22, 7.23, 
8.22
AP65
AP66
AP67

P
age 176



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

55

proposals to demonstrate the following (in order or priority) in 
order of priority:

a) site specific and area wide travel demand management 
(measures to reduce travel by private car and incentives to 
use walking, cycling and public transport for appropriate 
journeys, including intensive travel b) planning);
c) b) improvements to walking and cycling facilities and 
public transport services that are provided early in the build 
out period of new developments and that are sufficient to 
encourage sustainable modes of transport;
d) c) optimisation of the existing highway network to 
prioritise walking, cycling and public transport that are 
provided early in the build out period of new developments, 
such as measures to prioritise the needs of pedestrians 
above the car and improved or new cycle and bus lanes such 
as measures to prioritise the needs of pedestrians above 
the car and improved or new cycle and bus lanes,  
provided early in the build out period of new 
developments; and
d e) ) mitigation including highway capacity enhancements 
to deal with residual car demand where the initiatives 
required under points (a) to (c) above are insufficient to 
avoid significant impacts from the development on the 
transport network in terms of capacity and congestion 
additional car journeys."; and
e f)  [OPTION 1] Provision of opportunities for charging 
electric vehicles where appropriate. [OPTION 2] Provision of 
opportunities for charging electric vehicles where 
appropriate

The impacts of any remaining traffic growth expected, shall be 
mitigated through physical improvements to the highways 
network where necessary, to ensure that development has an 

Options presented in response to Inspectors’ 
requests for additional evidence on need and 
viability.

P
age 177



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

56

acceptable impact on the functioning and safety of the highway 
network.
Development proposals will not be permitted where they 
would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.

The level of vehicle and cycle parking provision appropriate to 
any individual proposal will take into account the circumstances 
of the particular scheme, including in particular:

i. The size of the any dwellings proposed.
ii. The type, mix and use of the development.
iii. The proximity of facilities such as schools, shops or 

employment.
iv. The availability of and capacity for safe on-street 

and public car parking in the area.
v. Proximity to and availability of public transport and 

other sustainable transport options.
vi. The likelihood that any existing on-street parking 

problems in terms of highway safety, congestion, 
pedestrian and cyclist accessibility and amenity 
will be made worse.

vii. Local car ownership levels

Cycle parking, where provided as part of new development, 
should be located to ensure safe, secure and convenient 
access, with weather protection where possible.  The council 
will prepare an SPD to provide further practical guidance on 
planning for walking and cycling within new development.  

[OPTION 1]
All residential proposals new dwellings with off-street parking 
provision dedicated to individual properties should include 

Options presented in response to Inspectors’ 
requests for additional evidence on need and 
viability.

P
age 178



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

57

provision for charging electric vehicles on each property. 
Residential and commercial proposals with shared provision for 
ten or more parking spaces should include spaces with charging 
provision where feasible practical. Provision should be made in 
accordance with the Electric Vehicle Charging Standards 
standard’s in Appendix C.

[OPTION 2]
All residential proposals with off-street parking provision 
dedicated to individual properties should include provision for 
charging electric vehicles on each property. Residential and 
commercial proposals with shared provision should include 
spaces with charging provision where practical.

Any necessary mitigation measures should be set out in 
development proposals, including within Transport Statements, 
Transport Assessments and Travel Plans where these are 
required, and secured through conditions and/or legal 
agreements.

Priority areas for combinations of sustainable transport 
measures and highways improvements will be:

• The A61 Corridor
• The A619 Chatsworth Road
• The A619 corridor through Brimington and Staveley
• Chesterfield Town Centre
• Access to Chesterfield Railway Station

For masterplanned or phased developments, provision for the 
monitoring of traffic impact and mitigation of identified 
problems will be made through the use of legal agreements.

P
age 179



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

58

Regeneration Priority Areas

MM49 Policy RP1 Regeneration Priority Areas

Within the RPA boundary as shown on the Policies Map, for 
major developments the Council will expect a masterplanned 
approach to deliver sustainable high-quality residential 
development, enhanced community facilities, respecting the 
constraints of the area and sensitive to the adjoining open 
countryside and existing residential communities.

Masterplans are expected to investigate the potential to, and 
support projects that, improve the quality of the area and the 
existing housing stock through refurbishment and/or 
redevelopment.

Within the RPA boundaries as shown on the policies map, the 
Council will grant planning permission for development which 
supports regeneration and where it would:

a) Extend the type, tenure and quality of housing; and
b) Deliver environmental and biodiversity benefits; and
c) Provide additional community facilities Support or enhance 
existing services and community facilities; and
d) Provide recruitment, training and procurement to benefit 
the local economy (via a Local Labour Agreement in line with 
PolicyLP7), with the priority being to maximise training and 
employment opportunities to for existing residents of the RPA 
within which the development is located, by entering into a 
Local Labour Agreement; and
e) Increase trees and tree groups to enhance landscape 
character; and
(f) Have an acceptable impact on the wider highway network 
(taking account of cumulative effects of other developments 
within the RPAs) and provide any necessary mitigation.

To ensure that the policy is clearly written, 
justified and appropriate.

MIQ 5.53, 5.55 
and 5.56

AP37
AP38
AP40

P
age 180



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

59

The level of housing growth for each RPA may be exceeded if 
the landscape, infrastructure and highways impacts (including 
cross-boundary impacts) are acceptable and if the additional 
growth is needed to secure regeneration benefits as 
demonstrated through a viability appraisal. 

Within the Barrow Hill Regeneration Priority Area, development 
is expected to: 

i. Deliver approximately a minimum of 35 50 new homes 
on site H20; and

ii. Conserve or enhance the character or setting of 
heritage assets Promote design that positively 
contributes to the surrounding area and conserves or 
enhances heritage assets including Barrow Hill 
Conservation Area; and

iii. Support the activities of Barrow Hill Roundhouse as a 
visitor attraction
and centre for employment; and

iv. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling 
connections to New Whittington, heritage assets at 
Chesterfield Canal, and the Staveley and Rother Valley 
Corridor.

Within the Duckmanton Regeneration Priority Area, 
development is expected to:

i. Deliver a minimum of approximately 310 400 new 
homes on sites H26 and H34; and

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access 
to job opportunities at Markham Vale; and

iii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling 
connections to Poolsbrook and Poolsbrook Country Park; 
and

iv. Promote building design that positively contributes to 

P
age 181



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

60

the surrounding area and conserves or enhances 
heritage assets including Poplar Farmhouse, 
Duckmanton Model Village and Long Duckmanton; and

v. Deliver highway and pedestrian improvements at Tom 
Lane and Duckmanton Road; and

vi. Provide a defined edge of development and a clear 
break to prevent coalescence with Long Duckmanton. 

Within the Holme Hall Regeneration Priority Area, development 
is expected to:

i. Deliver a minimum of approximately 300 new homes  
(as allocated on site XX in table XX) on site H33 in line 
with the adopted masterplan; and
Deliver a sustainable high quality residential 
development 
Support the existing services and community facilities 
on offer in and around the local service centre

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling 
connections to Linacre Road, Wardgate Way (Local 
Service Centre) and the Holmebrook Valley Park and 
Trail; and

iii. Provide an appropriate buffer and boundary treatment 
to minimise and mitigate any adverse impacts upon the 
Ashgate Plantation Local Wildlife Site.

Within the Mastin Moor Regeneration Priority Area, 
development is expected to:

i. [OPTION 1] Deliver a minimum of42400 new homes on 
sites H1, H6 and H35; and

i. [OPTION 2] Deliver up to 670 new homes on sites H1, 
H6 and H35; and

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access 
to job opportunities at Markham Vale, the community 
garden and Norbriggs and Woodthorpe Primary 

P
age 182



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

61

Schools; and
iii. Provide a new Local Centre with additional community 

facilities and the opportunity for provision of health 
facilities; and

iv. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling 
connections to the surrounding rights of way network, 
including connections to The Cuckoo Way and 
Chesterfield Canal; and

v. Promote design that positively contributes to the 
surrounding area, responding to and reflecting local 
conserves or enhances heritage assets in the design 
and location of new buildings where relevant, including 
the historic former pumping engine and tramway; and

vi. Deliver a new and/or improved pedestrian and cycle 
crossing over the A619; and

vii. Protect and enhance the setting of and access to the 
community garden; and

viii. Minimise visual impact on the ridgelines along Worksop 
Road and Woodthorpe Road; and

ix. Provide a defined edge of development and a clear 
break to prevent continued coalescence and extension 
of ribbon development along Worksop Road; and

x. Maintaining the distinct identities and settings of 
Mastin Moor and Woodthorpe through the use of 
landscaping and open space.

Within the Poolsbrook Regeneration Priority Area, development 
is expected to:

i. Deliver 100 a minimum of approximately 175 new 
homes on site H31; and

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access 
to job opportunities at Markham Vale; and

iii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling 
connections to the surrounding rights of way network, 

P
age 183



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

62

including connections to Duckmanton and Poolsbrook 
Country Park; and

iv. Conserve or enhance the heritage assets Promote 
design that positively contribute to the surrounding 
area and conserves or enhances heritage assets 
including the surviving buildings of the Model Village 
and their setting.

Strategic Sites and Locations

MM50 Paragraph 
11.4

11.4. In 2015, the borough council approved an updated Town 
Centre Masterplan for Chesterfield. Whilst not having formal 
status as a Development Plan Document or SPD, the 
masterplan The masterplan sets out a long-term vision for 
Chesterfield Town Centre and is a material consideration in 
determining planning applications within the town centre.  
The masterplans vision is for the town centre to be:

To clarify the status of the Town Centre 
Masterplan

AP47

MM50 Following 
paragraph 
11.6

Insert plan showing location of Town Centre Masterplan 
Character Areas including Spire Nighbourhood.
See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 
Modifications) for the proposed modification.

To clarify the location of the Spire 
Neighbourhood

AP44

MM51 Paragraph 
11.7 & 11.8

11.7 As a result of changes to the retail market generally and 
the large foodstore sector in particular, the council has chosen 
not to progress the retail led scheme previously proposed by 
Wilson Bowden within the Northern Gateway areathe 
development of the previously proposed Northern Gateway 
scheme (which was to have been a foodstore and retail led, 
mixed use extension of Chesterfield Town Centre) at this time. 
However The Northern Gateway has instead been progressed 
through the council has invested in replacing the aging 
Saltergate Multi Storey Car Park (currently under construction) 
and is committed to building a new enterprise centre at 
Holywell Cross (construction of which is expected to start in 

To clarify the status of the Northern Gateway 
Scheme

MIQ 5.14
AP46

P
age 184



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

63

early 2020. The site still presents the key opportunity for any 
further physical expansion of the retail offer of Chesterfield 
Town Centre.

11.8. In bringing these sites forwards for development the 
council will use a combination of masterplans, site-specific 
planning briefs, SPD’s and Outline Planning Applications, with 
reference to other relevant policies of the Plan including 
CS15LP9, CS16LP2 and CS19LP22.

MM52 Policy SS1 SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre

Subject to policy LP9 other relevant policies of the plan, the 
council will support planning applications that planning 
permission will be granted for development that contributes 
towards:

a) Protecting and enhancing the centre’s sub-regional and 
local role in providing housing, employment, services, 
leisure, cultural venues and retail

b) Supporting the objectives of Chesterfield town centre 
masterplan

c) Economic development and community safety by 
providing a diverse range of uses including retail, office, 
community facilities, leisure and food and drink uses

d) Conserving and enhancing the historic character of the 
centre and the role of the Historic Market and Market 
Hall

e) Improving accessibility between the centre and 
surrounding areas, including Chesterfield Railway 
Station, Waterside, Queen’s Park, Chesterfield College 
and Ravenside Retail park

f) Enhancing walking, cycling and public transport 
provision

g) Maintaining the overall level of provision of public car 

To align wording with other policies in regard to 
applying to planning applications.

To clarify the approach to archaeological 
investigation within the Town Centre 
Archaeological alert area.

To bring into line with the wording of the NPPF 
relating to primary and secondary frontages.

To clarify the location of the Spire 
Neighbourhood.

To clarify the approach to assessing the loss of 
car parking within the Spire Neighbourhood.

MIQ 5.10, 5.11, 
5.13

AP44
AP45
AP46
AP47
AP50

P
age 185



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

64

parking; new off
street car parking will usually only be permitted when 
justified through a
transport assessment or travel plan

h) Reducing through traffic
i) Enhancing the range and quality of residential uses 

within Chesterfield
town centre

j) Undertaking appropriate assessment, evaluation and, 
if necessary, recording of archaeological remains 
within the Town Centre Historic Core (as set out on 
the policies map).

Outside of the Town Centre Primary and Secondary Shopping 
Areas, District and Local Centre areas as shown on the policies 
map and set out in policy LP9, planning permission will not 
normally be granted for new retail uses (A1) other than small 
shops as set out in policy LP10. Planning permission will 
normally be granted for other main town centre uses, including 
B1(a) offices, health and education uses subject to the other 
policies of this plan.

Northern Gateway

Land between Newbold Road/Holywell Street and Saltergate, as 
shown on the policies map, will be safeguarded for the future 
expansion of Chesterfield Town Centre.

Within this area, planning permission will only be granted for 
proposals that enhance and support the centre’s sub regional 
role in providing housing, employment, services, leisure and 
retail and where they can demonstrate that they would not 
prejudice the future development of the site.

P
age 186



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

65

Spire Neighbourhood

Planning permission will be granted Proposals will be 
supported for new residential development on land to the east 
of between St Mary’s Gate and to the west of the A61 and to 
the north of Holywell Street and south of Brewery Street, 
subject to other relevant policies of the plan. Where 
development within this area results in the loss of public car 
parking, the effect of this on the viability of Chesterfield Town 
Centre should be assessed, and if necessary compensatory 
parking provided elsewhere within or closely related to 
Chesterfield Town Centre.

MM53 Policy SS2 SS2 CHATSWORTH ROAD CORRIDOR

Development proposals will be support where they Planning 
permission will only be granted for development that 
contributes towards:

a) The vitality and viability of Chatsworth Road district centre
b) Improving the West Bars gateway to Chesterfield town 
centre.
c) Strengthening the links between the land south of 
Chatsworth Road with the Chatsworth Road district centre and 
surrounding communities.
d) Providing a new variety of uses that will create a mixed, 
sustainable community.
e) The improvement of identified transport and highway issues.
f) The enhancement of walking, cycling and public transport 
provision

Within the defined district centre, proposals for development 

To align wording with other policies in regard to 
applying to planning applications.

Cross reference to policy LP7 added.

AP55

P
age 187



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

66

will be considered in accordance with policy LP9. Outside the 
district centre development will be focussed on new housing 
and compatible uses. 

Within the regeneration area south of Chatsworth Road a 
comprehensive scheme providing a mix of uses will be 
permitted supported in accordance with the adopted 
masterplan, including: employment generating uses on land at 
the former Boythorpe Works (in accordance with policy LP7), 
open space and housing. The sites of Walton Works (including 
the re-use of the Grade II* listed building) and Griffin 
Mill/Wheatbridge Mill shall be for housing-led mixed use 
development. Development proposals for the Griffin Mill and 
Wheatbridge Mills area should include the re-use of the Grade 
II listed Cannon Mill. To ensure that development within the 
regeneration area south of Chatsworth Road provides a mixed, 
integrated, sustainable community within the Chatsworth Road 
Corridor, developments must demonstrate that they have:

i. Taken a comprehensive approach to flood risk management;
ii. Incorporated the Hipper Valley walking and cycle route and 
improved north-south walking and cycling links;
iii. Integrated the site into a network of green spaces, such as 
Walton Dam, Somersall Park and the Walton river corridor 
green wedge, connected by the River Hipper and footpaths and 
cycleways
iv. Considered the impact upon heritage assets and their setting 
and identified any means of mitigation and/or enhancement 
through submission of a Heritage Impact Assessment.

Proposals for development should demonstrate how they 
accord with the adopted masterplan through site-specific 
masterplans and/or development briefs.

P
age 188



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

67

MM54 Policy SS3 SS3 Chesterfield Waterside and the Potteries

Within the Chesterfield Waterside area as set out on the 
policies map, the council will support development proposals 
planning permission will only be granted for development that 
contributes towards:

a) Creating jobs in office, industry, retail, tourism and 
education

b) Restoring Chesterfield Canal and the River Rother to 
navigation and creating a new canal terminus

c) Achieving a mix of uses including residential (up to 
1550 new homes), office (up to 30,000 sqm), 
employment, and leisure, health and fitness, hotels, 
creche, doctor’s surgery and nursing home

d) Improving access to the site including enhancing the 
footpath and cycle network through the site and 
making links to the wider Trans Pennine Trail and 
Chesterfield Railway Station

e) A high quality urban environment including eco-park 
and green infrastructure corridor 

f) Managing flood risk

Land within the Chesterfield Waterside area will be 
comprehensively redeveloped in accordance with an approved 
masterplan, including provision of a new Local Centre located 
adjacent to the existing canal basin.

Planning applications submitted for development outside of the 
existing outline planning permission, but which otherwise 
deliver the objectives of the approved masterplan, will be 
expected to contribute towards the overall delivery of the 
infrastructure required for comprehensive development, 
secured through a section 106 agreement.

To enhance the accuracy of the policy to refer 
to the amount of development and also uses 
permitted on the site under section c) of policy 
SS3 as requested in representation 63 (1-5 SLP).

MIQ 5.21
63 (1-5 SLP)
AP43

P
age 189



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

68

MM55 Policy SS5 SS5 Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor

The Borough Council will support the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor to 
create a sustainable urban extension in a landscape setting 
through a masterplanned approach.  

The overall objectives of the masterplan will be to:

a) Deliver approximately 1500 new dwellings through a range 
of new housing opportunities focussed on the centre and 
western end of the corridor

b) Create employment opportunities focussed on the Hall 
Lane end of the corridor and around Works Road

c) Deliver the section of the Chesterfield to Staveley 
Regeneration Route between Bilby Lane and Hall lane, 
connected to the route safeguarded under policy LP24 and 
the existing Staveley Northern Loop Road Phase 1

d) Accommodate an Infrastructure Maintenance Dept to 
serve the eastern leg of HS2

e) Provide a new local centre to serve both the development 
itself and adjacent communities of Barrow Hill and 
Hollingwood

f) Make provision for a new primary school to serve the 
development

g) Develop a sustainable community including on-site energy 
generation where possible and practicable

h) Enhance the quality of and access to the landscape and 
green infrastructure, particularly the Chesterfield Canal 
and River Rother waterways

i) Deliver access and transport improvements, emphasising 
sustainable transport 

j) Improve water management on site, including new 

To clarify the approach to assessing traffic 
impact in determining planning applications 
and to clarify the criteria are not exhaustive.

AP52

P
age 190



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

69

wetland habitat associated with the River Rother
k) Provide for the remediation and re-use of contaminated 

and unstable land where possible and practicable
l) Conserve and enhance the quality of the historic 

environment, taking account of designated and non-
designated heritage assets and their setting, within and 
closely related to the site

m) Secure a structured approach to delivery of infrastructure 
to ensure it is delivered in a timely fashion to support new 
residential and employment communities and limit the 
need to travel off-site to access services

n) Establish a network of open mosaic grassland habitats 
through the site to maintain and enhance brownfield 
biodiversity

Development proposals for individual land parcels/phases must 
be brought forward as part of a comprehensive masterplan for 
the area and must demonstrate how they will deliver these 
objectives where appropriate.

Planning applications for development within this area will be 
expected to demonstrate how they have addressed these 
objectives.

Planning applications submitted for specific character areas 
and/or phases of development will be expected to contribute 
appropriately towards the overall delivery of the infrastructure 
required for comprehensive development, secured through a 
section 106 agreement.

Planning applications specifically for the Works Road and 
Lagoon Character Areas will be expected to include information 
demonstrating:

P
age 191



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

70

i. A joint masterplan as part of a Design and Access 
Statement and evidence of how the application addresses 
this masterplan and the delivery of critical infrastructure; 
and

ii. A Transport Assessment based on modelling of the overall 
impact of development and a Travel Plan setting out how 
the impact of the specific planning application traffic 
associated with the proposed development will be 
managed; and

iii. A phasing plan setting out the approach to delivery of 
critical infrastructure, including transport and community 
infrastructure

WORKS ROAD CHARACTER AREA 

Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use 
development incorporating including:

• A new Local Centre on Works Road (use classes A1 to A5 
and other Main Town Centre uses, to include a single 
foodstore of no more than 1000 sqm), 

• Residential (C3) 
• Up to 10 ha of employment space (B1, including B1(a) 

offices) 
• Canal-related commercial activity including food and drink 

uses (A3 and A4) and employment (B1), including provision 
for moorings, in the location of the former canal wharf to 
the east of Hollingwood Lock

• Retention of the Clocktower building 
• A site for a new Primary School 
• Flood mitigation measures for the River Rother/Works 

Road bridge

THE LAGOON CHARACTER AREA 

P
age 192



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

71

Planning permission will be granted for a residential led 
development incorporating including:

• Residential (C3) 
• Retail (A1) to serve day to day needs, with no single unit to 

exceed 280 sqm net sales area 
• Extension of the Bluebank Pools Local Nature Reserve (to 

the west of Bilby Lane within the land allocated on the 
Policies Map)

• Restoration of the former settling pond as public open 
space 

• An enhanced landscape buffer between the site and 
Chesterfield Canal

HALL LANE CHARACTER AREA – KEY OBJECTIVES 

Planning permission will be granted for an employment led 
development incorporating including:

• Proposals for the HS2 IMD
• Development of Approximately 30ha of Employment 

generating development within use classes B1, B2 and B8 
or, subject to HS2 finalising the extent of the proposed 
IMD.  Within this identified area, land safeguarded for 
the proposed HS2 IMD as it is likely to extend beyond the 
plan period and subject to decisions on the final form of 
the IMD.

• Housing (C3) led development for western end of the 
Character Area and ancillary uses where it is well-related 
to the existing settlement of Barrow Hill and Works Road 

• The improvement of walking and cycling connections 
between Barrow Hill and Staveley Town Centre

• New wetland habitat in the south of the character area 

P
age 193



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

72

associated with the River Rother

MM56 Most up to date plan awaited from Chatsworth Settlement 
Trustees

MM57 Policy SS6 SS6 Land at Dunston

Planning permission will be granted for residential development 
for approximately 800 500 dwellings on land north of Dunston 
and south east of Dunston Road as allocated on the policies 
map and as set out in table 4 (Site reference SS6).

Development should be carried out in accordance with a 
masterplan to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to development that demonstrates:

i. Acceptable Aaccess arrangements from Dunston Road 
and Dunston Lane 

ii. Appropriate provision Proposals for walking and cycling 
provision within the site

iii. Appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an 
acceptable impact on the highway network for all 
users

iv. Appropriate mitigation to minimise any adverse 
impacts on nearby heritage assets and their settings 

v. Provision of a new local centre to serve development
vi. Provision of a site reserved for a new one form entry 

primary school (to be retained until such time as 
required or evidence can be provided of a lack of
need)

vii. A scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, 
open space, play and sports provision including re-
instatement of the former cricket pitch, and early 
implementation of a landscaping and planting scheme 
along Dunston Road

To ensure that the policy is effective and clear. 

For clarity, reflecting the phase that is under 
construction, and to be in line with table 4.

MIQ 5.40, 5.41, 
5.42

P
age 194



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

73

viii. A phasing plan for development phases and the 
provision of infrastructure

MM58 Paragraphs 
11.32 and 
1.36-11.37

11.32. Chesterfield Railway Station is the first point of arrival or 
last point of departure for approximately 1.78 million 
passengers16., with usage growing by 3 - 5% per year. Over a 
million people live within a half hours drive time of the Station
(AECOM research 2017). Currently three Train Operating 
Companies (East Midlands Trains, Northern Trains and the Cross 
Country franchise) call at the Station and it is the 6th busiest 
station in the East Midlands, with direct services available to 
London, Birmingham, Liverpool, the West Country and
the North East and Scotland. The announcement in July 2017 
that HS2 services to Sheffield will stop at the station when they 
commence in 2033 (subsequently revised as from 2035) 
creates the potential for further growth in services and 
investment.

11.36. SCR has provided funding for further research and 
development of the Master Plan and its refinement, currently 
being prepared by Cushman & Wakefield, Arup and Whittham 
Cox Architects This strategy should be in place by early
2019. Consultation on the masterplan for the railway station 
area is expected to be undertaken in early 2020.  This is likely 
to take the form of an overall concept masterplan and a more 
focused planning framework identifying  appropriate uses, 
amounts of development and infrastructure requirements.  
Funding for the Hollis Lane Link Road is to be has been set aside 
as part of the wider LGF funded A61 Corridor Project and a 
planning application for the first phase of the road has been 
submitted.

11.37. Key assets in the Station Master Plan area require 
Safeguarding. A new road alignment joining Crow Lane and 

To account for the revised HS2 timetable and 
provide clarity on the status and preparation of 
the Station Masterplan.

To provide cross reference to other Local Plan 
policies safeguarding key infrastructure.

AP48

P
age 195



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

74

Hollis Lane will improve access to the station from the south 
(and reduce traffic through Chesterfield Town Centre,
see policy policies SS1 and LP24). There is also a need to ensure 
adequate land is safeguarded to allow for the development of 
an improved pedestrian bridge over the A61 to Corporation 
Street. The bridge would ideally be a statement piece of
architecture and has been termed “Platform 4”: arrival to the 
Town Centre. Land has been also identified for and improved 
station forecourt, Multi-story car parks (to release development 
land), bus, taxi and cycling use, limited leisure and retail use, 
connected to station users and an area of public realm.

MM59 Policy SS7 SS7 Chesterfield Railway Station

Within land between Hollis Lane and Crow Lane, as shown on 
the policies map, the council will prepare an approved 
masterplan/development framework to maximise the 
regeneration benefits of future HS2 services and conventional
rail services utilising the station. Within this area, and in 
accordance with the approved masterplan, the council will 
support development based on the extent to which it that 
delivers for:

a) Improved access to Chesterfield Railway Station by all 
modes of transport including improved forecourt 
arrangements;

b) Modernisation of Station facilities and electrification of 
the Midland Main Line though it;

c) A new link road between Hollis Lane and Crow Lane and 
related road alignments;

d) Improvements to the A61 Corporation Street 
footbridge, including its replacement with a new bridge;

e) mixed use development to include residential dwellings 
(C3), commercial office space (B1), car parking;

To improve clarity and effectiveness of the 
policy.

To clarify the approach to archaeological 
investigation.

To add reference to inclusive access to the 
station.

AP48
AP49
AP51

P
age 196



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

75

f) limited retail and leisure uses (A1 to A5 and D1 and D2) 
in association with the Station;

g) Pedestrian and cycle links to Chesterfield Waterside, 
Chesterfield Town
Centre and the;

h) Essential infrastructure required to deliver the 
improvements set out in
the approved masterplan.

i) Appropriate assessment, evaluation and, if necessary, 
recording of archaeological remains

j) Improved inclusive accessibility to Chesterfield 
Railway Station and within the 
masterplan/development framework area.

Planning Permission will not be granted for development that 
would prevent the delivery of the above improvements.

MM60 Policy SS8 SS8 Neighbourhood Plans

Where the views of a community are expressed in a 
Neighbourhood Plan they will be taken into account in the 
planning system provided that the plan:

 has been endorsed adopted by Chesterfield Borough 
Council; and

 is in conformity with the strategic policies of the Local 
Plan; and

 can be regularly updated if necessary

To improve clarity and effectiveness of the 
policy.

MIQ 1.4

MM61 Paragraph 
11.15

Outline planning permission was granted in 2011 for the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the Chesterfield 
Waterside area for:
• Up to 1550 new dwellings (C3);
• Up to 30,000sqm of new office space (B1(a));

Removing reference to the canal link in line 
with CHE/18/00626/REM1.

MIQ 5.21

P
age 197



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

76

• Retail, financial and professional services, and food and 
drink uses (A1 to A5);
• Doctors surgery and crèche (D1); two hotels (C1); health 
and fitness (D2); nursing home (C2);;
• A new canal link and basin, and open space including 
linear and eco parks;
• Two multi-storey car parks
• A section 106 agreement covering community 
infrastructure, open space, public art, community safety, 
affordable housing, and an extensive travel plan.

MM62 Master Plan 
Diagram, p. 
98

Deletion of master plan diagram on page 98 Chesterfield 
Waterside Illustrative Masterplan and replace with most recent 
illustrative master plan. See Associated Figures, Tables and 
Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

It would be appropriate to replace the 
Illustrative Masterplan on page 98 of the Plan 
with the most recent masterplan (CWD-BBA-Z0-
ZZ-DR-A-01005-P02) which has been updated 
following the approval of CHE/18/00626/REM1 
which sought to vary conditions to omit the 
canal arm. This will ensure that the plan 
contains the most accurate and up to date 
Illustrative Masterplan possible.

MIQ 5.21

Appendices

MM63 Appendix A: 
Infrastructur
e Delivery 
Plan

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

To ensure that the Plan presents the latest 
evidence of the costs and timescales for 
infrastructure delivery

MIQ 8.8

MM64 Appendix ‘X’’ 
Superseded 
development 
plan policies

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

To make the Plan clear on which policies would 
be superseded.

MIQ 1.2

AP3

P
age 198



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

77

MM65 Appendix B – 
Open Space 
Standards, 
Quantitative 
Standards

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

To bring the Local Plan up to date with current 
evidence published after the Plan was 
submitted for examination and also to improve 
clarity.

MIQ 7.30

Monitoring Framework

MM66 Monitoring 
framework

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

AP7
AP17
AP27
AP41
AP82

MM67 Monitoring 
framework

Housing Trajectory 
See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

AP42

MM68 Monitoring 
framework

Employment Trajectory
See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 
modification.

AP27

P
age 199



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

78

Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications)

P
age 200



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

79

MM? – REVISED CONTENTS PAGE

Introduction 

1. Vision and Strategic Objectives 

VISION 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

2. Spatial Strategy 

SPATIAL STRATEGY 
LP1 Spatial Strategy (Strategic Policy)

PRINCIPLES FOR LOCATION OF DEVELOPMENT 
LP2 Principles for Location of Development (Strategic Policy)

PRESUMPTION IN FAVOUR OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
LP3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

3. Homes and Housing 

FLEXIBILITY IN DELIVERY OF HOUSING 
LP4 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing (Strategic Policy)

HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 
RANGE OF HOUSING 
LP5 Range of Housing

TRAVELLERS 
LP6 Sites for Travellers 

P
age 201



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

80

4. Jobs, Centres and Facilities 

GROWTH OF BUSINESSES 
LP7 Economic Growth (Strategic Policy)

TOURISM AND THE VISITOR ECONOMY 
LP8 Tourism and the Visitor Economy 

VITALITY AND VIABILITY OF CENTRES 
Retail Floorspace Needs 
LP9 Vitality and Viability of Centres (Strategic Policy)
LP10 Retail 

SOCIAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
LP11 Social Infrastructure 
5. Infrastructure Delivery 

LP12 Infrastructure Delivery 

RENEWABLE ENERGY 
LP13 Renewable Energy 

SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT OF THE WATER CYCLE 
LP14 Managing the Water Cycle 

7. Environmental Quality 

A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT 
LP15 A Healthy Environment 

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE, BIODIVERSITY and GEODIVERSITY 
LP16 Green Infrastructure 

P
age 202



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

81

LP17 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network 

OPEN SPACES, PLAY PROVISION AND OUTDOOR SPORTS FACILITIES 
LP18 Open Space, Play Provision, Sports Facilities and Allotments 

CHESTERFIELD CANAL 
LP19 Chesterfield Canal 

RIVER CORRIDORS 
LP20 River Corridors 

8. Design and the Built Environment 

DESIGN 
LP21 Design 

HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
LP22 Historic Environment 

9. Travel and Transport 

INFLUENCING THE DEMAND FOR TRAVEL 
LP23 Influencing the Demand for Travel 

MAJOR TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE 
LP24 Major Transport Infrastructure 

10. Regeneration Priority Areas 

RP1 Regeneration Priority Areas (Strategic Policy)
11. Strategic Sites & Locations 

P
age 203



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

82

CHESTERFIELD TOWN CENTRE 
SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre (Strategic Policy)

CHATSWORTH ROAD CORRIDOR 
SS2 – Chatsworth Road Corridor (Strategic Policy)

CHESTERFIELD WATERSIDE AND THE POTTERIES 
SS3 Chesterfield Waterside and the Potteries (Strategic Policy)

MARKHAM VALE 
SS4 Markham Vale (Strategic Policy)

STAVELEY AND ROTHER VALLEY CORRIDOR 
SS5 Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor (Strategic Policy)

LAND NORTH OF DUNSTON 
SS6 Land at Dunston (Strategic Policy)

CHESTERFIELD RAILWAY STATION AND STATION ARRIVAL 
SS7 – CHESTERFIELD RAILWAY (Strategic Policy)

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS 
SS8 Neighbourhood Plans 

P
age 204



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

83

MM2 – KEY DIAGRAM

P
age 205



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

84

MM9 - TABLE 2 EMPLOYMENT LAND REQUIREMENT

Table 2: Employment Land Requirement

B1 5.9 ha

B2 23.8 ha

B8 19.9 ha

Employment Land Requirement (2018-20332035) 44 50 ha

P
age 206



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

85

MM15 – TABLE 3 SOURCES OF HOUSING SUPPLY 2018-2035

Source of Supply

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

2027/28

2028/29

2029/30

2030/31

2031/32

2032/33

2033/34

2034/35
Sum of 
Total

Allocation (see Table 4) 0 15 45 58 224 219 282 310 288 300 245 215 50 0 0 0 0 2251
Large Permission 63 114 129 95 32 25 30 30 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 536
Small Allocation 0 4 41 12 70 79 52 62 16 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 338
Small Permission 71 91 142 76 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 402
SS1 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 30 30 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100
SS3 0 0 50 207 207 37 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 59 50 50 1100
SS5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 150
SS6 21 79 50 50 75 74 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 799
Actual / Anticipated Net 
Completions (sites of 4 
dwellings or less)

57 36 96 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 189

10% Lapse Rate (Discount 
on Commitments) 0 -24 -37 -17 -5 -3 -3 -3 -2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -94

Windfall Allowance 0 0 0 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 476

Total 212 315 516 515 659 466 515 568 489 466 384 354 189 139 193 134 134 6247

P
age 207



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

86

MM16 -  HOUSING TRAJECTORY GRAPH

Co
m

pl
et

ed

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2018
/19

2019
/20

2020
/21

2021
/22

2022
/23

2023
/24

2024
/25

2025
/26

2026
/27

2027
/28

2028
/29

2029
/30

2030
/31

2031
/32

2032
/33

2033
/34

2034
/35

Trajectory 212 315 516 515 659 466 338 478 542 473 461 369 304 139 193 134 134
LHN with Shortfall 240 245 245 245 245 246 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240
LHN with Buffer 240 294 294 294 294 295 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240

Anticipated Housing Delivery over Plan Period
N

um
be

r o
f D

w
el

lin
gs

P
age 208



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

87

MM18 – TABLE 4 HOUSING ALLOCATIONS

Reference Site Name Address Anticipated 
Capacity

Capacity included 
within LP 
Trajectory

Site Size 
(ha)

Related 
Policy

Reasons for Modifications – TO BE 
REMOVED

H2 Catherine Street Garages Court, Catherine 
Street, Bank Street, Chesterfield

10 12 12 0.25 7 LP4 Amended capacity as permission 
approved for CHE/19/00341/FUL - 
granted Sep 19

H3 Manor House Farm, 118 The Green, Hasland 10 0.40 Site removed
H4 Heaton Court (Former), Meynell Close, 

Chesterfield Brampton
12 10 10 0.34 LP4 Amended capacity as permission 

approved for CHE/18/00694/FUL – 
granted Jan 19

H5 Pondhouse Farm, Troughbrook Road, 
Hollingwood

12 23 23 1.0610 LP4 Change in site size and capacity to 
reflect outline application 
(following proposed modification to 
SG2).

H7 Land off Hollythorpe Close (Land off), Hasland 14 14 0.554 LP4
H8 Land North of Chesterfield Road (Land North 

of), Staveley
14 14 0.320 LP4

H9 Former White Bank Sports Centre White Bank 
Close (Land at), Hasland

15 9 9 0.56 LP4 Amended capacity as permission 
approved for CHE/19/00156/FUL - 
granted June 2019.

H10 Derwent House HOP, Ulverston Road, 
Chesterfield, Newbold

17 17 0.587 LP4

H11 Sycamore Road (Land at), Hollingwood 
,Brimington

18 18 0.720 LP4

H12 Ashbrooke Centre (Former), Cuttholme Road, 
Chesterfield Loundsley Green

20 20 0.698 LP4

H13 Elm Street (Land at), Hollingwood ,Brimington 23 23 0.71 LP4
H14 Swaddale Avenue (Land to the West of), Tapton 25 21 21 0.88 LP4 The LAA was updated to a figure of 

21 dwellings is based on an 
indicative site layout drawing 

P
age 209



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

88

(associated with 
CHE/16/00092/OUT) which 
demonstrates a potential 
engineering solution to the site-
specific constraints. Outline lapsed.

H15 Goldwell Rooms (Former) and 6 Ashgate Road, 
Chesterfield**

25 70 70 0.6254 LP4 CHE/19/00385/FUL awaiting 
decision (erection of a 71 bed care 
home). Also adjacent to the 71 care 
home proposal site an extant 
permission (CHE/18/605/FUL) for 
18 bedroom care home and 15 
apartments for assisted living. 
Calculation for capacity and 
trajectory see** - granted 
December 18 and November 2019 

H16 Red House HOP and Spire Lodge, Sheffield 
Road, Chesterfield, S41 7JH 

25 25 0.9284 LP4

H17 Poultry Farm (Former), Manor Road, Brimington 27 26 26 0.8887 LP4 The capacity has been updated in 
line with CHE/18/00436/REM (26 
dwellings). – granted November 18, 
commenced on site.

H18 Commerce Centre, Canal Wharf, Chesterfield, 
Derbyshire, S41 7NA

30 0.72 Permission started on site, remove 
as allocation.

H19 Ash Glen Nursery (Former), Sheffield Road, 
Unstone

30 30 1.1320 LP4

H21 Staveley Canal Basin, Eckington Road, Staveley 36 90 90 3.222.99 LP19 Owners suggested higher density 
through site statement.

H22 Listers Car Sales (Former) Sheffield Road, 
Unstone

38 1.40 To be removed as allocation (no 
longer available).

H23 Allen and Orr Timber Yard, Saltergate, 
Chesterfield

40 39 39 0.86 LP4 Amended owing to data entry error

H24 Barker Lane (GK Group Premises) 40 1.10
H25 Boat Sales (Former), Sheffield Road, Unstone 50 48 50 48 1.29 LP4 Amended owing to receipt of a 

reserved matters application for 

P
age 210



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

89

CHE/19/00532/REM – still awaiting 
decision. Outline decided Oct 2017.

H27 Walton Hospital (Land at), Harehill Road, 
Walton

60 60 1.5049 LP4 Pre-app layout for 49 received

H28 Walton Hospital (Land at), Whitecotes Lane, 
Chesterfield, Walton

90 90 2.28 
3.14

LP4 Pre-app layout for 102 received

H29 Dunston Road (Land off), Cammac Site, 146 4.49
H32 Bent Lane, Staveley 140 140 7.266.29 LP4 Site area changed and potential 

housing capacity updated on basis 
of flood risk. Areas in Food Risk 
Zones 2 & 3 and areas of high 
surface water flood risk have been 
removed on basis of Environment 
Agency comments.

H36 Land at Inkersall Road (Land at), Inkersall 400 400 22.78 LP4 The total site area is 22.78 Ha on 
the policies map which reflects a 
planning permission for a wider site 
area than the component LAA sites 
(401 & 30). The capacity of both 
LAA sites is 400.

 TOTALS 1377 1201 1377 1201

Regeneration Priority Area Sites:

H1 Edale Road Garage Court, Mastin Moor 6 6 0.20 RP1
H6 Miller Avenue, Mastin Moor 14 14 0.41 1.5 RP1 0.41 Ha is the correct site size (as 

calculated from the Policies Map 
polygon).

H20 Land at Duewell Court (Land at), Station Road, 
Barrow Hill

35 35 1.4318 RP1

H26 Land adjacent Rectory Road (Land adjacent), 
Duckmanton 

33 33 2.032 RP1 The capacity has been updated in 
line with CHE/18/00768/REM (33 
dwellings).

P
age 211



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

90

H31 Varley Park, Staveley Road, Poolsbrook 175 175 56.16 RP1 The site area of the allocation has 
been updated to reflect the site’s 
planning permission.

H33 Linacre Road, Holme Hall 300 300 14.85 RP1
H34 Land South of Tom Lane (Land South of), West 

of Rectory Road, Duckmanton
400 275 275 23.39 

39.39
RP1 Change in capacity made to reflect 

the recent landscape and urban 
design input.

H35 Land South of Worksop Road and East and West 
of Bolsover Road, Mastin Moor

400 [OPTION 1] 400
[OPTION 2] 650

46.15 RP1 The site area in the allocation table 
has been changed to reflect all of 
the constituent parts of H35. 

 TOTALS 1238 [OPTION 1] 1238
[OPTION 2] 1488

  

Strategic Sites and Locations with Housing:

SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre / Spire 
Neighbourhood, Chesterfield

100 100 8.62 SS1

H30 Walton Works (Former), Factory Street, 
Brampton

150 150 3.60 SS2

SS3 Chesterfield Waterside, Brimington Road, 
Chesterfield

1000 1550 1100 23.17 SS3 The LAA summary is reflective of 
the outline planning permission 
(CHE/09/00662/OUT). The capacity 
has been updated according to the 
permission.  It has now been 
recorded that 1050 dwellings are 
expected to come forward within 
the plan period (as per the 
developer forecast).

SS5 Staveley Works, Staveley 150 1499 150 187.49 SS5 The total capacity for the site (as 
shown in the LAA summaries) is 
1,499 which is based on landowner 
assessment. The trajectory shows 
an anticipated 150 dwellings 
coming forward within the last 

P
age 212



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

91

three years of the plan period 
(2032-2035), whereas a figure of 
150 has been used in Table 4. The 
area of the entire strategic sites is 
187.49 Ha as shown on the Policies 
Map. 

SS6 Land South of Dunston Lane Road, Dunston* 500 799 799 43.6 SS6 Policy SS6 specifies that 
approximately 800 dwellings are 
expected to come forward from the 
whole strategic site. Table 4 now 
combines the permissioned and 
allocated areas to ensure 
consistency with the housing 
trajectory. 

 TOTALS 4098 2299   
 Overall Housing Totals 6537 [OPTION 1]4738

[OPTION 2] 4988
  

* Includes area of 15.81 Ha (299 dwellings) with reserved matters permission at the point of plan submission (June 2018).

** To calculate the likely contribution towards housing delivery from a C2 use on the site the Council has followed the advice in paragraph 035 
Reference ID: 68-035-20190722 in the NPPG. In doing so the calculation has been made using the method set out in paragraph ID: 63-016a-20190626 of 
the NPPF i.e. the average number of adults living in households (source: CT0774_2011 Census - Age of Household Reference Person (HRP) by number 
of adults in household - national to local authority level).

P
age 213



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

92

MM28 – TABLE 9 EMPLOYMENT LAND SUPPLY

Table 9: Employment Land Supply

Land Developed within Plan Period 

Land Developed within 2018/19 monitoring year 3.4 ha

Commitments

Land with planning permission (31/3/1819) (excluding 
Markham Vale)

21.0916.0 ha

Markham Vale 5.2 ha

Waterside -2.0 ha

Total 24.319.2 ha

Sites without Planning Permission

Whitting Valley Road 3.7 ha

Station Road (Wagon Works) 6.3 ha

Former GKN works, Sheepbridge Lane 3.6 ha

Impala Estates (land adjacent Markham Vale) 2.6 ha

Former Bpoythorpe Works, Goyt Side Road 5.0 ha

Prospect Park (Land at), Dunston 2.5 ha

Staveley Works Corridor 2.0 ha

HS2 IMD* 4.0 ha

Total 27.33 29.7 ha

Total Supply within Plan Period 51.6352.3 ha

P
age 214



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

93

* Based on an equivalent site area assuming 150 jobs at equivalent to B8 use instead of site size.

P
age 215



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

94

MM29 - TABLE 12 – CONVENIENCE RETAIL SUPPLY

Commitments
Site Net Floorspace Planning Status
Lidl, Former Perry’s Ford Garage, 
Chatsworth Road

1140 sq. m Full planning permission, 
completed August 2019 
(CHE/17/00209/FUL).

Lidl extension, Sheffield Road, 
Whittington Moor

352 sq. m Full planning permission 
granted (CHE/16/00477/FUL).

Former Walton Works, Factory Street, 
Walton

1300 sq. m Full application awaiting 
decision (CHE/15/00832/FUL).

Broad Locations (2021-2033)
Site Anticipated 

Floorspace
Planning Status

Staveley Works Corridor – to  serve in 
Lagoon Character Area

Up to 1500 sq. m:

A single foodstore in 
new local centre not to 

exceed 1000 sq. m 
(net)

No units in Lagoon 
Character Area to 

exceed 280 sq. m (net)

Allocation day to day needs: 
SS5

P
age 216



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

95

MM29 – TABLE 12 (B) COMPARISON RETAIL SUPPLY

Commitments
Site Net Floorspace Planning Status
Lidl, Former Perry’s Ford Garage, 
Chatsworth Road

285 sq. m Full planning permission, 
completed August 2019 
(CHE/17/00209/FUL).

Former Fire Station, Sheffield Road, 
Whittington Moor

538 sq. m Full planning permission, 
granted August 2019 
(CHE/19/00157/FUL).

Former Walton Works, Factory Street, 
Walton

2621 sq. m Full application awaiting 
decision (CHE/15/00832/FUL).

Broad Locations (2021-2033)
Site Anticipated 

Floorspace
Planning Status

Staveley Works Corridor – limited to 
serve day to day needs

Up to 1500 sq. m in 
new local centre.

Allocation: SS5

Chesterfield Town Centre, Northern 
Gateway – safeguarded for expansion 
of the Town Centre

- Allocation: SS1

Chesterfield Town Centre Railway 
Terrace - limited and in association 
with the Station

- Allocation: SS7

P
age 217



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

96

MM50 -  LOCATION OF SPIRE NEIGHBOURHOOD

Chesterfield Town Centre Strategic Development Framework (May 2015)

P
age 218



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

97

MM62 – CHESTERFIELD WATERSIDE ILLUSTRATIVE MASTERPLAN

 

P
age 219



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

98

MM63 APPENDIX A; INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN

 Appendix A: Infrastructure Delivery Plan

NB: This IDP is an evolving document which will be updated as more knowledge is obtained about infrastructure costs, funding and delivery.

TRANSPORT

Key 
Local 
Plan 

Policy 

Implementation

Critical/ Necessary/ 
Complimentary

Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs
Potential Funding Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 220



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

99

LP1, 
LP24

Local Plan 
identifies corridor 
to be reserved

Critical for

delivery of SRVC 
strategic site, and 
other

Local Plan sites

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Homes & 
Communities 
Agency

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Sheffield City 
Region

 D2N2

Chesterfield- Staveley 
Regeneration Route; 

5.7km single  
carriageway

£93 m;

(Staveley Spur 
estimated at 
£4,635,760) 
(2017).

Included in priority list of road 
schemes  by Midlands Connect, with 
request for £79 million;

£14 million local contribution:

Regeneration agencies;

Private sector;

CIL; 

£2 million funding set aside for 
construction of Northern Loop Road 
no longer required (see below) 
would form DCC financial 
contribution.

Medium 
term: 

2020 – 
2026:

LP1, 
LP24

Dependent on 
provision of 
Chesterfield – 
Staveley 
Regeneration 
Route)

Scheme likely to be 
superseded by 
provision of 
Chesterfield – Staveley 
Regeneration Route 
(see above))

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Sheffield City 
Region

 D2N2

Northern Loop Road 

Phase 2*

(*N.B. scheme likely 
to be superseded by 
provision of 
Chesterfield – 
Staveley 
Regeneration Route 
(see above))

£6.5 m

(DCC, 2016)

Regeneration agencies/SCR ;

developer contributions

Medium 
term: 

2020 – 
2026:*

P
age 221



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

100

LP23, 
LP24, 
SS7

Local Plan 
identifies 
transport scheme

Critical for

delivery of

Local Plan sites

along the A61

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council

 NEDDC
 D2N2, 

A61 Growth Corridor 
improvements, 
including Whittington 
Moor Roundabout 
improvements; 21st 
Century Transport 
Corridor: A61 
Sheepbridge Lane/ 
Broombank Road 
junction 
improvement, A61/St 
Augustines Road 
junction 
improvement, and  
technological 
solutions, including 
bus real time 
information, urban 
traffic management 
system, car park 
guidance system, 
variable message 
signs; and Standard 
Gauge for Sustainable 
Travel: new with 
upgraded 
pedestrian/cycle 
routes. 

£6.711 m

(design and costs 
being prepared by 
DCC)

Approved D2N2 Local Growth Fund 
allocations:

21st Century Transport Corridor £3.0 
million;

Standard Gauge for Sustainable 
Travel £1.689 million 

£1.172 million local contribution: 
private sector; CIL; 

DCC local contribution to 
Whittington Moor Roundabout 
improvements £0.850m

Short term 
(to 2021)

P
age 222



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

101

SS1
Local Plan 
identifies 
transport scheme

Critical for

delivery of Town 
Centre Local Plan sites, 
and HS2

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Sheffield City 
Region

 D2N2

A61 Growth Corridor: 
Chesterfield Station 
Masterplan; 

Hollis Lane Link Road; 

Lordsmill 
Roundabout 
remodelling

(linked to A61) 

£4.760 m 

(phase 1); 

(Design and 
associated costs 
being prepared by 
DCC)

Provisional D2N2 (LGF) allocation 
£3.808 million; Sheffield City 
Region; CIL;

HS2 (in connection with proposed 
Chesterfield HS2 station)

Medium 
term: 

2020 – 
2026

SS7 

Local Plan 

identifies 
developer’s 
preferred route; 
Implementation 
tied to 
developer’s 
programme

Necessary to support 
HS2 proposals

HS2 Ltd

HS2 Station 
masterplan; 

& 

provision of HS2 
Infrastructure 
Maintenance Depot 
at Staveley 

Costs associated 
with overall HS2 
programme, /A61 
Growth Corridor 
(LGF)

HS2 Ltd
Medium to 
Long term

P
age 223



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

102

LP23, 
LP8, 

LP16, 
SS1, 
SS2, 
SS7

Local Plan 

identifies 
opportunities 
linked to walking 
& cycling 
strategies

Necessary to support 
new development 
where gaps in services 
are identified  Derbyshire 

County Council 
 private 

providers

Improvement of 
walking and cycling 
routes, identified on  
Key Cycle 
Network/Local Cycle 
Network, including 
delivery of  Standard 
Gauge for Sustainable 
Travel (A61 Growth 
Corridor 
improvements-see 
above)

 Whittington 
Moor to 
Sheepbridge 
cycle route.

 A61 
Hornsbridge 
roundabout to 
Storforth Lane 
cycle route 
upgrade

 Wayfinding 
strategy.

A61 improvements 
included in overall 
projects cost for 
D2N2 LGF.

Costs of individual 
projects developed 
through detailed 
design

DCC and developer contributions / 
CIL

Throughout 
plan period

FLOOD MITIGATION

P
age 224



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

103

Key 
Local 
Plan  

Policy 

Implementation

Critical /Necessary/ 
Complimentary

Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated Infrastructure Costs
Potential Funding 

Sources
Phasing & 
Delivery

SS5

Staveley and 
Rother Valley 
Corridor  
masterplanning 
and working with 
landowners

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Environment 
Agency

Flood mitigation & 
defence works 
associated with 
regeneration of 
former Staveley 
works site

Overall costs: £7 m

Source: Options Report, Taylor 
Young (2010)

Developer 
contributions

Medium-
term: 

2020 – 
2026:

SS2

South of 
Chatsworth Road 
Masterplan

Necessary to support 
new development

 Chesterfield 
Borough Council

 Development 
industry

 Landowners
 Environment 

Agency.

Chatsworth Road 
Corridor Bridge works 
(Hipper Street West, 
Hipper Street South, 
Hipper House and 
Alma St) to mitigate 
flood risk along the 
River Hipper.

£ 135,204 

Source: Arup, 2010

Environment 
Agency & Trent 
RFDC.

Included as part of 
developer costs

Plan period

P
age 225



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

104

SS1

Town centre 
development 
projects 
highlighted in

Chesterfield 
Town Centre 
Masterplan 
(2015)

Necessary to support 
new development

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Environment 
Agency

River Hipper Flood 
Improvement Works 
– Tin Mill Storage 
Reservoir

£6 m

Environment 
Agency, SCR, CIL  
& Developer 
contributions

Medium to 
Long term

SS1

Town centre 
development 
projects 
highlighted in

Chesterfield 
Town Centre 
Masterplan 
(2015)

Necessary to support 
new development

 Chesterfield 
Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire 
County Council 

 Environment 
Agency

River Rother Flood 
Improvement Works, 
including Horns 
Bridge.

Not currently estimated

Environment 
Agency, SCR, 
D2N2, CIL  & 
Developer 
contributions

Long term

P
age 226



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

105

SS1

Town centre 
development 
projects 
highlighted in

Chesterfield 
Town Centre 
Masterplan 
(2015)

Necessary to support 
new development

 Yorkshire Water 
 Derbyshire 

County Council 
Horns Bridge Sewer 
Flooding

Not currently estimated Yorkshire Water Plan period

     
LP24

Co-operation 
with 
neighbouring 
authorities

Necessary to support 
new development

 North East 
Derbyshire 
District Council

 Development 
industry

 Landowners
 Environment 

Agency

Flood mitigation 
measures beyond 
Chesterfield Borough 
administrative 
boundary; including 
in association with 
remediation of The 
Avenue; and upper 
Hipper Valley

Not currently estimated

Environment 
Agency, SCR, 
D2N2, CIL & 
developer 
contributions

Plan period

WATER

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 227



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

106

SS5

Critical for delivery 
of planned housing 
numbers at SRVC 
strategic site,

 Yorkshire Water 

Increased capacity 
required at 
Staveley Waste 
Water Works

Not currently 
estimated 

Developer 
contributions + 
utility providers’ 
capital 
programmes

Long-term: 

2026 – 
2031

EDUCATION

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

RP1
Development 
proposals at 
Poolsbrook/DCC

Critical for delivery 
of permitted housing 
numbers

 DCC
 Academy chain

Expansion of 
Poolsbrook 
Primary School

£450,000
 CIL 2020-2021

SS5

Staveley and 
Rother Valley 
Corridor  
masterplanning 
and working with 
landowners

Critical for delivery 
of planned housing 
numbers at SRVC 
strategic site,

 Derbyshire County Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council
 Development industry

Staveley – new 
single form entry 
primary school to 
support SRVC 
regeneration

Not currently 
estimated 
£5.5m – £6.5m

 CIL 
 Derbyshire 

County 
Council

 DfES 

Medium to 
Long term

P
age 228



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

107

LP1 

Development 
proposals 
(allocation on 
land south of Tom 
Lane, 
Duckmanton) Necessary to 

support new 
development

 Derbyshire County Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council
 Development industry

Duckmanton 
Primary School

Potential capacity 
issues at 
Brookfield 
Secondary School

Funding may 
be sought if 
expansion is 
necessary at 
the time of 
development 
coming 
forward.   

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

 CIL 
 Derbyshire 

County 
Council

 DfES 

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035P

age 229



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

108

LP1 Development 
proposals (Walton 
Works)

Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Derbyshire County Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council
 Development industry

William Rhodes 
Primary and 
Nursery School

Potential primary 
school capacity 
issues at 
Brimington

Funding may 
be sought if 
expansion is 
necessary at 
the time of 
development 
coming 
forward. 

  

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

 CIL 
 Derbyshire 

County 
Council

 DfES 

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

LP1 Development 
proposals

Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Derbyshire County Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council
 Development industry

Brockwell Primary 
school at capacity

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

 CIL 
 Derbyshire 

County 
Council

 DfES 

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

P
age 230



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

109

LP1
Development 
proposals

Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Derbyshire County Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council
 Development industry

Potential capacity 
issues at 
Netherthorpe 
Secondary School 
& Woodthorpe 
Primary School

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

 CIL 
 Derbyshire 

County 
Council

 DfES 

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

HEALTH

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 231



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

110

LP1 Development 
proposals

Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council 

 Care Commissioning 
Group

Brimington GP 
Surgery and 
Whittington 
Medical Centre are 
approaching 
capacity

Potential capacity 
issues also 
identified 
Barlborough 
Medical Practice, 
and Newbold 
Surgery 
(Windermere 
Road, Newbold)

Only 
applicable to 
residential 
development 
of 10 dwellings 
or over.  
Derbyshire 
NHS request 
£512 per 
dwelling.  

NB: 
Contributions 
will depend on 
the location of 
proposed 
development 
and its 
distance from 
existing 
surgeries.

Developer 
contributions

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 
Complimentary Lead Bodies

Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 
Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 232



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

111

LP16 Borough-wide

Complementary to 
maximise the benefits of 
sustainable growth for 
local communities, 
including provision of a 
green link

CBC Leisure, DCC, private 
developers

Greenways 
improvements

unknown CIL + matched 
funding

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical 
/Necessary/ 
Complimentary

Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 
Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

LP12 Borough-wide

Complementary to 
maximise the benefits of 
sustainable growth

Broadband Delivery UK; 
partnership led by Derbyshire 
County Council and BT,

Continuation of 
Digital Derbyshire 
roll out

£34 m 
Derbyshire 
wide,

Funding 
Committed; 
supported by 
Government, 
D2N2 & European 
Regional 
Development 
Fund

Years 1-5

STAVELEY AND ROTHER VALLEY CORRIDOR

P
age 233



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

112

Key Local Plan  
Policy 

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

Land 
decontamination 
and remediation 

Overall costs: 
£60M - £70M

Source: 
Options 
Report, Taylor 
Young (2010)

Regeneration 
agencies and 
developer 
contributions ; + 
HS2 

Medium 
term:  

2016– 2020

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

On-site road 
infrastructure 

Overall costs : 
see above

developer 
contributions/CIL

Medium 
term: 

2020 – 
2026:

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

Flood mitigation 
and defence works

Overall costs: 
£7M

Source: 
Options 
Report, Taylor 
Young (2010)

Regeneration 
agencies and 
developer 
contributions or 
CIL

Medium-
term: 

2020 – 
2026:

SS5: Staveley & 
Rother Valley 
Corridor

Staveley and 
Rother Valley 
Corridor  
masterplanning 
and working with 
landowners

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Staveley Town Council 
 Chatsworth Settlement 

Trust (landowner)
 Saint Gobain (landowner)
 Homes & Communities 

Agency
 Derbyshire County Council 

Masterplanned 
green 
infrastructure 
provision (incl 
proposed 
greenways)

Not currently 
estimated

Included as part of 
development 
costs or CIL

Long-term: 

2026 – 
2033:

P
age 234



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

113

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

Potential capacity 
issues at 
Springwell 
Secondary School

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

CIL; SCR skills 
agenda

Long-term: 

2026 – 
2033

Critical for delivery of 
SRVC strategic site,

New single form 
entry primary 
school (evidence 
from DCC)

Estimated by 
DCC

CIL Long-term: 

2026 – 
2033

CHESTERFIELD WATERSIDE

Key Local Plan  
Policy

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 235



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

114

SS3: Waterside 
& the Potteries 

Waterside 
Masterplan

Critical to enabling 
planned 
development to 
come forward 

 Urbo Regeneration (which 
includes Bolsterstone and 
the main landowner, Arnold 
Laver)

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Chesterfield Canal 
Partnership

 SCR/D2N2 

Contributions may 
be required from 
CIL to support 
expansions at 
primary and/or 
secondary 
dependant on 
capacity at the 
time of each phase 
coming forward.

Off-site road 
improvements; 
provision of bridge 
for site access; 
completion of 
canal 
infrastructure, 
preparation of 
development 
platforms

Up to £5M

Source: 
Planning 
application 
legal 
agreement

Developer 
contributions; 

SCRIF funding of 
£2.7m secured to 
deliver site 
infrastructure in 
relation to Basin 
Square.

Short-term: 

2013- 2020

P
age 236



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

115

Necessary to support 
new development

Masterplanned 
green 
infrastructure 
provision 

Not currently 
estimated

Included as part of 
development 
costs. 

NB: Ongoing 
management of 
green 
infrastructure will 
be funded via a 
management fee 
on residential 
properties

Medium-
term: 

2020 – 
2026 

CHESTERFIELD CANAL

Key Local Plan  
Policy

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 237



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

116

LP8;

LP22; 

SS3;

SS5

LP1 & LP2

Local Plan 
protects canal 
corridor as a 
major asset for 
sustainable 
transport, 
recreation & 
wildlife

Complementary to 
maximise the benefits of 
sustainable growth for 
local communities, 
including provision of a 
green link

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Derbyshire County Council
 Chesterfield Canal 

Partnership
 SCR/D2N2

Restoration of 
whole route to a 
navigable state 
along whole length 
in the Borough;

Specific transport 
infrastructure 
requirements.

£7m

(DCC 2016)

 Developer 
contributions/
CIL;

 Chesterfield 
Canal 
Partnership

Restoration 
of whole 
route 
across Local 
Plan period: 
2018 – 
2035

CHESTERFIELD TOWN CENTRE

Key Local Plan  
Policy

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

SS1: 
Chesterfield 
Town Centre

Town centre 
development 
projects 
highlighted in

Chesterfield Town 
Centre 
Masterplan 
(2015)

Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Development industry
 Landowners
 SCR/D2N2
 Derbyshire County Council

Enhancement of 
the town centre 
walking and 
cycling network 
(based on  
network put 
forward by 
Derbyshire County 
Council, 2010) 

No current 
estimates 
(costs will vary 
according to 
types of 
infrastructure 
required for 
the various 
routes)

Developer 
contributions and 
Local Transport 
Plan allocations, 
CIL

 Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

P
age 238



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

117

Necessary to support 
new development

 

Health capacity at 
town centre 
medical facilities- 
as identified by 
NHS Derby & 
Derbyshire CCG:

Hasland Medical 
Centre;

Avenue House 
Branch;

Avenue House 
Surgery;

Chatsworth Road 
Medical Centre.

Only 
applicable to 
residential 
development 
of 10 dwellings 
or over.  
Derbyshire 
NHS currently 
request £512 
per dwelling  

NB: 
Contributions 
will depend on 
the location of 
proposed 
development 
and its 
distance from 
existing 
surgeries

Developer 
contributions

P
age 239



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

118

Chesterfield Town 
Centre 
Masterplan: 

- Northern 
Gateway road 
infrastructure 
proposals

- West Bars 
roundabout 
improvements

- Hollis Lane link 
road

- Lordsmill 
Roundabout 
improvements

See above Developer 
contributions, CIL, 
LEP.

BRIMINGTON PARISH (LOCAL CENTRE)

Key Local Plan 
Policies

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 240



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

119

LP1 Future 
masterplanning 

 Necessary to 
support new 
development

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Brimington Parish Council 
 Development industry
 Derbyshire County Council

Foul sewerage 
provision

£190,000

Source: Design 
Services, CBC

Included as part of 
developer costs

Long-term: 

2026 – 
2033

LP1  Necessary to 
support new 
development

 NHS Derby and  Derbyshire 
CCG

Capacity issues 
identified at Calow 
& Brimington 
Medical Practice 
(Foljambe Road, 
Brimington), and 

Whittington Moor 
Surgery (Scarsdale 
Rd, Whittington)

Only 
applicable to 
residential 
development 
of 10 dwellings 
or over.  
Derbyshire 
NHS currently 
request £512 
per dwelling 

NB: 
Contributions 
will depend on 
the location of 
proposed 
development 
and its 
distance from 
existing 
surgeries

Developer 
contributions

P
age 241



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

120

EASTERN VILLAGES (DUCKMANTON & MASTIN MOOR)

Key Local Plan 
Policies

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

 Necessary to 
support new 
development

Upgrades to the 
sewer network 
likely to be 
required at both 
Duckmanton and 
Mastin Moor (i.e. 
Bent Lane Sewage 
Pumping Station & 
Staveley 
Wastewater 
Treatment Works)

Not currently 
estimated

Included as part of 
developer costs

LP1 Future 
masterplanning

 Chesterfield Borough 
Council

 Development industry
 Derbyshire County Council

Potential capacity 
issues at 
Netherthorpe 
Secondary School 
& Woodthorpe 
Primary School

Dependent on 
local school 
capacity at the 
time housing 
proposals 
come forward

Included as part of 
developer 
costs/CIL

Long-term: 

2026 – 
2033

P
age 242



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

121

LP1   NHS Derby and Derbyshire  
CCG

Barlborough 
Medical Practice is 
approaching 
capacity. 

Only 
applicable to 
residential 
development 
of 10 dwellings 
or over.  
Derbyshire 
NHS currently 
request £512 
per dwelling 

NB: 
Contributions 
will depend on 
the location of 
proposed 
development 
and its 
distance from 
existing 
surgeries

Developer 
contributions

CHATSWORTH ROAD CORRIDOR

P
age 243



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

122

Key Local Plan 
Policies

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

Necessary to support 
new development

Bridge works 
(Hipper Street 
West, Hipper 
Street South, 
Hipper House and 
Alma St) to 
mitigate flood risk 
along the River 
Hipper.

£ 135,204 

Source: Arup, 
2010

Environment 
Agency & Trent 
RFDC.

Included as part of 
developer costs

Necessary to support 
new development

Enhancement of 
the walking and 
cycling network

Not currently 
estimated

Included as part of 
developer costs

Necessary to support 
new development

Development and 
enhancement of 
the GI network

Not currently 
estimated

Included as part of 
developer costs

SS2

South of 
Chatsworth Road 
Masterplan

Necessary to support 
new development

Chesterfield Borough Council

Development industry

Landowners

Derbyshire County Council 
(Highways & Education). 

Environment Agency.

Improvement of 
Dock Walk to an 
adoptable 
standard, and 
adopt, 
incorporating 
dedicated cycle 
facilities

Not currently 
estimated

Delivered as part 
of new 
development to 
improve site 
accessibility

Local Plan 
period: 
2018 – 
2035

P
age 244



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

123

Necessary to support 
new development

Improvement of 
Hipper Valley 
Corridor

Not currently 
estimated

Delivered as part 
of new 
development to 
improve site 
accessibility

Necessary to support 
new development

Improvements to 
Old Hall junction

Not currently 
estimated

Delivered as part 
of new 
development to 
improve site 
accessibility

STAVELEY TOWN CENTRE

Key Local Plan 
Policies

Implementation
Critical /Necessary/ 

Complimentary Lead Bodies
Infrastructure 
Requirements

Estimated 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Potential Funding 
Sources

Phasing & 
Delivery

P
age 245



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

124

LP1- LP21 Staveley Town 
Centre 
Masterplan

NB: Whilst not 
part of the Local 
Plan programme 
the masterplan 
does set out the 
long-term 
development 
options for 
Staveley Town 
Centre. These 
options have not 
been costed and 
specific delivery 
arrangements are 
not yet in place.

 Complementary to 
maximise the 
benefits of 
sustainable growth 
for local 
communities.

 Staveley Town Council 
 Chesterfield Borough 

Council 
 Regeneration agencies
 Development industry

Whilst the Staveley 
Town Centre 
Masterplan 
provides a 
framework for 
new development 
in the town, 
development is 
mainly focused on 
public realm 
improvements. 
Therefore, 
development is 
unlikely have a 
significant impact 
on existing 
infrastructure 
capacity

There are no 
cost estimates 
for proposals 
in the Staveley 
Town Centre 
masterplan

 Regeneration 
agencies

 Developer 
Contributions 
or CIL

Local Plan 
period: 
2018– 2035

P
age 246



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

125

MM64 - SUPERSEDED POLICIES

The policies set out in the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (2011-2031) have all been superseded by the new Chesterfield 
Borough Local Plan.

The table below sets out a schedule of the superseded policies of the current local plan including the saved policies of the 
Replacement Chesterfield Local Plan (adopted 2006). 

Local Plan: Core Strategy (July 2013) Chesterfield Local Plan 2019

CS1 - Spatial Strategy LP1 – Spatial Strategy
CS2  - Principles for Location of 
Development

NO REPLACEMENT

CS3 -  Presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development

LP3 - Presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development

CS4 -  Infrastructure Delivery LP12 - Infrastructure Delivery
CS5 -  Renewable Energy LP13 - Renewable Energy
CS6 -  Sustainable Design and 
Construction

LP21 - Design

CS7 -  Management of the Water Cycle LP14 – Managing the Water Cycle
CS8 -  Environmental Quality LP15 – A Healthy Environment
CS9 -  Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity

LP16 – Green Infrastructure
LP17 – Biodiversity, Geodiversity & the 
Ecological Network
LP18 – Open Space, Play Provision, 
Sports Facilities & Allotments

CS10 -  Flexibility in delivery of 
Housing 

LP4 - Flexibility in delivery of Housing

CS11 -  Range of Housing LP5 - Range of Housing
CS12 - Sites for Travellers LP6 - Sites for Travellers
CS13 -  Economic Growth LP7 - Economic Growth

CS14 -  Tourism and the Visitor LP8 - Tourism and the Visitor Economy

P
age 247



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

126

Economy
CS15 -  Vitality and Viability of Centres LP9 - Vitality and Viability of Centres
CS16 -  Retail LP10 - Retail
CS17 -  Social Infrastructure LP11 - Social Infrastructure
CS18 -  Design LP21 - Design
CS19 -  Historic Environment LP22 - Historic Environment
CS20 -  Influencing the Demand for 
Travel

LP23 - Influencing the Demand for Travel

CS21 - Major Transport Infrastructure LP24 - Major Transport Infrastructure
PS1 -  Chesterfield Town Centre SS1 - Chesterfield Town Centre
PS2 -  Chatsworth Road SS2 - Chatsworth Road Corridor
PS3 -  Waterside and the Potteries SS3 – Chesterfield Waterside & the 

Potteries
PS4 -  Markham Vale SS4 - Markham Vale
PS5 - Staveley and Rother Valley 
Corridor

SS5 - Staveley and Rother Valley 
Corridor

PS6 -  Neighbourhood Plans SS8 - Neighbourhood Plans

Replacement Chesterfield Borough 
Local Plan

HSN 1 - Sites for Residential 
Development

LP4 - Flexibility in delivery of Housing

EMP 2 - Donkin / UEF site, Derby Road REDUNDANT POLICY
EMP 5 - Other Sites for Employment 
Development

LP7 – Economic Growth

EMP 7 - Development in Existing 
Business and Industrial Areas

LP7 - Economic Growth

EMP 11 - Ecodome Proposal LP8 - Tourism and the Visitor Economy
EVR 1 - Green Belt LP16 – Green Infrastructure
EVR 2 - Development in the Open 
Countryside and Other Open Land

LP16 - Green Infrastructure

P
age 248



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

127

EVR 9 - Tree and Woodland Planting LP16 - Green Infrastructure
EVR 29 - Chesterfield Town Centre 
Historic Core

LP22 – Historic Environment

TRS 2 - Transport Schemes 
Associated with Markham 
Employment Growth Zone (Markham 
Vale) and the M1

LP24 - Major Transport Infrastructure

TRS 3 - Chesterfield – Staveley 
Regeneration Route

LP24 - Major Transport Infrastructure

TRS 6 - Whitting Valley Link Road REDUNDANT POLICY
SHC 1 - Development within existing 
Town, District and Local Centres

LP9 - Vitality and Viability of Centres

SHC 2 - Provision of New or Extended 
Local Centres
SHC 3 - New Retail Warehousing on 
Land at Markham Road

REDUNDANT POLICY

POS 1 - Existing Parks and Open 
Spaces

LP18 - Open Space, Play Provision, 
Sports Facilities & Allotments

POS 2 - New Public Open Space LP18 - Open Space, Play Provision, 
Sports Facilities & Allotments

POS 4 - Sports Pitches and Playing 
Fields

LP18 - Open Space, Play Provision, 
Sports Facilities & Allotments

POS 5 - Allotments LP16 - Green Infrastructure
CMT 1 - Education Sites LP12 - Infrastructure Delivery
CMT 3 - Development of Health and 
Further Education Provision

REDUNDANT POLICY

New Policies
LP19 – Chesterfield Canal
LP20 – River Corridors

P
age 249



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

128

RP1 - Regeneration Priority Areas
SS6 - Land at Dunston
SS7 – Chesterfield Railway Station

P
age 250



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

129

MM65 – OPEN SPACE STANDARDS, QUANTITATIVE STANDARDS

 

10 All amenity greenspaces over 2 hectares in size which host a play site and also all other amenity greenspaces which do not host a play site
11 All equipped play provision sites including informal amenity greenspaces which host a play site and are below two hectares in size

Quantitative Standards

Type of Open Space Hectares of Provision per 1000 people

Allotments 0.34 0.39

Amenity Greenspace10
0.90 0.68

Natural and Semi-Natural 
Greenspace 3.01 3.00

Parks and Gardens 1.06 

Provision for Children and Young People11 0.06 0.27

Cemeteries and Green Corridors No standards

P
age 251



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

130

MM66 – MONITORING FRAMEWORK

Monitoring and Review Framework

LP1 Spatial 
Strategy
& LP2

Strategic 
Objectives

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Action and Contingencies

LP1 Housing 
Growth

S2
S3

4374 4080 
dwellings up to 
2033 2035

Net new 
dwellings built 
each year as 
monitored in the 
AMR.
HDT

Annual 1. Persistent 
under 
delivery as 
set out in the 
HDT

2. Unmet need 
identified in 
HMA

1. Apply 20% buffer to five year supply as 
set out in the NPPF.

2. Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

LP1 Economic 
Growth

S3 
S6

44 50 hectares up 
to 2033 2035

Net new 
employment land 
developed each 
year as 
monitored in the 
AMR

Annual Percentage of 
delivery across 
five year period

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

LP1 Green Belt S11 No net loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development on 
green belt

Loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development on 
green belt

As required More than one 
appeal allowed 
for development 
on Green Belt on 
basis of land 
supply issues

Review reasons for decision
Take into account as part of five year plan 
review
Possible Green Belt Review as part of Local 
Plan Review

LP1 Strategic 
Gaps / Green 
Wedges & LP16

S7 No net loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development  

Loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development 
within Strategic 
Gaps / Green 

As required More than one 
appeal allowed 
for development 
within Strategic 
Gaps / Green 

Review reasons for decision
Take into account as part of five year plan 
review 

P
age 252



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

131

Wedges Wedges

LP2 Principles for 
Location of 
Development

S1
S9
S10
S13

The location of 
new residential 
development to 
maximise 
opportunities for 
walking access to 
a range of key 
services. 

The location of 
new residential 
development to 
maximise 
opportunities for 
cycling and the 
use of public 
transport to 
access a range of 
key services. 

The travel times 
from from major 
residential 
development to 
a range of key 
services by non-
car based modes 
of transport.

As required 
and through 
the 
monitoring of 
planning 
permissions. 

Majority of new 
homes within 
major 
developments 
not being
within a walkable 
distance to a 
range of key 
services and not 
being within the 
lower 
accessibility 
threshold times 
to a range of key 
services.

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP3 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP3 Presumption 
in favour of 
Sustainable 
Development

All Delivery of 
sustainable 
development in 
accordance with 
the spatial 
strategy

Application of 
the Local Plan

See triggers for 
LP1 and LP2

See contingencies for LP1 and LP2

P
age 253



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

132

Policy LP4 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP4 Flexibility in 
the delivery of 
Housing

S2 Maintain five year 
housing supply of 
deliverable sites

Five Year Housing 
Land Supply
Performance 
against 
trajectory (see 
table xxxx)

Annual Inability to 
demonstrate five 
year housing 
supply

Application of presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as required by NPPF 
when determining Planning Applications
Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP5 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP5 Range of 
Housing

S5 20% affordable 
homes (90% 
social rented and 
10% 
intermediate) on 
sites of 10 
dwellings or 
more.
High – 20%. 
Medium 10%. 
Low 5%

25% of adaptable 
and accessible 
housing

10% of affordable 
should be built as 
wheelchair user 
homes

Number of 
affordable 
housing 
completions (net)
Social rented and 
Intermediate

No. of adaptable 
and accessible 
housing 
completions

Annual Shortfall of 25% of 
cumulative 3 year 
target

Discuss with Housing Team the reasons for 
performance to and review the affordable 
housing pipeline,

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP6 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP6 Sites for Strategic Target Net additional Annual Submission of a Review and update evidence in light of need 

P
age 254



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

133

Travellers met up to 2019 pitches granted 
planning 
permission

Frequency and 
size of 
unauthorised 
pitches

planning 
application for a 
travellers site or 
an unauthorised 
site within the 
borough. Receipt 
of the GTAA 
review 

with neighbouring authorities.

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review 

Policy LP7 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP7 Employment 
land

S6 44 50 ha of 
additional 
employment land 
(B1, B2 and B8) 
between 2011 
2018 and 2033 
2035

Net new 
employment land 
developed each 
year as 
monitored in the 
AMR
Performance 
against 
trajectory (see 
table xxxx)

Annual Percentage of 
delivery across 
five year period

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP8 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP8 Tourism and 
Visitor Economy

S3
S12

Increase in D2 
floorspace

Total amount of 
new D2 
floorspace

No new D2 
floorspace

Discussions with tourism teams to identify 
reasons for fall in visitor numbers to the town.
Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP9 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

P
age 255



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

134

LP9 Viability and 
Vitality of 
Centres

S3 Vacancy rate 
below national 
and regional 
average for Town 
and District 
Centres

Total amount of 
new floor space 
for town centre 
uses
Total amount of 
new floor space 
for town centre 
use completed 
outside of 
centres or 
allocated sites
Town and District 
Centre Health 
Checks

Annual Persistent 
increase in 
vacancy rates

Consider revision of centre boundaries and/or 
hierarchy

Review reasons for decision and revaluate 
evidence and allocations if necessary.
Examine reasons for decline in performance of 
town and district centre.  Long-term, potential 
to review policies and allocations

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP10 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP10 Retail S3 No new retail 
floorspace 
(except Small 
Shops under 
threshold) 
outside of 
existing defined 
centres or 
allocated site

Total amount of 
new floor space 
for town centre 
use completed 
outside of 
centres or 
allocated sites

Annual Approval of large 
format retail 
outside of town 
centre boundary 
not allocated in 
Local Plan.

Review reasons for decision and revaluate 
evidence

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP11 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP11 Social 
Infrastructure

S3 & S13 Maintain 
appropriate 
provision of 
Community 
Facilities

Monitor changes 
of use and Assets 
of Community 
Value

Annual Loss of asset of 
community value

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

P
age 256



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

135

Policy LP12 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP12 
Infrastructure 
Delivery

S10 Delivery of 
Strategic 
Infrastructure 
highlighted in 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 

Delivery in 
accordance with 
CIL Expenditure 
Strategy

Annual 
review of 
S106 and CIL

Non delivery of 
infrastructure in 
expenditure 
strategy

Review funding allocations

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Review effectiveness of CIL
Policy LP13 Strategic 

Objective
Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP13 Renewable 
heat Energy

S1 No target Monitor 
applications for 
renewable 
energy

Five years Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP14 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP14 Managing 
the Water Cycle

S4 All development 
in line with 
Environment 
Agency Advice

All development 
according with 
the advice of the 
Lead Local Flood 
Authority

Development 
approved 
contrary to 
Environment 
Agency advice

Development 
approved 
contrary to Lead 
Local Flood 
Authority advice

Annual More than five 
applications 
approved 
contrary to advice 
over a rolling five 
year period.

Identify reasons for decision, and if necessary 
take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP15 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP15 A Healthy 
Environment

S9 No new AQMA,
Removal of 
existing AQMA

Air Quality 
Monitoring 
Report
Progress against 

Annual The designation 
of an Air Quality 
Management 
Area

Consultation with Environmental Health and 
DCC to identify mitigation measures to address 
impacts of air quality.  Take into account as 
part of five year plan review

P
age 257



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

136

Air Quality 
Action Plan 
Objectives

Policy LP16 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP16 Green 
Infrastructure
LP16 Green 
Infrastructure

S7 & S11 No net loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development in 
Green Belt, Green 
Wedges or 
Strategic Gaps 

Loss of, or 
inappropriate 
development 
within Strategic 
Gaps / Green 
Wedges/Green 
Bely

As required More than one 
appeal allowed 
for development 
within Strategic 
Gaps / Green 
Wedges

Review reasons for decision
Take into account as part of five year plan 
review 

Policy LP17 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP17 Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
the Ecological 
Network

S7 Net gain in 
biodiversity

Increase in tree 
cover within the 
Borough

Monitoring of 
conditions in 
Planning 
approvals

Monitoring of 
gains and losses 
in identified 
habitat through 
planning 
approvals for the 
development 
housing and 
employment 
allocations 
including 
strategic sites 
and other major 

Proposed losses 
and gains of 
identified habitat

Investigate reasons for loss of habitat
Take into account as part of five year plan 
reviewP

age 258



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

137

developments

Monitoring of 
the area of land 
covered by 
woodland 
identified as 
priority habitat 

Sites of 
International & 
National 
Importance

Develop a 
suitable 
monitoring 
programme in 
liason with 
neighbouring 
authorities 
including the 
PDNP and 
Natural England 
in relation to the 
SAC’s and SPA’s 
identified in the 
SA to help ensure 
that a likely 
significant effect 
on these 
European sites 
does not arise 
unexpectedly.

• Post plan 
adoption 
Changes in the 
AADT on roads 
within 200m of 
the European

• Post plan 
changes in rates 
of atmospheric 
nitrogen 
deposition at the 
European sites

• Ecological 
condition of 
qualifying 
features of each 
European site; 
and

 • Cooperation 
with 

As per the 
programme 
to be agreed 
between 
authorities 
and Natural 
England

Increases in traffic 
and consequential 
effects on air 
quality

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

P
age 259



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

138

neighbouring 
authorities, 
including the 
PDNPA, 

Policy LP18 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP18 Open 
Space, Play 
provision, Sports 
facilities & 
Allotments

S10
S13

No net loss of 
open space, play 
provision and 
sports facilities 
unless identified 
as surplus to 
need.

Loss of open 
space, play 
provision and 
sports facilities 
where this is not 
identified as 
surplus to need.

As required Net loss of open 
space, play 
provision and 
sports facilities 
over a three year 
period where this 
is not identified 
as surplus to 
need. 

Review reasons for decision to release of open 
space etc.

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP19 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP19 Chesterfield 
Canal

S12 Restoration of the 
Chesterfield Canal 
within the 
borough to a 
navigable state by 
2027

Remaining length 
of un-navigable 
stretch
of Chesterfield 
Canal in 
Chesterfield
Borough 
(Chesterfield 
Canal Trust)

Annual via 
CCT annual 
report

No additional 
restoration of 
canal in rolling 
three year period

Discussion with Chesterfield Canal Trust and 
Derbyshire County Council to facilitate further 
restoration work.

Review use of CIL funding

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy LP20 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP20 River 
Corridors

S7 None Number of 
applications that 
fall within River 
Corridors

Annual None Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

P
age 260



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

139

Policy LP21 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP21 Design S8 75% of major new 
residential  
development to 
achieve a score of 
12 on Building for 
Life

Number of major 
residential 
developments 
achieving a score 
of 12 on Building 
for Life

Annual Less than 75% of 
schemes over a 
two year period 
achieving a score 
of 12 on Building 
for Life

Discussion with applicants and agents to 
understand why higher levels of design are not 
being achieved.

Potential to review and update supplementary 
planning guidance.

Policy LP22 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP22 Historic 
Environment

S8 Zero heritage 
assets on the ‘at-
risk’ register 

Zero Listed 
Buildings 
demolished

100% coverage of 
up to date 
conservation 
area appraisals.

Number of 
heritage assets
on the ‘at-risk’ 
register

Number of Listed 
Buildings 
demolished

% Percentage of 
conservation 
areas with
up-to-date 
character
appraisals

Annual

Annual

Annual

If heritage asset 
stays on the ‘at-
risk’ register for 
longer than 12 
months
Listed building 
demolished

If below 100%

.

The Council will seek advice of English Heritage 
Historic England in ensuring that there is no 
negative impact on heritage assets and the 
wider historic environment.

Review reasons for demolition

The Council will review its priorities in respect 
of resourcing work to bring coverage up to 
the required level.

Policy LP23 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP23 Influencing 
the Demand for 
Travel

S1
S9

Delivery of the 
Chesterfield 
Strategic Cycle 
Network

Delivery of new 
cycle network.

Five years 
from 
adoption

No new stretches 
delivered over a 
two year period

Discussion with Derbyshire County Council to 
ensure and aid delivery of strategic network.

Potential source of funding from CIL.

P
age 261



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

140

Policy LP24 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

LP24 Major 
Transport 
Infrastructure

S9 Safeguard land 
for Major 
Transport 
Infrastructure 
including the 
scheme for the 
Chesterfield-
Staveley 
Regeneration 
Route

Planning 
permissions 
granted in areas 
safeguarded for 
major transport 
infrastructure

Annual If planning 
permission is 
granted for 
development in 
safeguarded area.

Review reasons and impact for granting of 
planning permission in safeguarded areas.

Policy RP1 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

RP1 
Regeneration 
Priority Areas

S2
S3

Improvement on 
IMD ranking 

IMD ranking Five years 
from 
adoption

A Decline in IMD 
Ranking

Work with local community and external 
agencies to support regeneration projects

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy SS1 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

SS1 Chesterfield 
Town Centre

S2
S3
S6
S8
S9

Vacancy Rate 
above national 
average

Improvement in 
Retails Ranking

Vacancy Rate

Retail ranking

Annual

As published

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site(s) forward.

Take into account as part of five year plan 
review

Policy SS2 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

P
age 262



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

141

SS2 Chatsworth 
Road Corridor

S2
S3
S4
S6
S9

Regeneration in 
the area ‘Land 
South of 
Chatsworth Road’ 
in line with 
adopted 
Masterplan.

Dwellings and 
Floorspace within 
the Land South of 
Chatsworth Road 
Masterplan area. 
Area of vacant 
land.

Buildings remain 
on ‘at risk’ 
register post 2016 
2025

Reduction in 
vacant land less 
than 50%.

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site forward.

Consideration to review of masterplan and 
policy.

Policy SS3 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

SS3 Chesterfield 
Waterside and 
Potteries

S2
S3
S4
S6

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of 
area in line with 
approved 
masterplan by 
2031. 2035

Dwelling and 
floorspace 
completions

Annual Delivery below 
trajectory set out 
in five year 
housing supply

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site forward.

Provide support when bidding for available 
funding.

Consideration to review of masterplan and 
policy.

Policy SS4 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

SS4 Markham 
Vale

S6 Development of 
Markham Vale in 
accordance with 
permission

Completed 
floorspace

Annual as 
part of 
employment 
land 
monitoring

No additional 
floorspace within 
a 3 year period

Discussion with landowners to discuss barriers 
to development.

Consideration to review of planning 
permission and policy in Local plan five year 
review

Policy SS5 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

SS5 Staveley and 
Rother Valley 
Corridor

S2
S4
S6
S7
S8

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of 
area in line with 
approved 
masterplan 

Progress with 
Planning 
applications

Quarterly 
through 
delivery 
board

Lack of progress 
identified by 
delivery board

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site forward.

Provide support when bidding for available 
funding.

P
age 263



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

142

S9
S10
S12

Consideration to review of masterplan and 
policy as part of local plan five year review

Policy SS6 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Frequency Trigger Contingencies

SS6  Land at 
Dunston

S2
S4
S5
S8
S10

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of 
area in line with 
approved 
masterplan

Trajectory set out 
in SoCG

Annual 
through 
housing 
supply 
monitoring

Delivery falls 
behind trajectory 
for three years

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site forward.

Consideration to review of masterplan and 
policy as part of local plan five year review

Policy SS7 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Trigger Contingencies

SS7 Chesterfield 
Railway Station

S2
S4
S5
S6
S8
S9
S10

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of 
area in line with 
approved 
masterplan

Masterplan in 
place by end of 
2019

Annual Non-
commencement 
of reserved 
matters planning 
permissions by 
end of ………

Discussion with land owners and developers to 
bring to site forward.

Consideration to review of masterplan and 
policy

Policy SS8 Strategic 
Objective

Target Indicator Trigger Contingencies

SS8 
Neighbourhood 
Plans

All Timetable and 
programme of 
support agreed in 
response to any 
formal requests 
for 
neighbourhood 
plans.

Number of 
Neighbourhood 
Plans 
commenced

Number of 
Neighbourhood 
Plans approved

As required, 
annual after 
adoption

A Neighbourhood 
Plan being 
approved.

Review Local Plan and In Local Plan Review 
incorporate neighbourhood plan proposals if 
necessary

P
age 264



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

143

P
age 265



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

144

MM67 – HOUSING TRAJECTORY

Ref Site Type
Planning 
Status (1st 
April 2019)

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

2027/28

2028/29

2029/30

2030/31

2031/32

2032/33

2033/34

2034/35

Total

Commentary (TO BE REMOVED BEFORE PUBLICATION)

Local Plan Allocations   

                  

H1 Edale Road Garage Court, Mastin Moor Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 To follow commencement of H35 via S106

H2 Catherine Street Garage Court, Bank Street, 
Chesterfield

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 Capacity and trajectory amended to reflect permission CHE/19/00341/FUL

H4 Heaton Court (Former), Meynell Close, 
Brampton

Small 
Allocation Full permission 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 Capacity and trajectory amended to reflect permission CHE/18/00694/FUL

H5 Pondhouse Farm, Troughbrook Road, 
Hollingwood

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 15 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23

Pending outline planning application – capacity revised to reflect agreed modification to Strategic Gap 
SG2

H6 Miller Avenue, Mastin Moor Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 To follow commencement of H35 via S106

H7
Hollythorpe Close (Land off), Hasland

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 Site will be in use until end 2020 as council depot

H8
Chesterfield Road (Land North of), Staveley

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14

H9
White Bank Close (Land at), Hasland

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 Capacity and trajectory amended to reflect permission CHE/19/00156/FUL

H10 Derwent House HOP, Ulverston Road, 
Newbold

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 7 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 DCC site to be disposed of 2020/21

H11
Sycamore Road (Land at), Hollingwood 

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 Currently in pre-application discussion with RP

H12 Ashbrook Centre (Former), Cuttholme Road, 
Loundsley Green

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 7 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 DCC site to be disposed of

H13
Elm Street (Land at), Hollingwood 

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 15 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 Currently in pre-application discussion with RP

H14 Swaddale Avenue (Land to the West of), 
Tapton

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 Capacity amended to reflect lapsed outline.  Permission lapsed – site sold and being cleared

H15 Goldwell Rooms (Former) and 6 Ashgate 
Road, Chesterfield

Small 
Allocation

Part of site has 
full permission

0 0 0 0 49 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70
Capacity amended to reflect full permission CHE/18/0605/FUl and pending application 
CHE/19/0385/FUL.  Trajectory based on accommodation being delivered in blocks and calculation of 
released C3 dwellings as set out in PPG

H16 Red House HOP and Spire Lodge, Sheffield 
Road, Chesterfield

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 7 15 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 DCC site to be disposed of after relocation of services 2020/21

H17 Poultry Farm (Former), Manor Road, 
Brimington

Small 
Allocation Full permission 0 4 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 Currently on site. Capacity amended to reflect permission CHE/18/00436/REM

H19 Ash Glen Nursery (Former), Sheffield Road, 
Unstone

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 15 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 Pre application discussion with RP

H20 Duewell Court (Land at), Station Road, 
Barrow Hill

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 15 15 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35 In HRA development programme

H21 Staveley Canal Basin, Eckington Road, 
Staveley

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 15 30 30 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90

Planning brief being prepared with DCC and landowners.  Capacity amended to reflect emerging 
planning brief.  Trajectory amended to reflect HS2 safeguarding

H23 Allen and Orr Timber Yard, Saltergate, 
Chesterfield

Small 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 15 15 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 CBC commissioning ground investigations.  Trajectory amended to reflect relocation of existing use

H25 Boat Sales (Former), Sheffield Road, Unstone Large 
Allocation

Outline 
permission

0 0 10 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 Reserved matters application pending

H26 Rectory Road (Land adjacent), Duckmanton Large 
Allocation Full permission 0 15 15 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 Capacity amended to reflect permission CHE/18/00768/REM

H27 Walton Hospital (Land at), Harehill Road, 
Walton

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 48 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 HCA have appointed development partner under agreement to deliver ‘at pace’

P
age 266



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

145

H28 Walton Hospital (Land at), Whitecotes Lane, 
Walton

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 48 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90 HCA have appointed development partner under agreement to deliver ‘at pace’

H30 Walton Works (Former) Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 30 30 30 30 15 0 0 0 0 150 Hybrid application pending for mixed use development

H31 Varley Park, Staveley Road, Poolsbrook Large 
Allocation Full permission 0 0 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 175 work commenced on site (19/20)

H32 Bent Lane, Staveley Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 30 30 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 140

Site disposal after 2020.  Additional constraints re flood risk and access to be resolved prior to 
commencement

H33 Linacre Road, Holme Hall Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 0 0 300 Additional site investigations undertaken to confirm locations of Bell Pits

H34 Tom Lane (Land South of), West of Rectory 
Road, Duckmanton

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 0 0 275 Outline planning permission pending.  Capacity amended to reflect landscape and urban design input

H35 Land South of Worksop Road and East and 
West of Bolsover Road, Mastin Moor

Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 0 0 400 Option 1

H36 Inkersall Road (Land at), Inkersall Large 
Allocation No permission 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 0 0 0 400 Resolution to Grant Planning permission

SS1 Spire Neighbourhood, Chesterfield SS1 No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 30 30 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 100
Trajectory amended to reflect additional masterplanning work being undertaken in connection with 
access to railway station

SS3 Chesterfield Waterside, Brimington Road, 
Chesterfield SS3

Outline 
permission 
Part of site has 
reserved matters 
permission

0 0 50 207 207 37 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 59 50 50 1100
Implementation underway on reserved matters  2021/22 and 2022/23 reflect build to rent units being 
delivered in blocks. CHE/09/00662/OUT and other permissions.

SS5 Staveley Works, Staveley SS5 No permission 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 150 Two outline planning applications submitted: CHE/19/00103/OUT and CHE/17/00644/OUT

SS6 Land South of Dunston Lane Road, Dunston SS6 Part of site has 
full permission

21 79 50 50 75 74 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 0 0 799
Updated from SoCG with William Davis. 299 dwellings have reserved matters permission (as of October 
2019). CHE/16/00016/OUT and CHE/17/00351/REM

Commitments                      

CHE/17/00237/OUT Commerce Centre, Canal Wharf, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 8 6 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 REM received and approved since April 1st 2019. 

CHE/17/00326/REM Dunston Road (Land off), Former Cammac 
Site

Large 
Permission Full Permission 0 29 34 39 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 106 Commenced (18/19)

CHE/17/00685/REM Wheeldon Mill, Rother Way, Chesterfield Large 
Permission

Full Permission 2 30 30 30 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 120
Commenced (18/19)

CHE/15/00614/REM Former Sheepbridge Sports and Social Club, 
202 Newbold Road, Chesterfield

Large 
Permission Completed 20 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21

Based on contact with developer October 19

CHE/18/00190/REM Land At Cranleigh Road, Chesterfield, 
Derbyshire

Large 
Permission

Full Permission 3 36 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75
Based on contact with developer October 19

CHE/16/00518/FUL Eyre View, Newbold Road, Newbold Large 
Permission

Completed 34 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40
Based on contact with developer October 19

CHE/15/00838/REM Ringwood Centre, Victoria Street, Brimington Large 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
Delayed start on final phase.

CHE/18/00768/REM Land To South Of Poplar Farm, Rectory Road, 
Duckmanton

Large 
Permission

Full Permission 0 6 15 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35
Based on contact with developer October 19

CHE/17/00798/FUL Knightsbridge Court, West Bars, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30
Amended based on recent change in ownership.

CHE/15/00755/OUT Land To The West Of Bevan Drive Inkersall 
Derbyshire

Large 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 0 0 0 25 30 30 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 103
REM received and approved since April 1st 2019.

CHE/16/00835/FUL The Elm Tree Inn, High Street, Staveley Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 7 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21
Based on contact with developer October 19

CHE/15/00098/FUL Basil Close, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22
Pre application discussion on revised scheme.

CHE/15/00464/FUL Land To The Rear Of 79 Sheffield Road, 
Stonegravels

Small 
Permission

Full Permission 9 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
Commenced (18/19)

CHE/17/00634/OUT 1 Bridle Road, Woodthorpe, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 7 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18
Based on contact with developer / landowner October 19

CHE/15/00835/OUT Loundsley Green Road (Land West of), 
Loundsley Green

Large 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
Not commenced

P
age 267



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

146

CHE/18/00779/FUL Chesterfield County Court, St Marys Gate, 
Chesterfield

Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
Not commenced

CHE/15/00195/FUL Former Social Club, Saltergate, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

CHE/14/00896/FUL Littlemoor Shopping Centre, Littlemoor 
Centre

Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

CHE/18/00224/REM Land Surrounding 146 To 152 Hady Lane, 
Hady Lane, Chesterfield

Large 
Permission Full Permission 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

Commenced (18/19)

CHE/18/00144/FUL Chesterfield Post Office, 1 Market Place, 
Chesterfield

Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
Commenced - due to finish in January

CHE/17/00359/FUL Victoria Hotel, Lowgates, Staveley Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
Not commenced

 CHE/18/00432/FUL Land Adjacent Trinity Court, Newbold Road, 
Newbold

Small 
Permission

Full Permission 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
Not commenced

CHE/15/00442/FUL Poolsbrook Hotel, Staveley Road, Poolsbrook Small 
Permission Completed

0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30
Site completed in 19/20 monitoring period

CHE/18/00784/FUL 87 New Square, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
Commenced

CHE/16/00121/FUL Land To The West Of Keswick Drive, 
Newbold

Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
Commenced (8 completed in 19/20 so far)

CHE/17/00757/OUT Land Used For Storage and Premises, Goyt 
Side Road

Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
Not commenced

CHE/16/00023/FUL Handleywood Farm, Whittington Road, 
Barrow Hill

Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Not commenced

CHE/16/00216/FUL Jacksons Bakery, New Hall Road Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
Not commenced

CHE/18/00697/OUT St Marks Vicarage, 15 St Marks Road, 
Chesterfield

Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
Not commenced

CHE/17/00814/OUT Land At Chester Street, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
Not commenced

CHE/16/00053/FUL Apple Trees, Lancaster Road, Newbold Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
Commenced

CHE/17/00375/REM Hady Miners Welfare Club, Houldsworth 
Drive, Hady

Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
Commenced (2 completed in 19/20 so far)

CHE/17/00700/REM Land Adjacent Five Acres, Piccadilly Road Small 
Permission Full Permission

2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
Commenced (1 remains under construction)

CHE/15/00394/FUL Land At Upper King Street, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Completed

3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
Site completed in 19/20 monitoring period

CHE/14/00392/FUL Dunston Grange Farm, Dunston Lane, 
Dunston

Small 
Permission Completed

4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
Site completed in 19/20 monitoring period

CHE/17/00756/OUT Land On Goytside Road Corner, Factory 
Street, Chesterfield 

Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Not commenced

CHE/17/00067/COU 1 Tennyson Avenue, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Not commenced

CHE/12/00286/MA 14A Spital Lane, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Commenced

CHE/08/00311/FUL Land At Wessex Close, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Full Permission

2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Commenced

CHE/18/00024/FUL Land At Breckland Road, Walton, Derbyshire Small 
Permission Full Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Commenced 19/20

CHE/17/00334/FUL 10B Marsden Street,  Chesterfield Small 
Permission Completed

0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
Site completed in 19/20 monitoring period

CHE/17/00263/FUL Former Saltergate Health Centre, 107 
Saltergate, Chesterfield

Small 
Permission Completed

33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33
Site completed in 18/19 monitoring period

CHE/17/00475/FUL 1-3 Knifesmithgate, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Completed

10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
Site completed in 18/19 monitoring period

CHE/16/00436/OUT 325 Ashgate Road, Chesterfield Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

P
age 268



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

147

CHE/18/00044/OUT Ravensdale, 26 Chesterfield Road, 
Brimington

Small 
Permission

Outline 
Permission

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
REM since submitted and work commenced on all units.

CHE14/00139/FUL 44-46 Park Road, Chesterfield Small 
Permission Completed

8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
Site completed in 18/19 monitoring period

Actual / Anticipated Net Completions (sites of 4 dwellings or less) 57 36 96 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 189 From April 2019 Monitoring Data (57 Completed in 18/19 so far, 36 under construction, 96 not 
commenced).

10% Lapse Rate (Discount on Commitments) N/A -24 -37 -17 -5 -3 -3 -3 -2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -94

Windfall Allowance N/A N/A N/A 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 476 Based on evidence in Housing Topic Paper
Total 212 315 516 515 659 466 338 478 542 473 461 369 304 139 193 134 134 6247

* To calculate the likely contribution towards housing delivery from a C2 / HMO use on the site the Council has followed the advice in paragraph 035 Reference ID: 68-035-20190722 in the NPPG.

P
age 269



Chesterfield Borough Local Plan Proposed Modifications September 2019

148

MM68 – EMPLOYMENT LAND TRAJECTORY

Indicative Employment Land Delivery Trajectory (as of April 1st 2019)

Reference Site Name Assumed Employment 
Use

Short Term 
(0-5 Years)

Medium 
Term (6-10 
Years)

Long Term 
(11-16 
Years)

E1 Former GKN works, Sheepbridge Lane Multiple (B1, B2, B8) 3.6 ha - -

E2 Land at Prospect Park, North of Dunston Multiple (B1, B2, B8) 2.5 - -

E3 Station Road (Wagon Works), Old Whittington Multiple (B1, B2, B8) - - 6.3 ha

E4 Whitting Valley Road (Land at), Old Whittington Multiple (B1, B2, B8) 3.74 ha - -

E5 Former Boythorpe Works, Goyt Side Road Multiple (B1, B2, B8) - - 5 ha

E6 Impala Estates (land adj. Markham Vale) B8 2.6 ha - -

N/A Extant Planning Permissions at April 1st, 2019 (excluding Land Accessed 
from Farndale Road)

Multiple (B1, B2, B8) 2.41 ha - -

N/A Markham Vale West: Plot 2 Multiple (B2, B8) 1.47 ha - -
N/A Markham Vale East: Plot 5 North B8 0.75 ha - -
N/A Land Accessed from Farndale Road, Staveley (CHE/13/00675/OUT) Multiple (B1, B2, B8) - 10 ha 6.58 ha

N/A Staveley Works Corridor (area around Works Road, SS5) Multiple (B1, B2, B8) - 2 ha -

N/A HS2 IMD B2 - - 4 ha

Total 17.07 12 21.88

Total Employment Land included within indicative trajectory: 50.95 ha

Minus anticipated loss at Chesterfield Waterside (-2 ha): 48.95 ha

P
age 270



Action 
Point

Map 
reference 
Number

Description / Reason for Amendment / Location

AP11 None – 
Previously 
sent 
24/10/19

Detailed inset plans show Green Belt alterations:
 Land west of Mastin Moor;
 Land at Manor House Farm, Hasland;
 Land at Barrow Hill.

AP75 Map 1 & 
Map 2

Modification of the LP18 designations at Newbold Back Lane and Poolsbrook County 
Park Caravan and Motorhome site.  The Council will differentiate between open and 
sport spaces on the polices map.  

AP12 MAP 3 Alteration of SG1 (Land off Northmoor View) to reflect recent appeal decision and 
further evidence presented at Hearings. 

AP15 MAP 4 Exclusion of Wildgoose Homes site at Bevan Drive from Strategic Gap (SG2) following 
the grant of Planning Permission. Bevan Drive, Inkersall

AP16 MAP 5 Amendment of SG2 to exclude the paddock at Troughbrook Road (capacity of H5 
amended accordingly – LP4). 

AP28 MAP 6 Amendment to distinguish employment land allocations on the Policies Map (sites 
without planning permission in Table 9), including the addition of Prospect Park as an 
employment land allocation. 

AP32 Map 7 Amendment of Chatsworth Road District Centre to exclude land at Goytside Road 
(adjacent to Lidl) and Morrisons.  Morrisons has been digitised as an out of centre 
foodstore (for consistency with Table 10 of Plan) and excluded from the centre 
boundary.

AP33 Map 8 Update of policies map to show built-up areas. 
AP41 Map 9 Revision of the policies map to reflect the larger SS6 area (in line with Table 4 within 

Policy LP4).

AP83 Map 11 Inclusion of the Chatsworth Road boundary (SS2) on the Policies Map

AP16 Map 12 Extension of the housing allocation at Troughbrook Road to reflect the amended 
strategic gap boundary. 

AP41 Map 13 Extension of the housing allocation at Dunston (SS6) to reflect the larger area 
indicated through the amendment to Table 4 (LP4).

AP39 Map 14 Amendment to the extent of the housing allocation at Mastin Moor (H35) to reflect 
the site boundary submitted through CHE/17/00469/OUT and the site area 
presented within Table 4.

AP36 Map 15 Removal of the following sites as housing allocations from (LP4): 
 H3, H22, H24 – unavailable,
 H18, H29 – building work has commenced on site.

AP50 Map 16 Inclusion of the Historic Core on the policies map (as referenced within the main 
modification to policy SS1). 

Map 17 Removal of dwellings from strategic gap at Walton Road and retraction of 
employment land to meet a recognisable boundary on the ground.

Map 17 Retraction of the employment land area to remove overlap with the Chatsworth 
Road District Centre Boundary. 

Removal of dwellings from employment area adjacent to Chatsworth Road District 
Centre Boundary. 

AP81 MAP 10 Multi-User Trails are to be shown on the Constraints Map as:

Page 271



 The Key Cycle Network (KCN) layers are currently in draft form, subject to 
approval by DCC Cabinet. 

 The constraints map is more appropriate to show cross boundary initiatives. 
The policies map only shows polygons within the borough boundary (not 
beyond). We can more accurately show the trails as a continuous line on the 
constraints map, which would address Bolsover District Council’s 
representation better.

Page 272



NOT TO SCALE

Amendments to Chatsworth Road District Centre (See Key). Map 7

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



C

A

B

NOT TO SCALE

Employment Land Allocations Map 6

Page 275



This page is intentionally left blank



not to scale

CHESTERFIELD LOCAL PLAN EXAMINATION - CHANGES TO POLICIES MAP MAP 1

P
age 277



T
his page is intentionally left blank



C
o urt

1

Wan

1
2

P
a

th
 (um

)

Track

Refuse Tip

Mineral Railway

68.0m

Bus iness  Centre

W
B

The Clock T ower

56.4m

DW

Pipeline

Pipeline

Pipeline

El Sub Sta

24

3

Court

Fulham

Kilburn Court

10

2

17

3

Court

12

Lewisham

2

2

1

1

W
oodf ord W

ay

1
1

 to
 1

4

2
5

 to
 2

8

14

14

1

Court

2

Hampstead

2

12

31

Kensington

Court

7

Court

Sidcup

Court

1

8

3

6

4

Bromley

6

5

South gate Way

Hendon

8

2

Court

8

1

1

10

2 6
5

4

3

10

Court

CricklewoodC
helm

sford  W
a y

MP 149.75

1

2

1

5

W
oodf ord W

ay

El

1 to 9

Sta

Sub
LB

Shelter

Court

1

2

3

Woolwich

Court

2

1

Stepney

1

Track

1

3

5

4

PaddingtonC
ourt

2

3

61

5
R

om ford W
ay

Su rge ry

Chigwell

3

5

4

5
62

1

Court

Acton

Way

Kingston

3

1 21

8

7

4

5

Mitcham

Court

Court

63.1m

The Green

64.6m

Willow Lodge Farm

5

Court

Duewell

1
5

 to
 1

8

1
 t

o 
4

61.3m

Car Park

Chiswick Court

Club

SP

10

2

1

6

5

2

1

Court

Ealing

8

7

FB

56.4mSM

SM

SM

57.0m

R
other

R
i ve r

El Sub Sta

3

21

8

4

10

Court

Richmond

7

Barrow Court

10

9

Shelter

Gas Gov

11

8

10

9

7

12

5

1

4

1

3

2

1

2

SM

57.9m

1

3

2

1

4

2

4

6

3

2

1

5

1

4

2

2

4

1

3

Mineral Railway

4

3

3

57.3m

59.1m

Clay Pit

65.2m

Garage

57.3m

57.6m

Railway Centre

Chy

River Rother

T
ra

ck

Wr Pt

58.5m

ESS

T
rac k

Rifle Range

SB

W
r P

t

MP 149.5

59.4m

Golf D
r iv

ing Range

Cottages

Campbell

Staveley  Up Sidings

LC

21

Co  Const, ED & Ward Bdy

Boro Con st Bdy

De f

Tip

62.8m

64.9m

Issues

69.8m

The Lodge

Golf Centre

80.5m

Staveley  Up Sidings

MP 149.25

68.0m

75.6m

Handleywood Farm

Ruins

Ruin

Und

SCALE 1:5000

ADOPTED CORE STRATEGY POLICIES MAP AND SUBMISSION POLICIES
MAP GREEN BELT COMPARISION

LAND AT BARROW HILL

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



103.3m

2

42

4
0

2

1
1
1
a

1
1
3

1
0
7

1
0
5

1
1
5

84

8
6

7
8

8
0

101.8m

1
1
1

CF

CW

CF

1
5

1
1

 to
 1

3

107.0m

11
2

LB

TCB

10
4

103.3m

1
2
1

9
6

1

10
0

1
23

1
3

0

F
W

Def

CH

1
3
4

1
2

8

1
3

6

1
3

1
1
3

3

104.9m

0.91m RH

Play Area

8

1
2

9

7

4
7

36a

44

36b

1
1

6

11
4

11
0

1
0
6

Farm

Manor House

0.91m FF

2
6

1
1

8
106.1m

3
2

18

1

3

27

2

24

ESS

1

1
2

01
2
2

1
2
9

1
2

7

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

Playing Field

1

9

6

2

15

2

9

11

Play Area

Play Area

10

8

12

12

Boro Const Bdy

Pavilion

SFP

112.5m

110.3m

Track

Co Const, C
P & ED Bdy

Cycle Path

9

1
4

6

1

1

Playground
Play Area

2

1

2

4

16

11

15

Cycle Path

12

7

15

17

3

Path (um)

10

26

1
8

35

107.3m

SCALE 1:2500

ADOPTED CORE STRATEGY POLICIES MAP AND SUBMISSION POLICIES
MAP GREEN BELT COMPARISION

LAND AT MANOR HOUSE FARM HASLAND

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Norbriggs

80.2m

C
H

80.2m

GP

79.2m

74.4m

Pond Farm

72.8m

T
ra

ck

P
a
t h

 (
u
m

)

C
H

Happy Valley

T
ra

ck

Silo

Pipeline

Tank

Tanks

81.1m

84.7m

D
ra

in

P
a
th

 ( u
m

)

D
r a

in

L Twr

P
i p

e L
i ne

E
D

 B
d

y
R

i v
e

r  
D

o
e

 L
e

a

Twr

L Twr

E
T

L

L

Tanks

Huggester Farm

Track

Norbriggs Flash

Local Nature Reserve

El Sub Sta

(Cricket Ground)

86.3m

86.0m

8
1
.1

m

Woodthorpe

Primary School

C of E(PH)

Albert

The

Inn

St John's

S
h

e
lt

e
r

Farm

GP

Fair View

84.1m

89.3m

61.6m
House

7
2

.5
m

LB

TCB

86.3m

75.3m

Netherthorpe School

River Doe Lea

Speedwell Industrial Estate

Gratton
Court

T
ra

c
k

T
ra

c
k

Hawthorne Hill Farm

Track

Mast

Tra
ck

MP 151.25
47.5m

58.5m

Hawthorne Hill

78.9m

73.2m

Track

Farm Bungalow

MP 151.0

SCALE 1:10000

ADOPTED CORE STRATEGY POLICIES MAP AND SUBMISSION POLICIES
MAP GREEN BELT COMPARISION

LAND AT WEST OF MASTIN MOOR

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 8: Map of Built-up Areas

P
age 285



T
his page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 12:  Amendment to H5, Troughbrook Road, LP4 - Housing 
Allocations

P
age 287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 13:  Amendment to Dunston Site, LP4 - Housing Allocations

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 14:  Amendment to H35, Mastin Moor, LP4 - Housing Allocations

P
age 291



T
his page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 15:  Removal of H3, H18, H22, H24 & H29 LP4 - Housing 
Allocations

H22

H29

H3

H18

H24

Proposed Allocations

Removed Sites

P
age 293



T
his page is intentionally left blank



%Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Chesterfield Borough Council Licence number: 100018505, 2020.

Map 16:  Addition of Historic Core

P
age 295



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Grove

7

Cottages

Shelter

Weir

TCB

4
1
3

92.7m
4
1

5

ESS

Def

398

Trade

C
h

a
tsw

o
rth

 L
o

d
g

e

4
0

6

(N
u

rs
in

g
 H

o
m

e
)

Walton

408

Bridge

C
le

ve
r C

ro
cs

D
a

y N
u

rse
ry

1
2

2
3

1
1

9

Ward Bdy

PH

PH

420

4
4

9

4
3

9

9

422

21

37

4
4

2

ED & Ward Bdy

4
7

7
a

8
7

475

4
7

5
a

8
1

4
3

2
4

6
1

4
7

7

94.5m

4
4

0

10

11
7

6

3

2

Court

Lindisfarne

2726

100.9m

Def

92.4m

1
5

Post

Ruin

92.7mBelgrave

Park

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

396
400

417

4
0

2

421

410a

4
2

7

423

4
2

9

93.9m

9
5

1
7

1
6

1
4 1
5

2

12

1

8
4

2
5

Boat House

Bowling Green

River Hipper

1
5

1
0

5

412

11

8
2

a

15

9

94.8m

479

Shelter

8
4

4
6

7

7
7

NOT TO SCALE

MAP 17 - Chatsworth Road and Walton Road

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



NOT TO SCALE

Multi- User Trails - Map 10

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



not to scale

CHESTERFIELD LOCAL PLAN EXAMINATION - CHANGES TO POLICIES MAP MAP 2

P
age 301



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NOT TO SCALE

Revision to SS6 boundary Map 9

Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



Shelter

244

197

1

2a

3

1 9
9

220

2
2

8

ESS

1
7

9

1
3

7

3
6

Brimington

2

31

G
r o

v e
 W

Manor Farm

1
09

Path (um)

9 7

Trac k

15
2

a

11
2

1
4

0

122

133.5m

1
3

0

1
3
6

1
2
5

134.1m

96

8 9

8 9
a

132.9m

98

1
0
0

8
7

94

23
4

1
5

3

1
6

6

182

(PH)

Arms

134.1m

1
3
5

.0
m

1
67

2
0

6

1
7
1

1 7
5

2
1

2

1
6

3

1 6
9

Area

Play

Recreation Ground

135.6m

195

2
2

0
a

2
2

2

207

191

135.6m

18
1

1
1

1
5

2

198

8

Brimington

3
9 4

Common

2
7

15 11

1

2
4

35

H
e

n
ry

 B
ra

d
le

y

In
fa

n
t S

c
h
o

o
l

103.0m

Brockhill Court

122.5m

123.1m

12

10

2

10

9
7

8

1
2

T
ra

c k

124.7m

128.3m

Cottage

123.4m

Swiss Cottage
LB

FW

1.2
2m

 F
W

Manor

23

Tapton

F
B

Manor

Path (um)

P
a
th

 (
u
m

)

133.5m

Brickmakers

8

1
38

95.7m

P
a
th

 (
um

)

98.1m

116.4m

(Care Home)

122.5m

P
a
th

 (
u
m

)

Grange

Cottage

Tapton

Tapton

Crewe

Lodge

FB

112.2m

Grove

Tapton

D
ra in

T rack

D
rain

FBs

FB

C
S

1 .22m RH

D
ef

FF

Path

104.5m
108.2m

C
S

107.3m

P
a

th
 (

u
m

)

P
at

h

123.7m

Path

120.4m

120.1m

118.3m

118.3m

122.8m

Tapton Hall Barn

116.1m

113.4m

108.5m

Tapton Hall Farm

The Mistle

125.3m
121.3m

115.5m

C
lu

b

B
r i

m
in

g
t o

n

11
4.

6m

T
he

Brock Hill

House

Moorview

Windrush

Court

C
h
u
r ch

Hall

Court

Court

Thame

Lavant

121.6m

PH

PO

122.5m

St Michael

and All Angels

Car Park
The Rectory

Church of

Brimington Methodist Church

119.2m
Red
Lion

CR

Devonshire Park

111.9m

The

Old

Forge

109.4m

Recreation Ground

107.3m

Def

110.0m

CR

Ward Bdy

107.0m

(C
lub)

Devonshire House

105.8m

T
r a

c
k

95.1m
Cemetery Lodge

Chapel

Brimington Cemetery

P
la

c
e

A
lm

o
n
d

101.8m

Crematorium

Tinker Sick

84.7m

80.8m

89.9m

Almond Place

C
e
m

e
tery T

errace

88.7m

The Spinney

91.4m

92.0m

89.3m

Wheeldonmill Plantation

77.7m

85.0m

Slag Heap

NOT TO SCALE

SG1 AMENDMENT TO REFLECT RECENT APPEAL DECISION
MAP 3

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



39

43 5
0

5
9

5
4

4
5

4
4

5
3

9

14

259

1

5

1

Chander M
ew

s

8

2

6

7

7

1

1

8

5

PO

6

7

2

7

Shelter

27

Family Health Centre

The Inkersall

25

33

19

9

1

13
94.5m

9

2

1

5

2
6

Green Acres

13

11

26

273

261 to 269

271

275

277

86.0m

86.6m

24

20

12

15

22

17

19

1 0

7

2
1

9

19

36

97.8m

2
8

15

2

1

1
0

82.9m

1

Dumble Lodge

1
a

3

The Dumbles

Ringwood View

W
a
rd

 B
d
y

70.7m

27
9

33

1

97.8m

27

35

92.4m

90.2m

20

94.8m

Brookside

75.6m

2

65.8m

41

3
6

2
2

49

3
3

Houses

Police

4
6

4
4

5
6

4
1

3
3

7

5

30

8

28

6

ESS

2
6

14

17

TCB

9
2

1

5

1
0

4

7

2

S
h

e
lte

r

2
0

6

15

12

1
4

5

7

94.5m

73
75

40

5
7

3

2

1

36
3
8

3
1

1

3
5

26

92.4m

1
4

15

1 3

2 4

1
7

15

12

5
3

5
1

93.9m

6
1

96.1m

5
9

111

212

T
ro

u
g
h

 B
ro

o
k

Sluice

S
M

Weir

FB

Play Area

Ringwood Park

78.9m

72.2m

71.9m

77.4m

79.2m

Farm

Ringwood

T
ra

ck

85.0m

Pump

Shaft

NOT TO SCALE

SG2 Exclude Wildgoose Homes site at Bevan Road from SG2
Strategic Gap following granting of Planning Permission
MAP 4

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



T
ro

u
g
h

 B
ro

o
k

C
S

C
S

E
D

 &
 W

a
rd

 B
d
y

2

4

Pondhouse

Farm

Track

2

6

1

4
1

4
3

5
3

4
0

5

1
0

8

1
2

6
3

8
3

6
3

2

7
3

3
3

2
3

7

2
8

1

Troughbrook Wood

2
3

1
3

3

7

1

1

7
817

6
3

7
0

15

7
4

6
5

74.4m

4
5

3
3

5
3

6
2

5
2

4
2

El Sub Sta

22
20

8

3
0

3
5

40

23

NOT TO SCALE

SG2 -  Amend to exclude paddock at Troughbrook Road
MAP 5

Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank



NOT TO SCALE

SS2  - Chatsworth Road. Map 11

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Chesterfield Borough Council Equality Impact Assessment – Preliminary Assessment Form

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy: Chesterfield Borough Council Revised Local Plan 
Policies (Feb 2020 Modifications)

Service Area: Strategic Planning and Key Sites
Section:
Lead Officer: Lauren Dempsey
Date of assessment: 26/10/18
Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:

Existing 
Changed X
New / Proposed 

Section 1 – Clear aims and objectives

1. What is the aim of the policy, project, service, function or strategy?
The Council has progressed a number of changes and additions to the existing Local Plan in order to reflect 
national policy and guidance, new evidence and updated local demographic information.  

The process of changing the Local Plan has involved alterations to address comments made during the 2017 
public consultation on the Draft Local Plan. Following this consultation, the Council approved an amended version 
of the Local Plan to submit to the Secretary of State for Examination in Public. The Examination of the Local Plan 
was held late in 2019 and as part of this, a number of issues were raised by the Planning Inspectorate to make 
the plan ‘sound’. The Local Planning Authority has prepared further main and additional modifications to the Local 
Plan to address the issues raised by the Planning Inspectors. These modifications will (subject to approval at 
Cabinet) go out for public consultation. Following this consultation, the Council will submit the results to the 
Planning Inspectorate whom will issue a recommendation, and subject to Full Council approval, will be adopted.

P
age 313



2

This EIA focusses on the main modifications which are proposed to the submission version of the Local Plan, 
following the Examination in Public. 

Previous iterations of the emerging Local Plan have been assessed in the following EIA’s: 

2012 Core Strategy Preparation
 Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment 2012 – Outcome: No full EqIA

required.
 Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment 2012 specific to the Gypsy and

Traveller Policy (Policy CS11 later modified to CS12) – Outcome: No full EqIA
required.

November 2016 at Regulation 18 Consultation stage of new Local Plan
 Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment 2016 – Outcome: No full EqIA

required.
December 2017 Regulation 18 Consultation for Gypsy and Traveller Sites

 Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment 2017 – Outcome: No full EqIA
required
Chesterfield Borough Council (version 4) 2019

September 2018 at Regulation 19 Consultation stage of new Local Plan – Key
 Submission Document 3 (KSD3)

The previous existing EIA has therefore been reviewed to consider any impact of the proposed changes / 
additions. 

This EIA is being updated to consider the impact of proposed changes to the following policies (those in bold) of 
the Council’s Local Plan: 

 LP1: Spatial Strategy 
 LP2: Principles for Location of Development 

P
age 314



3

 LP3: Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development (being removed)
 LP4: Flexibility in Delivery of Housing
 LP5: Range of Housing
 LP6: Sites for Travellers 
 LP7: Economic Growth
 LP8: Tourism and the Visitor Economy
 LP9: Vitality and Viability of Centres
 LP10: Retail
 LP11: Social Infrastructure
 LP12: Infrastructure Delivery
 LP13: Renewable Energy
 CS6: Policy removed and incorporated into LP21
 LP14: Managing the Water Cycle
 LP15: A Healthy Environment 
 LP16: Green Infrastructure
 LP17: Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network 
 LP18: Open Space, Play Provision, Sports and Recreational Facilities and Allotments
 LP19: Chesterfield Canal 
 LP20: River Corridors
 LP21: Design
 LP22: Historic Environment
 LP23: Influencing the Demand for Travel 
 LP24: Major Transport Infrastructure
 RP1: Regeneration Priority Areas 
 SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre
 SS2: Chatsworth Road Corridor
 SS3: Chesterfield Waterside and the Potteries
 SS4: Markham Vale
 SS5: Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor

P
age 315



4

 SS6: Land at Dunston (new policy)
 SS7: Chesterfield Railway Station (new policy)
 SS8: Neighbourhood Plans

2. Who is intended to benefit from the policy and how?
The Local Plan benefits all people who live, visit and work in Chesterfield. The policies are designed to 
concentrate development around existing centres and other accessible areas which will give better access to 
jobs, houses, education and services.

In addition, there are some changes of particular note which are anticipated to have a positive impact on a 
particular group(s) of the community:

Main Modification (Change) Anticipated impact 
Extend the plan period from 2018-2033 to 2018-2035. None (NPPF requirement).
Increase employment land requirement from 44 
hectares to 50 hectares

None (NPPF requirement).

Reduction in housing requirement from 4374 to 4080 
over the 15 year plan period.

Potential impact but a NPPF requirement 

LP1 and LP2: modification from emphasis on walking 
distance to centres, to more emphasis on walking 
access to a range of key services (Employment 
centres, Primary schools, Secondary schools, Further 
Education institutions, GPs, Hospitals, Food stores, 
Town Centres) and removal of the proposed 800m 
threshold walking distance to centres;

Potentially positive impact across groups

LP3 – removal of presumption in favour of sustainable 
development

None – duplicated an NPPF requirement that applies 
nationally.

LP4- change to create greater flexibility in housing 
supply

Potentially positive impact across groups

P
age 316



5

LP5: Range of Housing – clarification of approach to 
older persons accommodation, improved policy to 
secure accessible and adaptable homes

Older people and those with disabilities – potentially 
positive impact

LP6: Sites for Travellers – removal of unnecessary 
policy duplication

None

LP9: Vitality and Viability of Centres – clarification None
LP10: Retail None
LP11: Social Infrastructure – protection of community 
facilities and clarification of what reasonable efforts 
means in relation to justifying losses

Policy provides more protection and may benefit those 
with protected characteristics who use community 
facilities.

LP13: Renewable Energy – clarification of approach to 
renewables in green belt and also support for 
community-led schemes (subject to limitations)

None

LP14: Managing the Water Cycle – modification to be 
consistent with guidance

None

LP15: A Healthy Environment – modification to better 
protect air quality

Potentially positive effect on those with disability and 
chronic health conditions. 

LP16: Green Infrastructure – modification to ensure 
consistency with the NPPF and clarification on the 
protection of multi-user routes

Potentially positive effect of the policy but neutral effect 
of the modifications.

LP17: Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological 
Network – clarification of policy and of when 
supporting evidence would be required with a planning 
application

None

LP18: Open Space, Play Provision, Sports and 
Recreational Facilities and Allotments – modifications  
of policy for clarification and also modification to 
ensure consistency with the NPPF

Potentially negative effect as may reduce the Council’s 
flexibility to trade quantity for qualitative improvements 
in areas with low activity levels and deprivation, but 
little new development planned. The Council’s 
forthcoming play strategy and open space strategy 
should combined with existing evidence should provide 

P
age 317



6

adequate justification for positive changes regardless 
of the modification.

LP19: Chesterfield Canal – modification to clarify 
policy

None

LP20: River Corridors – modification to clarify and 
expand protective policy 

None

LP21: Design – modifications to support good design 
regardless of its nature, and to mitigate and withstand 
the impacts of climate change. Encouragement of 
public art with requirement removed.

None

LP22: Historic Environment – Modifications to ensure 
consistency with the NPPF

None

LP23: Influencing the Demand for Travel - additional 
text regarding cycle parking, and a commitment to 
prepare a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
on planning for walking and cycling within new 
development

None

RP1: Regeneration Priority Areas - Reduction of 
expected housing numbers in Duckmanton from 400 to 
310 due to landscape impact and gradient constraints. 
Increase of expected housing numbers in Mastin Moor 
from 400 to 670 to reflect evidence presented by 
landowner. Increase in housing numbers in Poolsbrook 
from 100 to 175 to reflect the planning permission now 
being implemented

None

SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre – modifications are to 
specify some evidence issues which should be 
addressed in the ‘Spire Neighbourhood’ area and also 
clarify requirements for supporting information where 
there is archaeological interest 

None

P
age 318



7

SS2: Chatsworth Road Corridor None

SS3: Chesterfield Waterside and the Potteries – 
modifications clarify broad development parameters

None

SS5: Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor – 
modifications to text emphasis and also to identify 
safeguarded land for HS2.

None

SS6: Land at Dunston (new policy) – modifications to 
clarify criteria for assessing development of the site

None

SS7: Chesterfield Railway Station (new policy) – 
modification to explicitly require inclusive access

Potential positive impact due to improved accessibility 
commitments. 

SS8: Neighbourhood Plans – modifications to ensures 
consistency with planning legislation and the NPPF

None

3. What outcomes do you want to achieve? 
The modifications are mainly to ensure that the Local Plan is consistent with the NPPF and relevant legislation. 

The broad aims and objectives of the Local Plan and the modified policies should still overall benefit all people 
who live, visit and work in Chesterfield. The policies are designed to concentrate development around existing 
centres and other accessible areas which will give better access to jobs, houses, education and services.

Over the next fifteen years, the Borough will have many challenges to face. This includes providing new housing 

P
age 319



8

and jobs, securing infrastructure and facilities for residents and visitors, in a way that helps us adapt to a 
changing climate. The planning system has a key role in helping to manage these changes and helping to reduce 
the impact on our Borough and its residents. As the Local Planning Authority, the Borough Council’s main way of 
doing this is through the production of the Local Plan.

Section 2 – What is the impact?

4. Summary of anticipated impacts.  Please tick at least one option per protected characteristic. Think about barriers people may 
experience in accessing services, how the policy is likely to affect the promotion of equality, knowledge of customer experiences to date. You 
may need to think about sub-groups within categories eg. older people, younger people, people with hearing impairment etc. 

Potentially positive 
impact

Potentially negative 
impact

No disproportionate 
impact

Age   
Disability and long term conditions   
Gender and gender reassignment   
Marriage and civil partnership   
Pregnant women and people on parental leave   
Sexual orientation   
Ethnicity   
Religion and belief   

Section 3 – Recommendations and monitoring

If you have answered that the policy, project, service, function or strategy could potentially have a negative impact on 
any of the above characteristics then a full EIA will be required. 

P
age 320



9

5. Should a full EIA be completed for this policy, project, service, function or strategy?
 Yes  No
Please explain the reasons for this decision:
The Policy documents are broad plans, no negative impacts are identified at this stage which would not be 
mitigated against, although a number of overarching positive impacts are anticipated.  Further Equality Impact 
Assessments will be undertaken as more detailed Developmental Planning Documents, Supplementary Planning 
Documents and Development Briefs are considered for individual sites.

Section 6 – Knowledge management and publication

Please note the draft EIA should be reviewed by the appropriate Service Manager and the Policy Service before 
WBR, Lead Member, Cabinet, Council reports are produced. 

Name: Alan MoreyReviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager
Date: 10/2/2020
Name: Katy MarshallReviewed by Policy Service 
Date: 12/02/2020

Final version of the EIA sent to Policy Service 
Decision information sent to Policy Service 

P
age 321



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref:  38746L014i2 

Chesterfield Local Plan Habitats Regulations 

Assessment 

Post-Examination Modifications and HRA Conclusions  
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Chesterfield Local Plan and Requirement for HRA 

Chesterfield Borough Council (the Council) has been preparing a new Local Plan since 2016.  This will set out 

the vision, objectives, planning policies and site allocations that will guide development in the Borough to 

2035. 

Local Plans are subject to Regulation 105 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the 

‘Habitats Regulations’).  This states that if a land-use plan is “(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a 

European site1 or a European offshore marine site2 (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects); 

and (b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site” then the plan-making 

authority must “…make an appropriate assessment of the implications for the site in view of that site’s 

conservation objectives” before the plan is given effect. 

The process by which Regulation 105 is met is known as Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)3.  An HRA 

determines whether there will be any ‘likely significant effects’ (LSE) on any European site as a result of a 

plan’s implementation (either on its own or ‘in combination’ with other plans or projects) and, if so, whether 

these effects will result in any adverse effects on the site’s integrity.  The Council has a statutory duty to 

prepare the Local Plan and is therefore the Competent Authority for an HRA. 

Regulation 105 essentially provides a test that the final plan must pass; there is no statutory requirement for 

HRA to be undertaken on draft plans or similar developmental stages (e.g. issues and options; preferred 

options).  However, as with Sustainability Appraisal (SA), it is accepted best-practice for the HRA of strategic 

planning documents to be run as an iterative process alongside plan development; this is undertaken in 

consultation with Natural England (NE) and other appropriate consultees.  Wood has therefore been assisting 

the Council with the HRA of its Local Plan throughout its development. 

 
1 Strictly, ‘European sites’ are: any Special Area of Conservation (SAC) from the point at which the European Commission and the UK 

Government agree the site as a ‘Site of Community Importance’ (SCI); any classified Special Protection Area (SPA); any candidate SAC 

(cSAC); and (exceptionally) any other site or area that the Commission believes should be considered as an SAC but which has not been 

identified by the Government.  However, the term is also commonly used when referring to potential SPAs (pSPAs), to which the 

provisions of Article 4(4) of Directive 2009/147/EC (the ‘new wild birds directive’) apply; and to possible SACs (pSACs) and listed Ramsar 

Sites, to which the provisions of the Habitats Regulations are applied a matter of Government policy (NPPF para. 176) when considering 

development proposals that may affect them.  “European site” is therefore used in this report in its broadest sense, as an umbrella term 

for all of the above designated sites.   

2 ‘European offshore marine sites’ are defined by Regulation 15 of The Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 

2007 (as amended); these regulations cover waters (and hence sites) over 12 nautical miles from the coast.   

3 The term ‘Appropriate Assessment’ has been historically used to describe the process of assessment; however, the process is now more 

accurately termed ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ (HRA), with the term ‘Appropriate Assessment’ limited to the specific stage within 

the process. 

Page 323



 2 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

The Council submitted the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan: Submission Version4 (the draft Local Plan) to the 

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government on 28 June 2019, in accordance with 

Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 20125.  This 

submission was accompanied by an HRA report6 setting out the relevant evidence and proposed conclusions 

for the HRA process. 

The government appointed two planning inspectors to conduct an independent examination (known as an 

‘Examination in Public or EiP) into the Local Plan.  The EiP hearing sessions subsequently took place between 

15 October and 6 November 2019.  During the hearings, a number of Main Modifications (MMs) to the Local 

Plan were proposed.  At the conclusion of the hearings, the Inspectors requested that the Council confirm the 

proposed changes in a Schedule of MMs.  The Inspectors have reviewed the Schedule of MMs, provided 

additional comments to assist the Council and confirmed that the Council can publish the schedule for 

consultation. 

1.2 Proposed Main Modifications 

Under Section 20(7) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), as revised by Section 112 of the 

Localism Act (2011), post-Examination modifications are either classified as "main" or "additional" 

modifications: 

⚫ “Main Modifications” are required to resolve issues in order to make the Local Plan sound or to 

ensure its legal compliance.  They involve changes or insertions to policies and text that are 

essential to enable the plan to be adopted.  Main Modifications are therefore changes that 

have an impact on the implementation of a policy. 

⚫ “Additional Modifications” are of a more minor nature and do not materially affect the policies 

set out in the draft Local Plan.  Additional modifications mainly relate to points where a need 

has been identified to clarify the text, include updated facts, or make typographical or 

grammatical revisions which improve the readability of the Local Plan. 

The MMs proposed by the Inspectors will be the subject of further consultation.  The Inspectors will take into 

account the responses to the consultation before finally concluding whether or not a change along the lines 

of the MMs is required to make the Local Plan sound.  Additional (minor) Modifications will not be 

considered by the Inspectors as they do not relate to the soundness of the plan. 

1.3 Purpose of this Addendum 

The Council must be satisfied that the conclusions contained in the 2019 HRA Report will remain robust if the 

MMs are adopted, in order to address its responsibilities under the Habitat Regulations.  This Technical Note 

summarises Wood’s review of the MMs and sets out the proposed conclusions of the HRA process.  It does 

not repeat the baseline or assessments set out in the main HRA report7, and should therefore be read in 

conjunction with this earlier report. 

 
4 Chesterfield Borough Council (2018) Chesterfield Borough Local Plan: Submission Version. Available from 

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930192/sd1-pre-submission-local-plan-2018-2033.pdf  [Accessed Jan 2020]. 

5 SI 2012 No. 767 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

6 Wood (2019) Local Plan for Chesterfield Borough Pre-Submission Draft: Habitats Regulations Assessment.  Report for Chesterfield 

Borough Council, ref. L38746rr010i2.  Wood Environment and Infrastructure Solutions UK Ltd, Shrewsbury.  Available at: 

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930139/ksd4-habitat-regulations-assessment-january-2019.pdf [Accessed Jan 2020]. 

7 Ibid. footnote 6 

Page 324

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930192/sd1-pre-submission-local-plan-2018-2033.pdf
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930139/ksd4-habitat-regulations-assessment-january-2019.pdf


 3 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

2. Approach 

The review of the proposed MMs follows the assessment approach outlined in Sections 2.3 and 4.2 of the 

main HRA document.  In summary, the MMs have been reviewed to determine whether they would: 

⚫ Lead to any new effects on any European sites (alone or in combination) that have not been 

considered by the HRA to date; or  

⚫ Alter the magnitude (etc.) of any effects previously considered through the HRA, such that the 

proposed conclusions of the HRA (see Section 7 of the main report) are no longer valid. 

The review also considers any new evidence that has become available since the EiP hearings took place. 

3. Summary of Assessment 

3.1 Draft Local Plan HRA Summary 

The HRA of the draft Local Plan demonstrated that the vast majority of the Local Plan policies and proposed 

site allocations will have ‘no effect’ (either alone or in combination) on any European sites, typically because 

either they are policy types that do not make provision for changes or they are sites at considerable distance 

from the European sites (with no known pollutant or effect pathway). 

The HRA screening process determined the following: 

⚫ There are no European sites in or in close proximity (<3 km) to Chesterfield Borough. 

⚫ Five European sites and one “prospective potential” European site are within 15km of the 

Borough boundary. 

⚫ The growth supported by the Local Plan has the potential to contribute to ‘in combination’ air 

quality effects on sensitive sites. 

⚫ All of the European sites within the study area are beyond the distance that significant effects 

‘alone’ due to visitor/recreational pressure would be expected, although the Local Plan may 

make a contribution to ‘in combination’ visitor/recreational pressure effects at the sites. 

⚫ Other potential mechanisms for sites to be affected, notably through changes in water resource 

permissions, or water quality changes, will not occur due to the absence of reasonable impact 

pathways. 

The potential effects from air quality and visitor/recreational pressure were subject to more detailed 

‘appropriate assessments’ in relation to each European site, taking into account policy-based measures 

incorporated into the plan.  In summary: 

⚫ Air Quality: The analysis determined that the draft Local Plan would: 

 have no significant effects, alone or in combination, on the Bilhaugh and Birklands SAC 

due to air quality changes (the ‘appropriate assessment’ analyses were undertaken to 

resolve a residual uncertainty, although this has clearly demonstrated that ‘significant 

effects’ will not occur due to the negligible scale of any increases in traffic flows along 

the road closest to the SAC); 

  

Page 325



 4 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

 have no adverse effects on the integrity of Gang Mine SAC, Peak District Dales SAC, Peak 

District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA or South Pennine Moors SAC, alone 

or in combination due to air quality changes (air quality modelling suggests that 

thresholds for ‘significant’ effects will be exceeded, but additional analyses demonstrate 

that these effects will be too localised and small scale to adversely affect the integrity of 

the sites); 

 have no adverse effects on the integrity of the Sherwood Forest ppSPA (based on 

distance and existing data, although this cannot be confirmed until the site is 

designated, and the boundaries are established). 

⚫ Visitor/Recreational Pressures:  Existing studies strongly suggest that the contribution of new 

development to visitor pressure decreases substantially with distance, and will in most 

instances be considered ‘not significant’ at distances over 8km.  The Chesterfield Borough Local 

Plan includes measures that will help minimise its contribution to visitor pressure, including 

policies relating to the protection and enhancement of the green infrastructure locally 

(although NE has stated that it “…would not however require GI as mitigation for public 

access/disturbance effects on the European sites”.  The analysis determined that the draft Local 

Plan will: 

 have no adverse effects, alone or in combination, on the Bilhaugh and Birklands SAC, 

Gang Mine SAC, Peak District Dales SAC, or Sherwood Forest ppSPA (these sites are over 

the typically accepted distance thresholds for significant effects to be possible, or not 

vulnerable to visitor pressure effects due to site characteristics and access restrictions); 

 have no adverse effects, alone or in combination, on the integrity of the Peak District 

Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA or South Pennine Moors SAC (due to the 

relatively small scale of growth in the Borough supported by the Local Plan; and the 

limited exposure of the interest features due to the physical characteristics of the 

European sites and the management measures employed to reduce or control that 

exposure). 

Overall, the HRA of the draft Local Plan concluded it will have no adverse effects on the integrity of any 

European sites, alone or in combination. 

3.2 Review of Modifications 

The review of the MM is set out in Appendix A of this technical note.  This identifies the proposed MM, the 

reasons for this, and whether the change has any implications for the conclusions of the HRA such that 

additional assessment would be required for a robust HRA conclusion.  The MMs generally relate to the 

following principal changes to the Local Plan. 

⚫ Plan Period: The Plan Period is proposed to be amended to cover the period 2018 to 2035, 

previously it was 2033. 

⚫ Strategic Objectives:  The Main Modifications include amendments to strategic objectives S2 

and S6, reflecting the change to the plan period, minimum number of homes to be built over 

the plan period (4,080, reduced from 4,374) and the amount of employment land to be 

provided over the revised plan period (50 ha., increased from 44 ha. to reflect the extension of 

the plan period). 

⚫ Options for Housing sites:  Removal of four small sites, minor changes to the names of a 

number of sites and / or changes to the anticipated capacity of sites (MM18). 

 

Page 326



 5 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

⚫ Development management policies:   

 Various policy clarifications relating to sustainable transport, housing mix, the role of centres 

and neighbourhoods, renewable energy, managing demand for travel and other changes 

made for consistency with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning 

Practice Guidance; 

 Deletion of Policy LP3 ‘Presumption in favour of sustainable development;’  

 Enhancement or clarification of protective policies relating to the countryside, flood risk, 

agricultural land, open space, green infrastructure, protected sites and species, river 

corridors, and the historic environment.  

In summary, none of the proposed MMs will lead to any new effects on any European sites (alone or in 

combination) that have not been previously considered by the HRA to date; nor do they alter the magnitude 

(etc.) of any effects previously considered through the HRA.  The provisional conclusions of the HRA set out 

in Section 7 of the main HRA report therefore remain valid.   

4. Conclusions 

The proposed modifications to the draft Local Plan do not affect the HRA conclusions outlined in the main 

HRA report, i.e. 

⚫ most aspects of the Local Plan will have no significant effects on any European sites, alone or in 

combination due to the absence of effect pathways; and 

⚫ where effect pathways are present or where there are uncertainties over the scale of the effects 

(in combination air quality and visitor pressure effects), ‘appropriate assessments’ have 

demonstrated that the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on site integrity.   

Therefore, additional assessment of the modified plan (i.e. with the Main Modifications incorporated) against 

the Habitats Regulations is not required.  It will remain necessary to review any further changes that are 

made to the Local Plan prior to adoption in order to ensure that the HRA conclusions remain robust, and a 

formal assessment conclusion against the requirements of Regulation 105 will be made on adoption; 

however, the current conclusion of the HRA process is that the Local Plan will have no adverse effects 

on the integrity of any European sites as a result of its implementation. 

CBC HRA Statement 

The following text may be used in any formal statement that CBC wishes to publish on adoption of the plan 

(assuming that no further substantive amendments are required): 

Chesterfield Borough Council, as the Competent Authority, has assessed the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 

against the provisions of Regulation 105 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the 

‘Habitats Regulations’).  The supporting information for this assessment is provided in the document “Local 

Plan for Chesterfield Borough Pre-Submission Draft: Habitats Regulations Assessment”, which is available at 

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930139/ksd4-habitat-regulations-assessment-january-2019.pdf, 

and in the subsequent review of the Main Modifications which is available at [XXXXX].  

The assessment determined that significant effects on five European sites (or sites treated as such as a 

matter of Government policy) could not be excluded: Birklands and Bilhaugh SAC; South Pennine Moors 

SAC; Peak District (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA; Peak District Dales SAC; and Gang Mine SAC.  The 

assessment also, as a precaution, explored the potential for effects on the ‘Sherwood Forest prospective 

potential SPA (ppSPA) in accordance with recommendations from Natural England.  Consequently, an 

Page 327

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/media/930139/ksd4-habitat-regulations-assessment-january-2019.pdf


 6 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

‘appropriate assessment’ was completed in accordance with the Regulations to determine the implications of 

the plan for the qualifying features of those sites with reference to their Conservation Objectives.   

Through this assessment, and taking into account mitigation measures specified within the plan, the Council 

has concluded that the Local Plan will have no adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites, alone 

or in combination with other plans or projects.  This conclusion has been accepted by Natural England 

following formal consultation and Examination in Public and the Council is adopting the Local Plan on this 

basis. 

  

Page 328



 7 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

   

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

 

Issued by  

 

…………………………………………………………….. 

pp Mike Frost 

Approved by  

…………………………………………………………….. 

Peter Davis 

Copyright and non-disclosure notice 

The contents and layout of this report are subject to copyright owned by Wood (© Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK 

Limited 2019) save to the extent that copyright has been legally assigned by us to another party or is used by Wood under licence. To 

the extent that we own the copyright in this report, it may not be copied or used without our prior written agreement for any purpose 

other than the purpose indicated in this report. The methodology (if any) contained in this report is provided to you in confidence and 

must not be disclosed or copied to third parties without the prior written agreement of Wood. Disclosure of that information may 

constitute an actionable breach of confidence or may otherwise prejudice our commercial interests. Any third party who obtains access 

to this report by any means will, in any event, be subject to the Third Party Disclaimer set out below. 

Third party disclaimer  

Any disclosure of this report to a third party is subject to this disclaimer. The report was prepared by Wood at the instruction of, and for 

use by, our client named on the front of the report. It does not in any way constitute advice to any third party who is able to access it by 

any means. Wood excludes to the fullest extent lawfully permitted all liability whatsoever for any loss or damage howsoever arising from 

reliance on the contents of this report. We do not however exclude our liability (if any) for personal injury or death resulting from our 

negligence, for fraud or any other matter in relation to which we cannot legally exclude liability.   

Management systems 

This document has been produced by Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited in full compliance with our management 

systems, which have been certified to ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 by LRQA. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 329



 8 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

8 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Appendix A – Review of Main Modifications 

This schedule sets out the Main Modifications proposed by the Council; the paragraph and policy numbers refer to the submitted Local Plan.  New text is shown as 

underlined.  Deleted text is shown as strikethrough. Actions are shown in italic. 

Table A1 Review of Main Modifications 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM1 Contents 

Page 

Insert revised contents page.  See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed 

Modifications) for the proposed modification. 

To identify Strategic Policies as 

required by the NPPF 

None 

MM2 

 

Pages 14-15 Insert Key Diagram between pages 14 and 15. See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams 

(Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. 

 None 

MM3 Paragraph 

1.3 (page 9)  

1.3    There will be 44 50 ha of land provided between 2018 and 2033 2035 for new high quality 

employment development so that together with existing employment areas, a range of jobs and 

training opportunities are easily accessible to those who need them. All this new development will be 

in areas with an established industrial character or areas of regeneration specifically designated for 

mixed use. Economic activity and employment opportunities are focussed where the regeneration 

benefits can be maximised, particularly in the Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor and along the A61 

Corridor where there is significant need for work and training. High employment density uses such as 

offices are located in the most accessible locations near to town and district centres. 

To align the employment land 

requirement figure with the plan 

period of 2018-2035. 

None; the increase in area is 

marginal, reflects the change in 

the plan period and will not alter 

the HRA conclusions.  

MM4 Paragraph 

1.20 (page 

12) 

1.20 Sites are made available for at least 4374 4080 homes between 2018 and 2033 2035 to 

meet the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN), the majority of which are located within easy walking 

and cycling reach of the existing district and town centres. Some new housing development will be 

directed to areas suffering from deprivation to aid the regeneration of these communities. Some of 

this housing will need to be in well-designed, sensitive urban extensions on greenfield sites. Local 

centres and community facilities there will need to be improved. In addition, some housing is also 

concentrated around ‘Local Service Centres’. 

To align the housing 

requirement with the LHN 

methodology set out in the 

NPPF and NPPG and the 

extended plan period of 2018-

2035. 

None 

MM5 Objective 2 

(page 14) 

S2 Provide sites for at least 4374 4080 homes to be built between 2018 and 2033 2035 to 

meet the housing requirement for Chesterfield borough 

To align the housing 

requirement with the LHN 

methodology set out in the 

None 

P
age 330



 9 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

9 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

NPPF and NPPG and the 

extended plan period of 2018-

2035. 

MM6 Objective S6 

(page 14) 

S6:    Provide 44 at least 50 ha of new employment land between 2018 and 2033 2035. 

 

To align the employment land 

requirement figure with the plan 

period of 2018-2035. 

None 

MM7 Paragraphs 

2.2 to 2.6 

and table 1 

2.2. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment Update 2017 indicates an Objectively Assessed Need 

(OAN) of 265 net new dwellings per annum is required to meet the borough’s housing needs.  The 

Local Housing Need (LHN) methodology set out in the NPPF indicates a minimum housing 

need of 240 new dwellings per annum.  No further adjustments to this figure are required to 

account for unmet need in neighbouring areas or other demographic or economic factors. 

2.3. Between 2014-2033 2035, this equates to a minimum housing requirement of 5035 4,080 

new dwellings (240 dwellings per year). 

2.4. 661 net new dwellings were completed between 2014 and 2018. 

2.5. Because there has been an under-delivery of homes since 2014 (the base date for the SHMA 

update projections), a shortfall of 399 dwellings is added 

which will be spread over the plan period. 

2.6. This gives a housing target of 292 net new dwellings per annum. 

 

Table 1 

Objectively Assessed Need (OAN)  

OAN over plan period 2014 to 2033 (19 x 265)  

Net completions 2014 to 2018 

Outstanding need 

Shortfall of dwellings from 2014 to 2018 

Revised OAN including shortfall 

265 pa 

5035 net new dwellings 

661 dwellings 

4374 net new dwellings 

399 dwellings 

292net new dwellings pa 
 

To align the housing 

requirement with the LHN 

methodology set out in the 

NPPF and NPPG and the 

extended plan period of 2018-

2035. 

None 

MM8 Paragraph 

2.8 (page 16) 

2.8.  This work concludes that 44 hectares of employment land are required between 2018-2033, split 

into B1 5.2 ha, B2 – 21 ha and B8 – 17.6 ha. This equates to a minimum of 50ha across the Local 

Plan period of 2018 to 2035. Chesterfield needs to be able to offer an appropriate range of 

employment sites, in terms of quantity, size and location. The quality of site provision is key, and the 

best employment sites must be protected. 

To align the employment land 

requirement figure with the plan 

period of 2018-2035. 

None 

P
age 331



 10 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

10 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM9 Table 2  

(page 16) 

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 

To align the employment land 

requirement figure with the plan 

period of 2018-2035. 

None 

MM10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy LP1 LP1 Spatial Strategy 

 

The overall approach to growth will be to concentrate new development within walking distance of a 

range of Key Services as set out in policy LP2 centres, and to focus on areas that need 

regenerating, including the ‘place shaping’ areas set out in policies SS1 to SS6 and Regeneration 

Priority Areas. 

 

Regeneration Priority Areas 

 

The council will maximise regeneration benefits to existing communities offered by development 

opportunities in the following areas: 

 

• Eastern Villages– Barrow Hill, Duckmanton, Mastin Moor, Poolsbrook,  

• Holme Hall 

• Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor 

 

Housing Growth 

 

The council will make provision for the delivery of a minimum Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) of 

240 new dwellings per year, (4,0804374 dwellings over the period 2018 to 20332035). New 

housing development will be in line with the strategy of ‘Concentration and Regeneration’. 

 

Economic Growth 

 

To maintain economic growth and quality of provision, the council will make provision for 44 50 

hectares of new employment land (B1, B2 and B8 uses) over the period 2018 to 2033 2035. The key 

areas for employment land are at the already committed Markham Vale development, and at 

Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor. Policy LP7 and the policies map sets out broad locations for 

employment uses. 

 

Green Belt 

 

 

 

To align with the approach set 

out in the NPPF 

 

 

Additional modification for 

clarity in response to Chatsworth 

Settlement Trustees 

representation. 

 

 

 

 

 

To use the Local Housing Need 

figure to be consistent with the 

NPPF and NPPG. 

 

 

 

To align the employment land 

requirement figure with the plan 

period of 2018-2035. 

None 

P
age 332



 11 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

11 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

The existing Green Belt will be maintained and enhanced. 

 

Strategic Gaps and Green Wedges 

 

Strategic gaps give distinct identity to different areas, prevent 

neighbouring settlements from merging into one another, and maintain open space. Green Wedges 

provide access to the countryside from urban areas. The open character of Strategic Gaps will be 

protected from development between: 

 

• Brimington and Tapton (SG1) 

• Ringwood and Hollingwood (SG2) 

• Lowgates / Netherthorpe and Woodthorpe / Mastin Moor (SG3) 

• Woodthorpe and Markham Vale (SG4) 

• Old Whittington and New Whittington (SG5) 

• Brimington North (SG6) 

 

Green Wedges provide access to the countryside from urban areas. Green Wedges will be protected 

from development at: 

 

• Walton River Hipper Corridor (GW1) 

• Holme Hall and Newbold Green (GW2) 

• Dunston and Sheepbridge (GW3) 

 

The boundaries of Strategic Gaps and Green Wedges are identified on the 

Policies Map. 

MM11 Paragraph 

2.15 and 

2.17  

[2.16 

unchanged] 

2.15. The Local Plan’s spatial strategy aims to support and encourage walking,  and cycling and the 

use of public transport by locating new development within reasonable walking distance of a 

range of key services in centres. The Local Plan’s spatial strategy also recognises the importance 

of convenient access on foot to key services for those on low incomes, including the health 

benefits of walkable neighbourhoods. The concept of a walkable neighbourhood is set out in 

the Council’s supplementary planning document: ‘Successful Places’. 

 

2.16 [Paragraph remains unmodified] 

To clarify the approach taken to 

sustainable transport. 

None 

P
age 333



 12 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

12 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

2.17 What constitutes a reasonable walking distance is set out in various relevant guidance8 

including the Council’s adopted residential design guide supplementary planning document: 

‘Successful Places’. When seeking to apply the spatial strategy and principles for the location 

of development the Council will have regard to the concept of a walkable neighbourhood and 

the walking distances described in its SPD: Successful Places. Regard will also be had to 

However, a “reasonable” walking distance is likely to be affected by the likely effect of factors such 

as location, topography, weather, pedestrian facilities, trip purpose and cultural factors. There are 

also qualitative considerations which will be taken into account, including (but not exclusively): 

 

- topography 

- lighting 

- quality of surface 

- provision of off road pathways 

- safety, including isolated pathways, extent of overlooking, 

lighting, traffic, pedestrian crossings 

- accessibility, including dropped curbs 

 

[additional footnote] 

 
1 Table 3.2 on page 49 Guidelines for Journeys on Foot (Institution of Highways and 

Transportation) and Paragraph 3.30 on page 48 of Guidelines for Journeys on Foot (Institution 

of Highways and Transportation) 

MM12 Policy LP2 LP2 Principles for Location of Development 

 

In allocating new development, or assessing Pplanning applications for developments that are not 

allocated in a DPDthe Local Plan, sites will be assessed supported according toby the extent to 

which the proposals meet the following requirements which are set out in order of priority: 

 

a) deliver the council’s Spatial Strategy (policy LP1); 

b) are on previously developed land that is not of high environmental value; 

c) are not on the best and most versatile agricultural land; 

dc) deliver wider regeneration and sustainability benefits to the area; 

To clarify the approach to 

sustainable transport and how 

planning applications for 

development on unallocated 

sites will be assessed. 

None 

 
 

P
age 334



 13 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

13 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

e) utilise existing capacity in social infrastructure (policy LP11) or are of sufficient scale to provide 

additional capacity, either on site or through contributions towards off-site improvements; 

fd) maximise opportunities through their location for walking and cycling and the use of public 

transport (policy LP23)access to a range of key services1 via safe, lit, convenient walking routes; 

e) maximise opportunities through their location for cycling and the use of public transport to 

access a range of key services; 

f) utilise existing capacity in social infrastructure (policy LP11) or are of sufficient scale to 

provide additional capacity, either on site or through contributions towards off-site 

improvements; 

g) Ensure the long term protection of safeguarded Minerals Related Infrastructure as identified in the 

Derbyshire and Derby Minerals Local Plan and shown on the Policies Map 

h) are not on the best and most versatile agricultural land; 

h) meet sequential test requirements set out by other national or local policies. 

 

Exceptions to the council’s Spatial Strategy will be considered where development proposals can 

clearly demonstrate that the proposed use: 

 

i. needs to be in a specific location in order to serve a defined local catchment or need, to access 

specific resources or facilities (including transport connections) or to make functional links to other, 

existing uses; or  

ii. be addressed or to support existing community facilities that 

otherwise would be at risk of closure. 

 

New residential development will be expected to be within walking distance (800m) of an existing or 

proposed Local, District or Town Centre, via a safe, lit, convenient walking route, or demonstrate the 

ability to deliver appropriate provision on site..  

 
1 DfT Accessibility Indicators: 

• Employment centres 

• Primary schools 

• Secondary schools 

• Further Education institutions 

• GPs 

• Hospitals 

• Food stores 

P
age 335



 14 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

14 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

• Town Centres 

 

MM13 Policy LP3 Delete all of paragraph 2.18 and Policy LP3 and the associated heading. Paragraph 11 of the revised 

NPPF contains a presumption in 

favour of sustainable 

development similar to that in 

Policy LP3, which applies to 

decision-taking on development 

proposals and in effect removes 

the need for policy LP3. 

 

None 

MM14 Paragraph 

3.1 

3.1   To meet the housing needs of a growing population and a growing economy, a total of at least 

4374 4,080 net new dwellings must be built in Chesterfield Borough between 2018 and 2033 2035. 

This is derived from the objectively assessed need figure Local Housing Need methodology 

derived housing requirement of 265 240 dwellings per annum plus the net level of completions 

since 2014. This requires the completion of, on average, 292 dwellings each year over the remaining 

15 year period. This strategic housing requirement is not a ceiling, and may be exceeded provided 

that it is sustainable, it can be supported by existing or new infrastructure and it meets the objectives 

and policies in the Local Plan. 

To use the Local Housing Need 

figure to be consistent with the 

NPPF and NPPG. 

 

None 

MM15 Table 3  Replace table 3 and add supporting text as additional paragraph. 

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 

The Local Plan must demonstrate a deliverable supply of housing sites sufficient for five years 

with a minimum buffer of 5% (20% in the case of evidence of persistent under-delivery via the 

Housing Delivery Test).  As of 1st April 2019, there was an existing shortfall of 28 dwellings, to 

be resolved within the first five years.  Monitoring indicates that the borough is currently on 

target to resolve the entirety of this shortfall by 1st April 2020.  The council has therefore 

applied a 20% buffer for under-delivery to the five years from 1st April 2019 (the first four 

years of the plan based on an adoption date on April 2020).  A 10% lapse rate has been 

applied to commitments. 

 

To meet the requirement in the 

NPPF to demonstrate that the 

assessed needs for housing will 

be met across a minimum of 15 

years from adoption and that the 

plan can demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable housing 

sites from the date of adoption. 

None 

P
age 336



 15 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

15 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Year LHN 
Actual 

Completions 

LHN + 

Buffer 

Trajectory 

Forecast 

2018/19 240 212 240 212 

2019/20 240 N/A 294 315 

2020/21 240 N/A 294 516 

2021/22 240 N/A 294 515 

2022/23 240 N/A 294 659 

2023/24 240 N/A 295 466 

2024/25 240 N/A 240 338 

 

From 1st April 2020 the council therefore expects to demonstrate a supply of 2493 new 

dwellings against a target of 1417 dwellings. 

 

Over the whole plan period the council can demonstrate a supply of 6247 dwellings against a 

minimum housing requirement of 4080 between 2018 and 2035. 

 

Delivery, including lapse and windfall rates, will continue to be monitored across the plan 

period and taken into account in future reviews. 

MM16  Housing Trajectory graph added 

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 

 None 

MM17 Policy LP4 LP4 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing 

 

Planning permission will be granted for residential development on the sites allocated on the policies 

map and as set out in table 4, provided they accord with other relevant policies of the Local Plan. 

 

Planning permission for residential development proposals on unallocated sites will only be 

permitted where it accords with the strategy of ‘Concentration and Regeneration’ as set out in 

policies LP1 and LP2 and other relevant policies of the Plan, and: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

None 

P
age 337



 16 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

16 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Outside of the built-up area (as set out on the policies map), and subject to other relevant 

policies of the Local Plan, new residential development on sites not allocated in table 4 will 

only be permitted where: 

 

a) It is within the built up area: or 

a) The development can demonstrate that it would have reasonable access to a range of Key 

Services as set out in policy LP2; and   

b) It re-uses redundant or disused buildings and enhances their immediate setting; or 

c) It is for the sub-division of an existing residential dwelling; or 

d) It is for the redevelopment of previously developed land in a manner that would not harm the 

intrinsic positive character of the countryside; or 

e) It represents the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling 

development to secure the future of the heritage asset; or 

f) It meets a specific demonstrable housing need for a rural worker that can only be met in that 

particular location; or 

g) It is of exceptional quality of design quality, in that it: 

i) is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest 

standards in architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in 

rural areas; and 

ii) would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 

defining characteristics of the local area. 

 

 

Where the council cannot, at the time, demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable sites for 

housing, planning permission for new residential development outside the built up area will be 

permitted in exception to the above criteria where it can demonstrate that it accords with the 

strategy of ‘Concentration and Regeneration’ as set out in policies LP1 and LP2 and 

other relevant policies of the Plan. 

 

 

To link the policy to a 

modification to the policies map 

to define the extent of the ‘built 

up area’.  To differentiate 

between the built-up area and 

beyond it in terms of acceptable 

levels of accessibility to services 

for new housing and impact on 

the intrinsic value of the 

countryside. See corresponding 

modification to the proposals 

map. 

 

 

To have greater consistency with 

paragraph 79(a) of the NPPF.  

 

 

 

 

To remove an unnecessary 

element of the policy given the 

operation of paragraph 11(d) of 

the NPPF in situations where the 

Council cannot demonstrate a 

five year supply or housing 

completions fall below the 

thresholds set out in the NPPF.   

MM18 Table 4 See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 None 

P
age 338



 17 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

17 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM19 Paragraph 

3.10 

3.10. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2017 estimated what type 

and amount of housing is required in the borough. This includes the need for 

affordable housing. 

 

Recommended Size Mix of Homes 

1-bed  2-bed  3-bed  4+ bed 

Market  0-5%  30%  50%  15-20% 

Low-cost home 

ownership 
10-15%  40-45%  35-40%  5-10% 

Affordable 

housing (rented) 
25-30%  45%  20%  5-10% 

 

3.11. This takes account of both local need and the potential for delivery of larger aspirational 

housing which helps to diversify the housing mix in the Borough and to support economic 

regeneration and reduce in-commuting of higher earners. If the Council wishes to focus more 

specifically on meeting local needs the mix of market housing needed would be focused slightly 

more towards two and three bedroom homes than that shown, with lower expected delivery of 

homes with four or more bedrooms. 

To remove reference to the mix 

of homes recommended in the 

SHMA, as it relates to the whole 

HMA area and is evidence that 

will be updated. 

None 

MM20 Table 7 and  

Additional 

paragraphs 

follow 

paragraph 

3.17 

Housing for Older People 

 

3.X  As well as providing a stock of adaptable and accessible properties, there is an 

identified need for housing for older people.  

3.X Derbyshire County Council2 identified a number of key statistics for Chesterfield in 

relation to housing for older people: 

• 3,358 people provide 50 hours of more informal care per week 

• There are 2,028 current service users aged 65 and over in receipt of Adult Care 

Services 

• 1,494 people over the age of 65 are living with Dementia and this is set to increase to 

2,437 by 2035, an increase of 63.1%. 

• 13.5% of total households are single persons aged 65 and over living alone, this is 

6,318 households. 

• 468 care home with nursing beds and 498 care beds are currently available in 29 

settings. 

 

3.X Specialist housing for older people comprises four accommodation types3 

To include new evidence 

(Housing and accommodation 

for an ageing population: a 

strategic vision for Derbyshire to 

2035 (DCC 2019) as part of the 

reasoned justification for policy 

LP5. 

 

 

None 

P
age 339



 18 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

18 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

• Housing for older people: social sector sheltered and age-exclusive housing and 

private sector leasehold retirement housing. This will include schemes, for rent and 

for sale, with on-site staff support, those with locality-based support services and 

schemes with no associated support services. (This includes ‘Age Restricted general 

market housing’ and ‘Retirement living or sheltered housing’ as defined in national 

planning guidance2:) 

• Housing with care: includes extra care schemes, often called ‘assisted living’ in the 

private sector, with 24/7 care available on-site and housing schemes that offer 

bespoke care services, even if these are not full on-site 24/7 care, across both the 

social and private sector. (This is as defined in national planning guidance ‘Extra care 

housing or housing-with-care’) 

• Residential care: residential accommodation together with personal care, i.e. a care 

home (as defined in national planning guidance as ‘Residential care homes’). 

• Nursing care: residential accommodation together with nursing care i.e. a care home 

with nursing (as defined in national planning guidance as ‘Nursing homes’). 

 

3.X The 2014 SHMA provided an indication of annual need for Housing for Older People 

and Housing with Care as 50 dwellings per annum.  

 

Move Table 6 to here 

 

3.X More recently, Derbyshire County Council9 have estimated the net additional need 

for older peoples housing up to 2035:  

 

Estimated net additional need for older people’s housing 2019 to 2035 

Local 

Authority 

Housing for 

older people 

(units) 

Housing with 

Care 

(units) 

 
Current 

provisi

on 

Net 

additio

nal 

need 

(rent) 

2035 

Net 

additio

nal 

need 

(sale) 

2035 

Total 

net 

additio

nal 

need 

2035 

Current 

provisi

on 

Net 

additio

nal 

need 

(rent) 

2035 

Net 

additio

nal 

need 

(sale) 

2035 

Total 

net 

additio

nal 

need 

2035 

 
 

P
age 340



 19 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

19 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Chesterfiel

d  
2,798  0  281  281  55  277  59  336 

 

3.X The DCC estimation of need for older peoples housing over the period 2019 to 2035 

averages at 39 dwellings per annum, with a suggested tenure split of 85% rent 15% sale.  

3.17.  As well as the need for older peoples housing, the SHMA looked at the needs for 

registered care (Residential Care and Nursing Care) and identified potential need of 21 bed spaces 

per annum for the borough.  

3.X  The SHMA figure is in line with the 2019 DCC estimation (Table 9 Housing and 

accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 2035 (DCC 

2019)) which averages at 21 bed spaces per annum for Nursing Care but does identify a small 

surplus of Residential Care bed spaces. 

 

Estimated net additional need for Residential and Nursing Care beds to 2035 

 

Local 

Authority  

Residential care 

(beds) 

Nursing care 

(beds) 

Current 

provision  
Current provision  

Net additional need 

2035 

Current 

provision 

Net 

additiona

l need 

2035 

Chesterfield  455  -65  437  343 

 

[Additional Footnotes] 

 
2 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 

2035 (DCC 2019) 
3 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 

2035 (DCC 2019) 
4 Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 63-010-20190626 
5 Housing and accommodation for an ageing population: a strategic vision for Derbyshire to 

2035 (DCC 2019) Table 11 

 

MM21  3.18.   National planning guidance emphasises the need for policy to be and viable. Developments 

should not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be 

To provide clarity within the pre-

amble regarding viability and the 

None 

P
age 341



 20 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

20 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

developed viably is threatened. The 2018 Viability Study concluded that 25% adaptable and 

accessible housing and up to 20% affordable housing could be delivered in the borough. The 

proportion of affordable housing the council will seek to negotiate will vary up to a maximum of 

20%, and will be informed by is based on the Viability Study evidence and the CIL zones. The zones 

will be reviewed alongside CIL rates when updated viability evidence is available. 

 

relationship between policy LP5 

and CIL requirements. 

MM22 Policy LP5 

 

LP5 Range of Housing 

 

In order to increase local housing choice, respond to emerging needs and promote the creation of 

sustainable communities, in new housing developments the council will require seek a range of 

dwelling types and sizes based on the council’s most up to date evidence assessment of local 

housing needs and the location and characteristics of the site area. 

 

Affordable Housing 

 

On sites totalling 10 or more dwellings (including phases of those sites) up to 20% of affordable 

housing and 25% of adaptable and accessible housing7, will be sought by negotiation informed by 

required in line with the charging zones set in the council’s most recently adopted CIL Charging 

Schedule1. 

 

CIL Zone % Affordable Housing 

Required 

Type of affordable 

housing2 

Zero  0 n/a 

Low 5 10% Affordable 

Home Ownership 

 

90% Affordable Rent 

 

Medium 10 

High 20 

 

Where a development seeks a lower proportion or different mix of types/tenures, this will 

only be done through a viability assessment that demonstrates that particular circumstances 

exist including (but not limited to): 

 

To make the policy clearer and 

more effective, and to ensure 

consistency with the definition of 

affordable housing as set out in 

the NPPF. 

 

 

To provide flexibility and ensure 

consistency with national 

planning guidance. 

 

None 

P
age 342



 21 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

21 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

• development is proposed on unallocated sites of a wholly different type to those 

used in viability assessment that informed the plan; 

• where further information on infrastructure or site costs is required; 

• where particular types of development are proposed which may significantly vary 

from standard models of development for sale; 

• significant economic changes have occurred since the plan was adopted. 

 

Subject to site suitability, all affordable dwellings should be built to be adaptable and accessible 

homes, and within this 10% of the affordable dwellings should be built as wheelchair user homes. 

 

Any affordable home ownership delivered as part of an affordable housing contribution should be in 

the form of shared ownership. 

 

Where it is not possible or appropriate to deliver affordable housing on site, a financial contribution 

will be sought for provision off-site (including for adaptations). 

 

Where the provision of affordable housing would adversely impact on the viability of development, 

the developer will be required to submit evidence demonstrating this and justifying a lower 

contribution or alternative tenure mix. 

 

Adaptable and Accessible Housing 

 

The following requirements for adaptable and accessible housing will apply subject to 

consideration of site suitability, taking account of site specific factors such as vulnerability to 

flooding and site topography.  

 

• On sites totalling 10 or more dwellings (including phases of those sites)  

• 25% of dwellings should be built to building regulations standard M4(2) (where a 

site includes affordable housing this should normally be proportionately split 

between tenures) 

• Where the council has identified evidence of a specific need for a wheelchair 

accessible standard M4(3) property (for which the council is responsible for 

allocating or nominating a person to live in that dwelling) that is relevant to a site, 

this will be negotiated with the developer and secured by planning obligation, 

subject to consideration of viability and suitability. 

 

P
age 343



 22 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

22 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Where evidence is submitted to demonstrate that step-free access is not viable, there will be 

no requirement for adaptable and accessible housing (building regulations M4(2) or M4(3)).  

 

Housing for Older People 

Proposals for new registered care facilities for housing for older people will be supported permitted 

on the housing sites on Table 4 where they: 

• contribute to meeting needs identified in the councils most up to date evidence10; 

and 

• have good access to public transport, and  

• have good access to health services and facilities. 

 

Registered care facilities will not be expected to provide affordable housing on site or as an 

off-site contribution. 

 

[Additional Footnotes] 

 
1 https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-permission-and-

development-management/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx 
2 NPPF2019 Definition 

MM23 Paragraphs  

3.20, to 3.24 

and table 8 

3.20. The Derbyshire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2014 (GTAA) concluded that 

Chesterfield Borough has a pitch requirement of 4 over the period 2014 to 2019, with no 

requirement for the remainder of the plan period. Half All of this need has been met through 

planning permissions, resulting in a surplus of one pitch. 

 

3.21.   The latest government published updated guidance on Planning Policy for Travellers in 2015. 

This policy takes ‘travellers’ to mean gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople. This guidance 

requires local planning authorities to make a robust assessment of need for sites for travellers and to 

identify and update annually a supply of sites to meet pitch targets set to meet the need identified. 

Sites to address a five year supply are allocated in the Local Plan. 

 

3.22   The council undertook an exercise to identify potential sites for Gypsy and Traveller sites in late 

2017 and early 2018. This considered 46 sites and included public consultation on six. At the end of 

this process it was concluded that none of the sites met the criteria of being available and suitable. 

To update the reasoned 

justification in terms of 

committed authorised traveller 

sites. To remove reference to 

cancelled (albeit not replaced) 

guidance  

None 

 
 

P
age 344

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-permission-and-development-management/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx
https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-permission-and-development-management/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx


 23 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

23 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

            Table 8 

 

            There is an outstanding need for 2 pitches within the plan period. Based on historic delivery, 

it is anticipated that this will be delivered via a windfall. 

 

3.23.   In the absence of suitable sites, and in the event of an unanticipated need for a site arising, the 

Local Plan sets out a criteria-based approach by which planning applications for Gypsy and Traveller 

sites can be assessed. When considering proposals, the council will take account of the most recent 

national planning policy for traveller sites including: Government guidance within ‘Planning Policy 

for Traveller Sites’ 

 

The existing level of local provision and need for sites. 

The availability (or lack of) alternative accommodation for the applicants. 

Other personal circumstances of the applicant. 

 

3.24    The Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide 2008 should also be considered 

in relation to detailed design. 

MM24 Policy LP6 LP6 Sites for Travellers 

 

Planning permission will be permitted for Traveller pitches on the sites allocated on the Policies Map 

and as set out in table 8, and also on unallocated land where: 

 

the site is not located in the Green Belt;or adopted Local Green Spaces; 

there is no unacceptable impact on the function and purpose of Strategic Gaps, Green Wedges or on 

wildlife sites or other protected green spaces; 

the site is reasonably accessible to community services and facilities; 

the site provides adequate levels of amenity for users; 

the site can be adequately serviced with drinking water and sewerage disposal facilities; 

the site is of sufficient size to accommodate the proposed number of caravans, vehicles and ancillary 

work areas as appropriate; 

there is satisfactory boundary treatment to ensure privacy and to maintain visual amenities. 

the site is located outside of Flood Zone 3 

i) It meets other relevant policies of the Local Plan 

To ensure consistency with the 

national Planning Policy for 

Traveller Sites. Deletion of 

reference to flood risk as this 

would unnecessarily duplicate 

other policies in the Plan and 

national planning policy which 

will be applied in any case. 

Deletion of reference to Local 

Green Spaces as none are 

allocated in the Local Plan 

None 

P
age 345



 24 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

24 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM25 paragraphs 

4.8, page 31 

4.8.     The 2018 Employment Land study recommended that Chesterfield Borough should provide 

approximately 44 ha of new land for Business and Industrial use between 2018 and 2033 in order to 

provide sufficient jobs for the borough’s population and wider catchment.  This requirement figure 

has been extended to align with the plan period end date of 2035, which results in a total 

employment land requirement of 50 ha between 2018 and 2035. 

To update the employment land 

requirement in line with the plan 

period end date of 2035. 

None 

MM28 Table 9 

(page 32) 

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 

To update the Table of 

employment land supply in line 

with recent monitoring data. 

None 

MM29 Both Tables 

labelled 12, 

pages 40-41 

Replace both tables. See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for 

the proposed modification. 

 

Replacement of Table 12. 

Changes made to enhance the 

clarity and understanding of the 

borough’s Comparison Retail 

Supply. 

 

None 

MM30 Table 10 &  

Policy LP9 

[Table 10] 

 

Local centres – Sheffield Road 

 

LP9 Vitality and Viability of Centres 

 

Role of centres 

 

The council will support the role of the town, district, local service centres and local centres in 

providing shops and local services in safe, accessible and sustainable locations. New retail 

development within centres shown on the proposals map should make a positive contribution to the 

centre’s viability and vitality, and be of an appropriate scale  

 

To ensure the vibrancy, inclusiveness and economic activity of the borough’s centres, main town 

centre uses including health, leisure, entertainment, community facilities, sports, offices, art, food and 

drink, cultural and tourism facilities will be encouraged supported. 

 

Within centres and Chesterfield Town Centre Primary Shopping Area (PSA) planning permission will 

normally be granted for A1 retail uses. For main Main town centre uses other than A1 retail, 

To ensure that the policy is clear 

and reasonable, and is consistent 

with the NPPF. 

None P
age 346



 25 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

25 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

consideration will be given to the extent to which proposals accord with criteria a) to f) below: 

will normally be permitted where they will: 

 

a) not overwhelm the retail function of the centre, street or frontage where it is located by having 

have a detrimental positive impact on vitality and/or viability; 

b) provide active ground floor uses; 

c) contribute to an active, well-used and safe environment in the evening with acceptable impacts on 

residential amenities; 

dc) cater for a wide public through diversity of leisure and cultural attractions and events; 

ed) contribute to an appropriate mix of licensed premises; and 

fe) contribute to efforts to tackle vacant, under-used and derelict buildings within centres, 

particularly in historic buildings. 

 

Within Secondary shopping areas of Chesterfield Town Centre planning permission will normally be 

granted for any main town centre uses. 

 

Residential uses (C3) will normally only be permitted at first floor level and above (with the exception 

of suitable provision for access) 

 

The Council will support the temporary occupation of empty buildings and cleared sites by creative 

industries and cultural and community organisations where they contribute to regeneration and 

enhance the character of the area'. 

 

Proposals for comprehensive redevelopment of a centre or part of a centre will be considered where 

the proposals can demonstrate the community benefits of redevelopment and justify any loss of 

retail facilities. The provision of new local centres may be considered where a need arises. 

 

MM31 LP10 LP10 Retail 

 

Across the borough, a sequential approach will be used to assess sites for retail and other town 

centre uses, to focus such development on town, district, local service centres and local centres to 

meet the requirements of national planning policy. 

 

Retail Impact assessments will be required to accompany planning applications for new retail and 

leisure proposals within that fall outside of Chesterfield Town Centre, Staveley Town Centre and 

Changes made to ensure the 

policy accords with the NPPF. 

The wording has changed to 

remove the necessity for 

proposals within centres to 

submit an impact assessment 

(inconsistent with NPPF). Instead 

all retail and leisure proposals 

None 

P
age 347



 26 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

26 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

District Centres, Local and Local Service Centres, in accordance with the NPPF:  with the locally set 

thresholds below: 

 

• Within 500m of Chesterfield Town Centre, for all retail proposals with a floorspace of more 

than 500 sqm (gross internal floorspace)  

• Within 500m of Staveley Town Centre and District Centres, for all retail proposals with a 

floorspace of more than 280 sqm (gross internal floorspace)  

• Within 500m of Local and Local Service Centres, for all retail proposals with a floorspace of 

more than 200 sqm (gross internal floorspace) 

 

Uses Location Threshold 

Retail and 

Leisure 

Within 500m of 

Chesterfield Town Centre 

500 sq. m or above 

(gross internal 

floorspace) 

Within 500m of Staveley 

Town Centre and District 

Centres 

280 sq. m or above 

(gross internal 

floorspace) 

Within 500m of Local and 

Local Service Centres 

200 sq. m or above 

(gross internal 

floorspace) 

All other locations (not 

within Town, District or 

Local Centres) 

500 sq. m or above 

(gross internal 

floorspace) 

 

Specific forms of retail use outside Use Class A1 that require large premises such as showrooms, 

trade counters and wholesale premises, will normally be permitted in the identified retail Parks and 

may be permitted in other edge or out of centre locations if, due to reasons such as scale and 

servicing, the use would be unsuitable within a centre. In such cases, conditions will be applied where 

appropriate to define permissible changes of use and the range and type of goods or services sold.  

 

Individual small shops designed to serve local day to day needs will normally be permitted outside 

defined centres (as shown on the proposals map) subject to consideration of the impact test 

thresholds set out above. 

 

Applications for development that would result in the loss of isolated local shops will be considered 

under LP11 Social Infrastructure. 

outside of a centre will require 

an impact assessment. Changes 

made to enhance the clarity of 

when an Impact Assessment is 

needed. Reference is now also 

made to ‘all other locations’ to 

enhance clarity. 

 

P
age 348



 27 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

27 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

MM32 Policy LP11 LP11 Social Infrastructure 

 

Location of new development 

 

Social infrastructure facilities will be permitted in and on the edge of the town, district and local 

service centres where they are accessible by public transport, walking and cycling, unless they are 

meeting a specific local need. Opportunities to deliver new or enhanced provision as part of new 

developments will be maximised, depending on the capacity and suitability of 

existing services. 

 

Co-location of facilities 

 

The co-location and multi-use of facilities will be encouraged. Where proposals involve the provision 

of new or expanded social infrastructure facilities, they should be well related to existing centres and 

settlements and public transport infrastructure, and should provide high standards of 

accessibility for all sectors of the community. 

 

Improvement of existing facilities 

 

The quality, functionality and accessibility of existing social infrastructure facilities will be improved at 

sites including Chesterfield Royal Hospital, Walton Hospital and Chesterfield College, so as to allow 

for their future expansion. Masterplans will be required to accompany proposals to ensure the 

sustainable and co-ordinated development of the hospital and college sites. 

 

The amalgamation and loss of facilities 

 

Development will not be acceptable where it includes the change of use, amalgamation of uses or 

redevelopment of existing local community or recreational facilities, if it would result in the loss of a 

facility which is required to meet a local need or contributes to the network of facilities throughout 

the 

borough unless: 

 

To accord with national guidance 

Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 66-

001-20190722. 

None  

P
age 349



 28 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

28 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

a) There is an equivalent facility available in the locality or an equally accessible one is made available 

prior to the commencement of redevelopment to serve the same need; and 

 

b) It can be demonstrated through a viability assessment that the current use is economically 

unviable and all reasonable efforts have been made to let or sell the unit for the current use over a 

continuous 12 month period that includes advertisement for let or sale at a realistic price. 

 

MM33 Paragraph 

5.2 

5.2   The appropriate mechanism for delivering infrastructure will vary between developments, but 

on-site infrastructure that primarily meets the need of the occupants of new development (e.g. 

landscaping, amenity open space, road access) will normally be dealt with via planning conditions or 

a Section 106 agreement. Other more strategic infrastructure requirements which are included on 

the Regulation 123 Infrastructure List will be met via the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The 

Council’s Infrastructure Study & Delivery Plan sets out the Borough’s strategic infrastructure 

requirements over the Local Plan period. The updated Delivery Plan is shown in Appendix A. The CIL 

charging schedule took effect in Chesterfield on 1st April 2016.  It sets out the types of eligible 

development and the rates which will be applied in each charging zone11.  

 

To reflect CIL Regulations 

amendments 2019 

None 

MM34 Paragraph 

5.4 

5.4    As Infrastructure requirements are likely to change over time, the Infrastructure Study & 

Delivery Plan will be updated and reviewed regularly.  It provideds the starting point for Council to 

identify its priorities for the Community Infrastructure Levy (known as the CIL Regulation123 list). 

Whilst over time the Community Infrastructure Levy may provide significant contributions to 

infrastructure delivery, the Levy is intended to fill the funding gaps that remain once existing sources 

of funding have been taken into account. Core public funding will continue to bear the main burden 

of infrastructure funding. The Levy is intended to fill the funding gaps that remain once existing 

sources of funding have been taken into account. To ensure efficient and effective negotiation, 

applicants are advised to engage with the Council and its partners in pre-application discussions to 

ensure provide clarity over assessments of infrastructure requirements in advance of applications 

being submitted 

 

To reflect CIL Regulations 

amendments 2019;  

 

And to remove duplication 

None 

 
11 Whilst the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) do not allow CIL Charging Authorities to exert discretion on whether payments should be made, the 

council has made provision for 'exceptional circumstances relief' and 'payment in kind' under specific circumstances allowed for in the Regulations. 

P
age 350



 29 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

29 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM35 LP12 LP12 Infrastructure Delivery  

 

Developer contributions will be used to mitigate the impact of new development and ensure that 

appropriate infrastructure is in place to support growth. The Borough Council will normally require 

that on-site infrastructure requirements are met via planning conditions or a Section 106 agreement. 

Developers will be required to demonstrate that the necessary infrastructure (green, social and 

physical) will be in place in advance of, or can be provided in tandem with, new development, and 

where appropriate arrangements are in place for its subsequent maintenance.  

 

Where the provision of infrastructure is considered to be a strategic need and is included in the 

Council’s CIL Regulation 123 list then development, if liable, will be required to contribute via the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  

 

Section 106 contributions will not be sought for infrastructure projects that are included in the 

Council’s CIL Regulation 123 list. 

 

All infrastructure requirements will be co-ordinated and delivered in partnership with other 

authorities and agencies. 

 

Where new development would result in the loss of existing essential infrastructure, appropriate 

replacement provision should be provided as part of the new development proposals. 

To reflect CIL Regulations 

amendments 2019 

None 

MM36 LP13 LP13 Renewable Energy 

 

The Council will support proposals for renewable energy generation particularly where they have 

wider social, economic and environmental benefits, provided that the direct and cumulative adverse 

impacts of the proposals on the following assets are acceptable, or can be made so: 

 

a) the historic environment including heritage assets and their setting; 

b) natural landscape and townscape character; 

c) nature conservation; 

d) amenity – in particular through noise, dust, odour, and traffic generation. 

 

Proposals will be expected to 

 

To accord with national guidance 

(Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 5-

005-20150618) 

None 

P
age 351



 30 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

30 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

reduce impact in on the character and appearance of the open countryside by locating distribution 

lines below ground where possible 

include provision to reinstate the site if the equipment is no longer in use or has been 

decommissioned 

incorporate measures to enhance biodiversity 

 

Wind Energy 

 

Proposals for wind energy development, and in particular community-led schemes, will be supported 

where they: 

 

1) can be demonstrated to be community led or set out are within an area defined as being suitable 

for wind energy development within an adopted Neighbourhood Plan; and 

2) are outside areas identified in neighbourhood plans and are community-led; and 

23) are able to demonstrate, following public consultation, that all material planning impacts 

identified by affected local communities have been adequately addressed; and 

34) meet criteria a) to d) above. 

 

In addition to meeting criteria 1. to 3. above, where wind energy development located within the 

Green Belt will would constitute inappropriate development, and planning permission will not only 

be granted where unless very special circumstances (as set out in the NPPF) can be demonstrated. 

 

Renewable Heat 

 

New developments will connect to or be designed for future connection to community heating 

networks where appropriate. Where no district heating scheme exists or is proposed in the proximity 

of a major new development, the potential for developing a new scheme on the site should be 

explored and pursued where feasible. Priority sites for district heating include Staveley and Rother 

Valley Corridor, Town Centre Northern Gateway, and South of Chatsworth Road. 

 

Hydro Power 

Developments along the river and canal corridors (watercourses) will be expected to investigate the 

feasibility of using small scale hydro power. Preapplication advice from the Environment Agency is 

advised. 

 

P
age 352



 31 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

31 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM37 Policy LP14 LP14 Managing the Water Cycle  

 

Flood Risk 

 

The council will require flood risk to be managed for all development commensurate with the scale 

and impact of the proposed development., so that developments are made safe for their lifetime 

without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 

 

Development proposals and site allocations will: 

 

a) be directed to locations with the lowest probability of flooding or water resources as 

required by the flood risk sequential test’;  

b) be directed to locations with the lowest impact on water resources; 

c) be assessed for their contribution to reducing overall flood risk, taking into account 

climate change. 

 

Within areas of functional floodplain, development is expected to preserve or enhance the 

contribution of the area to water management / reducing flood risk. 

 

Outside flood zone 1, the redevelopment of previously developed land for uses not allocated in this 

Local Plan land will be permitted where proposals can demonstrate that: 

 

i. the development will deliver the economic, social and environmental regeneration of the 

borough that outweighs the risk of flooding and reduces flood risk overall; 

ii. the safety of the development and users from flooding can be achieved and, as a 

minimum, there will be no increase in on- or off-site flood risk demonstrated through a site-specific 

flood risk assessment; 

iii. the proposed uses are compatible with the level of flood risk, and; 

iv. a sequential approach to the location of uses has been taken within the site itself, 

including matching the vulnerability of uses to the risk of flooding. 

 

Improving the drainage network  

 

The council will seek opportunities to increase the capacity of the floodplain safely, make space for 

water across the whole borough, and to remove problems from the drainage network, particularly in 

connection with new development. 

 

 

 

 

 

To bring the policy into line with 

NPPF and PPG guidance 

 

 

 

 

To bring into line with 

Environment Agency Advice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

None 

P
age 353



 32 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

32 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) and clear arrangements for their on-going maintenance over 

the lifetime of the development should be incorporated into all relevant major development, unless 

it can be demonstrated that this is not appropriate in a specific location.  The council will seek the 

maximum possible reduction in surface water run-off rates based on the SFRA or most recent 

national guidance.  

 

Protecting the Water Environment 

 

Development proposals will be expected to be encouraged to demonstrate that water is available to 

support the development proposed. and that they will meet the optional Building Regulation water 

efficiency standard of 110 litres per occupier per day.  

 

 

To clarify the application of the 

policy to determining planning 

applications. 

 

 

 

In response to Inspectors 

questions around justification for 

applying the higher standard 

(see further evidence on this 

issue). 

MM38 Paragraph 

7.3 

7.4   When sites containing ‘best and most versatile" agricultural land are developed, current 

accepted best practice should be followed to better protect the soil resource. The Construction 

Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites (DEFRA 2009) currently 

provides best practice guidance. 

 

After paragraph 7.3 add a new 

paragraph 7.4, as an additional 

modification to improve the 

clarity of the Plan. 

None 

MM39 Policy LP15 LP15 A Healthy Environment 

 

The quality of the environment will be recognised at all levels of the planning and development 

process with the aim of protecting and enhancing environmental quality. 

 

All developments will be required to have an acceptable impact on the amenity of users or and 

adjoining occupiers, taking into account noise and tranquillity disturbance, dust, odour, air quality, 

traffic, appearance outlook, overlooking, shading (daylight and sunlight) and glare and other 

environmental impacts. 

 

Air Quality 

 

Where appropriate, development proposals will include an assessment of impact on air quality and 

incorporate measures to avoid or mitigate increases in air pollution and minimise the exposure of 

people to poor air quality. Development that would make the air quality in a declared Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA) materially worse either in isolation or cumulatively when considered 

in combination with other planned development, will not normally be permitted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To make the policy clearer and 

more effective in respect of the 

considerations of impact on 

amenity. 

 

 

 

To ensure a clear and effective 

policy and consistency with 

paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 

 

None 

P
age 354



 33 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

33 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

New development will have regard to the measures set out in any Air Quality Action Plan. 

 

Water Contamination 

 

Development proposals will be expected to contribute positively to the water environment and its 

ecology, and should not adversely affect surface or ground water quality, in line with the 

requirements of the Water Framework Directive  

 

Where any such risk exists, developments must include measures to reduce or avoid water 

contamination and safeguard groundwater supply. 

 

Soil and Agricultural Land Quality 

 

Development of "best and most versatile" agricultural land will only be permitted supported where 

it can be demonstrated that: 

 

a) The need for the development clearly outweighs the need to protect such land in the long 

term; and or, 

 

b) Other sustainability considerations suggest that the use of the higher quality 

agricultural land is preferable to the use of poorer quality agricultural land; or 

 

c) In the case of temporary/potentially reversible development (for example, minerals), that 

the land would be reinstated to its pre-working quality. ; and, 

 

d) There are no suitable alternative sites on previously developed or lower quality land  

 

The Council will require all applications for major development on such land to include realistic 

proposals to demonstrate that soil resources were will be protected and used sustainably, in line 

with accepted best practice. 

 

Unstable and Contaminated Land 

 

Proposals for development on land that is, or is suspected as of being, contaminated or unstable will 

only be permitted if the mitigation and/or remediation are feasible to make the land is capable of 

remediation and fit for the proposed use and shall include: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To make the policy clearer and 

more effective and also to 

ensure that the policy is 

consistent with paragraph 170 

and footnote 53 of the NPPF. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To clarify and improve the 

effectiveness of the policy by 

explicitly requiring all aspects of 

a phase I report (including site 

reconnaissance and a conceptual 

P
age 355



 34 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

34 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

a)     a phase I land contamination report, including where necessary a land stability risk 

assessment desk top survey with the planning application; and 

b)     a phase II study and strategy for land contamination report where the phase I report (a) 

indicates it is necessary, and 

c)     and a strategy for any necessary mitigation and/or remediation and final validation where the 

desk top survey (a) indicates remediation may be necessary. , on any full or reserved matters 

planning applications 

 

A programme of mitigation, remediation and validation must be agreed before the implementation 

of any planning permission on contaminated and/or unstable land. The requirement to undertake 

this programme will be secured using planning conditions. 

 

model)’. Explicitly requiring land 

stability risk assessment to cover 

the requirement for Coal Mining 

Risk Assessments. Also, seeking a 

mitigation and/or remediation 

strategy where necessary, as for 

some sites mitigation might be 

appropriate and remediation not 

required. 

 

The reference to full or reserved 

matters has been removed as 

some outline schemes will 

require the depth of a phase II 

assessment to demonstrate that 

the land is capable of 

development for the use 

proposed. 

MM40 Policy LP16 LP16 Green Infrastructure 

 

Chesterfield borough’s green infrastructure network will be recognised at all levels of the planning 

and development process with the aim of protecting enhancing, linking and managing the network, 

and creating new green infrastructure where necessary. Development proposals should demonstrate 

that they will not adversely affect, or result in the loss of, green 

infrastructure, unless suitable mitigation measures or compensatory provision are provided. 

 

Development proposals should, where appropriate relevant: 

 

a) Not conflict with the aim and purposes of the Green Belt (as set out in the NPPF); and 

b) Not harm the character and function of the Green Wedges and Strategic Gaps; and 

a) not harm the character or function of the Green Belt, Green Wedges and Strategic Gaps, and Local 

Green Spaces shown on the adopted Proposals Map 

c) b) e Enhance connectivity between, and public access to, green infrastructure; and 

d) c) (i) Protect and enhance access to the multi-user trails network as shown on the Policies 

Map; and (ii) Protect and increase the opportunities for cycling, walking and horse riding; and 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To ensure consistency and cross 

referencing with the NPPF in 

terms of Green Belt.  

There are no existing or 

proposed Local Green Spaces 

and so the reference to them in 

the policy is removed. 

None 

P
age 356



 35 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

35 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

e) ) Enhance the multi-functionality of the Borough’s formal and informal parks and open spaces; 

and 

f) e) Protect or enhance Landscape Character; and 

g) f) i Increase tree cover in suitable locations in the borough to enhance landscape character, 

amenity and air quality; and 

h) g) Where new green infrastructure is proposed, there must be clear funding and delivery 

mechanisms in place for its long term management and maintenance, prior to the development 

commencing. 

 

Where necessary and appropriate D development will be expected to make a contribution through 

planning obligations or CIL towards the establishment, enhancement and on-going management of 

green infrastructure by contributing to the development of a strategic green infrastructure network 

within Chesterfield Borough,. 

 

The council will require with planning applications the submission of ecological surveys and 

assessments of the biodiversity and geological value of sites proportionate to the nature and scale of 

the development. 

 

 

 

To clarify that multi-user trails 

including strategic cross-

boundary ones are protected by 

the policy. 

 

 

 

To clarify a proportionate and 

reasonable approach will be 

taken to planning obligations 

and CIL. 

 

 

The requirement in the last 

paragraph of Policy LP16 

duplicates a requirement in 

Policy LP18 and is not necessary. 

MM41 Policy LP17 LP17 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network 

 

The Council will expect development proposals to: - 

 

• protect, enhance and contribute to the management of the borough’s ecological network 

of habitats, protected and priority species and sites of international, national and local 

importance (statutory and non-statutory), including sites that meet the criteria for 

selection as a local wildlife site or priority habitat; and 

• avoid and/or minimise adverse impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity; and 

• provide a net measurable gain in biodiversity. 

 

This should be secured using planning conditions and obligations by: 

 

i. The provision of new, restored and enhanced habitats and links between habitats that 

make a positive contribution to the coherence of ecological networks; and 

To ensure clarity on the nature of 

the protection afforded to sites 

and species. 

To ensure consistency with the 

current NPPF and National 

Planning Practice Guidance 

Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 8-

018-20190721. 

 

None 

P
age 357



 36 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

36 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

ii. promoting the recovery of protected species and species identified as a priority in the 

Local Biodiversity Action Plan (or subsequent equivalent evidence).; and 

iii. the retention of existing features of ecological value. 

 

If significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided, or through 

conditions or planning contributions adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for 

(including off-setting), then planning permission will be refused. 

 

Sites of International and National Importance 

 

Where a site of designated international importance would be adversely affected (either individually 

or cumulatively) by a development within the Borough, permission will be refused unless it has been 

demonstrated that there are no other alternatives;, or there are imperative reasons of overriding 

public interest;, and that compensatory measures will be provided to ensure the overall coherence of 

the network of sites is protected. Where the impact of a development (either individually or 

cumulatively) within the Borough, on a site of designated national importance (such as SSSIs) 

would be adverse, permission will be refused unless the benefits of the development would 

demonstrably outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site that make 

it of national importance and any broader impacts;, and a suitable compensation/off-setting strategy 

has been secured with planning conditions or obligations. 

 

Sites of Local Importance 

 

Development proposals resulting in the loss or deterioration (including fragmentation) of; sites of 

local importance (such as Local Wildlife Sites and priority habitats) will not normally be permitted, 

unless the need for, and benefits of, the development in that location demonstrably outweigh the 

loss or harm and a suitable compensation/off-setting strategy has been secured with planning 

conditions or obligations 

 

Irreplaceable Habitats 

 

Development proposals resulting in the loss or deterioration (including fragmentation) of; 

irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees); will be refused, unless 

there are wholly exceptional reasons and the need for, and benefits of, the development in that 

location demonstrably outweigh the loss or harm, and a suitable compensation/offsetting strategy 

has been secured with planning conditions or obligations. 

 

P
age 358



 37 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

37 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

The council will require the submission with planning applications of ecological surveys and 

assessments of the biodiversity and geological value of sites as set out in a list of local requirements.

  

 

The Council will require the submission with planning applications of ecological surveys and 

assessments of the biodiversity, ecological and geological value of sites, where this is clearly 

justified, including as set out in a local list of validation requirements. This includes where 

development could have a significant impact on biodiversity, geodiversity and the ecological 

network. The surveys and assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of 

proposed development and its likely impact on biodiversity, geodiversity and the ecological 

network.  

 

MM42 Paragraph 

7.16 

7.16    Open space, play provision and sports facilities are important elements of both green 

infrastructure and social infrastructure, enabling healthy lifestyles and positive community 

relationships. Open Space for the purposes of the Plan is taken to mean all open space of public 

value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and 

reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual 

amenity. 

 

To clarify what is meant by ‘open 

space’ whilst maintaining 

consistency with the current 

NPPF. 

None 

 

MM43 Policy LP18 LP18  Open Space, Play Provision, Sports Facilities and Allotments 

 

Where proposed development would result in a need for new open space and outdoor sports 

facilities and/or exacerbate existing deficiencies in provision a need is identified, development 

must contribute to public open space, sports facilities and play provision in accordance with the 

Council’s adopted standards as set out in Appendix B of the Local Plan and in line with the 

following requirements: 

 

a) On-site in a suitable location taking account of accessibility wherever possible; or 

 

b) Where on site provision is not feasible or suitable, as a financial contribution to the 

creation of a new facility off-site or the upgrading and improvement of an existing facility, 

secured by planning obligation or CIL; and or 

 

To clarify the policy in terms of it 

not seeking contributions from 

new development towards 

existing deficits of open space 

provision. 

A modification to clarify that 

criterion c) is relevant to public 

open space and not to private or 

indoor sports facilities. 

 

To ensure consistency with 

paragraph 97 of the NPPF. 

 

 

 

None 

P
age 359



 38 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

38 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

c) Where new public open space is to be provided on site, A as multifunctional, fit for 

purpose space that supports local communities health and wellbeing and activity levels 

and the ecological network.; and 

 

Contributions to off-site provision will be secured through CIL and /or S106 agreements as 

appropriate. 

 

On site provision will be incorporated into development proposals with suitable management and 

maintenance arrangements secured through S106 agreements.  

 

Planning permission will not be granted for development which would have a negative impact on, or 

result in the loss of, open space, play provision and sports facilities unless: 

  

i. The site is clearly surplus to requirements and the land is not needed or is not suitable to 

meet a deficiency in a different type of open space provision; or 

ii. Equivalent or better alternative open space provision in terms of quantity, quality and 

accessibility can will be provided on a replacement site; or 

iii. Iii     The loss of the open space will enable the enhancement of the existing open space 

network serving the locality affected, in a manner that will result in material planning 

benefits in terms of increased public health and well-being or other ecosystem services 

that demonstrably outweigh the loss of open space; 

iv. Iv     The site is unallocated and its loss or development would not detract from visual 

amenity and local character, and it is not a community facility 

v. the development is for alternative sports and/or recreational provision, the benefits 

of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MM44 Policy LP19 LP19 Chesterfield Canal 

 

The council will safeguard the route of Chesterfield Canal as shown on the policies map. 

Development which prejudices the existing character of and/or the future potential for the 

improvement and enhancement of the Chesterfield Canal, including public access, environment and 

recreation, will not be 

permitted. 

 

Proposals for development associated with the recreation and leisure potential of the canal will be 

To provide clear cross reference 

to housing allocations and the 

site’s contribution to housing 

supply. 

None  

P
age 360



 39 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

39 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

permitted close to its route provided that they do not have an adverse impact on habitats, the 

environment or public health and accord with other relevant policies of the plan. 

 

Where new development, including infrastructure, is proposed adjacent to the canal, it will be 

required to conserve and enhance the route of the canal, including restoring the canal along its 

original route wherever possible. New developments should include provision for safe and 

convenient walking and 

cycling access to the canal. 

 

On land at Staveley Basin, as shown on the policies map, and subject to an approved masterplan for 

the whole site, the council will support planning permission will be granted applications that 

assist in the delivery of for development that delivers: 

 

• An events area adjacent to the canal; and 

• Moorings and facilities for visiting boats; and 

• A mix of uses including residential (C3) (as set out in policy LP4, site H21), food and drink uses 

(A3 and A5), and/or business and light industrial use (B1(a) and B1(b)) 

 

MM45 Policy LP20 LP20 River Corridors 

 

Development which prejudices the existing biodiversity, ecological value and character of and/or 

the future potential for the improvement and enhancement of the environment and character of 

the rivers corridors as shown on the policies map, including biodiversity, habitat connectivity, 

public access and recreation as shown on the proposals map, will not be permitted. 

 

New development proposals on or adjacent to a river corridor should investigate the creation, 

and management, of ecological buffer strips and corridors to preserve and enhance the 

biodiversity of the area. 

 

New development proposals on or adjacent to a river corridor should also include provision for safe 

and convenient walking and cycling access wherever possible.  

 

Planning applicationspermission will be granted supported for proposals that result Proposals for in 

the removal or enhancement of existing weirs to allow for improved fish passage, and for 

To recognise the importance of 

the existing river corridors to 

wildlife and the ecological 

network and their potential for 

enhancements and provide 

appropriate safeguarding, 

consistent with paragraph 174 of 

the NPPF. 

None 

P
age 361



 40 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

40 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

hydroelectric power schemes will be supported subject to the provisions above and other relevant 

policies of the plan. 

 

MM46 Policy LP21 LP21 Design 

 

All development should identify and , respond positively to and integrate with the character of the 

site and surroundings and respect the local distinctiveness of its context. The Council will support 

outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise 

the standard of design more generally in an area, provided that they complement the 

character and appearance of their surroundings. 

 

All development will be expected to: 

 

a) promote innovative forms and good building designs that positively contributes to the 

distinctive character of the borough, enriches the quality of existing places and enhances 

the quality of new places; 

b) respect the character, form and setting of the site and surrounding area by virtue of its 

function, appearance and architectural style, landscaping, scale, massing, detailing, height 

and materials; 

c) be at a density appropriate to the character of the area whilst not excluding higher 

densities in and close to designated local, district and town centres; 

d) contribute to the vitality of its setting through the arrangement of active frontages, 

accesses, and functions, including servicing; 

e) ensure that the interface between building plots and streets and also the boundaries of 

development sites development boundaries and their surroundings are attractive and 

take account of the relationship between public and private spaces; 

f) provide appropriate connections both on and off site, including footpath and cycle links to 

adjoining areas to integrate the development with its surroundings; 

g) provide adequate and safe vehicle access and parking; 

h) provide safe, convenient and attractive environment for pedestrians and cyclists; 

i) preserve or enhance the landscape character and biodiversity assets of the borough; 

j) be designed to be adaptable and accessible for all; 

k) have an acceptable impact on the amenity of users and neighbours; 

l) be designed to be safe and secure and to create environments which reduce the potential 

for crime; 

To ensure consistency with 

paragraph 131 of the NPPF and 

also more generally to seek 

good quality building design in 

the borough.  

 

To avoid restricting diversity in 

building and site design e.g. 

static caravans, where such 

diversity would not detract from 

visual amenity or local character. 

 

To increase both clarity and 

flexibility in terms of the 

requirements for proposed 

major development to 

demonstrate climate change 

mitigation and adaptation 

measures.  

 

None 

P
age 362



 41 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

41 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

m) minimise the impact of light pollution 

n) be able to withstand any long-term impacts of climate change 

 

Reducing Emissions 

 

All Major development should, as far as is feasible and financially viable possible, contribute 

towards the reduction of minimise CO2 emissions during construction and occupation, and also 

maximise both the use of and the generation of renewable energy.  

 

Planning applications for major new development should be accompanied by a statement (as part 

of or in addition to a design and access statement) which sets out how the development would 

do this in terms of: 

 

i. following the steps in the energy hierarchy by seeking to use less energy, source 

energy efficiently, and make use of renewable energy before efficiently using fossil 

fuels from clean technologies: 

ii. optimising the efficient use of natural resources; 

iii. reducing emissions through orientation and design. 

 

 

i. makes effective use of resources and materials through sustainable design and construction 

ii. minimises water use and provide for waste reduction and recycling 

iii. uses an energy hierarchy that seeks to use less energy, source energy efficiently, and make use of 

renewable energy 

iv. is sited and designed to withstand the long-term impacts of climate change 

 

When considering the feasibility and viability of reducing emissions and also use of renewable 

energy in any major development, the Council will take into account matters such as the 

development’s scale and nature, its operational requirements, any site-specific constraints and 

also the need to meet other planning policy requirements.  

 

The Council will consider the extent to which sustainability has informed the design of proposals, 

taking account of: 

 

• Impact on viability 

• Scale and nature of development 

• Operational requirements of the proposed use 

P
age 363



 42 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

42 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

• Site specific constraints 

• The need to meet other planning policy requirements 

 

Percent for Art 

 

On major developments, the council will encourage developers to incorporate public art on 

site into structures and public spaces where reasonable. 

MM47 Policy LP22, 

p. 71 

LP22 Historic Environment 

 

The council will give great weight to the conservation of designated heritage assets and their 

setting protect the historic environment and heritage assets throughout the borough and seek to 

enhance them wherever possible.  

 

In order to ensure that All new development must conserves or enhances designated and non-

designated heritage assets and their settings the local character and distinctiveness of the area in 

which it would be situated, the council will: 

 

The council will do this through: 

 

a) Apply a presumption against development that would unacceptably detract from views of 

St Mary’s Church (The Crooked Spire) by virtue of its height, location, bulk or design; 

b) the protection of Designated Heritage Assets and their settings including Conservation 

Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens; 

c) the use of Conservation Area Appraisals and associated Management Plans to ensure the 

conservation or enhancement of the individual character of each of the borough’s 

conservation areas; 

d) the identification identify and, where appropriate, protection of important archaeological 

sites and historic environment features; 

e) the identification identify and, where appropriate, protection of non-designated heritage 

assets of local significance, set out in and referred to as The Local List; 

f) Eenhancing enhance the character and setting of Queens Park, Chesterfield Market Place, 

the Hipper River Valley, Chesterfield Canal and locally important Historic Parks and 

Gardens. 

g) Requiring development proposals within the Town Centre Historic Core to be 

accompanied by appropriate levels of archaeological assessment within the Town Centre 

To ensure Criterion g) of Policy 

LP22 can be applied 

proportionately depending on 

the significance of the asset and 

the extent of the anticipated 

harm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

None  

P
age 364



 43 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

43 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Core and other areas of archaeological significance, require relevant development 

proposals to demonstrate careful consideration of archaeological impact. 

 

Where a development is likely to result in harm to, or a degree of loss of the significance of 

designated heritage assets and/or their setting, planning applications should be accompanied 

by an assessment evidence that sets out: 

 

 

1. a description of the significance of the affected assets and their setting and an 

assessment of the nature and degree of impact on this; 

2. an evaluation of how harm or loss would be avoided, minimised or mitigated; and 

3. a clear and convincing justification for the development and the resulting harm or 

loss. 

 

Development that would result in substantial harm to or total loss of significance to a 

designated heritage asset will not be permitted unless: 

 

Either: 

 

i. it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total 

loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or 

loss;  

 

or all of the following apply: 

 

ii. the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 

iii. no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 

appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 

iv. conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 

ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 

v. the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

 

 

The council will consider the use of measures including Article 4 directions 

and Local Development Orders where they are appropriate to ensure the 

conservation and enhancement of heritage assets. 

To ensure that policy LP22 is 

effective and consistent with 

national policy.  Reference to the 

need for a balanced judgement 

is consistent with the NPPF’s 

treatment of non-designated 

assets.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To ensure that the last 

paragraph within Policy LP22 

regarding the justified loss of 

heritage assets is consistent with 

national policy. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 365



 44 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

44 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

The council has a presumption in favour of retaining non- designated heritage assets on The Local 

List. Development that involves substantial harm or loss of a non-designated heritage asset will not 

be acceptable unless it can be demonstrated 

that be assessed as part of a balanced judgment which considers whether: 

 

i  

ii  

iii 

i 

 

v  

Whether or not the asset is structurally unsound and poses a safety 

risk; 

it is unviable to repair the viability of repairing or maintaining the 

asset; 

whether or not alternative uses have been fully explored; 

whether or not the proposal it would have wider social, economic or 

environmental benefits as part of a masterplanned regeneration scheme 

 

Where a proposal that involves unavoidable harm or loss of a non-designated heritage asset on The 

Local List meets the criteria above, the council will seek a replacement development which is of an 

equivalent standard of design to the non-designated heritage asset of a similar quality, and 

where possible retaining retains the features of the non-designated heritage asset. 

 

In the exceptional circumstances where harm, loss or partial loss of designated or non-

designated heritage asset Where the council is satisfied that the loss of heritage assets (both 

designated and non-designated) is considered to be justified, the council will require the developer 

to have the asset surveyed and recorded by a suitably qualified professional prior to the 

development commencing, and the records made publically available. in advance of any 

alterations, demolition or groundwork. The surveying and recording will be required to be 

carried out in a manner proportionate to the importance of the asset and the impact of the 

development. A report detailing the investigation should be made publicly available and 

deposited through Derbyshire’s Historic Environment Record.  

 

MM48 LP23 LP23 Influencing the Demand for Travel 

 

To reduce congestion, improve environmental quality and encourage more active and healthy 

lifestyles, the Council will seek to maximise walking, cycling and the use of public transport through 

the location and design of development and parking provision. Priority will be given to measures to 

encourage more sustainable travel choices. 

To clarify application of the 

policy when determining 

planning applications 

 

 

 

None 

P
age 366



 45 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

45 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

To secure this aim, the council will expect development proposals to demonstrate the following (in 

order or priority) in order of priority: 

 

a) site specific and area wide travel demand management (measures to reduce travel by private car 

and incentives to use walking, cycling and public transport for appropriate journeys, including 

intensive travel b) planning); 

c) b) improvements to walking and cycling facilities and public transport services that are provided 

early in the build out period of new developments and that are sufficient to encourage sustainable 

modes of transport; 

d) c) optimisation of the existing highway network to prioritise walking, cycling and public transport 

that are provided early in the build out period of new developments, such as measures to prioritise 

the needs of pedestrians above the car and improved or new cycle and bus lanes such as measures 

to prioritise the needs of pedestrians above the car and improved or new cycle and bus lanes, 

provided early in the build out period of new developments; and 

d e) ) mitigation including highway capacity enhancements to deal with residual car demand where 

the initiatives required under points (a) to (c) above are insufficient to avoid significant impacts from 

the development on the transport network in terms of capacity and congestion additional car 

journeys."; and 

e f)  [OPTION 1] Provision of opportunities for charging electric vehicles where appropriate. 

[OPTION 2] Provision of opportunities for charging electric vehicles where appropriate 

 

The impacts of any remaining traffic growth expected, shall be mitigated through physical 

improvements to the highways network where necessary, to ensure that development has an 

acceptable impact on the functioning and safety of the highway network. 

Development proposals will not be permitted where they would have an unacceptable impact 

on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 

The level of vehicle and cycle parking provision appropriate to any individual proposal will take into 

account the circumstances of the particular scheme, including in particular: 

 

The size of the any dwellings proposed. 

The type, mix and use of the development. 

The proximity of facilities such as schools, shops or employment. 

The availability of and capacity for safe on-street and public car parking in the area. 

Proximity to and availability of public transport and other sustainable transport options. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Options presented in response 

to Inspectors’ requests for 

additional evidence on need and 

viability. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 367



 46 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

46 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

The likelihood that any existing on-street parking problems in terms of highway safety, 

congestion, pedestrian and cyclist accessibility and amenity will be made worse. 

Local car ownership levels 

 

Cycle parking, where provided as part of new development, should be located to ensure safe, 

secure and convenient access, with weather protection where possible.  The council will 

prepare an SPD to provide further practical guidance on planning for walking and cycling 

within new development.   

 

All residential proposals new dwellings with off-street parking provision dedicated to individual 

properties should include provision for charging electric vehicles on each property. Residential and 

commercial proposals with shared provision for ten or more parking spaces should include spaces 

with charging provision where feasible practical. Provision should be made in accordance with 

the Electric Vehicle Charging Standards standard’s in Appendix C. 

 

All residential proposals with off-street parking provision dedicated to individual properties should 

include provision for charging electric vehicles on each property. Residential and commercial 

proposals with shared provision should include spaces with charging provision where practical. 

 

 

Any necessary mitigation measures should be set out in development proposals, including within 

Transport Statements, Transport Assessments and Travel Plans where these are required, and secured 

through conditions and/or legal agreements. 

 

Priority areas for combinations of sustainable transport measures and highways improvements will 

be: 

 

• The A61 Corridor 

• The A619 Chatsworth Road 

• The A619 corridor through Brimington and Staveley 

• Chesterfield Town Centre 

• Access to Chesterfield Railway Station 

 

For masterplanned or phased developments, provision for the monitoring of traffic impact and 

mitigation of identified problems will be made through the use of legal agreements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Options presented in response 

to Inspectors’ requests for 

additional evidence on need and 

viability. 

P
age 368



 47 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

47 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM49 Policy  RP1 Regeneration Priority Areas 

 

Within the RPA boundary as shown on the Policies Map, for major developments the Council will 

expect a masterplanned approach to deliver sustainable high-quality residential development, 

enhanced community facilities, respecting the constraints of the area and sensitive to the adjoining 

open countryside and existing residential communities. 

 

Masterplans are expected to investigate the potential to, and support projects that, improve the 

quality of the area and the existing housing stock through refurbishment and/or redevelopment. 

 

Within the RPA boundaries as shown on the policies map, the Council will grant planning permission 

for development which supports regeneration and where it would: 

 

a) Extend the type, tenure and quality of housing; and 

b) Deliver environmental and biodiversity benefits; and 

c) Provide additional community facilities Support or enhance existing services and community 

facilities; and 

d) Provide recruitment, training and procurement to benefit the local economy (via a Local 

Labour Agreement in line with PolicyLP7), with the priority being to maximise training and 

employment opportunities to for existing residents of the RPA within which the development is 

located, by entering into a Local Labour Agreement; and 

e) Increase trees and tree groups to enhance landscape character; and 

(f) Have an acceptable impact on the wider highway network (taking account of cumulative 

effects of other developments within the RPAs) and provide any necessary mitigation. 

 

The level of housing growth for each RPA may be exceeded if the landscape, infrastructure and 

highways impacts (including cross-boundary impacts) are acceptable and if the additional growth is 

needed to secure regeneration benefits as demonstrated through a viability appraisal.  

 

Within the Barrow Hill Regeneration Priority Area, development is expected to:  

i. Deliver approximately a minimum of 35 50 new homes on site H20; and 

ii. Conserve or enhance the character or setting of heritage assets Promote design that 

positively contributes to the surrounding area and conserves or enhances heritage 

assets including Barrow Hill Conservation Area; and 

iii. Support the activities of Barrow Hill Roundhouse as a visitor attraction 

and centre for employment; and 

 

To ensure that the policy is 

clearly written, justified and 

appropriate. 

None 

P
age 369



 48 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

48 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

iv. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling connections to New Whittington, 

heritage assets at Chesterfield Canal, and the Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor. 

 

Within the Duckmanton Regeneration Priority Area, development is expected to: 

i. Deliver a minimum of approximately 310 400 new homes on sites H26 and H34; and 

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access to job opportunities at Markham 

Vale; and 

iii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling connections to Poolsbrook and 

Poolsbrook Country Park; and 

iv. Promote building design that positively contributes to the surrounding area and 

conserves or enhances heritage assets including Poplar Farmhouse, Duckmanton Model 

Village and Long Duckmanton; and 

v. Deliver highway and pedestrian improvements at Tom Lane and Duckmanton Road;  

 

Within the Holme Hall Regeneration Priority Area, development is expected to: 

i. Deliver a minimum of approximately 300 new homes  (as allocated on site XX in table XX) 

on site H33 in line with the adopted masterplan; and 

ii. Deliver a sustainable high quality residential development  

iii. Support the existing services and community facilities on offer in and around the local 

service centre 

iv. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling connections to Linacre Road, Wardgate 

Way (Local Service Centre) and the Holmebrook Valley Park and Trail; and 

v. Provide an appropriate buffer and boundary treatment to minimise and mitigate any 

adverse impacts upon the Ashgate Plantation Local Wildlife Site. 

 

Within the Mastin Moor Regeneration Priority Area, development is expected to: 

I. Deliver 400 new homes 

i. Deliver up to 670 new homes on sites H1, H6 and H35; and 

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access to job opportunities at Markham 

Vale, the community garden and Norbriggs and Woodthorpe Primary Schools; and 

iii. Provide a new Local Centre with additional community facilities and the opportunity for 

provision of health facilities; and 

iv. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling connections to the surrounding rights of 

way network, including connections to The Cuckoo Way and Chesterfield Canal; and 

v. Promote design that positively contributes to the surrounding area, responding to and 

reflecting local conserves or enhances heritage assets in the design and location of new 

buildings where relevant, including the historic former pumping engine and tramway; and 

P
age 370



 49 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

49 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

vi. Deliver a new and/or improved pedestrian and cycle crossing over the A619; and 

vii. Protect and enhance the setting of and access to the community garden; and 

viii. Minimise visual impact on the ridgelines along Worksop Road and Woodthorpe Road; and 

ix. Provide a defined edge of development and a clear break to prevent continued 

coalescence and extension of ribbon development along Worksop Road; and 

x. Maintaining the distinct identities and settings of Mastin Moor and Woodthorpe through 

the use of landscaping and open space. 

 

Within the Poolsbrook Regeneration Priority Area, development is expected to: 

i. Deliver 100 a minimum of approximately 175 new homes on site H31; and 

ii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling access to job opportunities at Markham 

Vale; and 

iii. Provide safe and convenient walking and cycling connections to the surrounding rights of 

way network, including connections to Duckmanton and Poolsbrook Country Park; and 

iv. Conserve or enhance the heritage assets Promote design that positively contribute to 

the surrounding area and conserves or enhances heritage assets including the 

surviving buildings of the Model Village and their setting. 

 

MM50 Paragraph 

11.4 

11.4. In 2015, the borough council approved an updated Town Centre Masterplan for Chesterfield. 

Whilst not having formal status as a Development Plan Document or SPD, the masterplan The 

masterplan sets out a long-term vision for Chesterfield Town Centre and is a material consideration 

in determining planning applications within the town centre.  The masterplans vision is for the 

town centre to be: 

 

To clarify the status of the Town 

Centre Masterplan 

None 

MM50 Following 

paragraph 

11.6 

Insert plan showing location of Town Centre Masterplan Character Areas including Spire 

Neighbourhood. 

See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed 

modification. 

 

To clarify the location of the 

Spire Neighbourhood 

None 

MM51 Paragraph 

11.7 & 11.8 

11.7 As a result of changes to the retail market generally and the large foodstore sector in particular, 

the council has chosen not to progress the retail led scheme previously proposed by Wilson 

Bowden within the Northern Gateway areathe development of the previously proposed Northern 

Gateway scheme (which was to have been a foodstore and retail led, mixed use extension of 

To clarify the status of the 

Northern Gateway Scheme 

None 

P
age 371



 50 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

50 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Chesterfield Town Centre) at this time. However The Northern Gateway has instead been 

progressed through the council has invested in replacing the aging Saltergate Multi Storey Car Park 

(currently under construction) and is committed to building a new enterprise centre at Holywell Cross 

(construction of which is expected to start in early 2020. The site still presents the key 

opportunity for any further physical expansion of the retail offer of Chesterfield Town Centre. 

 

11.8. In bringing these sites forwards for development the council will use a combination of 

masterplans, site-specific planning briefs, SPD’s and Outline Planning Applications, with reference to 

other relevant policies of the Plan including CS15LP9, CS16LP2 and CS19LP22. 

MM52 Policy SS1 SS1 Chesterfield Town Centre 

 

Subject to policy LP9 other relevant policies of the plan, the council will support planning 

applications that planning permission will be granted for development that contributes 

towards: 

a) Protecting and enhancing the centre’s sub-regional and local role in providing housing, 

employment, services, leisure, cultural venues and retail 

b) Supporting the objectives of Chesterfield town centre masterplan 

c) Economic development and community safety by providing a diverse range of uses 

including retail, office, community facilities, leisure and food and drink uses 

d) Conserving and enhancing the historic character of the centre and the role of the Historic 

Market and Market Hall 

e) Improving accessibility between the centre and surrounding areas, including Chesterfield 

Railway Station, Waterside, Queen’s Park, Chesterfield College and Ravenside Retail park 

f) Enhancing walking, cycling and public transport provision 

g) Maintaining the overall level of provision of public car parking; new off 

street car parking will usually only be permitted when justified through a 

transport assessment or travel plan 

h) Reducing through traffic 

i) Enhancing the range and quality of residential uses within Chesterfield 

town centre 

j) Undertaking appropriate assessment, evaluation and, if necessary, recording of 

archaeological remains within the Town Centre Historic Core (as set out on the 

policies map). 

 

To align wording with other 

policies in regard to applying to 

planning applications. 

 

To clarify the approach to 

archaeological investigation 

within the Town Centre 

Archaeological alert area. 

 

To bring into line with the 

wording of the NPPF relating to 

primary and secondary 

frontages. 

 

To clarify the location of the 

Spire Neighbourhood. 

 

To clarify the approach to 

assessing the loss of car parking 

within the Spire Neighbourhood. 

None 

P
age 372



 51 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

51 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

Outside of the Town Centre Primary and Secondary Shopping Areas, District and Local Centre 

areas as shown on the policies map and set out in policy LP9, planning permission will not normally 

be granted for new retail uses (A1) other than small shops as set out in policy LP10. Planning 

permission will normally be granted for other main town centre uses, including B1(a) offices, health 

and education uses subject to the other policies of this plan. 

 

Northern Gateway 

 

Land between Newbold Road/Holywell Street and Saltergate, as shown on the policies map, will be 

safeguarded for the future expansion of Chesterfield Town Centre. 

 

Within this area, planning permission will only be granted for proposals that enhance and support 

the centre’s sub regional role in providing housing, employment, services, leisure and retail and 

where they can demonstrate that they would not prejudice the future development of the site. 

 

Spire Neighbourhood 

 

Planning permission will be granted Proposals will be supported for new residential development 

on land to the east of between St Mary’s Gate and to the west of the A61 and to the north of 

Holywell Street and south of Brewery Street, subject to other relevant policies of the plan. 

Where development within this area results in the loss of public car parking, the effect of this 

on the viability of Chesterfield Town Centre should be assessed, and if necessary 

compensatory parking provided elsewhere within or closely related to Chesterfield Town Centre. 

MM53 Policy SS2 SS2 CHATSWORTH ROAD CORRIDOR 

 

Development proposals will be supported where they Planning permission will only be granted 

for development that contributes towards: 

 

a) The vitality and viability of Chatsworth Road district centre 

b) Improving the West Bars gateway to Chesterfield town centre. 

c) Strengthening the links between the land south of Chatsworth Road with the Chatsworth Road 

district centre and surrounding communities. 

d) Providing a new variety of uses that will create a mixed, sustainable community. 

e) The improvement of identified transport and highway issues. 

f) The enhancement of walking, cycling and public transport provision 

To align wording with other 

policies in regard to applying to 

planning applications. 

 

Cross reference to policy LP7 

added. 

None 

P
age 373



 52 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

52 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

Within the defined district centre, proposals for development will be considered in accordance with 

policy LP9. Outside the district centre development will be focussed on new housing and compatible 

uses.  

 

Within the regeneration area south of Chatsworth Road a comprehensive scheme providing a mix of 

uses will be permitted supported in accordance with the adopted masterplan, including: 

employment generating uses on land at the former Boythorpe Works (in accordance with policy 

LP7), open space and housing. The sites of Walton Works (including the re-use of the Grade II* listed 

building) and Griffin Mill/Wheatbridge Mill shall be for housing-led mixed use development (in 

accordance with policy LP4, Site H30). Development proposals for the Griffin Mill and 

Wheatbridge Mills area should include the re-use of the Grade II listed Cannon Mill. To ensure that 

development within the regeneration area south of Chatsworth Road provides a mixed, integrated, 

sustainable community within the Chatsworth Road Corridor, developments must demonstrate that 

they have: 

 

i. Taken a comprehensive approach to flood risk management; 

ii. Incorporated the Hipper Valley walking and cycle route and improved north-south walking and 

cycling links; 

iii. Integrated the site into a network of green spaces, such as Walton Dam, Somersall Park and the 

Walton river corridor green wedge, connected by the River Hipper and footpaths and cycleways 

iv. Considered the impact upon heritage assets and their setting and identified any means of 

mitigation and/or enhancement through submission of a Heritage Impact Assessment. 

 

Proposals for development should demonstrate how they accord with the adopted masterplan 

through site-specific masterplans and/or development briefs. 

MM54 Policy SS3  

 

SS3 Chesterfield Waterside and the Potteries 

 

Within the Chesterfield Waterside area as set out on the policies map, the council will support 

development proposals planning permission will only be granted for development that contributes 

towards: 

 

a) Creating jobs in office, industry, retail, tourism and education 

b) Restoring Chesterfield Canal and the River Rother to navigation and creating a new canal 

terminus 

To enhance the accuracy of the 

policy to refer to the amount of 

development and also uses 

permitted on the site under 

section c) of policy SS3 as 

requested in representation 63 

(1-5 SLP). 

 

None 

P
age 374



 53 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

53 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

c) Achieving a mix of uses including residential (up to 1550 new homes), office (up to 

30,000 sqm), employment, and leisure, health and fitness, hotels, creche, doctor’s 

surgery and nursing home 

d) Improving access to the site including enhancing the footpath and cycle network through 

the site and making links to the wider Trans Pennine Trail and Chesterfield Railway Station 

e) A high quality urban environment including eco-park and green infrastructure corridor  

f) Managing flood risk 

 

Land within the Chesterfield Waterside area will be comprehensively redeveloped in accordance with 

an approved masterplan, including provision of a new Local Centre located adjacent to the existing 

canal basin. 

 

Planning applications submitted for development outside of the existing outline planning 

permission, but which otherwise deliver the objectives of the approved masterplan, will be expected 

to contribute towards the overall delivery of the infrastructure required for comprehensive 

development, secured through a section 106 agreement. 

MM55 Policy SS5 SS5 Staveley and Rother Valley Corridor 

 

The Borough Council will support the comprehensive redevelopment of the Staveley and Rother 

Valley Corridor to create a sustainable urban extension in a landscape setting through a 

masterplanned approach.   

 

The overall objectives of the masterplan will be to: 

 

a) Deliver approximately 1500 new dwellings through a range of new housing opportunities 

focussed on the centre and western end of the corridor 

b) Create employment opportunities focussed on the Hall Lane end of the corridor and 

around Works Road 

c) Deliver the section of the Chesterfield to Staveley Regeneration Route between Bilby Lane 

and Hall lane, connected to the route safeguarded under policy LP24 and the existing Staveley 

Northern Loop Road Phase 1 

d) Accommodate an Infrastructure Maintenance Dept to serve the eastern leg of HS2 

e) Provide a new local centre to serve both the development itself and adjacent communities 

of Barrow Hill and Hollingwood 

f) Make provision for a new primary school to serve the development 

To clarify the approach to 

assessing traffic impact in 

determining planning 

applications and to clarify the 

criteria are not exhaustive. 

None 

P
age 375



 54 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

54 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

g) Develop a sustainable community including on-site energy generation where possible and 

practicable 

h) Enhance the quality of and access to the landscape and green infrastructure, particularly 

the Chesterfield Canal and River Rother waterways 

i) Deliver access and transport improvements, emphasising sustainable transport  

j) Improve water management on site, including new wetland habitat associated with the 

River Rother 

k) Provide for the remediation and re-use of contaminated and unstable land where possible 

and practicable 

l) Conserve and enhance the quality of the historic environment, taking account of 

designated and non-designated heritage assets and their setting, within and closely related to the 

site 

m) Secure a structured approach to delivery of infrastructure to ensure it is delivered in a 

timely fashion to support new residential and employment communities and limit the need to travel 

off-site to access services 

n) Establish a network of open mosaic grassland habitats through the site to maintain and 

enhance brownfield biodiversity 

 

Development proposals for individual land parcels/phases must be brought forward as part of a 

comprehensive masterplan for the area and must demonstrate how they will deliver these objectives 

where appropriate. 

 

Planning applications for development within this area will be expected to demonstrate how they 

have addressed these objectives. 

 

Planning applications submitted for specific character areas and/or phases of development will be 

expected to contribute appropriately towards the overall delivery of the infrastructure required for 

comprehensive development, secured through a section 106 agreement. 

 

Planning applications specifically for the Works Road and Lagoon Character Areas will be expected to 

include information demonstrating: 

 

i. A joint masterplan as part of a Design and Access Statement and evidence of how the 

application addresses this masterplan and the delivery of critical infrastructure; and 

ii. A Transport Assessment based on modelling of the overall impact of development and a 

Travel Plan setting out how the impact of the specific planning application traffic associated with 

the proposed development will be managed; and 

P
age 376



 55 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

55 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

iii. A phasing plan setting out the approach to delivery of critical infrastructure, including 

transport and community infrastructure 

 

WORKS ROAD CHARACTER AREA  

 

Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use development incorporating including: 

 

• A new Local Centre on Works Road (use classes A1 to A5 and other Main Town Centre 

uses, to include a single foodstore of no more than 1000 sqm),  

• Residential (C3)  

• Up to 10 ha of employment space (B1, including B1(a) offices)  

• Canal-related commercial activity including food and drink uses (A3 and A4) and 

employment (B1), including provision for moorings, in the location of the former canal wharf to the 

east of Hollingwood Lock 

• Retention of the Clocktower building  

• A site for a new Primary School  

• Flood mitigation measures for the River Rother/Works Road bridge 

 

THE LAGOON CHARACTER AREA  

 

Planning permission will be granted for a residential led development incorporating including: 

 

• Residential (C3)  

• Retail (A1) to serve day to day needs, with no single unit to exceed 280 sqm net sales area  

• Extension of the Bluebank Pools Local Nature Reserve (to the west of Bilby Lane within the 

land allocated on the Policies Map) 

• Restoration of the former settling pond as public open space  

• An enhanced landscape buffer between the site and Chesterfield Canal 

 

HALL LANE CHARACTER AREA – KEY OBJECTIVES  

 

Planning permission will be granted for an employment led development incorporating including: 

 

• Proposals for the HS2 IMD 

• Development of Approximately 30ha of Employment generating development within use 

classes B1, B2 and B8 or, subject to HS2 finalising the extent of the proposed IMD (this 

P
age 377



 56 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

56 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

development is expected to extend beyond the plan period, following implementation of the 

HS2 IMD). 

• Housing (C3) led development for western end of the Character Area and ancillary uses 

where it is well-related to the existing settlement of Barrow Hill and Works Road  

• The improvement of walking and cycling connections between Barrow Hill and Staveley 

Town Centre 

• New wetland habitat in the south of the character area associated with the River Rother 

 

MM56  Most up to date plan awaited from Chatsworth Settlement Trustees  None 

MM57 Policy SS6 SS6 Land at Dunston 

 

Planning permission will be granted for residential development for approximately 800 500 dwellings 

on land north of Dunston and south east of Dunston Road as allocated on the policies map and as 

set out in table 4 (Site reference SS6). 

 

Development should be carried out in accordance with a masterplan to be agreed with the Local 

Planning Authority prior to development that demonstrates: 

 

i. Acceptable Aaccess arrangements from Dunston Road and Dunston Lane  

ii. Appropriate provision Proposals for walking and cycling provision within the site 

iii. Appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an acceptable impact on the highway 

network for all users 

iv. Appropriate mitigation to minimise any adverse impacts on nearby heritage assets 

and their settings  

v. Provision of a new local centre to serve development 

vi. Provision of a site reserved for a new one form entry primary school (to be retained until 

such time as required or evidence can be provided of a lack of 

need) 

vii. A scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, open space, play and sports 

provision including re-instatement of the former cricket pitch, and early implementation of 

a landscaping and planting scheme along Dunston Road 

viii. A phasing plan for development phases and the provision of infrastructure 

 

To ensure that the policy is 

effective and clear.  

 

For clarity, reflecting the phase 

that is under construction, and 

to be in line with table 4. 

 

None 

 

P
age 378



 57 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

57 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

MM58 Paragraphs 

11.32 and 

1.36-11.37 

11.32. Chesterfield Railway Station is the first point of arrival or last point of departure for 

approximately 1.78 million passengers16., with usage growing by 3 - 5% per year. Over a million 

people live within a half hours drive time of the Station 

(AECOM research 2017). Currently three Train Operating Companies (East Midlands Trains, Northern 

Trains and the Cross Country franchise) call at the Station and it is the 6th busiest station in the East 

Midlands, with direct services available to London, Birmingham, Liverpool, the West Country and 

the North East and Scotland. The announcement in July 2017 that HS2 services to Sheffield will stop 

at the station when they commence in 2033 (subsequently revised as from 2035) creates the 

potential for further growth in services and investment. 

 

11.36. SCR has provided funding for further research and development of the Master Plan and its 

refinement, currently being prepared by Cushman & Wakefield, Arup and Whittham Cox Architects 

This strategy should be in place by early 

2019. Consultation on the masterplan for the railway station area is expected to be undertaken 

in early 2020.  This is likely to take the form of an overall concept masterplan and a more 

focused planning framework identifying appropriate uses, amounts of development and 

infrastructure requirements.  Funding for the Hollis Lane Link Road is to be has been set aside as 

part of the wider LGF funded A61 Corridor Project and a planning application for the first phase 

of the road has been submitted. 

 

11.37. Key assets in the Station Master Plan area require Safeguarding. A new road alignment joining 

Crow Lane and Hollis Lane will improve access to the station from the south (and reduce traffic 

through Chesterfield Town Centre, 

see policy policies SS1 and LP24). There is also a need to ensure adequate land is safeguarded to 

allow for the development of an improved pedestrian bridge over the A61 to Corporation Street. The 

bridge would ideally be a statement piece of 

architecture and has been termed “Platform 4”: arrival to the Town Centre. Land has been also 

identified for and improved station forecourt, Multi-story car parks (to release development land), 

bus, taxi and cycling use, limited leisure and retail use, connected to station users and an area of 

public realm. 

To account for the revised HS2 

timetable and provide clarity on 

the status and preparation of the 

Station Masterplan. 

 

To provide cross reference to 

other Local Plan policies 

safeguarding key infrastructure. 

None 

MM59 Policy SS7 SS7 Chesterfield Railway Station 

 

Within land between Hollis Lane and Crow Lane, as shown on the policies map, the council will 

prepare an approved masterplan/development framework to maximise the regeneration benefits of 

future HS2 services and conventional 

To improve clarity and 

effectiveness of the policy. 

 

To clarify the approach to 

archaeological investigation. 

None 

P
age 379



 58 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

58 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

rail services utilising the station. Within this area, and in accordance with the approved masterplan, 

the council will support development based on the extent to which it that delivers for: 

 

a) Improved access to Chesterfield Railway Station by all modes of transport including 

improved forecourt arrangements; 

b) Modernisation of Station facilities and electrification of the Midland Main Line though it; 

c) A new link road between Hollis Lane and Crow Lane and related road alignments; 

d) Improvements to the A61 Corporation Street footbridge, including its replacement with a 

new bridge; 

e) mixed use development to include residential dwellings (C3), commercial office space (B1), 

car parking; 

f) limited retail and leisure uses (A1 to A5 and D1 and D2) in association with the Station; 

g) Pedestrian and cycle links to Chesterfield Waterside, Chesterfield Town 

Centre and the; 

h) Essential infrastructure required to deliver the improvements set out in 

the approved masterplan. 

i) Appropriate assessment, evaluation and, if necessary, recording of archaeological 

remains 

j) Improved inclusive accessibility to Chesterfield Railway Station and within the 

masterplan/development framework area. 

Planning Permission will not be granted for development that would prevent the delivery of the 

above improvements. 

 

To add reference to inclusive 

access to the station. 

MM60 Policy SS8 SS8 Neighbourhood Plans 

 

Where the views of a community are expressed in a Neighbourhood Plan they will be taken into 

account in the planning system provided that the plan: 

 

has been endorsed adopted by Chesterfield Borough Council; and 

is in conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan; and 

can be regularly updated if necessary 

To improve clarity and 

effectiveness of the policy. 

None 

MM62 Master Plan 

Diagram, p. 

98 

Deletion of master plan diagram on page 98 Chesterfield Waterside Illustrative Masterplan and 

replace with most recent illustrative master plan. See Associated Figures, Tables and Diagrams 

(Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. 

 

It would be appropriate to 

replace the Illustrative 

Masterplan on page 98 of the 

Plan with the most recent 

None 

P
age 380



 59 © Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions UK Limited 

 

59 

February 2020 

Doc Ref: 38746L014i2 

Ref. No.  Para. / 

Policy  

Main Modification  Reasons for change Implications for HRA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

masterplan (CWD-BBA-Z0-ZZ-

DR-A-01005-P02) which has 

been updated following the 

approval of CHE/18/00626/REM1 

which sought to vary conditions 

to omit the canal arm. This will 

ensure that the plan contains the 

most accurate and up to date 

Illustrative Masterplan possible. 

MM64 Appendix ‘X’’ 

Superseded 

developmen

t plan 

policies 

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. To make the Plan clear on which 

policies would be superseded. 

None 

MM65 Appendix B 

–  

Open Space 

Standards, 

Quantitative 

Standards 

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. To bring the Local Plan up to 

date with current evidence 

published after the Plan was 

submitted for examination and 

also to improve clarity. 

 

None 

MM66 Monitoring 

framework 

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification.  None 

MM67 Monitoring 

framework 

Housing Trajectory  

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. 

 None 

MM68 Monitoring 

framework 

Employment Trajectory 

See Appendices (Proposed Modifications) for the proposed modification. 

 None 

P
age 381



T
his page is intentionally left blank



For publication 

Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members (GV050)

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To present for approval the Parental Leave Policy for Elected 
Members. 

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members is 
approved and implemented.  

2.2 That the Cabinet Member - Governance is given delegated 
authority to approve minor amendments to the Parental 
Leave Policy for Elected Members between the formal review 
periods. 

2.3 That the Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members is 
reviewed every three years.   

Meeting: Council 
Cabinet 

Date: 26.02.20
25.02.20

Cabinet portfolio: Governance 

Report by: Assistant Director – Policy and Communications 

Page 383

Agenda Item 12



2

3.0 Background

3.1 There is at present no legal right to parental leave of any kind 
for people in elected public office. This applies to MPs as well 
as members. These policy proposals can therefore only 
currently be implemented on a voluntary basis.

3.2 The Chesterfield Borough Council Parental Leave Policy for 
Elected Members has been modelled on the Local 
Government Association’s Women’s Taskforce Parental Leave 
Policy. It aims to make it easier for prospective parents and 
the Council alike to plan for when members take parental 
leave. 

4.0 Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members

4.1 The Council wishes to support its members in carrying out 
their duties and therefore will voluntarily implement a 
parental leave policy that grants members periods of parental 
leave as set in out Section 2 of the Parental Leave Policy for 
Elected Members (Appendix 1).

4.2 The Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members will cover birth 
and adoption.

4.3 The objective of the proposed policy is to ensure that insofar 
as possible members are able to take appropriate leave at the 
time of birth or adoption, that both parents are able to take 
leave, and that reasonable and adequate arrangements are in 
place to provide cover for Cabinet Members and others in 
receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any 
period of leave taken.

4.4 The members’ Group Leader will be consulted over assigning 
Ward casework and Ward matters for the period of absence. 

Page 384



3

4.5 In order to ensure members can take appropriate leave it is 
proposed that any member taking a period of parental leave 
will be entitled to receive their basic allowance in full whilst on 
maternity, paternity or adoption leave. Members in receipt of 
an SRA shall continue to receive this allowance in full whilst on 
maternity, paternity or adoption leave, and where a 
replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that 
person shall receive an SRA on a pro-rata basis for the period 
of the temporary appointment.

4.6 A member taking parental leave shall return at the end of their 
leave to the same role, or to an alternative position with 
equivalent status and allowance which they held before their 
leave began. However this would not apply if they were 
removed from their role at an Annual Meeting of the Council 
whilst on leave, or unless the group to which they belong loses 
control of the Council during their leave period. 

5.0 Equalities considerations

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment for the new Parental Leave 
Policy for Elected Members is attached at Appendix 2. No 
negative impacts have been identified and significant positive 
impacts identified for some protected groups. 

5.2 Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards 
increasing the diversity of experience, age and background of 
local authority members. It will also assist with retaining 
experienced members and making public office more 
accessible to individuals who might otherwise feel excluded 
from it.

6.0 Consultation with members 

6.1 The three groups at Chesterfield Borough Council had the 
opportunity to consider the policy and feed in comments and 
further suggestions. 

Page 385



4

6.2 The policy was also discussed and supported by the 
Customers, Communities and Organisational Scrutiny 
Committee on 30 January 2020.  

7.0 Financial considerations 

7.1 Under the proposed policy members will continue to receive 
basic and any special responsibility allowances whilst taking 
parental leave. Special responsibility allowances are paid 
where members undertake particular roles, such as Chair of a 
Committee. If these roles require cover during parental leave 
absence the replacement member will be entitled to receive 
the appropriate special responsibility allowance for the period 
of the temporary appointment, subject always to the rule that 
no member can receive more than one SRA. It is anticipated 
that these additional costs will be funded from the existing 
budget set aside for all member allowances within Democratic 
Services. This will, however, be kept under review as annual 
costs will clearly vary according to the types of role requiring 
cover and the frequency and duration of parental leave 
absences.

 
8.0 Recommendations 

8.1 That the Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members is approved 
and implemented.  

8.2 That the Cabinet Member - Governance is given delegated 
authority to approve minor amendments to the Parental Leave 
Policy for Elected Members between the formal review periods. 

8.3 That the Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members is reviewed 
every three years.   

9.0 Reason for recommendations

Page 386



5

9.1 To give members a more equitable entitlement to parental 
leave after giving birth or adopting. 

Decision information

Non-Key decision 
number

923

Wards affected ALL 

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Donna Reddish – 
Assistant Director – 
Policy and 
Communications.  

Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.u
k 

Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members      
Appendix 2 Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 387

mailto:Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.reddish@chesterfield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Date: February 2020

Review by: February 2023

Parental 
Leave Policy 
for Elected 
Members

Page 389



2

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 This Policy sets out members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, shared parental
and adoption leave and relevant allowances.

1.2 The objective of the policy is to ensure that insofar as possible members are able to
take appropriate leave at the time of birth or adoption, that both parents are able to
take leave, and that reasonable and adequate arrangements are in place to provide
cover for portfolio-holders and others in receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances
(SRA) during any period of leave taken.

1.3 Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards increasing the diversity 
of experience, age and background of local authority members. It will also assist with 

retaining experienced members and making public office more accessible to 
individuals who might otherwise feel excluded from it.

1.4 There is at present no legal right to parental leave of any kind for people in elected
public office. This applies to MPs as well as members and has been the subject of
lengthy debate. These policies can therefore only currently be implemented on a
voluntary basis. 

2.0 Leave Periods 

2.1 Members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months maternity leave from the due 
date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required. In addition, 
where the birth is premature, the member is entitled to take leave during the period 
between the date of the birth and the due date in addition to the 6 months’ period. 
In such cases any leave taken to cover prematurity of 28 days or less shall be 
deducted from any extension beyond the initial 6 months.

2.2 In exceptional circumstances, and only in cases of prematurity of 29 days or
more, additional leave may be taken by agreement, and such exceptional leave
shall not be deducted from the total 52 week entitlement.

Page 390



3

2.3 Members shall be entitled to take a minimum of 2 weeks paternity leave if
they are the biological father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse following 
the birth of their child(ren).

2.4 A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through their
employment is requested to advise the Council of these at the earliest possible
opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such arrangements in terms of
leave from Council. Where both parents are Members leave may be shared up to a 
maximum of 24 weeks for the first six months and 26 weeks for any leave agreed 
thereafter, up to a maximum of 50 weeks. Special and exceptional arrangements 
may be made in cases of prematurity.

2.5 A Member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency shall be
entitled to take up to six months adoption leave from the date of placement, with 
the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required.

2.6 Any Member who takes maternity, shared parental or adoption leave retains
their legal duty under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of the
Council within a six month period unless the Council Meeting agrees to an extended
leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six month period.

2.7 Any Member intending to take maternity, paternity, shared parental or adoption 
leave will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with the relevant notice 
requirements of the Council, both in terms of the point at which the leave starts and 
the point at which they return.

2.8 Any member taking leave should ensure that they respond to reasonable requests 
for information as promptly as possible, and that they keep officers and colleagues 
informed and updated in relation to intended dates of return and requests for 
extension of leave.

3.0 Basic Allowance 

3.1 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full whilst on
maternity, paternity or adoption leave.

Page 391



4

4.0 Special Responsibility Allowances 

4.1 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to receive 
their allowance in full in the case of maternity, paternity, shared parental or
adoption leave.

4.2 Where a replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that person
shall receive an SRA on a pro rata basis for the period of the temporary
appointment.

4.3 The payment of Special Responsibility Allowances, whether to the primary
SRA holder or a replacement, during a period of maternity, paternity, shared 
parental
or adoption leave shall continue for a period of six months, or until the date of the
next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the date when the member taking leave
is up for election (whichever is soonest). At such a point, the position will be
reviewed, and will be subject to a possible extension for a further six month period.

4.4 Should a Member appointed to replace the member on maternity, paternity,
shared parental or adoption leave already hold a remunerated position, the ordinary
rules relating to payment of more than one Special Responsibility Allowances shall
apply.

4.5 Unless the Member taking leave is removed from their post at an Annual
General Meeting of the Council whilst on leave, or unless the group to which they
belong loses control of the Council during their leave period, they shall return at the
end of their leave period to the same post, or to an alternative post with equivalent
status and remuneration which they held before the leave began.

5.0 Resigning from Office and Elections 

5.1 If a Member decides not to return at the end of their maternity, paternity, shared 
parental or adoption leave they must notify the Council at the earliest possible 
opportunity. All allowances will cease from the effective resignation date.

Page 392



5

5.2 If an election is held during the Member’s maternity, paternity, shared parental
or adoption leave and they are not re-elected, or decide not to stand for re-election,
their basic allowance and SRA if appropriate will cease from the Monday after the
election date when they would technically leave office.

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Chesterfield Borough Council Equality Impact Assessment - Full Assessment Form

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy: Parental Leave Policy for Elected Members
Service Area: Policy and Communications 
Section: Democratic Services 
Lead Officer: Donna Reddish – Assessment Director Policy and Communications 
Date of assessment: MM/YY
Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:

Existing 
Changed 
New / Proposed 

Section 1 – Clear aims and objectives

1. What is the aim of the policy, project, service, function or strategy?
The objective of the policy is to ensure that insofar as possible members are able to take appropriate leave at the 
time of birth or adoption, that both parents are able to take leave, and that reasonable and adequate 
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and others in receipt of Special Responsibility 
Allowances (SRA) during any period of leave taken.

2. Who is intended to benefit from the policy and how?

Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards increasing the diversity of experience, age and 
background of local authority members. It will also assist with retaining experienced members and making public 
office more accessible to individuals who might otherwise feel excluded from it.

P
age 395



2

3. What outcomes do you want to achieve? 
Elected members will have a more equitable entitlement to parental leave after giving birth or adopting and 
the Council will be able to plan more effectively for member parental leave. 

P
age 396



3

Section 2 – What is the impact?

4. Summary of anticipated impacts.  Please tick at least one option per protected characteristic. Think about barriers people may 
experience in accessing services, how the policy is likely to affect the promotion of equality, knowledge of customer experiences to date. You 
may need to think about sub-groups within categories eg. older people, younger people, people with hearing impairment etc. 

Potentially positive 
impact

Potentially negative 
impact

No disproportionate 
impact

Age   
Disability and long term conditions   
Gender and gender reassignment   
Marriage and civil partnership   
Pregnant women and people on parental leave   
Sexual orientation   
Ethnicity   
Religion and belief   

Section 3 – Recommendations and monitoring

If you have answered that the policy, project, service, function or strategy could potentially have a negative impact on 
any of the above characteristics then a full EIA will be required. 

5. Should a full EIA be completed for this policy, project, service, function or strategy?
 Yes  No
Please explain the reasons for this decision: No negative impacts identified. 

P
age 397



4

Section 6 – Knowledge management and publication

Please note the draft EIA should be reviewed by the appropriate Service Manager and the Policy Service before 
WBR, Lead Member, Cabinet, Council reports are produced. 

Name: Donna Reddish – Assistant 
Director Policy and 
Communications 

Reviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager

Date: 24.12.19
Name: Allison PotterReviewed by Policy Service 
Date: 02/02/2020

Final version of the EIA sent to Policy Service 
Decision information sent to Policy Service 

P
age 398



For publication

Civic Arrangements 2020/21 (GV000)

For publication 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To confirm arrangements for the civic year 2020/21 in respect 
of the following:

a) Election of Mayor 2020/21
b) Election of Deputy Mayor 2020/21
c) Annual Council Meeting 
d) Mayoral Dinner 2020
e) Annual Civic Service and Parade 2020

2.0 Recommendations

Meeting: Cabinet
Council

Date: 25 February, 2020
26 February, 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Governance

Report by: Senior Democratic and Scrutiny Officer

Page 399

Agenda Item 13



2.1 That it be recommended to Council that Councillor Glenys 
Falconer be invited to become Mayor of the Borough for 
2020/21.

2.2 That it be recommended to Council that Councillor Tony 
Rogers be invited to become Deputy Mayor of the Borough for 
2020/21.

2.3 That it be noted that the Annual Council meeting will be held 
on Wednesday 13 May 2020, followed by a drinks reception at 
the Town Hall.

2.4 That it be noted that the Annual Civic Service and Procession 
will be held on Saturday 16 May 2020.

2.5 That it be noted that the Mayoral Dinner will take place at The 
Winding Wheel Theatre on the evening of Saturday 16 May 
2020 to coincide with a visit of the Oberbürgermeister of 
Darmstadt to mark the 60th anniversary of Chesterfield’s 
twinning friendship with Darmstadt. 

3.0 Background

3.1 Each year the Council is asked to confirm its civic 
arrangements for the forthcoming municipal year, namely the 
election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor, the date of the Annual 
Council meeting to elect the Mayor and Deputy Mayor and the 
associated civic events.

4.0 Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor

4.1 An issue has recently arisen with regards to the planned 
election of the current Mayor elect, Cllr Mick Bagshaw to the 
role of Mayor of the Borough for 2020/21. The Chief Executive 
has sought advice from the Monitoring Officer and discussed 
the issue with Councillor Bagshaw and the Leader of the 
Community Independents Group at the Council. 

Page 400



4.2 The Chief Executive has also discussed the issue with the 
Leaders of the two main political groups on the Council. Post 
these discussions, it has been agreed not to recommend to 
Council that Cllr Bagshaw be invited to become Mayor of the 
Borough for 2020/21. Accordingly this would be a departure 
from Council protocol (see paragraph 4.5).

4.3 The Chief Executive has therefore approached Cllr Glenys 
Falconer, i.e. the councillor next in line to become Deputy 
Mayor for 2020/21 (having regard to the current protocol for 
electing the Deputy Mayor [see paragraph 4.4 below]), with a 
view to Cllr Falconer being elected Mayor of the Borough one 
year ahead of schedule. Cllr Falconer has replied indicating 
her willingness to be elected Mayor of the Borough for 
2020/21. This will need to be confirmed by full Council.

4.4 The appointment of Deputy Mayor as Vice Chair of the Council 
is a statutory appointment under Part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. In the case of a Borough Council the 
Vice Chair is entitled to use the title of Deputy Mayor. 

4.5 Cabinet adopted the current protocol for electing the Deputy 
Mayor in November 2006 (minute no. 124), continuing the 
practice adopted in 1995, namely:-

a) That the Mayor will be the councillor with the longest 
service, and that priority between councillors with equal 
length of service will be governed by ascending 
alphabetical order of surname, without regard to 
membership of a political group.  

4.6 In accordance with the protocol, Councillor Tony Rogers has 
indicated his willingness to accept the appointment of Deputy 
Mayor for 2020/21. This will need to be confirmed by Full 
Council.

5.0 Civic Arrangements 2020/21

Page 401



5.1 The date of the Annual Council Meeting to elect the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor for 2020/21 will be Wednesday 13 May 2020.

5.2 In accordance with council policy, confirmed by Cabinet at 
minute no. 126 (2008/09), the Civic Service will take place on 
the following Saturday, 16 May 2020.

5.3 During 2020, the Council celebrates the 60th anniversary of the 
signing of the twinning agreement between Chesterfield and 
Darmstadt in Germany, the town’s first twinning link. A 
delegation from Darmstadt, including the Oberbürgermeister, 
will visit Chesterfield from 15 to 17 May 2020 to mark the 
occasion and it has therefore been agreed that for the 
municipal year 2020/21 the Mayoral Dinner marking the 
election of Cllr Glenys Falconer as Mayor of the Borough will 
take place at The Winding Wheel Theatre on the evening of 
Saturday 16 May 2020 to coincide with the visit. 

5.4 For the municipal year 2020/21, the Annual Council Meeting 
will therefore be followed by a drinks reception at the Town 
Hall.

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 That it be recommended to Council that Councillor Glenys 
Falconer be invited to become Mayor of the Borough for 
2020/21.

6.2 That it be recommended to Council that Councillor Tony 
Rogers be invited to become Deputy Mayor of the Borough for 
2020/21.

6.3 That it be noted that the Annual Council meeting will be held 
on Wednesday 13 May 2020, followed by a drinks reception at 
the Town Hall.

Page 402



6.4 That it be noted that the Annual Civic Service and Procession 
will be held on Saturday 16 May 2020.

6.5 That it be noted that the Mayoral Dinner will take place at The 
Winding Wheel Theatre on the evening of Saturday 16 May 
2020 to coincide with a visit of the Oberbürgermeister of 
Darmstadt to mark the 60th anniversary of Chesterfield’s 
twinning friendship with Darmstadt. 

7.0 Reasons for recommendations

7.1 To enable the Council to confirm civic arrangements for 
2020/21.

Page 403



Decision information

Key decision number Non-key decision

Wards affected All wards
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

To provide value for money 
services and improve the quality 
of life for local people.

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Rachel Appleyard 01246 345277

rachel.appleyard@chesterfield.gov.uk 

Page 404



For Publication

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – Budget 2020/21 to 2024/25

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To consider the probable outturn for the current financial year.

1.2 To consider the draft budget for 2020/21.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the probable outturn for the current financial year be noted.

2.2 That the draft estimates for 2020/21 and future years be approved.

3.0 Background

Meeting: Cabinet
Council

Date:

Cabinet Portfolio:

25th February 2020 
26th February 2020

Cabinet Member for Housing

Report by: Acting Chief Finance Officer
Assistant Director - Housing

For publication 

Page 405

Agenda Item 14



3.1 The Council is required to keep a separate account for its activities 
as a housing landlord.  This is called the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA).  The HRA is closely governed by the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and by Determinations made under this Act by 
MHCLG. This account is ring-fenced and does not receive any 
subsidy from the Government, or from Council Tax, and nor is it 
allowed to subsidise the General Fund.

3.2 As a result of the introduction of self-financing in April 2012 the 
council is required to produce a 30 year HRA Business Plan that is 
financially viable, that delivers reasonable standards for tenants 
and maintains at least the minimum Decent Homes Standard.

3.3 Self-financing has, in the main, improved the financial position of 
the HRA. We can determine our own financial future and can also 
borrow to finance improvements. Initially the level of borrowing 
was limited by the Government (the £156 million debt ceiling for 
Chesterfield). However, the borrowing cap was removed by the 
Government in October 2018 to encourage councils to build new 
homes. Any extra borrowing must be affordable within the HRA 30 
Year Business Plan.

3.4 However, despite the self-financing settlement agreement, in 
March 2016 the “Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016” introduced 
rent policy within legislation for the first time. The main policy 
required the Council to reduce housing rents by 1% annually for a 
4 year period commencing on 4th April 2016. The final reduction 
was in April 2019. 

3.5 From April 2020 and for the following 4 financial years (until March 
2025), social housing rents will increase by CPI plus 1%, as set out 
in the Housing Green Paper of August 2018.

3.6 On 14th January 2020, Cabinet considered the rent and service 
charge levels for 2020/21 and agreed a rent increase of 2.7% 
(based on the latest Government policy highlighted above) and 

Page 406



various service charge increases. These changes have been built 
into the 2020/21 budget forecast.

4.0 Information Included

4.1 The following information is attached:

 Annexe 1   Statutory HRA Operating Account (Summarised)
 Annexe 2   Detailed estimates for supervision & management 

and                 General Fund contributions.
 Annexe 3   Subjective Analysis.
 Annexe 4   Variances – This year’s original estimate to revised.
 Annexe 5   Variances – This year’s original to next year’s original.

4.2 The following budget assumptions, as approved by Cabinet on 
22nd October as part of the Council’s financial strategy, have been 
used to produce the draft Housing Revenue Account budgets.

 Pay awards at 2.5% per annum.
 Rates 1.7% increase in 2019/20, and then 2.5% thereafter.
 Consumer Price Index 2.5% in 2020/21 and in each following 

year.
 Energy inflation as advised by the Facilities Maintenance 

Manager.
 Rental income is increased annually by CPI plus 1% from April 

2020.

5.0 Financial Position at Year End 2019/20

5.1 On the basis of existing policy and the assumptions already 
outlined HRA balances for this year are estimated as follows;

HRA Balances
Original Estimate Revised Estimate

£000 £000
Balance at 1.4.19 - Surplus (21,005) (29,237)

Page 407



Decrease/(Increase) in HRA 
balance for year

                        
13,185 10,703

Estimated Balance 31.3.20 (7,820) (18,534)

5.2 The probable outturn includes the following approved additions to 
the 2019/20 estimate.

5.3 Carry Forward from 2018/19

Amount (£)
Information Technology – Balance of Approved 
Growth (Keystone)

15,230

Replacement of Allocations System 74,890
HRA Contribution to site surveys etc at Linacre 34,350
IT for Mobile Working for Asset Management 
Officers

10,000

Information Technology – Northgate Leaseholder 
Module

2,250

Total 136,720
 

5.4 All variations are detailed in Annexe 4 of Appendix A, which shows 
a change from the original budget, which forecast a reduction in 
the HRA balance of £13,184,940, to the revised budget which 
shows a reduction in the HRA balance of £10,702,520. This is a 
difference of £2,482,420. The main reasons for the variation are a 
reduction in revenue funding for the capital programme 
(£1,132,480) due to delays in commencing some schemes and a 
reduction in the bad debts provision (£1,147,070).

6.0 Financial Strategy 2020/21

6.1 The financial strategy for the HRA is to deliver a balanced and 
sustainable budget which is self-financing in the longer term and 
which reflects both the requirements of tenants and the strategic 
vision and priorities of the council. 

Page 408



6.2 The HRA cannot run at an overall deficit and risks will continue to 
be identified and managed effectively. Cabinet approved a series of 
strategy and policy changes in May 2016 to mitigate the impact of 
the 1% rent reduction for a 4-year period commencing in April 
2016. These changes significantly improved the financial viability of 
the HRA. They included reductions to the responsive repairs 
budget, a reduced and rephased capital programme, moving rent 
collection to a 52 week basis to mirror the payment of Universal 
Credit to claimants and taking action to reduce income lost 
through bad debts (rent arrears) and having properties stood 
empty (voids).

6.3 It is important to note that the budget projections shown in this 
report assume that the loss of rental income through bad debts 
(rent arrears written off) and void (empty) properties continues to 
be minimised through robust management procedures. Should 
these losses increase above the assumptions contained in the 
budget there is the real risk that HRA balances will be lower than 
forecast.

6.4 The HRA Summary Operating Account at Annexe 1 shows that the 
HRA balance is anticipated to fall to £8,190,763 in 2020/21, then 
continue to fall until 2022/23 when the balance is £3,863,533. This 
is due to the impact of increased capital spend. Full details are 
contained in the HRA capital programme budget report elsewhere 
on the agenda. After this date balances begin to steadily climb and 
are £7,539,453 by 2024/25.

7.0 Initial Budget Forecast 2020/21

7.1 The table below summarises the financial position for 2020/21.

HRA Balances

Original Estimate
£000

Balance at 1.4.20 - Surplus (18,534)

Page 409



Decrease/(Increase) in HRA balance for year 10,343
Estimated Balance 31.3.21 (8,191)

  All variations are detailed in Annexe 5 of Appendix A, which shows 
a change from the original 2019/20 budget, which forecast a 
reduction in the HRA balance of £13,184,940, to the original 
2020/21 budget which shows a decrease in the HRA balance of 
£10,343,590. This is a difference of £2,841,350. The majority of the 
variation relates to a reduced requirement for direct revenue 
support for the capital programme (£1,812,300) due to an 
anticipated increase in capital receipts, plus a reduction in the bad 
debts provision (£1,144,070).

8.0    Risk Management

8.1 There are a number of significant risks inherent in any budget 
forecasting exercise and the risk increases as the period covered 
increases. The key budget risks for the HRA are detailed below:

 The impact of Universal Credit on bad debts.
 Ability to deliver the Capital Programme and maintain decency.
 That retained 1-4-1 RTB receipts may have to be repaid to the 

Treasury if the new build programme within the HRA is not 
completed as planned.

 Any future limits on rent increases.
 Maintain a minimum working balance of £3 million.
 Future economic changes (e.g. interest and inflation rates plus 

the impact of Brexit).
 Any possibility of claims arising from the former agreement 

with Severn Trent Water.

9.0      Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA)

9.1 The budget process and forecasts produced do not require an EIA 
but any decisions to vary budgets and service provision may 
require EIA’s specific to those options.

Page 410



10.0   Resource Implications

10.1    In writing this report, the standard corporate issue of revenue 
financial implications has been considered at Sections 6 to 9 above.

11.0   Recommendations

11.1   That the probable outturn for the current financial year be noted.
11.2   That the draft estimates for 2020/21and future years be approved.

12.0   Reasons for Recommendations

12.1   To enable the council to set the HRA budget for 2020/21.

12.2   To continue with the financial strategy contained in the Housing 
Revenue Account Business Plan and self-financing debt settlement 
arrangements.

Page 411



Glossary of Terms  
HRA Housing Revenue Account
MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government
CPI Consumer Price Index

Decision information

Key decision number 916
Wards affected All
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

To improve the quality of life for 
local people and to provide value for 
money services.

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Steven Spencer 5454

steve.spencer@chesterfield.gov.uk
Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.
None.

Annexes to the report
Annexe 1 Statutory HRA Operating Account
Annexe 2 Detailed estimates for supervision & management
Annexe 3 Subjective analysis
Annexe 4 Variances – this year’s original estimate to revised
Annexe 5 Variances – this year’s original estimate to next 

year’s

Page 412



Annexe 1

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2019/20 TO 2024/25
STATUTORY HRA OPERATING ACCOUNT 

SUMMARY

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Original Probable Original Original Original Original Original

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
INCOME

(35,514,123) Net Rent (34,945,290) (35,324,170) (35,503,390) (36,840,080) (38,101,450) (39,410,110) (41,535,190)
(115,392) Service Charges (157,500) (117,320) (119,580) (122,530) (125,810) (129,150) (131,850)
(856,690) Non-Dwelling Rents (933,750) (901,140) (923,310) (945,250) (968,450) (992,980) (1,018,870)
(492,834) Contributions towards Expenditure (532,490) (537,490) (550,840) (565,520) (579,760) (593,500) (607,310)
(312,591) Supporting People Grant (223,000) (319,270) (326,510) (116,670) 0 0 0

(37,291,630) Total Income (36,792,030) (37,199,390) (37,423,630) (38,590,050) (39,775,470) (41,125,740) (43,293,220)
EXPENDITURE

Management and Maintenance ;

5,524,938 Supervision and Management -General 6,474,220 6,343,120 6,816,810 6,979,980 7,017,980 7,151,950 7,290,640
2,197,114 Supervision and Management -Special 2,078,950 2,120,700 2,145,040 2,224,100 2,299,230 2,372,370 2,445,160

280,345 Rent, rates, taxes and other charges 290,180 379,570 238,880 221,680 224,590 227,570 230,620
8,321,824 Repairs and Maintenance 8,355,000 8,550,000 8,497,000 8,709,000 8,927,000 9,150,000 9,379,000
9,132,873 Depreciation,Impairment & Reval. of Fixed Assets 9,254,030 9,130,920 9,204,030 9,203,680 9,203,410 9,203,210 9,173,060

45,224 Debt Management Expenses 47,850 39,050 42,540 43,150 44,260 45,320 46,270
(1,874,275) Increase Bad Debts Provision 2,236,070 1,089,000 1,092,000 1,129,000 1,169,000 1,211,000 1,277,000
23,628,043 Total Expenditure 28,736,300 27,652,360 28,036,300 28,510,590 28,885,470 29,361,420 29,841,750

(13,663,587) NET COST OF SERVICES per Authority (8,055,730) (9,547,030) (9,387,330) (10,079,460) (10,890,000) (11,764,320) (13,451,470)
Income & Expenditure Account

38,940 HRA share of Corporate & Democratic Core 40,610 42,170 45,570 47,210 48,830 49,990 51,080
(13,624,647) NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (8,015,120) (9,504,860) (9,341,760) (10,032,250) (10,841,170) (11,714,330) (13,400,390)

0 (Gain) or loss on sale of HRA fixed assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4,860,452 HRA share of interest payable etc 4,742,540 4,751,470 4,643,260 4,557,870 4,454,200 4,307,520 4,179,340
(120,949) Interest on Working Balance (143,450) (141,580) (101,250) (105,340) (49,660) (34,790) (69,580)

0 Mortgage Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 Share of DLO/DSO Surpluses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT in Year 

on HRA Services

STATEMENT of MOVEMENTon the HRA 

BALANCE

Surplus or Deficit on the HRA Income & 

(8,885,144) Expenditure Account (3,416,030) (4,894,970) (4,799,750) (5,579,720) (6,436,630) (7,441,600) (9,290,630)
(3,508) Transfer to/(from) Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3,323,762 Capital Expenditure Funded from HRA 12,774,600 11,642,120 10,962,300 5,101,940 2,275,800 2,245,800 1,956,800

1,985,148 Provision for Debt Repayment 1,955,370 1,955,370 1,926,040 1,897,150 1,868,690 1,840,660 1,813,050

1,760,211 Transfer to/(from) Major Repairs Reserve 1,871,000 2,000,000 2,255,000 2,600,000 2,600,000 2,600,000 2,600,000

(Increase)/decrease in HRA balance

(1,819,531) for the year 13,184,940 10,702,520 10,343,590 4,019,370 307,860 (755,140) (2,920,780)

(27,417,342) HRA Balance Bfwd 1st April (22,824,233) (29,236,873) (18,534,353) (8,190,763) (4,171,393) (3,863,533) (4,618,673)

(29,236,873) HRA Balance Cfwd at 31st March (9,639,293) (18,534,353) (8,190,763) (4,171,393) (3,863,533) (4,618,673) (7,539,453)

(8,885,144) (3,416,030) (4,894,970) (4,799,750) (5,579,720) (9,290,630)(6,436,630) (7,441,600)

Page 413



Annexe 2
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2019/20 TO 2024/25

SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Original Probable Original Original Original Original Original

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
HOUSING SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT

GENERAL EXPENSES
 

Community Housing Services - Cost Centres 0600/0601/0602/0604/0608/0609/0610/0614/0615/0622/0960
2,776,143 Employee Expenses 3,057,350 2,921,050 3,310,570 3,319,070 3,365,820 3,457,170 3,543,390

502,998 Premises Related Expenses 521,430 514,580 554,630 566,300 578,280 590,590 603,230
32,656 Transport Related Expenses 39,260 35,750 36,560 37,390 38,250 39,120 40,010

442,982 Supplies and Services 754,180 922,940 789,070 798,540 711,100 720,760 730,520
96,689 Agency and Contracted Services 77,750 77,740 73,780 68,400 70,030 71,680 73,320

(210,070) Controllable Income (215,890) (211,000) (217,790) (222,930) (222,930) (228,200) (233,600)
3,641,398 Net Controllable 4,234,080 4,261,060 4,546,820 4,566,770 4,540,550 4,651,120 4,756,870
2,836,201 Central and Departmental Support 3,286,980 3,215,530 3,378,000 3,463,530 3,512,010 3,560,780 3,619,470
(952,661) Recharge Income (1,046,840) (1,133,470) (1,107,810) (1,050,320) (1,034,580) (1,059,950) (1,085,700)

5,524,938 NET 6,474,220 6,343,120 6,817,010 6,979,980 7,017,980 7,151,950 7,290,640

     
Rent Collection - Cost Centre 0414

21,090 Employee Expenses 21,300 21,300 21,300 21,300 21,300 21,300 21,300
0 Transport Related Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

27,338 Supplies and Services 41,500 26,520 20,330 20,840 21,360 21,890 22,440
496,979 Agency and Contracted Services 506,680 506,670 517,430 528,590 538,760 550,930 562,090

(8,084) Controllable Income (11,670) (11,670) (11,940) (12,220) (12,510) (12,800) (13,100)
537,323 Net Controllable 557,810 542,820 547,120 558,510 568,910 581,320 592,730
255,351 Central and Departmental Support 261,290 255,420 261,340 269,300 278,870 285,700 291,280

(792,674) Recharge Income (819,100) (798,240) (808,660) (827,810) (847,780) (867,020) (884,010)
0 NET 0 0 (200) 0 0 0 0

5,524,938 TOTAL - GENERAL EXPENSES 6,474,220 6,343,120 6,816,810 6,979,980 7,017,980 7,151,950 7,290,640

Page 414



Annexe 2
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2019/20 TO 2024/25

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Original Probable Original Original Original Original Original

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
HOUSING SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT

SPECIAL EXPENSES
Careline & Response - Cost Centres 0619/0620/0621/0631/0633/0634/0635

1,402,874 Employee Expenses 1,474,120 1,348,060 1,410,870 1,456,010 1,496,040 1,536,430 1,576,850
41,977 Premises Related Expenses 53,150 43,590 44,730 46,550 47,810 49,070 50,370
40,792 Transport Related Expenses 43,070 42,090 42,480 43,420 44,370 45,350 46,350

234,721 Supplies and Services 242,840 265,020 231,710 236,700 241,580 246,580 251,710
35,500 Agency and Contracted Services 39,510 37,520 38,650 39,710 40,810 41,920 43,080

(903,322) Controllable Income (1,231,360) (1,037,240) (1,112,000) (1,127,760) (1,143,920) (1,160,480) (1,177,440)
852,542 Net Controllable 621,330 699,040 656,440 694,630 726,690 758,870 790,920

73,236 Central & Departmental Support 78,780 75,290 78,820 81,390 85,270 87,290 88,500
0 Recharge Income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

925,778 NET 700,110 774,330 735,260 776,020 811,960 846,160 879,420

District/Group Heating Schemes - Cost Centres 0190, 0640-0643/0654-0659/0664-0669
73,284 Premises Related Expenses 77,540 80,170 82,210 85,000 87,940 90,980 94,100

1,069 Supplies and Services 1,320 1,100 1,130 1,160 1,190 1,220 1,250
0 Controllable Income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

74,353 Net Controllable 78,860 81,270 83,340 86,160 89,130 92,200 95,350
2,790 Central & Departmental Support 2,850 2,100 2,170 2,240 2,320 2,380 2,430

(2,790) Recharge Income (2,850) (2,100) (2,170) (2,240) (2,320) (2,380) (2,430)

74,353 NET 78,860 81,270 83,340 86,160 89,130 92,200 95,350

Maintenance of Grassed Areas - Cost Centres 0605 & 0646
487,304 Premises Related Expenses 500,310 521,580 537,940 551,390 565,170 579,300 593,780

46,620 Agency and Contracted Services 47,810 47,860 49,170 50,400 51,660 52,950 54,270
21,964 Central & Departmental Support 23,560 22,460 22,960 23,660 24,300 24,860 25,230
(1,949) Controllable Income (3,200) (3,000) (3,090) (3,170) (3,250) (3,330) (3,410)

553,939 NET 568,480 588,900 606,980 622,280 637,880 653,780 669,870

Common Rooms and Areas - Cost Centre 0650
32,028 Premises Related Expenses 37,500 36,890 37,920 39,020 40,150 41,310 42,510

0 Supplies and Services 0 100 100 100 100 100 100
6,084 Agency and Contracted Services 6,260 6,260 6,450 6,620 6,810 6,990 7,180

(2,440) Controllable Income (5,000) (2,500) (2,500) (2,500) (2,500) (2,500) (2,500)

35,672 NET 38,760 40,750 41,970 43,240 44,560 45,900 47,290

Homelessness - Cost Centre 0660
139,596 Employee Expenses 140,830 139,640 143,830 147,420 151,090 154,860 158,730

1,636 Transport Related Expenses 1,990 1,200 1,700 1,740 1,780 1,820 1,860
64,786 Supplies and Services 102,380 102,280 112,310 114,720 117,190 119,720 122,320

11,844 Agency and Contracted Services 10,940 11,900 1,950 2,010 2,060 2,120 2,180

(34,132) Controllable Income (34,230) (34,190) (34,920) (35,650) (36,370) (37,150) (37,940)
183,730 Net Controllable 221,910 220,830 224,870 230,240 235,750 241,370 247,150

65,474 Central & Departmental Support 67,120 69,640 72,800 75,980 78,420 80,340 82,040

249,204 NET 289,030 290,470 297,670 306,220 314,170 321,710 329,190

 
Other Community Services - Cost Centres 0670/0671/0672/0675

202,826 Employee Expenses 208,030 183,830 215,020 220,900 226,970 232,650 238,460
124,027 Premises Related Expenses 163,200 131,670 135,620 140,360 145,280 150,360 155,620

27,306 Transport Related Expenses 24,810 24,220 24,350 24,520 24,690 24,860 25,040
1,289 Supplies and Services 4,560 4,970 4,990 5,010 5,030 5,050 5,070

(4,220) Controllable Income (5,790) (6,930) (6,930) (6,930) (6,930) (6,930) (6,930)
351,228 Net Controllable 394,810 337,760 373,050 383,860 395,040 405,990 417,260

6,940 Central & Departmental Support 8,900 7,220 6,770 6,320 6,490 6,630 6,780

358,168 NET 403,710 344,980 379,820 390,180 401,530 412,620 424,040  

2,197,114 TOTAL - SPECIAL EXPENSES 2,078,950 2,120,700 2,145,040 2,224,100 2,299,230 2,372,370 2,445,160

Page 415



Annexe 2

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Original Probable Original Original Original Original Original

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

(249,204) Homelessness (289,030) (290,470) (297,670) (306,220) (314,170) (321,710) (329,190)
(172,100) Maintenance of Grassed Areas (172,410) (175,750) (180,460) (185,130) (189,900) (194,650) (199,510)

(8,000) Social Services-Communal Area Use (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000)
(10,000) Community Rooms-General Fund Use (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000) (8,000)

(53,530) Private Sector Initiatives (55,050) (55,270) (56,710) (58,170) (59,690) (61,140) (62,610)

(492,834) NET (532,490) (537,490) (550,840) (565,520) (579,760) (593,500) (607,310)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2019/20 TO 2024/25

GENERAL FUND CONTRIBUTIONS
Cost Centres Detail 0371/0372/0373/0374/0375/0376/HRA Summary 0695

Page 416



Annexe 3
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2019/20 TO 2024/25

STATUTORY HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
SUMMARY SUBJECTIVE ANALYSIS

2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Original Probable Original Original Original Original Original

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE
Employee Expenses 4,901,630 4,613,880 5,101,590 5,164,700 5,261,220 5,402,410 5,538,730

Premises Expenses 9,998,310 10,258,050 10,128,930 10,359,300 10,616,220 10,879,180 11,149,230

Transport Expenses 109,130 103,260 105,090 107,070 109,090 111,150 113,260

Supplies and Services 1,146,780 1,322,930 1,159,640 1,177,070 1,097,550 1,115,320 1,133,410

Agency Services 688,950 687,950 687,430 695,730 710,130 726,590 742,120

Transfer Payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bad Debts Provision 2,236,070 1,089,000 1,092,000 1,129,000 1,169,000 1,211,000 1,277,000

Central and Departmental Support 3,770,090 3,689,830 3,868,430 3,969,630 4,036,510 4,097,970 4,166,810

Capital Financing Costs 17,870,790 17,876,810 18,070,870 18,301,850 18,170,560 17,996,710 17,811,720

Direct Revenue Financing 12,774,600 11,642,120 10,962,300 5,101,940 2,275,800 2,245,800 1,956,800

53,496,350 51,283,830 51,176,280 46,006,290 43,446,080 43,786,130 43,889,080

INCOME

Government Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supporting People Grant (223,000) (319,270) (326,510) (116,670) 0 0 0

Rent (34,945,290) (35,324,170) (35,503,390) (36,840,080) (38,101,450) (39,410,110) (41,535,190)

Fees and Charges etc. (2,598,390) (2,324,990) (2,432,060) (2,478,940) (2,522,670) (2,573,520) (2,625,640)  

Recharges (1,868,790) (1,933,810) (1,918,640) (1,880,370) (1,884,680) (1,929,350) (1,972,140)

Interest (143,450) (141,580) (101,250) (105,340) (49,660) (34,790) (69,580)

Contribution from Pension Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

General Fund Contribution (532,490) (537,490) (550,840) (565,520) (579,760) (593,500) (607,310)

Transfer from OSD 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(40,311,410) (40,581,310) (40,832,690) (41,986,920) (43,138,220) (44,541,270) (46,809,860)

Decrease/(Increase) in HRA Balance for the Year 13,184,940 10,702,520 10,343,590 4,019,370 307,860 (755,140) (2,920,780)

Page 417



Programme Area & Detail

INCOME 

Rents - income higher than anticipated (378,880)

Service Charges - Income less than forecast 40,180

Non - Dwelling Rents - mainly reduced income from solar panels 32,610

Supporting People Grant - Higher than anticipated (96,270)

GF Contributions - increase in homelessness contribution (1,440)

                              - increase in mtce. of grassed areas (3,340)

                              - increased private sector initiatives contribution (220)

Reduced salary recharges to capital (due to vacant posts) 93,790

Interest - lower interest rate than anticipated 1,870

168,450 (480,150)

Net Increase in Income (311,700)

Increase in Net Decrease in Net

Expenditure Net Expenditure

£ £

EXPENDITURE

Housing Supervision & Management

 - savings due to vacant posts (373,750)

 - approved carry forward for Replacement  Allocations System 74,890

 - approved carry forward for mobile IT - Asset Management Officers 10,000

 - approved carry forward of previously approved growth for IT 15,230

 - approved carry forward for IT - Northgate Leaseholder Module 2,250

 - approved carry forward for site surveys at Linacre 34,350

 - Reduced Careline income mainly due to the planned Ashfield

   Careline contract not taking place. 193,360

 - Additional net revenue costs of Northgate Upgrade 52,540

 - Lighting costs for flats lower than forecast (31,530)

Programme Area & Detail

ANNEXE 4

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

BUDGET VARIANCES - 2019/20 ORIGINAL TO 2019/20 PROBABLE

Increase in Net 

Income               

£

Decrease             

in Net Income       

£

Page 418



 - Reduced spend on environmental improvement works (30,000)

 - Reduced utility bills for sheltered schemes due to refurbishment (9,560)

 - Reduced Allpay charges on Rents (14,980)

Increase in Net Decrease in Net

Expenditure Net Expenditure

£ £

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges

 - mainly due to an increase in rates charges on vacant properties 89,390

Repairs and Maintenance

 - increased repairs expenditure on Council dwellings due to

   late charges from 2018/19 195,000

Bad debts - reduced provision (1,147,070)

Central & Department Support

 - revised allocations (80,260)

Direct Revenue Contribution to Capital

 - revised capital programme and financing resulting in a reduced 

   requirement for direct revenue funding (1,132,480)

Capital Financing Costs

 - increased major repairs reserve contribution 129,000
 - reduction in debt management expenses (8,800)
 - reduction in depreciation charges (123,110)
 - increase in interest payable 8,930

Other Minor Variations ( Net ) (24,120)
 

804,940 (2,975,660)

Net Decrease in Expenditure (2,170,720)

TOTAL INCREASE IN HRA BALANCE OVER THE PERIOD (2,482,420)

Programme Area & Detail

Page 419



Programme Area & Detail

INCOME 

Rents - mainly due to 2.7% increase (558,100)

Service Charges - original budget overstated 37,920

Non - Dwelling Rents - mainly reduced income from solar panels 10,440

Supporting People - grant higher than anticipated (103,510)

GF Contributions - increase in homelessness contribution (8,640)

                               - increase in mtce. of grassed areas (8,050)

                               - increase in private sector initiatives (1,660)

Recharges - reduced salary costs recharged to capital schemes 27,160

Interest on Balances - Lower than anticipated 42,200

117,720 (679,960)

Net Increase in Income (562,240)

Increase in Net Decrease in Net

Expenditure Net Expenditure

£ £

EXPENDITURE

Housing Supervision & Management

 - employee costs increased due to pay award/increments 71,460

 - employee costs increased due contract to provide monitoring 

 - Reduced Careline income mainly as a result of the Ashfield

   contract not going ahead. 121,590

 - Additional net revenue costs of Northgate Upgrade 109,340

 - Reduced Allpay charges on Rents (21,170)

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges

 - reduction in rates charges on vacant properties (51,300)

ANNEXE 5

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

BUDGET VARIANCES - 2019/20 ORIGINAL TO 2020/21 ORIGINAL

Decrease in 

Net Income     

£

Increase in 

Net Income       

£

Programme Area & Detail

Page 420



Repairs and Maintenance

 - inpact of annual inflation increase 142,000

Bad debts - reduced provision (1,144,070)

Increase in Net Decrease in Net

Expenditure Net Expenditure

£ £

Central & Department Support

 - revised allocations 98,340

Direct Revenue Contribution to Capital

 - reduced capital programme and financing resulting in a reduced 

   requirement for direct revenue funding (1,812,300)

Capital Financing Costs

 - increased major repairs reserve contribution 384,000
 - reduction in depreciation charges (50,000)
 - reduction in debt management charges (5,310)
 - reduction in interest payable (99,280)

Other Minor Variations ( Net ) (22,410)

926,730 (3,205,840)

Net Decrease in Expenditure (2,279,110)

TOTAL INCREASE IN HRA BALANCE OVER THE PERIOD (2,841,350)

Programme Area & Detail

Page 421



This page is intentionally left blank



For publication 

Housing Capital Programme: New Programme for 2020/21 
through to 2024/25 (HC000)

For publication

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To seek approval for the public sector housing ‘Capital’ 
programme for 2019/20 and 2020/21, and provisionally for 
2021/22 to 2024/25. 

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet recommends that:

a) The Housing (Public Sector) revised Capital Programme for 
2019/20 is approved.

Meeting: Council
Cabinet

Date: 26th February 2020
25th February 2020

Cabinet portfolio: Housing

Report by: Liz Cook-Assistant Director-Housing

Page 423

Agenda Item 15



2

b) The Housing (Public Sector) Capital Programme for 2020/21 
is approved and its procurement, as necessary, be 
authorised.

c) The Housing (Public Sector) Capital programmes for 
2021/22 to 2024/25 are provisionally approved.

d) The OSD share of the Programme be approved.

e) The Assistant Director – Housing and/or Acting Chief 
Finance Officer be authorised to vire between programme 
heads and budgets to manage the Capital Programme as 
set out in the report.

3.0 Revised Capital Programme 2019/20

3.1 The 2019/20 programme has been revised to recognise 
changes during the year. The main ones are delayed starts on 
2 major schemes (Brockwell New Build and Newlandale Estate 
Improvements). These have been compensated by an increase 
to the Grangewood Estate Improvement Scheme and to the 
Property Acquisitions budget. In addition, the spend on the 
Neighbourhood Action Plan at Barrow Hill has been rephased. 
The overall net result is a reduction of £1,774,000 in the 
2019/20 programme. 

3.2 The delayed works have been incorporated into the 2020/21 
programme.

4.0 Financing the 2020/21 Programme and Beyond

4.1 The overall financial strategy continues to focus on the 
maintenance of the Decent Homes Standard, improving the 
non-traditional housing stock, delivering improvements to the 
estate environment and increasing the development 
programme of new council housing in the immediate short 
term.

Page 424



3

4.2 Cabinet will be asked to approve revenue support for the 
2020/21 Housing Capital Programme to the sum of 
£10,962,300 in the HRA revenue budget report that is 
considered elsewhere on the agenda.

4.3 Right to buy sales stood at 57 as at 6th January 2020. This is 
lower than this time last year when 73 sales had been 
processed. The HRA Business Plan for the coming years 
assumes sales of 60 in 2020/21, 50 in 2021/22, 40 in 2022/23, 
30 in 2023/24 and 25 in 2024/25. Additional receipts from 
Right to Buys exceeding those in the self-financing 
assumptions (21) can be retained in Chesterfield for the 
provision of new affordable housing. This money must be 
spent within 3 years and will require a funding contribution of 
70% from HRA resources. The receipts accumulated to date 
have largely been spent on the Parkside Older Persons 
Housing Scheme, Heaton Court new build and strategic 
property acquisitions.

4.4 As shown in the HRA Business Plan, which will be reported to a 
future Cabinet meeting, the HRA will have sufficient funding 
available to meet this 70% funding contribution in the future, 
on the assumption that all of the mitigating actions that have 
been built into the Business Plan, to improve the financial 
viability, are realised. If these retained receipts are not used 
within 3 years, then they must be returned to DCLG together 
with 4.75% interest. Therefore, in order to ensure that the 
receipts are retained in Chesterfield and used for the 
provision of new affordable housing, the following actions 
have and will continue to be undertaken:

 Increase the size of the new build housing scheme 
programme within the Housing Capital Programme with 
a developer partner. A five year programme of new build 
sites is included in the Housing Capital programme for 
2020/21-2024/25.

Page 425



4

 If required work with other local Registered Providers in 
exchange for a proportion of the stock on site and 
nomination rights.

 Increase the strategic acquisition programme within the 
Housing Capital programme.

4.5 The forecast total level of funding available for investment in 
the stock is therefore sufficient to maintain the stock at 100% 
Decency based on the 2017 stock condition survey in the next 
five financial years (2020/21 to 2024/25). A new Stock 
Condition Survey will be carried out in 2020/21.

5.0 The 2020/21 and Future Programmes

5.1 The introduction of Self Financing in the HRA opened up the 
potential to borrow to finance investment in the stock up to 
and beyond the Decent Homes Standard.

5.2 The proposed 2020/21 programme and in each of the 
following four years continues to broadly reflect the capital 
programme used in the HRA Business Plan in previous years 
and addresses needs arising due to the ageing stock as 
identified in the Stock Condition Survey. Details are shown in 
Appendix 1.

5.3 Currently 100% of the housing stock meets the Decent Homes 
Standard at the 9 January 2020 and we fully anticipate this will 
continue to be 100% at the 31 March 2020.

5.4 The focus of the programme remains on the modernisation of 
properties to maintain the Decent Homes Standard with the 
balance of activity over the next twelve months concentrating 
on building elements such as roofs, windows and 
improvements to external estate environments.

5.5 The 2017 Stock Condition Survey carried out by Savills, 
identified that the condition of the housing stock has 

Page 426



5

improved since the previous survey in 2014. The investment 
put into the stock has been directed into the right areas with 
significant investment being made in relation to typical decent 
homes works, such as kitchens, bathrooms, electrical 
installations, heating and external doors and as such less 
expenditure is required.

5.6 The HRA revenue budget report (included elsewhere on the 
agenda) shows that the capital programme for the 5-year 
period 2020/21 to 2024/25 is affordable without the need for 
any additional borrowing. However, there is the risk that 
balances may be lower than forecast if, for example, housing 
rent bad debts (write offs) increase above the levels assumed.

5.7 The Housing Capital Programme has been set in accordance 
with the profile set out in the stock condition survey. By 
ensuring that work is planned and procured in accordance 
with this survey, (allowing for some ‘smoothing’ of individual 
programmes within no-more than a 5 year rolling period), the 
unit prices identified within the survey, should be achievable 
and not pose any substantial risk of increase in process due to 
rising building cost inflation. This will also ensure that 
sufficient capacity within the workforce, both internal (OSD) 
and external contractors, is available and maintained.

5.8 Many of the programme for 2020/21 have already been 
procured in 2019/20 to ensure delivery on the ground does 
not slip due to any individual contracts ending and starting.

5.8.1 The Central Heating Programme will continue in order to 
remove the risk of large scale heating failures as a result of the 
age of the boilers and the non-availability of the required 
parts.

5.8.2 The roof replacement programme will continue to be one of 
the largest areas of works to ensure that properties maintain 
the Decent Homes Standard. The roofing programme will also 

Page 427



6

run in conjunction with chimneys, soffits and fascia’s and 
rainwater goods, to minimise the need to scaffold.

5.8.3 The replacement programme for aging UPVC windows and 
External Wall Insulation will continue.

5.8.4 Programmes have been included for external work to blocks 
of flats, in conjunction with estate environmental 
improvements, garage site improvements and fences, gates, 
footpaths and drives for general needs properties. 

5.8.5 Members previously approved a programme of environmental 
improvements at Barrow Hill, London Boroughs Estate and 
continued provision has been made for the second phase of 
this work, commencing in February 2020.

5.8.6 New build housing programmes working with external 
partners will continue at Heaton Court (10 units), Manor Drive 
(4 units) and Brockwell Court (21 units).

5.8.7 The successful programme of strategic housing acquisitions 
remains to allow the purchase of properties which meet a 
strategic housing need.

5.8.8 The refurbishment of one general needs and two further 
former sheltered housing schemes to ensure that older 
person’s accommodation remains accessible and meets the 
future needs of our aging population.

6.0 Investment Principles

6.1 The work programmes for 2020/21 until 2024/25 continue to 
be prioritised depending on the level of investment needed 
according to the stock condition survey and the amount of 
recent expenditure on repairs and maintenance in those 
areas. The area with the highest level of need and expenditure 
will receive work in the first year, reducing to year 5, with the 

Page 428



7

work being packaged into four distinct types, with routine 
decent homes internal work e.g. kitchens, bathrooms, heating, 
rewires continuing on a year by year basis depending on 
whether that work is required to ensure the property 
continues to meet the decent home standard. The other 
packages include:

 Externals – Works to the exterior of a property e.g. windows, 
doors, roofs, pointing and external wall insulation

 Blocks – Exterior work as described above to blocks and 
communal areas of flats

 Environmentals – Fencing, gates, footpaths

7.0 OSD Share of Programme

7.1 Appendix 1 shows the portion of the Capital programme that 
is proposed to allocate to OSD to ensure continued 
operational effectiveness.

7.2 The five year programme, will allow OSD to plan for future 
works and make changes to the workforce and work 
programmes in terms of numbers of operatives, trades and 
whether they work on capital or responsive repairs 
programmes of work.

7.3 The Council is required to demonstrate value for money for all 
areas of expenditure including for the Housing Capital 
Programme. The ways in which value for money will be 
demonstrated include:

 Cost and quality benchmarking through Housemark and 
APSE.

 Sharing work packages with external contractors if they 
provide overall Value for Money (VFM) to the Authority.

 Market testing work when and where appropriate 
through corporately agreed procurement 
arrangements.

Page 429



8

 Agree an approved corporate approach to how we best 
test Value for Money and Best Value in 2020/21.

8.0 Supporting Local Contractors

8.1 The sustained value of the Capital programme also means 
that some of the work packages will be available to local 
contractors, subject to their winning the work in competition.

8.2 Housing Services continue to take a key role in the council’s 
corporate arrangements for the procurement of contracts and 
their management. A clause will be included in contracts to 
ensure a proportion of local labour.

9.0 Financial Implications

9.1 The recommended capital programme for the next 5 years is 
based on the most recent stock condition survey carried out in 
2017. The stock condition survey has been fed into the HRA 
Business Plan to ensure that it is affordable.

9.2 In order to ensure that the Business Plan remains up to date 
and is based on an up to date understanding of the 
investment needs of the Housing Stock, a revised stock 
condition survey will continue to be carried out on a three 
yearly cycle, with the next survey becoming due in 2020/21. 
The costs associated with this survey will be met by the 
Housing Revenue Account.

10.0 Risk Management

Description of the Risk Impact Likelihood Mitigating Action Impact Likelihood
Failure to maintain 
Decent Homes 
Standard 
targets/invest in stock 
in a timely manner

Low Low The programme has 
been set based on 
the most recent 
2017 stock condition 
survey which was 

Low Low

Page 430



9

derived in order to 
ensure that the 
Decent Homes 
Standard is met. 
Resources will be 
targeted to areas at 
risk of Decent 
Homes Standard 
failure.

Worsening Tenant 
Satisfaction due to re-
phased capital 
programme

Medium Medium Ensure that tenants 
and members are 
involved in any 
future reviews of 
services.
Publicise the 5 year 
programme of 
works to tenants so 
they can see when 
homes in their 
community will 
benefit from 
improvement work.

Low Low

Declining Stock 
Condition

Low Low A new stock 
condition survey will 
continue to be 
carried out on a 3 
yearly basis to 
inform the HRA 
Business Plan and to 
ensure future 
investment needs 
are met. This will 
include a further 
detailed survey of 
the non-traditional 
housing stock in 
2020.

Low Low

Managing slippage on 
programmes which 
may result in an 
underspend on the 
overall Capital 
Programme and work 

High High A 5 year programme 
of works will allow 
sufficient time for 
growth in the 
workforce to have 
the capacity to 

Medium Low

Page 431



10

being carried forward 
into future years.

undertake the 
programmes of 
work.
The 5 year 
programme will also 
allow for sufficient 
planning time to 
undertake design 
work, prepare 
specifications and 
seek any 
permission’s, 
undertake any 
consultations and 
necessary 
procurements prior 
to works starting as 
soon as possible in 
any financial years.
Regular contract 
progress meetings 
with OSD and 
external contracts to 
identify any slippage 
at the earliest stage 
and to put in place 
mitigating actions to 
prevent any further 
slippage.

Health Impacts on 
occupants

Medium Medium Ensure Capital 
Investment 
continues in the 
non-traditional 
housing stock, which 
exhibit the most 
issues linked with 
poor health e.g. cold 
and damp 
conditions.

Low Low

Right To Buy High High RTB assumptions 
are made within the 
HRA Business Plan 
to reflect this loss of 

Medium High

Page 432



11

stock. Details are 
shown in paragraph 
4.3 of this report.

11.0 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA)

11.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix 2.

12.0 Recommendations

12.1 That Cabinet recommend that:

a) The Housing (Public Sector) revised Capital Programme for 
2019/20 is approved.

b) The Housing (Public Sector) Capital Programme for 2020/21 is 
approved and its procurement, as necessary, be authorised.

c) The Housing (Public Sector) Capital Programmes for 2021/22 to 
2024/25 are provisionally approved.

d) The OSD share of the Programme be approved.

e) The Assistant Director – Housing and/or Acting Chief Finance 
Officer be authorised to vire between programme heads and 
budgets to manage the Capital Programme as set out in the 
report.

13.0 Reasons for recommendations

13.1 The Council will be able to maintain its ‘Decent Homes 
Standard’ targets in line with the Council’s Vision and Corporate 
Plan.

13.2 The condition of the Public Sector housing stock and its 
environment will be maintained and improved.

Page 433



12

13.3 To contribute to the aims of the Borough Housing Strategy and 
to deliver the HRA Business Plan.

Page 434



13

Glossary of Terms
HRA Housing Revenue Account
VFM Value for Money

Decision information

Key decision number 929
Wards affected ALL
Links To improve the quality of life for 

local people and to deliver value 
for money services

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Vanessa Watson
Asset Management 
& Programmed 
Works Manager

Vanessa.watson@chesterfield.gov.uk

Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Capital Programme
Appendix 2 Equality impact assessment

Page 435



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/ 21   + 4 Year plan

PROPOSED INVESTMENT PLAN: 2019/20  Original
2019/20    

Revised

2019/20 OSD 

Share

2020/21 

Provisional

2020/21 OSD 

Share

2021/22 

Provisional

2021/22 OSD 

Share

2022/23 

Provisional

2022/23 OSD 

Share

2023/24 

Provisional

2023/24  OSD 

Share

2024/25 

Provisional

2024/25  OSD 

Share

Future Major Repairs;

8783 Kitchens 1,562,400 1,542,400 1,407,400 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000

8789 Bathrooms + WC 427,600 427,600 427,600 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000 270,000

8751 Central Heating 580,800 655,800 655,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800 580,800

8757 Rewiring and CO Detector (+£50k) 328,400 328,400 328,400 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000 325,000

8764 Smoke Detector Replacement 45,000 45,000 45,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8975 Blocks Communal Areas & Cyclical Programme 498,200 400,000 0 1,500,000 0 1,500,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0

8810 Specialist (Lift Replacements) 0 0 0 0 0 58,140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8811 Communal Lighting Replacement 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

8883 Internal Soil Stacks 100,000 130,000 130,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

8810 Stairlift Replacement 30,000 30,000 0 10,000 0 10,000 0 10,000 0 10,000 0 10,000 0

8933/8852 Door Entry Cameras / systems 25,000 25,000 0 25,000 0 15,000 0 15,000 0 15,000 0 15,000 0

8970 Sheltered Scheme Decants 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8935 Sheltered Refurbishment 2,820,000 2,820,000 0 4,300,000 0 2,520,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Externals; 0 0

8752 Door Renewals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8758/8927 Roof Renewals inc Hanging Tiles 2,228,800 2,228,800 2,228,800 2,200,000 1,528,800 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000

8919 Loft Insulation Top Up's 100,000 100,000 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8759/8755 DPC/Damp Works and Pointing General 500,000 700,000 700,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

8976 Fences + gates, footpaths + drives 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

8882 Soffits & Fascias 0 214,000 214,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8756 Windows and Doors 843,200 443,200 443,200 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000

Future Major Works Total 11,114,400 11,165,200 7,705,200 13,335,800 6,829,600 12,003,940 7,900,800 8,825,800 7,800,800 8,325,800 7,300,800 8,325,800 7,300,800

Contingent Major Repairs;

8842 Asbestos Removal Works 25,000 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 0

8841 Fire Risk Works/Bin Stores 100,000 150,000 150,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

8xxxx Fire Doors - Blocks 0 0 0 250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Fire Risk Assessments 50,000 50,000 0 20,000 0 40,000 0 20,000 0 20,000 0 20,000 0

8899 Asbestos Management / R&D Surveys 250,000 150,000 0 250,000 0 200,000 0 200,000 0 200,000 0 200,000 0

Contingent Major Repairs Total 425,000 375,000 150,000 645,000 100,000 365,000 100,000 345,000 100,000 345,000 100,000 345,000 100,000

Environmental Works + Related Assets;

8947 Garage Site Improvements 300,000 95,000 95,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8763 Drives/Off Street Parking 0 200,000 200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8853 Foxton Close Parking 0 70,000 70,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8785 Footpath Proactive Maintenance 100,000 150,000 150,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

8815 Structural Works 400,000 400,000 400,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

8996 Block Signage 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8983 Grangewood Estate Improvements 2,800,000 4,358,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8997 Newlandale Estate Improvements 1,611,200 0 0 1,600,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8999 Edinburgh Road Environmental Project 0 5,000 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Holme Hall Estate Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500,000 0 2,000,000 0 0 0

8897 Estate Environmentals (sites to be identified) 0 430,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0

Environmental + Related Assets Total 5,211,200 5,758,200 970,000 2,400,000 300,000 800,000 300,000 2,300,000 300,000 2,800,000 300,000 800,000 300,000

Exceptional Extensive;

8824/8900 External Wall Insulation + Unity Works 1,200,000 919,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0

Exceptional Extensive Total 1,200,000 919,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0 500,000 0

P
age 437



APPENDIX 1

Demolitions;

8949 Duewell Court 0 3,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Demolitions Total 0 3,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adaptations;

8750 Disabled Adaptations 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Disabled Adaptations Total 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Improvements;

8865 Neighbourhood Action Plan-Barrow Hill Imps 2,810,000 1,510,000 0 2,000,000 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8936 Common Room Refurbishment (Bonsa l l  + Monkwood) 70,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvements Total 2,880,000 1,560,000 50,000 2,050,000 50,000 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build;

8958 New Build - Manor Drive 500,000 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build - site to be identified (Wensley Way 20/21?) 480,000 0 0 680,000 0 0 0 1,520,000 0 1,430,000 0 2,880,000 0

8977 New Build construction - Heaton 1,200,000 1,350,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8786 New Build construction - Brockwell 2,400,000 1,000,000 0 3,800,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build construction - Rowsley + Court Place 0 0 0 680,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build construction - Aston Court 0 0 0 0 0 680,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build construction - Westwood Avenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,360,000 0 0 0 0 0

New Build construction - Mastin Moor (Miller + Edale) 0 0 0 0 0 3,400,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8982 New Build feasibility (fees) 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Total 4,630,000 2,900,000 0 5,210,000 0 4,080,000 0 2,880,000 0 1,430,000 0 2,880,000 0

Miscellaneous spend;

RTB Mobility Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Property Acquisitions 450,000 1,250,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0

Stock condition survey 0 0 0 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8905 Northgate Upgrade 0 206,000 0 128,500 0 43,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8904 Contingency 100,000 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Miscellaneous Spend Total 550,000 1,556,000 0 1,228,500 0 1,043,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0

2019/20 OSD 

Share

2020/21 OSD 

Share

2021/22 OSD 

Share

2022/23 OSD 

Share

2023/24 OSD 

Share

2024/25 OSD 

Share

TOTAL 26,510,600 24,736,600 9,375,200 25,869,300 7,779,600 19,791,940 8,800,800 16,350,800 8,700,800 14,900,800 8,200,800 14,350,800 8,200,800

OSD Actual Share 37.90% 30.07% 44.47% 53.21% 55.04% 57.15%

OSD OSD OSD OSD OSD OSD

FINANCED BY 2019/20 2019/20 Rev 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Revenue Financing 12,774,600 10,408,600 10,962,300 5,101,940 2,275,800 2,245,800 1,956,800

Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Useable Capital Receipts 2,611,000 3,197,000 3,448,000 2,886,000 2,272,000 852,000 621,000

Grants and Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Major Repairs Reserve 11,125,000 11,131,000 11,459,000 11,804,000 11,803,000 11,803,000 11,773,000
TOTAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE 26,510,600 24,736,600 25,869,300 19,791,940 16,350,800 14,900,800 14,350,800

0
Note:

Responsive & Cyclical 8,355,000 8,550,000 8,497,000 8,709,000 8,927,000 9,150,000 9379000

P
age 438



1

Chesterfield Borough Council Equality Impact Assessment - Full Assessment Form

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy: Housing Capital Programme for 2020/21 through to 
2024/25

Service Area: Housing
Section: Business, Planning & Strategy
Lead Officer: Liz Cook
Date of assessment: 01/20
Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:

Existing 
Changed 
New / Proposed x

Section 1 – Clear aims and objectives

1. What is the aim of the policy, project, service, function or strategy?
A brief description of the aims of the policy – use a bullet point list if appropriate
The Housing Capital Programme finances the major repair and improvements to the Council housing stock. 
Capital Improvement works include kitchen and bathroom replacements, central heating upgrades, roof/chimney 
replacements, rewiring, window/door replacements, disabled adaptations, health and safety related works.

2. Who is intended to benefit from the policy and how?
Eg. specific sections of the community, employees
The Capital Programme is for the benefit of all Council tenants and in certain instances leaseholders of ex council 
flats.

3. What outcomes do you want to achieve? 

P
age 439



2

A brief summary of the anticipated outcomes as explained in the accompanying Cabinet/Council report.– use a bullet point list if 
appropriate
For all tenants to have the opportunity of a Decent Home, which is accessible and suitable for their needs.

P
age 440



3

4. What barriers exist for both the Council and the groups/people with protected characteristics to enable these 
outcomes to be achieved?

Eg. conflicting interests, budget limitations etc. 
Some tenants have specific cultural requirements e.g. Male workers where only a female Muslim is present, 
carrying out improvements during specific religious festivals (Ramadam), however work can be planned to meet 
the requirements of the tenant.

5. Any other relevant background information 
Eg. related and/or pre-existing projects and EIAs, cumulative impact, scope etc.

Section 2 – Collecting your information

6. What existing data sources do you have to assess the impact of the policy, project, service, function or 
strategy?

Eg. information about the workforce affected by the profile, report from prior engagement activity, for example, Are You Being 
Served.
The ongoing Tenant Participation programme and in particular the consultation activities which take place with 
tenants before capital improvement works begin, help us to develop programmes of work tailored to the individual 
needs of tenants with protected characteristics. We also have data available from previous capital improvement 
works which can give us an indication of future needs.

Section 3 – Additional engagement activities

7. Please list any additional engagement activities undertaken when developing the proposal and completing this 
EIA. Have those who are anticipated to be affected by the policy been consulted with?

Date Activity Main findings

P
age 441



4

Brief description of key themes and outcomes of related engagement activity 
eg. concerns raised and/or how the activity helped to develop the proposal. 

Ongoing Tenant Participation Programme Range of individual requirements identified with tenants.

P
age 442



5

Section 4 – What is the impact?

8. Summary of anticipated impacts. Please tick at least one option per protected characteristic. Think about barriers people may 
experience in accessing services, how the policy is likely to affect the promotion of equality, knowledge of customer experiences to date. You 
may need to think about sub-groups within categories eg. older people, younger people, people with hearing impairment etc.

Positive impact Negative impact No disproportionate 
impact

Age x  
Disability and long term conditions x  
Gender and gender reassignment   
Marriage and civil partnership   
Pregnant women and people on parental leave   
Sexual orientation   
Ethnicity   
Religion and belief   

9. Details of anticipated positive impacts.  
Please provide details of any positive impacts identified in the summary table above and tick the group/s the impact applies to. Delete 
or add rows below as required. 
Capital improvements work can include adaptations related to age and disability.

a)

x 
Age

x 
Disability

 Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion 

b)

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion 
c)

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion 

P
age 443



6

10. Details of anticipated negative impacts.  

Negative impact: Please provide details of any negative impacts identified in the summary table above and tick the group/s the 
impact applies to below. Delete or add rows below as required. 
A negative impact could arise where tenants have specific cultural requirements e.g. 
Male workers where only a female Muslim is present, carrying out improvements 
during specific religious festivals (Ramadan).

Mitigating action: If action has been identified to mitigate against the negative impact, please provide details 
Actions are already in place to mitigate these negative impacts, our Customer Liaison 
Officers work with the tenants to support them through the improvement work and as 
the work is planned it can be scheduled in to meet the requirements of the tenant.

a)

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  x Ethnicity  Religion 
Negative impact: As above in Ethnic Groups.

Mitigating action: As above in Ethnic Groups.

b)

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  x Religion 
Negative impact:

Mitigating action:

c)

 Age  Disability  Gender  Marriage  Pregnancy  Sexual orientation  Ethnicity  Religion 

11. Have all negative impacts identified in the table above been mitigated against with appropriate 
action?

 xYes  No  N/A If no, please explain why:

P
age 444



7

Section 5 – Recommendations and monitoring

12. How has the EIA helped to shape the policy, project, service, function or strategy or affected the 
recommendation or decision? 

A brief description of how the proposal has been developed to take into consideration protected groups, outcomes of consultation etc. 

The EIA highlighted the importance for strong Tenant participation at an early stage in improvement planning and 
additional permanent resources for this purpose are part of the report.

13. How are you going to monitor the policy, project, service, function or strategy, how often and who will be 
responsible?

Include review date etc if applicable
The Housing Capital Improvement Programme is monitored annually.

Section 6 – Knowledge management and publication

Please note the draft EIA should be reviewed by the appropriate Service Manager  and the Policy Service before 
WBR, Lead Member, Cabinet, Council reports are produced. 

Name:Reviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager
Date: DD/MM/YY
Name:Reviewed by Policy Service 
Date: DD/MM/YY

Final version of the EIA sent to Policy Service 
Decision information sent to Policy Service 

P
age 445



8

P
age 446



Document is Restricted

Page 447

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 467

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 469

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 473

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 513

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 517

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 535

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 539

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Minutes of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority Board
	6 Improving collaborative working across Derbyshire authorities
	7 Approval of the Council Plan 2019 - 2023 Delivery Plan for 2020/21
	Appendix 1 for Approval of the Council Plan 2019 - 2023 Delivery Plan for 2020/21

	8 2020/21 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan
	Appendix A - General Fund Revenue Budget Summary
	Appendix B - Budget Strategy
	Appendix C - Financial Strategy
	Appendix D - Reserves and Balances
	Appendix E - Budget Risks and Sensitivity Analysis
	Appendix F - Section 32 Statement
	Appendix G - Council Taxes 2020-21

	9 General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21
	Appendix A General Fund Capital Programme 202021

	10 Senior Pay Policy
	Appendix 1 for Senior Pay Policy
	Appendix 2 for Senior Pay Policy
	Appendix 3 for Senior Pay Policy

	11 Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix A Schedule of Main Modifications to Chesterfield Borough Local Plan
	Appendix B Schedule of Policies Map Modifications
	Appendix B1 Policies Map Changes
	Appendix B2 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B3 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B4 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B5 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B6 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B7 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B8 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B9 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B10 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B11 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B12 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B13 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B14 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B15 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B16 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B17 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B18 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B19 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix B20 for Chesterfield Borough Local Plan - Consultation on Main Modifications
	Appendix C Preliminary Equalities Impact Assessment
	Appendix D Habitats Regulation Assessment

	12 Elected Members Parental Leave Policy
	Appendix 1 for Elected Members Parental Leave Policy
	Appendix 2 for Elected Members Parental Leave Policy

	13 Civic Arrangements 2020/21
	14 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) - Budget 2020/21 to 2024/25
	Appendix 1 for Housing Revenue Account HRA - Budget 202021 to 202425

	15 Housing Capital Programme: 2020/21 to 2024/25
	Appendix 1 HRA Capital Programme
	Appendix 2 for Housing Capital Programme: 2020/21 to 2024/25

	17 Land Acquisition - Station Masterplan area
	SK-11-P02 - Proposed Site Ownership Plan
	Appendix A Travelling Draft Heads of Terms
	Appendix B - Franking Advice Report
	Appendix C - State Aid Advice
	Appendix D Summary Financial Appraisal - Plot 9 Phase 1 Station Masterplan
	Appendix E EIA

	18 Request to write off Business Rates account

